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To Our Shareholders
Dear Shareholders,
The year 2006 was a pivotal one for Nelnet, and we are excited to
celebrate our accomplishments and evolution into a world-class
education planning and financing company. Last year also brought
many challenges to Nelnet and others in the student loan and
education services industry. We’re pleased to have faced these
challenges and emerged with strong business performance and a
clear path to future growth and continued differentiation from
the competition.
While most shareholder reports begin with performance numbers,
we would like to begin our letter by celebrating the individuals who
are truly responsible for Nelnet’s success, our 4,000 associates.
Their steady effort and focus led us through the challenges we faced
in 2006 and allowed us to deliver strong, consistent growth in four
key metrics: student loan originations, student loan receivables, fee
income and net income. Their deep industry knowledge, customer
relationships and commitment to excellence will continue to propel us
into the future.

A world-class education Planning and
Financing company
Over the last decade, Nelnet has transformed from a small regional
student loan player into a national diversified education services
company. There has been a great deal of change as we have acquired
companies, reacted to dynamics of the industry and competitive
environment and worked to fulfill our mission. We are proud of all that
we have accomplished.
The year 2007 represents an important opportunity for Nelnet. We
have assembled a compelling array of products and services, both
organically and through acquisition—and in the coming year we will
focus on building out the additional pieces and fulfilling our strategic
vision. Key components of our vision include diversified education
services (diversified revenue streams, product offerings and
customers) and meeting “world-class” criteria (strong and consistent
growth, differentiated products and customer experiences and strong
brand equity).
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Diversified Revenue Streams and Increased Fee-based Income:

entry to the school has been through the financial aid office; today,

We have been very successful in diversifying our revenue streams over

we have expanded our reach and focus to include the business office,

the past two years. Since 2004, income from fee-based businesses

enrollment/admissions office, guarantors and high school counselors.

has grown from 23 percent to 50 percent of Nelnet’s total revenue—a
remarkable accomplishment. Fee-based income topped $308 million

Differentiated Products and Customer Experiences: It is

for the year, an increase of nearly 57 percent. Our goal is to increase

important for Nelnet to build and maintain a differentiated position in

fee-based revenue from businesses that are not dependent on

the market for our school customers and the education-seeking family.

government programs to reduce our political risk.

We believe the way to differentiate ourselves is by delivering exceptional,
“platinum-level” customer service. Nelnet delivers industry-leading

Diversified Product Offerings: Although Nelnet’s roots are in

performance when it comes to loan servicing. We have a goal of

student lending, we have expanded our services to include tuition

answering 90 percent of our calls within 10 seconds. We have

payment plans, college planning and preparation, college savings

delivered several key projects this year in our loan servicing

plans and more. With the acquisition of Peterson’s in 2006, we are

business—including changes to online borrower repayment options,

now more active in the pre-college stages of the education life cycle,

Web self-service additions and private loan system enhancements.

reaching high school students as they plan for college, as well as in

Customer service is one of the pillars our business was built on, and

the post-college career planning stage. We now offer comprehensive

we will continue to invest significantly to improve our ability to serve

college and scholarship searches, test preparation tools, resume

families and educational institutions.

assistance and a variety of career planning content.
Our Brand Evolution: During 2006 we redefined Nelnet from a
Diversified Customers: We make most of our sales through institutional

“student loan company” to an “education planning and financing

contacts, yet we also offer products and services directly to students

company.” Consumer research has shown that families are looking for

and families. We will continue to focus our sales efforts primarily

a partner to work with them through all stages of education—from

through our relationships with educational institutions. However, we

planning to financing and preparing for a career. Today, this need is

will differentiate ourselves from our competition by developing the

unmet because competitive companies are offering only individual

products, services and experiences that meet the needs of our shared

pieces of the total picture. Nelnet’s strategy is to serve as an

customers—the education-seeking family. Traditionally, our primary

education planning and financing partner that can help students and

2004 net revenues

2006 net revenues

Diversified fee-based revenue 2%
Loan and guarantee
servicing revenue 31%

Loan and guarantee
servicing revenue 21%

Spread revenue 77%
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Forward Flow

Note: 2005 branding partner does NOT
include $631 million accelerated one-time
purchase of Union Bank & Trust portfolio

(billions)
families plan and pay for their education and plan their career. We’ve

to protect itself against blitzes from its critics. A recent book by author

redefined our positioning to support this new strategy. It (and the

Michael Lewis called The Blind Side: Evolution of a Game offers some

accompanying new look) will come to life during 2007 in our

good lessons about the blitz the FFEL Program is experiencing today.

consumer-focused Web site.
In his book, Lewis chronicles the changes in pro football since Lawrence

Industry strength

Taylor joined the New York Giants in 1981. He quickly became the most

Today, Nelnet is well-positioned in a growing, dynamic industry.

feared outside linebacker in football for his ability to rush the passer.

College enrollment has increased substantially over the last decade

The unique combination of speed and size that Taylor brought to his

and is projected to increase in the foreseeable future, while the value

position revolutionized offensive line blocking schemes and changed

of a college education in our competitive, global economy has never

the role and importance of the left tackle in protecting the quarterback.

been greater. As enrollment, costs and the value of a college education

Because of Taylor, left tackles today typically weigh more than 350

continue to rise, students and parents have a greater need for

pounds, demonstrate extreme levels of body control and are often one

education planning and financing services, including student loan

of the team’s most important and highest paid players.

products. Federally-guaranteed student loan volume is expected to top
$70 billion in 2007 and continue to increase. Private loans are growing

As the industry faces blitzes, we will need to adapt and increase the

at an even quicker pace.

rate of change to protect our quarterback—students and schools.
Fortunately, with change comes opportunity, and we are positioned to

The guaranteed student loan program, known as the Federal Family

be instrumental in helping education-seeking families and the

Education Loan, or FFEL, Program, has helped millions of students

institutions that serve them as we move into the future.

access and afford an education since it was signed into law by
President Lyndon Johnson as a part of the Higher Education Act of

Strong asset growth

1965. This public-private partnership represents the largest source of

Nelnet delivered another year of strong growth in 2006, increasing its

financial aid for American students seeking a college education.

net student loan assets by $3.5 billion, or 17 percent. This came on the

Unfortunately the political rhetoric has not focused on the value

heels of a record year in 2005 that included portfolio acquisitions of

provided to students, as well as colleges and universities, through the

more than $3.1 billion as well as in-school and net new consolidation

FFEL Program. Instead, the education finance industry has been forced

originations of more than $4.6 billion. Consolidation loan
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originations grew to $5.3 billion, generating new consolidation loans

admissions office. At the same time, we will differentiate Nelnet from

of $2.7 billion to our books. Our net new consolidation originations

our competitors by developing products, services and experiences that

also increased for the fourth consecutive year to $1.5 billion. Again,

meet the needs of the customers we share with educational

the company’s diversified loan origination platform has delivered

institutions—education-seeking families. Delivering platinum-level

strong and consistent student loan asset growth with a compounded

customer service is an important part of the customer experience that

annual growth rate of 32 percent since we went public in 2003. A

builds brand recognition and loyalty and separates Nelnet from

closer look at our asset growth in 2006 reveals strong growth in each

our competition.

of our in-school origination channels: Nelnet brands, branding
partners and forward flow. Total in-school originations were $3.5
billion, up from $2.5 billion the prior year.
Loan consolidation was important to the year’s net student loan asset
growth. For the second year in a row, student loan borrowers rushed
to consolidate their student loans and lock in a lower interest rate
before the rate increased on July 1. As a result of the market bubble,

“Diversified revenue streams,
diversified product offerings throughout
the education life cycle and diversified
categories of customers are making
Nelnet stronger.”

we were able to process and fund a record number of consolidation
applications. After two years of strong growth, we expect the
consolidation market to contract in 2007 by as much as 35 to 40
percent. Less demand for consolidation loans will require us to

Capital deployment

increase our market share to produce more net new consolidation

A key element to delivering sustainable long-term value to our

originations once again, something we are planning to achieve.

shareholders is deploying capital efficiently through our capital
management strategy. Our goal is to maintain a capital position

Net interest income continued to grow in 2006 but at a slower rate

sufficient to invest in organic growth and new business opportunities

than our portfolio growth due to tighter margins. Our core student

over the long term and to have an equity to total assets ratio between

loan spread contracted to 1.42 percent in 2006, compared with 1.51

0.8 percent and 2.0 percent. At the end of 2006, we easily exceeded this

percent in 2005. This tightening was attributable to movements in

range, and we plan to use the capital we generate in 2007 to invest

short-term interest rates and an increase in the percentage of

in organic growth and strategic acquisitions, pay a quarterly cash

consolidation loans in our portfolio. We anticipate margin contraction

dividend and repurchase our stock when we believe it is undervalued

to continue, but at a slower pace, into 2007.

and provides the best long-term return on our investment.

As a company, there are three strategies we consider to mitigate the

Engaged associates and our communities

effects of margin contraction. First, we can increase our originations of

We also see maintaining and improving upon a culture of engaged

higher risk/higher margin assets such as private loans. Second, we can

associates who have the chance to succeed every day as critical to

increase the rate of asset growth to offset the lower return. Third, we can

our long-term success. To emphasize our commitment to associates,

diversify our revenue streams into fee income-producing businesses. We

we rolled out an initiative during 2006 that addresses total associate

are primarily focused on the second and third strategies.

well-being. We introduced these changes—emphasizing the physical,
professional, financial and personal well-being of all our associates

Diversified revenue streams, diversified product offerings throughout

and their family members—to underscore our goal of building an

the education life cycle and diversified categories of customers are

environment where talented people are motivated to work hard every

making Nelnet stronger. We will continue to focus our sales efforts at

day and enjoy what they do. We actively promote a culture of learning,

the school’s financial aid office, business office and enrollment/

growth and development, while further strengthening one of our key
competitive advantages—our associates.

Nelnet Annual Report 2006 4

Community wellness ties into our civic involvement and philanthropy.

the issue behind us. The process at times overshadowed the very

We encourage and applaud the involvement of our associates in their

real benefits that the FFEL Program and Nelnet provide to students,

communities. They serve in a variety of ways to make their communities

parents and educational institutions. We regret the distraction this

better places to live and work. We are proud of the development of

issue has caused and apologize for the difficulty this has caused our

the Nelnet Foundation, which supports educational dreams through

customers and our industry.

charitable contributions and scholarships. The foundation provides
millions of dollars in scholarships to help education-seeking families

Leading the way

access an education; it also provides a terrific matching program

The year 2007 promises to be an exciting one for Nelnet. We are

for associates. Contributions from associates to higher educational

leading the way in innovation and diversification and adding value

institutions are matched three to one, and contributions to charitable

for our customers—educational institutions and the education-

organizations are matched dollar for dollar.

seeking family.

We also continue to grow our annual United Way campaigns. This year

The foundation of our growth story is our vision and core values,

Nelnet and our associates contributed more than $400,000 to the

including our personal commitment to customers, business partners

United Way—testimony to the character and generosity of our team.

and Nelnet associates. Making educational dreams possible adds
significance and inspiration to our work. It is exciting to come to the

Challenges behind us

office each morning with the opportunity to help education-seeking

Along the way during 2006, we faced two significant challenges,

families plan and pay for their education as well as prepare for

both of which are now behind us. Late in 2006, EDULINX, a Nelnet

their careers.

subsidiary, learned that the Government of Canada had awarded
another service provider with a contract to provide financial and

That enthusiasm continues to propel us through the realization of our

administrative services in support of the Canada and Integrated

vision of Nelnet as a world-class education planning and financing

Student Loans Program (CSLP). As a result of this decision, EDULINX

company.

will be required to transition its existing CSLP portfolio to the selected
service provider on March 31, 2008. EDULINX administers more
than $9.0 billion in student loan assets, of which approximately $7.7

Sincerely,

billion are attributable to the current CSLP contract, contributing
approximately 80 percent of the company’s revenue in 2006.
In January 2007, we announced an agreement with the Department
of Education (Department) to bring resolution to an audit by the
Department’s Office of Inspector General of a portfolio of student loans

Mike Dunlap

Steve Butterfield

Co-Chief Executive Officer

Co-Chief Executive Officer

receiving 9.5 percent special allowance payments. The resolution
allowed Nelnet to keep payments already received from the
Department, which supported our historical position that these loans
qualified for the special allowance payments based on the
Department’s previous guidance. The agreement also effectively
eliminated all future 9.5 percent special allowance payments for the
company. As expected, the Department issued guidance that applied
this new interpretation to all lenders on a prospective basis. We are
pleased to have reached an agreement with the Department and put
Nelnet Annual Report 2006 5

Innovative.
Diverse.
Reliable.

Our products.

Products & Services for Institutions
As a leading education planning and finance company, Nelnet offers a

Our products and services enhance efficiencies and save

comprehensive and diversified set of products and services that help

administrators time and money. All these services complement what

educational institutions meet their goals, which in turn helps them

Nelnet does to help students pay for their education.

serve their students better.
Nelnet also partners with high school counselors to deliver services
Nelnet provides a unique range of solutions for all major campus

that help students and their families plan and prepare for college

offices, including financial aid, business, enrollment/admissions and

and beyond.

alumni relations offices.

Financial Aid Solutions

Enrollment Solutions

1.

Federal Loans

1.

Student Demographic and Selection Data

2.

Private Loans

2.

Lead Generation

3.

Life-of-Loan Servicing

3.

Retention Services

4.

Scholarships

5.

Outsourcing Services

6.

Actively Managed Payment Plans

7.

Scholarship, Work-Study and Forms Automation Software

8.

Loan Processing Systems

Business Solutions
1.

Campus Commerce

2.

Automated Billing

3.

Payment Processing

4.

Actively Managed Payment Plans

5.

Refunds Management

6.

Pending Aid

7.

Forms Automation Software

High School Counseling Solutions
1.

College and Career Planning Tools

2.

Free Application for Federal Student Aid (FAFSA) 		

		
3.

Assistance
Loan Counseling

Alumni Solutions
1.

Loan Consolidation

2.

Donor Management Services

3.

Fundraising Services
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Products & Services for the Education-Seeking Family
A good education is one of the most valuable investments of time,

Nelnet partners with parents and students to help them reach their

effort and money that any person can make, and one of the foundations

lifelong educational goals—by helping them plan their education,

of a democratic society. However, families have had more and more

finance their education and plan their career.

difficulty gaining access to an affordable, top-quality higher education.
Nelnet provides market-leading tools and resources to help students
The process of saving for college, selecting an institution, getting into

and parents understand their options as they make important

the school of your choice and determining a major can be difficult and

decisions at every stage of the education life cycle.

confusing. Often, the most challenging piece is figuring out how to pay
for it all.

EDUCATION LIFE CYCLE

K

529 Plans

9 10 11

12

TRANSITION

COLLEGE

GRADUATE

(Return to School)

CAREER

Financial Need Analysis

Nelnet College

Practice Tests

College Match

Tuition Payment Plans

Consolidation Loans

Resume Writing

Tuition Payment Plans

Planning Center

College Planning Center

Affordability Analysis

Scholarship Searches

GradPLUS Loans

Career Assessment

Counseling

Scholarship Searches

Stafford, PLUS & Private Loans

Stafford Loans

Essay Assistance
Military Testing
Test Preparation
Financial Aid Counseling
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Private Loans

Vision.
Values.
Commitment.

Our culture.

Our VALUES, CULTURE AND Vision
Nelnet’s core values are a fundamental part of our business
philosophy and the foundation of our organizational culture. Our

Culture
Nelnet’s organizational culture manifests itself in many ways. We’re

values—together with our mission and vision—speak to our priorities

especially proud of our ongoing commitment to supporting the

as a company and embody Nelnet’s personal commitment to

communities in which Nelnet associates live and work.

customers, business partners and associates.
In addition, Nelnet associates consistently provide volunteer
They give voice to our sense of purpose and the business philosophy

support for events in their communities, which reflects our staff’s

that has driven us to become a national leader in education

fundamental commitment to helping families succeed in higher

planning and financing. They explain who we are, what we have set

education and in life.

out to accomplish and how we will behave as we work to accomplish
those goals. And they reflect both how we behave toward customers
and how our internal culture reinforces the entire organization’s
effectiveness. Each of these statements illustrates the important
commitment Nelnet makes to our customers and partners on a daily
basis: Nelnet helps you reach your goals.

Mission

Vision

Nelnet, a diversified educational services company, will

Making educational dreams possible.

consistently deliver premier solutions and customer
experiences. Schools and their students are our primary focus.

Core Values

2006 nelnet scholarships and philanthropy

•

Customers are number one

Nelnet and our associates gave a total of more than $1.5

•

We will create an environment in which employees 		

million to a variety of charitable organizations nationwide,

		

can succeed and are treated with dignity

including United Way, Junior Achievement, the Hispanic

		

and respect

Association of Colleges & Universities, the United Negro

Truth, honesty, integrity and clear, open

College Fund, Big Brothers Big Sisters and the YMCA.

•
		
•

communication are fundamental to our success
Our goal is to create a diversified educational

		

services company that preserves

		

intellectual capital
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Our LEADERSHIP TEAM

Board of Directors

Nelnet’s Board of Directors and senior management team are among
the most seasoned and experienced in the higher education
financing and planning arena. Collectively, they offer hundreds of
years of industry experience, managerial know-how and innovation.
The Nelnet Board of Directors is deeply committed to fulfilling our
company’s long-term vision of being a lifelong provider of education
and career-related services for students and families. Our Board plays
a vital role in shaping our business strategy and maintaining our
focus on long-term growth.
The depth of talent and experience on our management team is
remarkable; our senior managers have been with Nelnet or one of our
predecessor companies for an average of more than 10 years. They
also bring a genuine passion to their work supporting the
education-seeking family and the institutions that serve them. That
day-in, day-out commitment to our core values and mission has
fostered an environment where Nelnet associates feel equally
passionate about the organization.
Our leadership team is also committed to developing new leaders

Michael S. Dunlap
Chairman
Co-Chief Executive Officer

Stephen F. Butterfield
Vice Chairman
Co-Chief Executive Officer

James P. Abel
President & Chief Executive Officer
NEBCO, Inc.

Brian J. O’Connor
Senior Vice President
Hutchinson, Shockey,
Erley & Co.

Don R. Bouc
President Emeritus
Nelnet
Thomas E. Henning
President & Chief Executive Officer
Assurity Security Group Inc.
Arturo R. Moreno
President & Chairman
Anaheim Angels

Michael D. Reardon
President
ProVision Communications
James H. VanHorn
President & Chief Executive Officer
InTuition Development
Holdings, LLC

from within. We continue to offer our team the Nelnet Leadership
Development Program, including the opportunity to earn a Master of
Arts degree in leadership. This program will help ensure the company

Executive Leadership

continues to have a strong pool of leadership talent to draw from for

David A. Bottegal
Chief Executive Officer
Nelnet Education Services

Todd M. Eicher
Chief Mergers &
Acquisitions Officer

Jeffrey R. Noordhoek
President

Edward P. Martinez
Executive Director
Corporate Counsel

years to come.

Special Announcement
We announced in early 2007 that Steve Butterfield would
be changing his role with the company during the year,
stepping down as co-CEO but remaining as Vice Chairman
of the Board of Directors.
Our entire leadership team respects Steve’s priorities and
desire to spend more time with his family, and is
grateful that he will continue to play an active role in
Nelnet’s management and growth.

Terry J. Heimes
Chief Financial Officer
Raymond J. Ciarvella
Chief Technology Officer
Matthew D. Hall
Chief Operating Officer
Nelnet Education Services

Evan J. Roth
Chief Learning Officer
David Byrnes
Chief Executive Officer
Nelnet Business Solutions
William J. Munn
Chief Legal Officer & Secretary

Cheryl E. Watson
Chief Communications Officer
Nelnet Annual Report 2006 11

Note on Corporate Governance
In 2006, Nelnet submitted to the New York Stock Exchange a certificate
of each of the Co-Chief Executive Officers of Nelnet certifying that they
were not aware of any violation by Nelnet of the New York Stock

of cash that can be taken out of a business during its remaining life.
Due to the subjective nature of deriving fundamental value, we will
not force our estimates on you through quarterly guidance, but will
supply, as noted above, the information we believe is critical to our
value calculation.

Exchange corporate governance listing standards. Nelnet has filed
with the Securities and Exchange Commission certifications of each of
the Co-Chief Executive Officers and the Chief Financial Officer required
under Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act as exhibits to the Annual
Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2006.

SAFE HARBOR STATEMENT
Information contained in this document, other than historical
information, may be considered forward-looking in nature and is
subject to various risks, uncertainties and assumptions.

Fundamental Value
We believe in conservative and transparent accounting policies. We do
not use gain-on-sale accounting. Rather, we record all assets and
liabilities on our balance sheet. This is both transparent and
conservative because it does not result in the frontloading of
revenues. We recognize income as it is generated and thus, there is no
residual risk associated with the figures reported on our income
statement or residuals included in our equity on our balance sheet.
It is our goal for each Nelnet shareholder to record a gain or loss in
market value proportional to the gain or loss in per-share fundamental
value recorded by the company. To achieve this goal, we will strive to
maintain a one-to-one relationship between the company’s
fundamental value and the market price. As that implies, we would
rather see Nelnet’s stock price at a fair level than at an inflated level.
Our fair value approach may not be preferred by all investors, but we
believe it aligns with our long-term approach to both our business
model and market value.
We will communicate our value measurements in several ways,
including through the annual report, quarterly earnings calls and
reports and our annual shareholders’ meeting. We will also issue
press releases or other forms of communication regarding
business developments as appropriate throughout the year.
We will not lose sight of our fundamental value. Fundamental value
is the concept by which we encourage our shareholders to evaluate
their investment in Nelnet over the long term. It is the estimated value
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Should one or more of these risks or uncertainties materialize, or
should underlying assumptions prove incorrect, actual results may
vary materially from those anticipated, estimated or expected. Among
the key factors that may have a direct bearing on Nelnet’s operating
results, performance or financial condition are changes in terms of
student loans and the educational credit marketplace, changes in
the demand for educational financing or in financing preferences of
educational institutions, students and their families or changes in the
general interest rate environment and in the securitization markets for
education loans.
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This report contains forward-looking statements and information that are based on management’s current expectations as of the date of
this document. When used in this report, the words “anticipate,” “believe,” “estimate,” “intend,” and “expect” and similar expressions
are intended to identify forward-looking statements. These forward-looking statements are subject to risks, uncertainties,
assumptions, and other factors that may cause the actual results to be materially different from those reflected in such forward-looking
statements. These factors include, among others, the risks and uncertainties set forth in “Risk Factors” and elsewhere in this Annual
Report on Form 10-K (the “Report”) and changes in the terms of student loans and the educational credit marketplace arising from the
implementation of, or changes in, applicable laws and regulations, which may reduce the volume, average term, and costs of yields on
student loans under the Federal Family Education Loan Program (the “FFEL Program” or “FFELP”) of the U.S. Department of
Education (the “Department”) or result in loans being originated or refinanced under non-FFEL programs or may affect the terms
upon which banks and others agree to sell FFELP loans to the Company. The Company could also be affected by changes in the
demand for educational financing or in financing preferences of lenders, educational institutions, students, and their families; changes
in the general interest rate environment and in the securitization markets for education loans, which may increase the costs or limit the
availability of financings necessary to initiate, purchase, or carry education loans; losses from loan defaults; and changes in
prepayment rates and credit spreads; and the uncertain nature of the expected benefits from acquisitions and the ability to successfully
integrate operations. Additionally, financial projections may not prove to be accurate and may vary materially. The reader should not
place undue reliance on forward-looking statements, which speak only as of the date of this Report. The Company is not obligated to
publicly release any revisions to forward-looking statements to reflect events after the date of this Report or unforeseen events.
Although the Company may from time to time voluntarily update its prior forward-looking statements, it disclaims any commitment to
do so except as required by securities laws.

PART I.
ITEM 1. BUSINESS
Overview
The Company is an education planning and financing company focused on providing quality products and services to students,
families, and schools nationwide. The Company ranks among the nation’s leaders in terms of total student loan assets originated,
consolidated, held, and serviced, principally consisting of loans originated under the FFEL Program (a detailed description of the
FFEL Program is included in Appendix A to this Report). The Company offers a broad range of pre-college, in-college, and postcollege products and services to students, families, schools, and financial institutions. These products and services help students and
families plan and pay for their education and students plan their careers. The Company’s products and services are designed to
simplify the education planning and financing process and are focused on providing value to students, families, and schools
throughout the education life cycle. In recent years, the Company’s acquisitions have enhanced its position as a vertically-integrated
industry leader. Management believes these acquisitions allow the Company to expand products and services delivered to customers
and further diversify revenue and asset generation streams.
Over the last three years, the Company’s student loan portfolio has increased $10.3 billion to $23.8 billion, a compound annual growth
rate of 32 percent. The Company continues to diversify its sources of revenue including those generated from businesses that are not
dependent upon government programs reducing legislative and political risk. In 2006, fee-based revenues totaled $308 million or 50%
of the Company’s total revenue, compared to $115 million and 22% in 2004.
Management evaluates the company’s GAAP-based financial information as well as operating results on a non-GAAP performance
measure referred to as “base net income”. Management believes “base net income” provides additional insight into the financial
performance of the core operations. For further information, see Part II, Item 7, “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial
Condition and Results of Operation.”
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Education Life Cycle

Product and Service Offerings

Operating Segments
The Company is a vertically integrated education services and finance organization that has five operating segments as defined in
Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (“SFAS”) No. 131, Disclosures about Segments of an Enterprise and Related
Information (“SFAS No. 131”), as follows: Asset Generation and Management, Student Loan and Guaranty Servicing, Tuition
Payment Processing and Campus Commerce, Enrollment Services and List Management, and Software and Technical Services. The
Company’s operating segments are defined by the products and services they offer or the types of customers they serve, and they
reflect the manner in which financial information is currently evaluated by management. During 2006, the Company changed the
structure of its internal organization in a manner that caused the composition of its operating segments to change. All earlier years
presented have been restated to conform to the 2006 operating segment presentation. In accordance with SFAS No. 131, the Company
includes separate financial information about its operating segments in note 17 of the notes to the consolidated financial statements
included in this Report.
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Asset Generation and Management
The Company’s Asset Generation and Management operating segment is its largest product and service offering and drives the
majority of the Company’s earnings. The Company owns a large portfolio of student loan assets through a series of education lending
subsidiaries. The Company obtains loans through direct origination or through acquisition of loans.
The Company’s education lending subsidiaries are engaged in the securitization of education finance assets. These education lending
subsidiaries hold beneficial interests in eligible loans, subject to creditors with specific interests. The liabilities of the Company’s
education lending subsidiaries are not the direct obligations of Nelnet, Inc. or any of its other subsidiaries. Each education lending
subsidiary is structured to be bankruptcy remote, meaning that they should not be consolidated in the event of bankruptcy of the parent
company or any other subsidiary. The transfers of student loans to the eligible lender trusts do not qualify as sales under the
provisions of SFAS No. 140, Accounting for Transfers and Servicing of Financial Assets and Extinguishments of Liabilities (“SFAS
No. 140”), as the trusts continue to be under the effective control of the Company. Accordingly, all the financial activities and related
assets and liabilities, including debt, of the securitizations are reflected in the Company’s consolidated financial statements.
Student loans owned by the Company include those originated under the FFEL Program, including the Stafford Loan Program, a
program which allows for loans to be made to parents of undergraduate students and to graduate students (“PLUS”), the Supplemental
Loans for Students (“SLS”) program, and loans that consolidate certain borrower obligations (“Consolidation”), as well as nonfederally insured loans. The following tables summarize the composition of the Company’s student loan portfolio, exclusive of the
unamortized costs of origination and acquisition (dollars in thousands):

4

Federally insured:
Stafford
PLUS/SLS
Consolidation
Non-federally insured
Total
Unamortized premiums and deferred
origination costs
Allowance for loan losses:
Allowance - federally insured
Allowance - non-federally insured
Net

As of December 31, 2006
Percent
Dollars

As of December 31, 2005
Percent
Dollars

$

$

5,724,586
365,112
17,127,623
197,147
23,414,468
401,087

(7,601)
(18,402)
$ 23,789,552

24.1 %
1.5
72.0
0.8
98.4
1.7
—
(0.1)
100.0 %

6,434,655
376,042
13,005,378
96,880
19,912,955
361,242

(98)
(13,292)
$ 20,260,807

31.8 %
1.8
64.2
0.5
98.3
1.8
—
(0.1)
100.0 %

The Company’s earnings and earnings growth are directly affected by the size of its portfolio of student loans, the interest rate
characteristics of its portfolio, the costs associated with financing, servicing, and managing its portfolio, and the costs associated with
origination and acquisition of the student loans in the portfolio, which includes, among other things, borrower benefits and rebate fees
to the federal government. The Company generates the majority of its earnings from the spread, referred to as its student loan spread,
between the yield it receives on its student loan portfolio and the costs noted above. While the spread may vary due to fluctuations in
interest rates, the special allowance payments the Company receives from the federal government ensure the Company receives a
minimum yield on its student loans, so long as certain requirements are met.
Student Loan Originations and Acquisitions
During the years ended December 31, 2006 and 2005, the Company originated or acquired a total of $3.5 billion and $6.6 billion,
respectively, in student loans (net of repayments, consolidation loans lost, and loans sold), as indicated in the table below (dollars in
thousands).
Year ended December 31,
2006
2005
Beginning balance
$
19,912,955
13,299,094
Direct channel:
Consolidation loan originations
5,299,820
4,037,366
Less consolidation of existing portfolio
(2,643,880)
(1,966,000)
Net consolidation loan originations
2,655,940
2,071,366
Stafford/PLUS loan originations
1,035,695
720,545
Branding partner channel
910,756
657,720
Forward flow channel
1,600,990
1,153,125
Other channels
492,737
796,886
Total channel acquisitions
6,696,118
5,399,642
Repayments, claims, capitalized interest, and other
(1,332,086)
(1,002,260)
Consolidation loans lost to external parties
(1,114,040)
(855,000)
Loans acquired in portfolio and business acquisitions
—
3,071,479
Loans sold
(748,479)
—
Ending balance
$
23,414,468
19,912,955
The Company originates and acquires loans through various methods, including: (i) direct-to-consumer channel, (ii) campus based
channel, and (iii) spot purchases.
Direct-to-Consumer Channel
Through its direct-to-consumer channel, the Company originates student loans directly with students and parent borrowers. During
2006, a large portion of additions through this channel were attributable to loans originated through the Consolidation program.
Student loans that the Company originates directly generally are the most profitable because typically the cost to originate is less than
the premiums paid or cost to acquire loans acquired through other channels.
Once a student’s loans have entered the grace or repayment period, their student loans are eligible to be consolidated if they meet
certain requirements. Loan consolidation allows borrowers to make a single payment per month with a fixed interest rate, instead of
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multiple payments on multiple loans, and also enables borrowers to extend their loan repayment period for up to 30 years, depending
upon the size of the consolidation loan. The Company’s direct-to-consumer channel, and specifically its consolidation loan activity,
allows the Company to add longer-lived assets to its portfolio while also protecting loans in the Company’s portfolio which might be
lost to a competitor.
Campus Based Channel
The Company will originate or acquire loans through its campus based channel either directly under one of its brand names or through
other originating lenders. Similar to the direct-to-consumer channel, loans originated directly by the Company are generally more
profitable because the cost to originate is less than the premiums paid or cost to acquire loans from other originating lenders. In
addition to its brands, the Company acquires student loans from lenders to whom the Company provides marketing and/or origination
services established through various contracts.
Branding partners are lenders for which the Company acts as a marketing agent in specified geographic areas. A forward flow lender
is one for whom the Company provides origination services, but provides no marketing services, or who simply agree to sell loans to
the Company under forward sale commitments. Generally, branding partner loans are more profitable for the Company than loans
acquired from forward flow lenders. The Company ordinarily purchases loans originated by branding partners and forward flow
lenders pursuant to a contractual commitment, at a premium above par, following full disbursement of the loans. The Company
ordinarily retains rights to acquire loans subsequently made to the same borrowers, called “serial loans.” Origination and servicing of
loans made by branding partners and forward flow lenders is primarily performed by the Company so that loans need not be moved
from a different servicer upon purchase by the Company. In addition, the loan origination and servicing agreements generally provide
for “life of loan” servicing so that loans cannot be moved to a different servicer.
The Company’s agreements and commitments with these lenders to purchase loans are commonly three to five years in duration and
ordinarily contain provisions for automatic renewal for successive terms. The Company is generally obligated to purchase all of the
loans originated by the Company on behalf of lenders under these commitments as well as some loans originated elsewhere; however,
some branding partners retain rights to portions of their loan originations and in some instances forward flow lenders are only
obligated to sell loans originated in certain specific geographic regions or exclude loans that are otherwise committed for sale to third
parties. Additionally, branding partners and forward flow lenders are not necessarily obligated to provide the Company with a
minimum amount of loans.
Spot Purchases
The Company also acquires student loan portfolios from various entities under “one-time” agreements, or spot purchases. Typically,
spot purchased loans have higher costs of acquisition compared to other loan channels.
Student Loan Financing
A significant portion of the net cash flow the Company receives is generated by the interest earnings on the underlying student loans
less amounts paid to the bondholders, loan servicing fees, and any other expenses relating to the financing transactions. The Company
generally relies upon secured financing vehicles as its most significant source of funding for student loans. The Company’s rights to
cash flow from securitized student loans are subordinate to bondholder interests. These secured financing vehicles may be shorter term
warehousing programs or longer term permanent financing structures. The size and structure of the financing vehicles may vary,
including the term, base interest rate, and applicable covenants. The following chart outlines all of the Company’s funding sources as
of December 31, 2006, including financings used by the Company to fund student loans (marked with an asterisk).
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Funding Sources
as of December 31, 2006

*Fixed Rate Notes
$404mm
1.5%

Unsecured LOC
$103mm
0.4%

*Other
$113mm
0.4%

Unsecured Senior Debt
$275mm
1.0%
Capital Efficient Notes
$200mm
0.8%

Equity
$672mm
2.6%

*Auction Rate Notes
$2.7bn
10.2%

*Commercial Paper
$5.2bn
19.7%

*Floating Rate Notes
$16.6bn
63.4%

Student loan warehousing (Commercial Paper in the above table) allows the Company to buy and manage student loans prior to
transferring them into more permanent financing arrangements. The Company uses its large warehouse facilities to pool student loans
in order to maximize loan portfolio characteristics for efficient financing and to properly time market conditions for movement of the
loans. As of December 31, 2006, the Company had student loan warehousing capacity of $4.2 billion through two commercial paper
conduit programs (of which $2.9 billion was outstanding and $1.3 billion was available for future use). The Company also has
authorization to fund up to $5 billion in loans through the Company’s own extendible commercial paper conduit, which issues notes
under the name of a subsidiary of the Company, and does not rely on bank liquidity support. As of December 31, 2006, the Company
had $2.3 billion of notes outstanding and $2.7 billion of remaining authorization under this warehouse program.
The Company had $19.7 billion in asset-backed securities issued and outstanding as of December 31, 2006 (Floating, Auction, and
Fixed Rate Notes in the above table). These asset-backed securities allow the Company to finance student loan assets on a long term
basis. In 2006, the Company completed three asset-backed securitizations totaling $6.3 billion, which made the Company the second
largest issuer of student loan asset-backed securities for the year.
Interest Rate Risk Management
Because the Company generates a significant portion of its earnings from its student loan spread, the interest rate sensitivity of the
Company's balance sheet is actively managed. The current and future interest rate environment can and will affect the Company's
interest earnings, net interest income, and net income. The effects of changing interest rate environments are further outlined in Part II,
Item 7A, "Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Market Risk — Interest Rate Risk."
The interest rate earned by the Company and the interest rate paid by the underlying borrowers on the Company's portfolio of FFELP
loans is set forth in the Higher Education Act of 1965, as amended (the “Higher Education Act”), and the Department’s regulations
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thereunder and, generally, is based upon the date the loan was originated. The majority of the student loans held by the Company
have variable-rate characteristics in certain interest rate environments. Some of the student loans, generally those originated prior to
April 1, 2006, include fixed rate components depending upon the rate reset provision or, in the case of consolidation loans, are fixed at
the weighted average interest rate of the underlying loans at the time of consolidation. On those FFELP loans with fixed-term
borrower rates, primarily consolidation loans, the Company earns interest at the greater of the borrower rate or a variable rate based on
the special allowance payment (“SAP”) formula set by the Department. As a result of one of the provisions of the Higher Education
Reconciliation Act of 2005 (“HERA”), the Company's portfolio of FFELP loans originated on or after April 1, 2006, no longer earns
interest at the greater of the SAP rate and the borrower rate. For the portfolio of loans originated on or after April 1, 2006, when the
borrower rate exceeds the variable rate based on the SAP formula, the Company must return the excess to the Department. Thus, the
portfolio of loans originated after April 1, 2006 earns interest only at the variable rate based on the SAP formula.
Since the majority of its portfolio has variable interest rate characteristics, the Company has historically followed a policy of funding
the majority of its student loan portfolio with variable-rate debt. In certain interest rate environments, namely when the borrower rate
or statutorily defined rate exceeds the normal lender yield in low or declining interest rate environments, the Company has the
potential to earn “floor income” based on the mismatch in rates. The Company has used fixed rate debt or derivative instruments in an
attempt to hedge this risk and substantially reduce the volatility of its earnings based on interest rate sensitivity. In higher interest rate
environments, where the interest rate rises above the borrower rate and the fixed rate loans start to earn at variable rate because of
special allowance formulas, the loans are effectively matched with variable rate debt and the impact of rate fluctuations is substantially
reduced.
The Company attempts to match the interest rate characteristics of certain pools of loan assets with debt instruments of substantially
similar characteristics, particularly in rising interest rate markets. Due to the variability in duration of the Company’s assets and
varying market conditions, the Company does not attempt to perfectly match the interest rate characteristics of the entire loan portfolio
with the underlying debt instruments. The Company has adopted a policy of periodically reviewing the mismatch related to the
interest rate characteristics of its assets and liabilities, described above, together with the Company's outlook as to current and future
market conditions. Based on those factors, the Company uses derivative instruments as part of its overall risk management strategy.
Derivative instruments used as part of the Company's interest rate risk management strategy include interest rate swaps, basis swaps,
interest rate floor contracts, and cross-currency swaps. For further information, see Part II, Item 7A, “Quantitative and Qualitative
Disclosures about Market Risk — Interest Rate Risk.”
Credit Risk
The Company’s portfolio of student loan assets is subject to minimal credit risk, generally based upon the type of loan, date of
origination, and quality of the underlying loan servicing. The Company’s portfolio of non-federally insured loans is subject to credit
risk similar to other consumer loan assets. Substantially all of the Company’s loan portfolio (99% at December 31, 2006) is
guaranteed at some level by the Department. Depending upon when the loan was first disbursed, and subject to certain servicing
requirements, the federal government currently guarantees 97-98% of the principal of and the interest on federally insured student
loans, which limits the Company’s loss exposure to 2-3% of the outstanding balance of the Company’s federally insured portfolio (for
older loans disbursed prior to 1993, the guaranty rate is 100%). In September 2005, the Company was re-designated as an Exceptional
Performer by the Department in recognition of its exceptional level of performance in servicing FFELP loans. As a result of this
designation, the Company receives 99% reimbursement on all eligible FFELP default claims submitted for reimbursement. Only
FFELP loans that are serviced by the Company, as well as loans owned by the Company and serviced by other service providers
designated as Exceptional Performers by the Department, are eligible for the 99% reimbursement. As of December 31, 2006, more
than 99% of the Company’s federally insured loans were serviced by providers designated as Exceptional Performers. The following
table shows the activity in the Company’s allowance for loan loss for the three years ended December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004:
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Year ended December 31,
2005
(dollars in thousands)
13,390
7,272

2006
Balance at beginning of period
Provision for loan losses:
Federally insured loans
Non-federally insured loans
Total provision for loan losses
Charge-offs, net of recoveries:
Federally insured loans
Non-federally insured loans
Net charge-offs
Balance at end of period
Allocation of the allowance for loan losses:
Federally insured loans
Non-federally insured loans
Total allowance for loan losses

$

$
$
$

Net loan charge-offs as a percentage of average student loans
Total allowance as a percentage of average student loans
Total allowance as a percentage of ending balance of student loans
Non-federally insured allowance as a percentage of the ending
balance of non-federally insured loans
Average student loans
Ending balance of student loans
Ending balance of non-federally insured loans

$

2004
16,026

9,268
6,040
15,308

280
6,750
7,030

(7,639)
7,110
(529)

(1,765)
(930)
(2,695)
26,003

(299)
(613)
(912)
13,390

(1,999)
(6,226)
(8,225)
7,272

7,601
18,402
26,003

98
13,292
13,390

117
7,155
7,272

0.012 %
0.120 %
0.111 %

0.006 %
0.085 %
0.067 %

0.070 %
0.062 %
0.055 %

9.334 %
21,696,466
23,414,468
197,147

13.720 %
15,716,388
19,912,955
96,880

7.914 %
11,809,663
13,299,094
90,405

In 2004, the Company's allowance and the provision for loan losses were each reduced by $9.4 million to account for the estimated
effects of the Company's (and other service providers servicing the Company's student loans) Exceptional Performance designations. In
2006, the Company's allowance and the provision for loan losses were each increased by $6.9 million due to a provision in the Deficit
Reduction Act that increased risk sharing for student loan holders by one percent on FFELP loans.

Drivers of Growth in the Student Loan Industry
The increase in the Company’s student loan portfolio has been driven in part by the growth in the overall student loan marketplace.
The student loan marketplace growth is a result of rising higher education enrollment and the rising annual cost of education, which is
illustrated in the following charts.

Annual Cost of Education ($ thousands) (1)

Higher education enrollment (in millions)

22.2
21.0
20.0
19.0

19.9

18.1

19.7

17.4

19.5
15.5

19.2

16.1

14.7

19.0

13.8
13.0

18.8
18.5
18.2
18.0
17.7
17.3

17.4

16.9
16.6
'96-'97

'97-'98

'98-'99

'99-'00

'00-'01

'01-'02

'02-'03

'03-'04

'04-'05

'05-'06

'06-'07

School Year
'02

'03

'04

'05E '06E '07E '08E '09E '10E '11E '12E '13E '14E '15E

Source: The College Board, New York, NY.
(1) Annual average tuition at private, four-year institutions using constant 2006
dollars.

Source: U.S. Department of Education,
National Center for Education Statistics
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As a result of estimated higher education enrollment and the increase in the cost of education, it is estimated that student loan
originations will continue to grow similar to historical levels, which is illustrated in the following chart.

Student loan origination volume ($ billions)
71.8
67.6
63.8
60.2
56.8
52.1

53.7

45.4
37.4

'00

39.7

'01

'02

'03

'04E

'05E

'06E

'07E

'08E

'09E

Source: U.S. Department of Education, The College Board, National Center for Education Statistics, Octameron Associates

Competition
The Company faces competition from many lenders in the highly competitive student loan industry. Through its size, the Company
has successfully leveraged economies of scale to gain market share and to compete by offering a full array of loan products and
services. In addition, the Company has attempted to differentiate itself from other lenders through its customer service, comprehensive
product offering, vertical integration, technology, and strong relationships with colleges and universities.
The Company views SLM Corporation, the parent company of Sallie Mae, as its largest competitor in loan origination and student
loans held. Large national and regional banks are also strong competitors, although many are involved only in the origination of
student loans. Additionally, in different geographic locations across the country, the Company faces strong competition from the
regional tax-exempt student loan secondary markets. The Federal Direct Lending (“FDL”) Program, in which the Federal government
lends money directly to students and families, has also historically reduced the origination volume available for FFEL Program
participants.
The following tables summarize the top FFELP loan holders, originators, and consolidators as of September 30, 2005 (the latest date
information was available from the Department):

Rank
1
2
3
4
5
6
7
8
9
10

Top FFELP Loan Holders
Name
$ billions
Sallie Mae
$102.3
Citigroup
24.6
Nelnet
15.8
Wachovia
10.7
Wells Fargo
9.6
Brazos Group
9.0
College Loan Corp.
7.8
JPMorgan Chase
7.5
PHEAA
6.8
Goal Financial
5.3

Top FFELP Stafford and PLUS Originators
Rank
Name
$ billions
1
JPMorgan Chase
$5.4
2
Sallie Mae
5.0
3
Nelnet
4.1
4
Citigroup
3.3
5
Bank of America
2.9
6
Wells Fargo
2.3
7
Wachovia
2.1
8
College Loan Corp.
1.2
9
U.S. Bancorp
1.1
10
Access Group
1.1

Rank
1
2
3
4
5
6
7
8
9
10

Top FFELP Consolidators
Name
$ billions
Sallie Mae
$19.3
Citigroup
4.8
Nelnet
4.1
JPMorgan Chase
2.2
SunTrust
1.9
Northstar
1.7
Goal Financial
1.7
College Loan Corp.
1.6
Brazos Group
1.6
PHEAA
1.6

Source: Department of Education, Student Loan Servicing Alliance

Seasonality
The Company earns net interest income on its portfolio of student loans. Net interest income is primarily driven by the size and
composition of the portfolio in addition to the prevailing interest rate environment. Although originations of student loans are
generally subject to seasonal trends which will generally correspond to the traditional academic school year, the size of the Company’s
portfolio, the periodic acquisition of student loans through its various channels, and the run-off of its portfolio limits the seasonality of
net interest income. Unlike the lack of seasonality associated with interest income, the Company incurs significantly more asset
generation costs prior to and at the beginning of the academic school year.
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Student Loan and Guaranty Servicing
The Company’s servicing division offers lenders across the U.S. and Canada a complete line of education loan services, including
application processing, underwriting, disbursement of funds, customer service, account maintenance, federal reporting and billing
collections, payment processing, default aversion, claim filing, and recovery/collection services. These activities are performed
internally for the Company’s portfolio in addition to generating fee revenue when performed for third-party clients. The Company’s
student loan servicing division uses proprietary systems to manage the servicing process. These systems provide for automated
compliance with most of the regulations adopted under Title IV of the Higher Education Act as well as regulations of the Canadian
government-sponsored student loan program. The Company offers four primary product offerings as part of its loan and guaranty
servicing functions. These product offerings and percentage of total Student Loan and Guaranty Servicing revenue provided by each
during the year ended December 31, 2006 follows:
1.
2.
3.
4.

Origination and servicing of FFEL Program loans (34.8%);
Origination and servicing of non-federally insured student loans (5.1%);
Servicing and support outsourcing for guaranty agencies (23.9% ); and
Origination and servicing of loans under the Canadian government-sponsored student loan program (36.2%).

The following table summarizes the Company’s loan servicing volumes as of December 31, 2006 and 2005:

Company

2006
Third party

Total

Company

(dollars in millions)
FFELP loans

$

Canadian loans (in U.S. $)
Total

$

2005
Third party

Total

(dollars in millions)

21,869

8,725

30,594

—

9,043

9,043

21,869

17,768

39,637

$

$

16,969

10,020

26,989

—

8,139

8,139

16,969

18,159

35,128

The Company performs the origination and servicing activities for FFEL Program loans for itself as well as third-party clients. In
2005, the Company was re-designated as an Exceptional Performer. As a result of this designation, the Company’s servicing clients
receive 99% reimbursement on all eligible FFELP default claims related to loans serviced by the Company which are submitted for
reimbursement. The Company believes service, reputation, and/or execution are factors considered by schools in developing their
lender lists and customers deciding who they want servicing their loans. Management believes it is important to provide exceptional
customer service in order to increase the Company’s loan servicing and origination volume at schools with which the Company does
business.
The Company’s FFELP servicing customers include branding and forward flow lenders who sell loans to the Company as well as
other national and regional banks and credit unions. The Company also has various state and non-profit secondary markets as thirdparty clients. The majority of the Company’s external loan servicing activities are performed under “life of loan” contracts. Life of
loan servicing essentially provides that as long as the loan exists, the Company shall be the sole servicer of that loan; however, the
agreement may contain “deconversion” provisions where, for a fee, the lender may move the loan to another servicer.
The Company also provides origination and servicing activities for non-federally insured loans. Although similar in terms of activities
and functions (i.e., disbursement processing, application processing, payment processing, statement distribution, and reporting) private
loan servicing activities are not focused on compliance with provisions of the Higher Education Act and may be more customized to
individual client requirements.
The Company also provides servicing support for guaranty agencies, which are the organizations that serve as the intermediary
between the U.S. federal government and FFELP lenders, who are responsible for paying the claims made on defaulted loans. The
Department has designated 35 guarantors that have been formed as either state agencies or non-profit corporations that provide FFELP
guaranty services in one or more states. Approximately half of these guarantors contract for operational or technology services, or
both. The services provided by the Company include operational, administrative, financial, and technology services to guarantors
participating in the FFEL Program and state agencies that run financial aid grant and scholarship programs.
The Company’s guaranty servicing is limited to a small group of customers. The Company receives virtually all of its guaranty
servicing income from three principal guaranty servicing customers - Tennessee Student Assistance Corporation (“TSAC”), College
Assist (which is the Colorado state guaranty agency – formerly known as College Access Network), and National Student Loan
Program (“NSLP”).
The Company provides student loan administrative services in Canada through its subsidiary, EDULINX Canada Corporation
(“EDULINX”). EDULINX provides student loan administrative services, including loan disbursement, in-study account
management, loan consolidation, repayment management, customer contact, default prevention, and portfolio management services.
In Canada, the principal market for these services consists of the federal government and various provincial governments who deliver
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their student loans through direct-financing programs as well as financial institutions who participate in either government-guaranteed
and/or risk-shared loan programs.
Substantially all of the Company’s revenues are earned from customers in the United States except for revenue generated from
servicing Canadian student loans at EDULINX. For the years ended December 31, 2006 and 2005 and the period from December 1,
2004 (the date of the Company’s acquisition of EDULINX) to December 31, 2004, the Company recognized $69.0 million, $59.2
million, and $4.6 million, respectively, from Canadian student loan servicing customers. The long-lived assets located in Canada
related to EDULINX’ business are not significant.
EDULINX has three primary loan servicing customers: the Government of Canada, the Province of Alberta, and the Canadian
Imperial Bank of Commerce (“CIBC”). The Government of Canada is EDULINX's largest customer, accounting for $53.9 million, or
28% of the Company’s loan and guaranty servicing revenue during 2006. On December 22, 2006, EDULINX was notified that the
Government of Canada has decided to award the contract to provide financial and related administrative services in support of the
Canada and Integrated Student Loan Programs ("CSLP") to another service provider upon the expiration of the current contract on
March 31, 2008. As a result of this decision, EDULINX will be required to transition the existing direct-financed CSLP portfolio it
services to the selected service provider. Under the current contract between EDULINX and the Government of Canada, EDULINX
can earn performance incentive revenue if certain performance levels are achieved (as defined in the servicing contract). Based on
EDULINX achieving certain performance objectives through December 31, 2006, the Company recognized $4.4 million (USD)
during the fourth quarter of 2006 related to the incentives under this contract. Additional incentive revenue could be recognized by
EDULINX over the remaining term of this contract.
The chart below shows the number of third-party servicing customers, by product, within the Company’s Student Loan and Guaranty
Servicing segment as of December 31, 2006:
Number of Third-party
Servicing Customers
126
15
27
3
171

Product Type
FFELP
Private
Guaranty
Canadian
Total

Competition
There is a relatively large number of lenders and servicing organizations who participate in the FFEL Program. The chart below lists
the top ten servicing organizations for FFEL loans as of December 31, 2005 (the latest date information was available from the
Department).
Top FFELP Loan Servicers
Rank

Name

1

Sallie Mae

$ billions

2

PHEAA

3

Nelnet

24.4

4

ACS

23.7

5

Great Lakes

23.3

6

Citigroup

19.5

7

JPMorgan Chase

10.7

8

Wells Fargo

8.9

9

Edfinancial

5.3

10

KHEAA

4.5

$107.3
28.4

Source: Department of Education, Student Loan Servicing Alliance

The principal competitor for existing and prospective loan and guaranty servicing business, excluding the Canadian market, is SLM
Corporation. Sallie Mae is the largest FFELP provider of origination and servicing functions as well as one of the largest service
providers of non-federally guaranteed loans. As the Company expands its student loan origination and acquisition activities, it may
face increased competition with some of its servicing customers. The Company also believes the number of guaranty agencies
contracting for technology services will increase as states continue expanding the scope of their financial aid grant programs and as a
result of existing deficient or outdated systems. Since there is a finite universe of clients, competition for existing and new contracts is
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considered high. Agencies may choose to contract for part or all of their services, and the Company believes its products and services
are competitive. To enhance its competitiveness, the Company continues to focus on service quality and technological enhancements.
Seasonality
The revenue earned by the Company’s loan and guaranty servicing operations is primarily related to the outstanding portfolio size and
composition and the amount of disbursement and origination activity. Revenue generated by recurring monthly activity is driven
based on the outstanding portfolio size and composition and has little seasonality. However, a portion of the fees received by the
Company under various servicing contracts do relate to services provided in relation to the origination and disbursement of student
loans. Stafford, PLUS, and Canadian loans are disbursed as directed by the school and are usually divided into two or three equal
disbursements released at specified times during the school year. The two periods of August through October and December through
March account for the majority of the Company’s total annual Stafford, PLUS, and Canadian loan disbursements. For private loan
origination activities, disbursements peak from June through September and the Company will earn a large portion of its origination
fee income during these months. There is also a seasonal fluctuation in guaranty processing levels due to the correlation of the
delivery of loans to students attending schools with traditional academic calendars, with peak season occurring from approximately
July to September.
Tuition Payment Processing and Campus Commerce
The Company’s Tuition Payment Processing and Campus Commerce operating segment provides products and services to help
institutions and education seeking families manage the payment of education costs during the pre-college and college stages of the
education life cycle. The Company provides actively managed tuition payment solutions, online payment processing, detailed
information reporting, and data integration services to K-12 and post-secondary educational institutions, families, and students. In
addition, the Company provides financial needs analysis for students applying for aid in private and parochial K-12 schools.
The K-12 market consists of nearly 30,000 private and faith-based educational institutions nationally. In the K-12 market the
Company offers tuition management services as well as assistance with financial needs assessment, enrollment management, and
donor management.
Tuition management services include payment plan administration, ancillary billing, accounts receivable management, and record
keeping. K-12 educational institutions contract with the Company to administer deferred payment plans where the institution allows
the responsible party to make monthly payments over 6-12 months. The Company collects a fee from either the institution or the
payer as an administration fee.
The Company offers two principal products to the higher education market – actively managed tuition payment plans and campus
commerce outsourcing. The Company has actively managed tuition payment plans in place at approximately 460 colleges and
universities. Higher educational institutions contract with the Company to administer deferred payment plans where the institution
allows the responsible party to make monthly payments on either a semester or annual basis. The Company collects a fee from either
the institution or the payer as an administration fee.
The campus commerce solution, QuikPAY®, is sold as a subscription service to colleges and universities. QuikPAY processes
payments through the appropriate channels in the banking or credit card networks to make deposits into the client’s bank account. It
can be further deployed to other departments around campus as requested (e.g., application fees, alumni giving, parking, events, etc.).
There are approximately 70 colleges and universities using the QuikPAY system. The Company earns revenue for e-billing,
hosting/maintenance, credit card convenience fees, and e-payment transaction fees. The two largest campus commerce clients provide
annual revenue to the Company of approximately $400,000 each.
Competition
This segment of the Company’s business focuses on two separate markets – private and faith-based K-12 schools and higher education
colleges and universities.
The Company is the largest provider of tuition management services to the private and faith-based K-12 market in the United States.
Competitors range from banking companies, tuition management providers, financial needs assessment providers, accounting firms,
and a myriad of software companies. The Company’s principal competitive advantages are (i) the service it provides to institutions,
(ii) the information management tools provided with the Company’s service, and (iii) the Company’s ability to interface with the
institution’s clients. Management believes the primary competition in this market comes from new technologies which may offer
unique and more cost-efficient service.
In the higher education market, the Company targets business officers at colleges and universities. In this market, there are four
primary competitors to the Company: SLM Corporation, TouchNet, CashNet, and solutions developed in-house by colleges and
universities. The Company believes its clients select products primarily on technological superiority and feature functionality, but
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price and service also impact the selection process. Management is not aware of any published market share information relating to
this segment, but believes the Company is second or third in the market based upon the number of students served.
Seasonality
This segment of the Company’s business is subject to seasonal fluctuations which correspond, or are related to, the traditional school
year. Tuition management revenue is recognized over the course of the academic year, but the peak operational activities take place in
summer and early fall. Revenue associated with providing QuikPAY subscription services is recognized over the service period with
the highest revenue months being July through September and December and January. The Company’s operating expenses do not
follow the seasonality of the revenues. This is primarily due to fixed year-round personnel costs and seasonal marketing costs.
Enrollment Services and List Management
The Company’s Enrollment Services and List Management operating segment provides products and services to help institutions and
education seeking families during primarily the pre-college phase of the education life cycle. The Company provides a wide range of
direct marketing products and services to help businesses reach the middle school, high school, college bound high school, college,
and young adult market places. In addition, the Company offers enrollment products and services that are focused on helping i)
education seeking families plan for and prepare for college and ii) colleges recruiting and retaining students. The Company’s
enrollment products and services include:
x
x
x
x
x
x
x

x
x
x
x
x
x

Test preparation study guides and online courses;
Admissions consulting;
College planning resource center;
Licensing of scholarship data;
Essay and resume editing services;
Financial aid products;
Student recognition publications;

Vendor lead management system;
Pay per click management;
Email marketing;
Admissions lead generation;
List marketing services; and
Call center services.

As with all of the Company’s products and services, the Company’s focus is on the education seeking family – both college bound and
in college – and the Company delivers products and services in this segment through institutions of higher learning at the secondary
and post-secondary level. Many of the Company’s products in this segment are distributed online; however, products such as study
guides and books are distributed as printed materials. In addition, essay and resume editing services are delivered primarily by
contract editors and college planning call center services are delivered by the Company’s counselors via inbound and outbound
teleservices and web chat.
In addition to its other clients, the Company provides on-line test preparation services and products to the United States Army, Navy,
and Air Force under contracts with one year terms.
Competition
In this segment, the primary areas in which the Company competes are: lead generation and management, test preparation study
guides and online courses, college planning resource centers, call center services, and student recognition publications.
There are several large competitors in the areas of lead generation, test preparation, and student recognition, but the Company does not
believe any one competitor has a dominant position in all of the product and service areas offered by the Company. Additionally,
there are few competitors in the college planning resource center arena. The Company has seen increased competition in the area of
call center operations, including outsourced admissions, as other companies have recognized the potential in this market.
The Company competes through various methods, including price, brand awareness, depth of product and service selection, and
customer service. The Company has attempted to be a “one stop shop” for the education seeking family looking for career
assessment, test preparation, and college and financial aid information. The Company also offers its institutional clients a breadth of
services unrivaled in the education industry.
Seasonality
As with the Company’s other business segments, portions of the Company’s Enrollment Services and List Management segment are
subject to seasonal fluctuations based upon the traditional academic school year, with peaks in January and August. Additionally, the
Company recognizes revenue from the sale of lists when the list is distributed to the customer. Revenue from the sale of lists is
dependent on demand for the lists and varies from period to period. Also, the Company’s student recognition activities are related to
the mailing of two primary publications. These publications have historically been mailed in the December to January and June to
July time periods and mailing costs are recorded as incurred, which are three to nine months prior to book shipment.
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Software and Technical Services
The Company uses internally developed loan servicing software and also provides this software to third-party student loan holders and
servicers. In addition, the Company provides information technology products and services, with core areas of business in student
loan software solutions for schools, lenders, and guarantors; technical consulting services; and enterprise content management.
The Company licenses, maintains, and supports the following systems and software:
x
x
x
x

HELMS/HELM-Net, STAR, and SLSS, systems which are used in the full servicing of FFELP, private, consolidation, and
Canadian loans;
Mariner, which is used for consolidation loan origination;
InfoCentre, which is a data warehouse and analysis tool for educational loans; and
Uconnect, a tool to facilitate information sharing between different applications.

The Company’s clients within the education loan marketplace include large and small financial institutions, secondary markets, loan
originators, and loan servicers. The Company’s software and documentation is distributed electronically via its web site and, if
necessary, on CD-ROM. Primary support for clients is done remotely from the Company’s offices, but the Company does provide onsite support and training when required.
The Company also supplies and supports Enterprise Content Management solutions. The Company’s Technical Consulting Services
group provides consulting services, primarily Microsoft related, both within and outside of the educational loan marketplace. The
Company’s Microsoft Enterprise Consulting practice also provides product and solutions for the Microsoft platform. Examples of
these products are Uconnect® (an application integration product) and Dynamic Payables® (an Accounts Payable automation
product).
The Company is a reseller of IBM hardware and software, Hummingbird (Open Text), Kofax, and Ultimus document imaging
technology, and the Company’s products require third party software from Microsoft. All of these third party products and resources
are generally available and in some cases the Company relies on its clients obtaining these products directly from the vendors rather
than through the Company. The Company is a Microsoft Gold Certified partner and a Microsoft Business Solutions partner.
A significant portion of the software and technology services business is dependent on the existence of the FFEL Program. If the
federal government were to terminate the FFEL Program, the Company’s software and technical services segment would be impacted;
however, management believes the Company’s clients would continue to hold significant portfolios which would require servicing
and related software and technical services. The Company has some technology and software services contracts with state agencies,
but they do not comprise a significant portion of the Company’s business.
Competition
The Company is one of the leaders in the education loan software processing industry. Over 60% of the top 100 lenders in the FFEL
Program utilize the Company’s software either directly or indirectly. Management believes the Company’s competitors in this
segment are much smaller than the Company and do not have the depth of knowledge or products offered by the Company.
The Company’s primary method of competition in this segment is based upon its depth of knowledge, experience, and product
offerings in the education loan industry. The Company believes it has a competitive edge in offering proven solutions, since the
Company’s competition consists primarily of consulting firms that offer services and not products.
The Company also faces competition from loan servicers; however, loan servicing companies are outsourcing solutions which do not
allow a client to differentiate themselves in the market.
Seasonality
Software demonstrations and decisions to purchase software generally take place during year-end budget season, but management
believes implementation timeframes vary enough to provide a consistent revenue stream throughout the year. In addition, software
support is a year long ongoing process and not generally affected by seasonality.
Recent Developments Related to the Higher Education Act
The Department’s authority to provide interest subsidy payments, special allowance payments, and federal insurance for FFELP loans
terminates on a date specified in the Higher Education Act. The provisions of the Higher Education Act governing the FFEL Program
are periodically amended and the Higher Education Act must be reauthorized by Congress from time to time in order to prevent sunset
of the Higher Education Act. Although HERA extended the authorization of the FFEL Program through September 30, 2012, the
remainder of the Higher Education Act was not reauthorized under HERA. On September 30, 2006, President Bush signed the Third
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Higher Education Extension Act of 2006 which provided a temporary extension of the Higher Education Act through June 30, 2007.
As of the date of this Report, Congress has not passed any legislation which would reauthorize or further extend the Higher Education
Act.
Recently Congress introduced legislation and the President proposed a new budget which contains provisions with significant
implications for participants in the FFEL Program. Among other things, these proposals include various reductions in federal
government payments to lenders and guaranty agencies and increases in fees paid by lenders. The proposals include:
x
x
x
x
x
x
x
x
x
x
x
x

reducing special allowance payments to lenders;
reducing default insurance rates (including reducing default insurance rates for lenders/servicers with an Exceptional
Performer designation) and the possible elimination of the Exceptional Performer program);
increasing lender origination fees on consolidation loans;
reduction of guaranty agency collection retention;
changing the way guaranty agency account fees are charged;
requiring disclosures relating to placement on “preferred lender lists” and various arrangements between lenders and schools;
banning lenders from offering certain gifts to school employees;
encouraging borrowers to maximize their borrowing through government loan programs prior to private loan programs with
higher interest rates;
increasing annual and aggregate loan limits for certain Stafford loans;
reducing interest rates for subsidized Stafford loans;
encouraging schools to participate in the FDL Program through increased federal scholarship funds; and
increasing the consolidation rebate fees for certain lenders.

As of the date of this Report, none of these proposals have been enacted into law. While the Company supports the federal
government’s efforts to make higher education more accessible and affordable, the Company does not support paying for these efforts
by cutting the FFEL Program, which originated approximately 71% of all Stafford, PLUS, and consolidation loans during 2006.
The impact of the proposed legislation is difficult to predict. If the proposed federal government spending cuts and increased fees for
FFEL Program participants are enacted, the Company’s revenues would be negatively impacted.
Intellectual Property
The Company owns numerous trademarks and service marks (“Marks”) to identify its various products and services. As of December
31, 2006, the Company had 37 pending and 100 registered Marks. The Company actively asserts its rights to these Marks when it
believes harmful infringement may exist. The Company believes its Marks have developed and continue to develop strong brandname recognition in the industry and the consumer marketplace. Each of the Marks has, upon registration, an indefinite duration so
long as the Company continues to use the Mark on or in connection with such goods or services as the Mark identifies. In order to
protect the indefinite duration, the Company makes filings to continue registration of the Marks. The Company owns one patent
application that has been published, but has not yet been issued, with respect to a customer-loyalty program and has also actively
asserted its rights thereunder in situations where the Company believes its claims may be infringed upon. The Company owns many
copyright-protected works, including its various computer system codes and displays, Web sites, publications, and marketing
collateral. The Company also has trade secret rights to many of its processes and strategies and its software product designs. The
Company’s software products are protected by both registered and common law copyrights, as well as strict confidentiality and
ownership provisions placed in license agreements which restrict the ability to copy, distribute, or improperly disclose the software
products. The Company also has adopted internal procedures designed to protect the Company’s intellectual property.
The Company seeks federal and/or state protection of intellectual property when deemed appropriate, including patent,
trademark/service mark, and copyright. The decision whether to seek such protection may depend on the perceived value of the
intellectual property, the likelihood of securing protection, the cost of securing and maintaining that protection, and the potential for
infringement. The Company’s employees are trained in the fundamentals of intellectual property, intellectual property protection, and
infringement issues. The Company’s employees are also required to sign agreements requiring, among other things, confidentiality of
trade secrets, assignment of inventions, and non-solicitation of other employees post-termination. Consultants, suppliers, and other
business partners are also required to sign nondisclosure agreements to protect the Company’s proprietary rights.
Employees
As of December 31, 2006, the Company had approximately 4,000 employees. Approximately 1,750 of these employees held
professional and management positions while approximately 2,250 were in support and operational positions. None of the Company’s
employees are covered by collective bargaining agreements. The Company is not involved in any material disputes with any of its
employees, and the Company believes that relations with its employees are good.
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Available Information
Copies of the Company’s annual reports on Form 10-K, quarterly reports on Form 10-Q, current reports on Form 8-K, and
amendments to such reports are available on the Company’s Web site free of charge as soon as reasonably practicable after such
reports are filed with or furnished to the United States Securities and Exchange Commission (the “SEC”). Investors and other
interested parties can access these reports and the Company’s proxy statements at http://www.nelnet.net. The SEC maintains an
Internet site (http://www.sec.gov) that contains periodic and other reports such as annual, quarterly, and current reports on Forms 10K, 10-Q, and 8-K, respectively, as well as proxy and information statements regarding the Company and other companies that file
electronically with the SEC.
The Company has adopted a Code of Business Conduct and Ethics (the “Code of Conduct”) that applies to directors, officers, and
employees, including the Company’s principal executive officers and its principal financial and accounting officer, and has posted
such Code of Conduct on its Web site. Amendments to and waivers granted with respect to the Company’s Code of Conduct relating
to its executive officers and directors which are required to be disclosed pursuant to applicable securities laws and stock exchange
rules and regulations will also be posted on its Web site. The Company’s Corporate Governance Guidelines, Audit Committee
Charter, Compensation Committee Charter, and Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee Charter are also posted on its Web
site and, along with its Code of Conduct, are available in print without charge to any shareholder who requests them. Please direct all
requests as follows:
Nelnet, Inc.
121 South 13th Street, Suite 201
Lincoln, Nebraska 68508
Attention: Secretary
Information on the Company’s Web site is not incorporated by reference into this Report and should not be considered part of this
Report.
ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS
If any of the following risks actually occurs, the Company’s business, financial condition, results of operations, and cash flows could
be materially and adversely affected.
The ratings of the Company or of any securities sold by the Company may change, which may increase the Company’s costs of
capital and may reduce the liquidity of the Company’s securities.
Ratings are based primarily on the creditworthiness of the Company, the underlying assets of asset-backed securitizations, the amount
of credit enhancement in any given transaction and the legal structure of any given transaction. Ratings are not a recommendation to
purchase, hold, or sell any of the Company’s securities inasmuch as the ratings do not comment as to the market price or suitability for
investors. There is no assurance that ratings will remain in effect for any given period of time or that current ratings will not be
lowered or withdrawn by any rating agency. Ratings for the Company or any of its securities may be increased, lowered, or withdrawn
by any rating agency if in the rating agency’s judgment circumstances so warrant. If the Company’s credit ratings are lowered or
withdrawn, the Company may experience an increase in interest rates or other costs associated with the capital raising activities by the
Company, which may negatively affect the Company’s operations. Additionally, a lowered or withdrawn credit rating may negatively
affect the liquidity of the Company’s securities.
The Company may be subject to penalties and sanctions if it fails to comply with governmental regulations or guaranty agency
rules.
The Company’s principal business is comprised of originating, acquiring, holding, and servicing student loans made and guaranteed
pursuant to the FFEL Program, which was created by the Higher Education Act. The Higher Education Act governs most significant
aspects of the Company’s operations. The Company is also subject to rules of the agencies that act as guarantors of the student loans,
known as guaranty agencies. In addition, the Company is subject to certain federal and state banking laws, regulations, and
examinations, as well as federal and state consumer protection laws and regulations, including, without limitation, laws and
regulations governing borrower privacy protection, information security, restrictions on access to student information, and specifically
with respect to the Company’s non-federally insured loan portfolio, certain state usury laws and related regulations and the Federal
Truth in Lending Act. Also, Canadian laws and regulations govern the Company’s Canadian loan servicing operations. All or most of
these laws and regulations impose substantial requirements upon lenders and servicers involved in consumer finance. Failure to
comply with these laws and regulations could result in liability to borrowers, the imposition of civil penalties, and potential class
action suits.
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The Company’s failure to comply with regulatory regimes described above may arise from:
•

breaches of the Company’s internal control systems, such as a failure to adjust manual or automated servicing functions
following a change in regulatory requirements;

•

technological defects, such as a malfunction in or destruction of the Company’s computer systems; or

•

fraud by the Company’s employees or other persons in activities such as borrower payment processing.

Such failure to comply, irrespective of the reason, could subject the Company to loss of the federal guaranty on federally insured
loans, costs of curing servicing deficiencies or remedial servicing, suspension or termination of the Company’s right to participate in
the FFEL Program or to participate as a servicer, negative publicity, and potential legal claims or actions brought by the Company’s
servicing customers and borrowers.
The Company has the ability to cure servicing deficiencies and the Company’s historical losses in this area have been minimal.
However, the Company’s loan servicing and guaranty servicing activities are highly dependent on its information systems, and while
the Company has well-developed and tested business recovery systems, the Company faces the risk of business disruption should
there be extended failures of its systems. The Company also manages operational risk through its risk management and internal
control processes covering its product and service offerings. These internal control processes are documented and tested regularly.
Although the Company reached an agreement with the Department resolving the audit by the Department's Office of Inspector
General (“OIG”) of the Company's portfolio of loans receiving 9.5 percent special allowance payments, the Company was informed
by the Department that a civil attorney with the Department of Justice has opened a file regarding this issue which the Company
understands is common procedure following an OIG audit report. The Company believes that any claim related to this issue has no
merit.
The Company must satisfy certain requirements necessary to maintain the federal guarantees of its federally insured loans, and
the Company may incur penalties or lose its guarantees if it fails to meet these requirements.
The Company must meet various requirements in order to maintain the federal guaranty on its federally insured loans. These
requirements establish servicing requirements and procedural guidelines and specify school and borrower eligibility criteria. The
federal guaranty on the Company’s federally insured loans is conditioned on compliance with origination, servicing, and collection
standards set by the Department and guaranty agencies. Federally insured loans that are not originated, disbursed, or serviced in
accordance with the Department’s regulations risk partial or complete loss of the guaranty thereof. If the Company experiences a high
rate of servicing deficiencies (including any deficiencies resulting from the conversion of loans from one servicing platform to
another) or costs associated with remedial servicing, and if the Company is unsuccessful in curing such deficiencies, the eventual
losses on the loans that are not cured could be material.
A guaranty agency may reject a loan for claim payment as a result of a violation of the FFEL Program due diligence servicing
requirements. In addition, a guaranty agency may reject claims under other circumstances, including, for example, if a claim is not
timely filed or adequate documentation is not maintained. Once a loan ceases to be guaranteed, it is ineligible for federal interest
subsidies and special allowance payments. If a loan is rejected for claim payment by a guaranty agency, the Company continues to
pursue the borrower for payment and/or institutes a process to reinstate the guaranty.
Rejections of claims as to portions of interest may be made by guaranty agencies for certain violations of the due diligence collection
and servicing requirements, even though the remainder of a claim may be paid. Examples of errors that cause claim rejections include
isolated missed collection calls or failures to send collection letters as required.
The Department has implemented school eligibility requirements, which include default rate limits. In order to maintain eligibility in
the FFEL Program, schools must maintain default rates below these specified limits, and both guaranty agencies and lenders are
required to ensure that loans are made only to or on behalf of students attending schools that do not exceed the default rate limits.
If the Company fails to comply with any of the above requirements, it could incur penalties or lose the federal guaranty on some or all
of its federally insured loans. If the Company’s actual loss on denied guarantees were to increase substantially in future periods the
impact could be material to the Company’s operations.
The Company could be sanctioned if it conducts activities which are considered prohibited inducements under the Higher
Education Act.
The Higher Education Act generally prohibits a lender from providing certain inducements to educational institutions or individuals in
order to secure applicants for FFELP loans. The Company has structured its relationships and product offerings in a manner intended
to comply with the Higher Education Act and the available communications and guidance from the Department. If the Department
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were to change its position on any of these matters, the Company may have to change the way it markets products and services and a
new marketing strategy may not be as effective. If the Company fails to respond to the Department’s change in position, the
Department could potentially impose sanctions upon the Company that could negatively impact the Company’s business.
On January 11, 2007, the Company received a letter from the Office of the New York State Attorney General (“NYAG”) requesting
certain information and documents from the Company in connection with the NYAG’s investigation into preferred lender list
activities. “Preferred lender lists” are lists of lenders recommended by college and university financial aid departments to students
seeking financial aid. On February 1, 2007, the NYAG announced that the NYAG’s office is conducting an investigation of the
student loan industry to determine if there are conflict of interest issues relating to lenders being placed on the preferred lender lists at
colleges and universities, and that the NYAG had sent similar requests to other lenders and is also seeking information from a number
of colleges and universities nationwide. The Company is cooperating with the NYAG’s investigation and believes its practices
comply with all applicable laws and regulations.
Changes in legislation and regulations could have a negative impact upon the Company’s business and may affect its profitability.
Funds for payment of interest subsidy payments, special allowance payments, and other payments under the FFEL Program are
subject to annual budgetary appropriations by Congress. Federal budget legislation has in the past contained provisions that restricted
payments made under the FFEL Program to achieve reductions in federal spending. Future federal budget legislation may adversely
affect expenditures by the Department, and the financial condition of the guaranty agencies.
Furthermore, Congressional amendments to the Higher Education Act or other relevant federal laws, and rules and regulations
promulgated by the Secretary of Education, may adversely impact holders of FFELP loans. For example, changes might be made to
the rate of interest paid on FFELP loans, to the level of insurance provided by guaranty agencies, or to the servicing requirements for
FFELP loans. Such changes could have a material adverse effect on the Company and its results of operations.
HERA was enacted into law on February 8, 2006 and effectively reauthorized the Title IV provisions of the FFEL Program through
2012. HERA did not reauthorize the entire Higher Education Act, which is set to expire on June 30, 2007 (as a result of the Third
Higher Education Extension Act of 2006). Therefore, further action will be required by Congress to either extend or reauthorize the
remaining titles of the Higher Education Act.
The Company does not anticipate a negative impact from the reauthorization of the remaining titles of the Higher Education Act.
However, it cannot predict the outcome of this or any other legislation impacting the FFEL Program, and recognizes that a level of
political and legislative risk always exists within the industry. This could include changes in legislation further impacting lender
margins, fees paid to the Department, new policies affecting the competition between the FDL Program and FFEL Programs, or
additional lender risk sharing. See Part I, Item I, “Business – Recent Developments Related to the Higher Education Act.”
In addition to changes to the FFEL Program and the Higher Education Act, changes to privacy and direct mail legislation could also
negatively impact the Company, in particular the Company’s lead generation activities. Changes in such legislation could restrict the
Company’s ability to collect information for its lead generation activities and its ability to use the information it collects. In addition,
changes to privacy and direct mail legislation could cause the Company to incur expenses related to implementation of any required
changes to the Company’s compliance programs.
A loss of customer data requiring notification to customers could negatively impact the Company’s business.
The Company, on its own behalf and on behalf of other entities, stores a significant amount of personal data about the customers to
whom the Company provides services. If the Company were to suffer a major loss of customer data, through breach of its systems or
otherwise, entities for which the Company provides services might choose to find another service provider.
Variation in the maturities, timing of rate reset, and variation of indices of the Company’s assets and liabilities exposes the
Company to interest rate risks which may adversely affect the Company’s earnings.
Because the Company generates the majority of its earnings from the spread between the yield received on its portfolio of student
loans and the cost of financing these loans, the interest rate sensitivity of the balance sheet could have a material effect on the
Company’s results of operations. The majority of the Company’s student loans have variable-rate characteristics in interest rate
environments where the result of the special allowance payment formula exceeds the borrower rate. Some of the Company’s student
loans, primarily Consolidation loans, include fixed-rate floor components depending upon loan terms and the rate reset provisions set
by the Department. The Company has financed the majority of its student loan portfolio with variable-rate debt. Because some assets
have fixed-rate floors, yet the majority of the financings for these loans are variable-rate, absent utilization of derivative instruments,
fluctuations in the interest rate environment will affect the Company’s results of operations. Such fluctuations may be material.
From time to time, the Company’s federally insured loan portfolio will yield additional income due to variable-rate liabilities
financing student loans which have fixed-rate floors. Absent the use of derivative instruments, a rise in interest rates will have an
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adverse effect on earnings due to interest margin compression caused by increasing financing costs, until such time as the federally
insured loans earn interest at a variable rate in accordance with the special allowance payment formula discussed in Part I, Item 1,
“Business – Operating Segments – Asset Generation and Management – Interest Rate Risk Management.” In higher interest rate
environments, where the interest rate rises above the borrower rate and fixed-rate loans effectively become variable rate loans, the
impact of the rate fluctuations is reduced. Loans originated after April 1, 2006, no longer have fixed-rate floors, as they are purely
variable rate.
Due to the variability in duration of the Company’s assets and varying market conditions, the Company does not attempt to perfectly
match the interest rate characteristics of its entire loan portfolio with the underlying debt instruments. Most student loans, even those
with fixed-rate floors, are financed with variable-rate debt. In a rising rate environment, this mismatch could have a negative impact
on the Company’s results of operations. Because of this, the Company employs various derivative instruments to offset this
mismatch. Changes in interest rates and the composition of the Company’s student loan portfolio and derivative instruments will
impact the effect of interest rates on the Company’s earnings, and the Company cannot predict any such impact with any level of
certainty. See Part I, Item 1, “Business – Operating Segments – Asset Generation and Management - Interest Rate Risk Management.”
The Company is subject to various market risks which may have an adverse impact upon its business and operations and may have
a negative effect on the Company’s profitability.
The Company’s primary market risk exposure arises from fluctuations in its borrowing and lending rates, the spread between which
could be impacted by shifts in market interest rates. The borrower rates on the Company’s current portfolio of federally insured loans
are generally reset by the Department each July 1st based on a formula determined by the date of the origination of the loan, with the
exception of rates on consolidation loans, which are generally fixed-rate to the borrower for the life of the loan. For all FFELP loans
originated after July 1, 2006, the loans are fixed-rate to the borrower for the life of the loan. For FFELP loans originated prior to April
1, 2006, the interest rate the Company actually receives on federally insured loans is the greater of the borrower rate and a SAP rate
determined by a formula based on a spread to either the 91-day Treasury Bill index or the 90-day commercial paper index, depending
on when the loans were originated and the current repayment status of the loans. On FFELP loans originated on or after April 1, 2006,
the Company only earns interest at the SAP rate determined by a formula based on 90-day commercial paper. For the FFELP
portfolio of loans originated on or after April 1, 2006, when the borrower rate exceeds the variable rate based upon the SAP formula,
the Company must return the excess to the Department.
The result is that loans originated prior to April 1, 2006, may have fixed-rate floors in declining interest rate environments, however,
in rising interest rate environments, all such loans convert to their variable SAP rates. Loans originated on or after April 1, 2006, will
no longer experience fixed-rate floors and will only be variable rate in rising or falling interest rate environments.
The Company issues asset-backed securities, the vast majority being variable-rate, to fund its student loan assets. The variable-rate
debt is generally indexed to 90-day LIBOR, set by auction or through a remarketing process. The income generated by the
Company’s student loan assets is generally driven by short-term indices (Treasury bills and commercial paper) that are different from
those which affect the Company’s liabilities (generally LIBOR), which creates basis risk. Moreover, the Company also faces basis
risk due to the timing of the interest rate resets on its liabilities, which may occur as infrequently as every quarter, and the timing of
the interest rate resets on its assets, which generally occur daily. In a declining interest rate environment, this may cause the
Company’s student loan spread to compress, while in a rising rate environment, it may cause it to increase. The Company has used
derivatives instruments to hedge basis risk, however, most basis risk is not hedged, since the relationship between the indices for most
of the Company’s assets and liabilities is highly correlated. Nevertheless, the basis between the indices may widen from time to time,
which would impact the net spread on the portfolio.
The Company is subject to foreign currency exchange risk and such risk could lead to increased costs.
As a result of the Company’s offerings of Euro-denominated notes completed in 2006, the Company is subject to increased foreign
currency exchange risk as discussed under the caption "Foreign Currency Exchange Risk" in Part II, Item 7A, “Quantitative and
Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk”.
Additionally, the Company is also exposed to market risk related to fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates between the U.S.
and Canadian dollars as a result of the Company’s December 2004 acquisition of EDULINX, a Canadian corporation engaged in the
servicing of Canadian student loans. The Company has not entered into any foreign currency derivative instruments to hedge this risk.
Fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates may have an adverse effect on the financial position, results of operations, and cash
flows of the Company.
The Company’s derivative instruments may not be successful in managing interest and foreign currency exchange rate risks,
which may negatively impact the Company’s operations.
When the Company utilizes derivative instruments, it utilizes them to manage interest and foreign currency exchange rate sensitivity.
Although the Company does not use derivative instruments for speculative purposes, its derivative instruments do not qualify for
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hedge accounting under SFAS No. 133, Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities, as amended by SFAS No. 138,
Accounting for Certain Derivative Instruments and Certain Hedging Activities, an Amendment of FASB Statement No. 133 (“SFAS
No. 133”); consequently, the change in fair value, called the “mark to market”, of these derivative instruments is included in the
Company’s operating results. Changes or shifts in the forward yield curve and foreign currency exchange rates can and have
significantly impacted the valuation of the Company’s derivatives. Accordingly, changes or shifts in the forward yield curve and
foreign currency exchange rates will impact the financial position, results of operations, and cash flows of the Company. The
derivative instruments used by the Company are typically in the form of interest rate swaps, basis swaps, interest rate floor contracts,
and cross-currency interest rate swaps.
Developing an effective strategy for dealing with movements in interest rates and foreign currency exchange rates is complex, and no
strategy can completely insulate the Company from risks associated with such fluctuations. In addition, a counterparty to a derivative
instrument could default on its obligation, thereby exposing the Company to counterparty risk. Further, the Company may have to
repay certain costs, such as transaction fees or brokerage costs, if the Company terminates a derivative instrument. Finally, the
Company’s interest rate and foreign currency exchange risk management activities could expose the Company to substantial mark to
market losses if interest rates or foreign currency exchange rates move materially differently from the environment when the
derivatives were entered into. As a result, the Company cannot offer any assurance that its economic hedging activities will
effectively manage its interest and foreign currency exchange rate sensitivity or have the desired beneficial impact on its results of
operations or financial condition.
When the mark to market of a derivative instrument is negative, the Company owes the counterparty and, therefore, has no
counterparty risk. Additionally, if the negative mark to market of derivatives with a counterparty exceeds a specified threshold, the
Company may have to pay a collateral deposit to the counterparty. If interest and foreign currency exchange rates move materially,
the Company could be required to deposit a significant amount of collateral with its derivative instrument counterparties. The
collateral deposits, if significant, could negatively impact the Company’s capital resources. The Company attempts to manage market
risks associated with interest and foreign currency exchange rates by establishing and monitoring limits as to the types and degree of
risk that may be undertaken.
The Company faces liquidity risks due to the fact that a portion of its operating and warehouse financing needs are provided by
third-party sources.
The Company’s primary funding needs are those required to finance its student loan portfolio and satisfy its cash requirements for new
student loan originations and acquisitions, operating expenses, and technological development. A portion of the Company’s operating
and warehouse financings are provided by third parties, over which it has no control. If such financing sources are unavailable, the
Company may be unable to meet its financial commitments to creditors, branding partners, forward flow lenders, or borrowers when
due unless the Company is able to find alternative funding mechanisms.
The Company relies upon three conduit warehouse loan financing vehicles to support its funding needs on a short-term basis: a multiseller bank provided conduit with $4 billion of committed funding for FFELP loans, a single-seller extendible commercial paper
conduit authorized to fund up to $5 billion in FFELP loans, and a private loan warehouse with $250 million in uncommitted financing
for non-federally insured student loans.
The multi-year committed facility for FFELP, which terminates in May 2009, and is supported by 364-day liquidity, which must either
be renewed annually or funded by the banks through other means for the term of the conduit. As of December 31, 2006, $2.9 billion
was outstanding under this facility and $1.1 billion was available for future use. There can be no assurance the Company will be able
to maintain this conduit facility, find alternative funding, or increase the commitment level of such facility, if necessary. While the
Company’s bank-supported conduit facilities have historically been renewed for successive terms, there can be no assurance that this
will continue in the future.
The extendible commercial paper warehouse for FFELP loans is offered in the Company’s own name (through its wholly owned
subsidiary Nelnet Student Asset Funding Extendible CP, LLC), and is not reliant upon liquidity or bank support. As of December 31,
2006, $2.3 billion of commercial paper was outstanding under this facility and $2.7 billion was available for issuance. This facility
has no maturity date, however, there can be no assurance that the Company will be able to maintain this conduit facility, find
alternative funding, or increase the outstanding amount of such facility, if necessary.
The private loan warehouse facility is an uncommitted facility that is offered to the Company by one banking partner, which
terminates in October 2008. As of December 31, 2006, $35 million was outstanding under this facility and $215 million was available
for future use. Nelnet guarantees the performance of the assets in the private loan warehouse facility. There can be no assurance that
the Company will be able to maintain this conduit facility, find alternative funding, or increase the size of the facility, if necessary.
While the Company’s bank supported facilities have historically been renewed for successive terms, there can be no assurance that
this will continue in the future.
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The Company maintains a $500 million unsecured line of credit supported by various banking entities. At December 31, 2006, there
was $103.0 million outstanding on this line and $397.0 million was available for future uses. The $500.0 million line of credit
terminates in August 2010, however, there can be no assurance that the Company will be able to maintain this line of credit, find
alternative funding, or increase the amount outstanding under the line, if necessary.
On January 24, 2007, the Company established a $475 million unsecured commercial paper program. Under the program, the
Company may issue commercial paper for general corporate purposes. The maturities of the notes issued under this program will
vary, but may not exceed 397 days from the date of issue. Notes issued under this program will bear interest at rates that will vary
based on market conditions at the time of issuance.
Characteristics unique to asset-backed securitization may negatively affect the Company’s continued liquidity.
The Company has historically relied upon, and expects to continue to rely upon, asset-backed securitizations as its most significant
source of funding for student loans on a long-term basis. As of December 31, 2006 and 2005, $19.7 billion and $16.5 billion,
respectively, of the Company’s student loans were funded by long-term asset-backed securitizations. The net cash flow the Company
receives from the securitized student loans generally represents the excess amounts generated by the underlying student loans over the
amounts required to be paid to the bondholders, after deducting servicing fees and any other expenses relating to the securitizations.
In addition, some of the residual interests in these securitizations have been pledged to secure additional bond obligations. The
Company’s rights to cash flow from securitized student loans are subordinate to bondholder interests, and these loans may fail to
generate any cash flow beyond what is due to bondholders.
The interest rates on certain of the Company’s asset-backed securities are set and periodically reset via a “dutch auction” or through a
remarketing utilizing broker-dealers and remarketing agents for varying intervals, generally ranging from seven to 35 days. (In a few
circumstances, the reset periods may be multiple years.) For auction rate securities, investors and potential investors submit orders
through a broker-dealer as to the principal amount of notes they wish to buy, hold, or sell at various interest rates. The broker-dealers
submit their clients’ orders to the auction agent, who then determines the clearing interest rate for the upcoming period. For
remarketed securities, the remarketing agents set the price, which is then offered to investors. If there are insufficient potential bid
orders to purchase all of the notes offered for sale, the Company could be subject to interest costs substantially above the anticipated
and historical rates paid on these types of securities. A failed auction or remarketing could also reduce the investor base of the
Company’s other financing and debt instruments.
In addition, market factors existing at the time the Company’s asset-backed securities are auctioned or remarketed may cause other
competing investments to become more attractive to investors than the Company’s securities, which may decrease the liquidity and/or
interest rates of such securities.
Future losses due to defaults on loans held by the Company present credit risk which could adversely affect the Company’s
earnings.
As of December 31, 2006, 99% of the Company’s student loan portfolio was comprised of federally insured loans. These loans
currently benefit from a federal guaranty of their principal balance and accrued interest. As a result of the Company’s Exceptional
Performer designation, the Company received 99% reimbursement on all eligible FFELP default claims submitted for reimbursement
during the applicable designation period. See Part I, Item 1, “Business – Operating Segments – Asset Generation and Management –
Credit Risk.” The Company is entitled to receive this benefit as long as it and/or its service providers continue to meet the required
servicing standards published by the Department. Compliance with such standards is assessed on a quarterly basis. In addition,
service providers must apply for re-designation as an Exceptional Performer with the Department on an annual basis.
In June 2006, the Company submitted its application for Exceptional Performer re-designation to the Department to continue receiving
reimbursements at the 99% level for the 12-month period from June 1, 2006 through May 31, 2007. As of March 1, 2007, the
Department has not notified the Company of its redesignation. Until the Department confirms or denies the Company's application for
renewal, the Company continues to receive the benefit of the Exceptional Performer designation. It is the opinion of the Company's
management, based on information currently known, that there is no reason to believe the Company's application will be rejected. If
the Department rejected the Company's application for Exceptional Performer status, the Company would have to establish a provision
for loan losses related to the risk sharing on those loans that the Company services internally. Based on the balance of federally
insured loans outstanding as of December 31, 2006, this provision would be approximately $15.3 million.
The Company bears full risk of losses experienced with respect to the unguaranteed portion of its federally insured loans (the 1% risk
sharing on loans serviced by a service provider designated as an Exceptional Performer and 2-3% risk sharing portion on loans not
serviced by a service provider designated as an Exceptional Performer). If the Company or a third party service provider were to lose
its Exceptional Performer designation, either by the Department or Congress discontinuing the program or by the Company or third
party not meeting the required servicing standards, loans serviced by the Company or third-party would become subject to the 2-3%
risk sharing loss for all claims submitted after any loss of the Exceptional Performer designation. If the Department discontinued the
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program or Congress eliminated the program, the Company would have to establish a provision for loan losses related to the 2-3% risk
sharing.
Losses on the Company’s non-federally insured loans are borne by the Company. The performance of student loans in the portfolio is
affected by the economy, and a prolonged economic downturn may have an adverse effect on the credit performance of these loans.
While the Company has provided allowances estimated to cover losses that may be experienced in both its federally insured and nonfederally insured loan portfolios, there can be no assurance that such allowances will be sufficient to cover actual losses in the future.
The Company could experience cash flow problems if a guaranty agency defaults on its guaranty obligation.
A deterioration in the financial status of a guaranty agency and its ability to honor guaranty claims on defaulted student loans could
result in a failure of that guaranty agency to make its guaranty payments in a timely manner, if at all. The financial condition of a
guaranty agency can be adversely affected if it submits a large number of reimbursement claims to the Department, which results in a
reduction of the amount of reimbursement that the Department is obligated to pay the guaranty agency. The Department may also
require a guaranty agency to return its reserve funds to the Department upon a finding that the reserves are unnecessary for the
guaranty agency to pay its FFEL Program expenses or to serve the best interests of the FFEL Program.
If the Department has determined that a guaranty agency is unable to meet its guaranty obligations, the loan holder may submit claims
directly to the Department, and the Department is required to pay the full guaranty claim. However, the Department’s obligation to
pay guaranty claims directly in this fashion is contingent upon the Department making the determination that a guaranty agency is
unable to meet its guaranty obligations. The Department may not ever make this determination with respect to a guaranty agency and,
even if the Department does make this determination, payment of the guaranty claims may not be made in a timely manner, which
could result in the Company experiencing cash shortfalls.
As of December 31, 2006, College Assist, Nebraska Student Loan Program, Inc., California Student Aid Commission, Educational
Credit Management Corp., United Student Aid Funds, Inc., and American Student Assistance were the primary guarantors of the
student loans beneficially owned by the Company’s education lending subsidiaries. Management periodically reviews the financial
condition of its guarantors and does not believe the level of concentration creates an unusual or unanticipated credit risk. In addition,
management believes that based on amendments to the Higher Education Act, the security for and payment of any of the education
lending subsidiaries’ obligations would not be materially adversely affected as a result of legislative action or other failure to perform
on its obligations on the part of any guaranty agency. The Company, however, cannot provide absolute assurances to that effect.
Competition created by the FDL Program and from other lenders and servicers may adversely impact the Company’s business.
Under the FDL Program, the Department makes loans directly to student borrowers through the educational institutions they attend.
The volume of student loans made under the FFEL Program and available for the Company to originate or acquire may be reduced to
the extent loans are made to students under the FDL Program. In addition, if the FDL Program expands, to the extent the volume of
loans serviced by the Company is reduced, the Company may experience reduced economies of scale, which could adversely affect
earnings. Loan volume reductions could further reduce amounts received by the guaranty agencies available to pay claims on
defaulted student loans.
In the FFEL Program market, the Company faces significant competition from SLM Corporation, the parent company of Sallie Mae.
The Company also faces intense competition from other existing lenders and servicers. As the Company expands its student loan
origination and acquisition activities, that expansion may result in increased competition with some of its servicing customers. This
has in the past occasionally resulted in servicing customers terminating their contractual relationships with the Company, and the
Company could in the future lose more servicing customers as a result. As the Company seeks to further expand its business, the
Company will face numerous other competitors, many of which will be well established in the markets the Company seeks to
penetrate. Some of the Company’s competitors are much larger than the Company, have better name recognition, and have greater
financial and other resources. In addition, several competitors have large market capitalizations or cash reserves and are better
positioned to acquire companies or portfolios in order to gain market share. Consequently, such competitors may have more
flexibility to address the risks inherent in the student loan business. Finally, some of the Company’s competitors are tax-exempt
organizations that do not pay federal or state income taxes and which usually have the ability to issue tax-exempt securities, which
typically carry a lower cost of funds than the Company’s securities. These factors could give the Company’s competitors a strategic
advantage.
Higher rates of prepayments of student loans could reduce the Company’s profits.
Pursuant to the Higher Education Act, borrowers may prepay loans made under the FFEL Program at any time without penalty.
Prepayments may result from consolidating student loans, which tends to occur more frequently in low interest rate environments,
from borrower defaults, which will result in the receipt of a guaranty payment, and from voluntary full or partial prepayments, among
other things. High prepayment rates will have the most impact on the Company’s asset-backed securitization transactions priced in
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relation to LIBOR, since these securities are priced according to their expected average lives. As of December 31, 2006, the Company
had 13 transactions outstanding totaling approximately $14.2 billion that had experienced cumulative prepayment rates ranging from
6.9% to 25.0% as compared to 10 transactions outstanding totaling approximately $10.1 billion that had experienced cumulative
prepayment rates ranging from 13.0% to 25.2% as of December 31, 2005. The rate of prepayments of student loans may be
influenced by a variety of economic, social, and other factors affecting borrowers, including interest rates and the availability of
alternative financing. The Company’s profits could be adversely affected by higher prepayments, which would reduce the amount of
interest the Company received and expose the Company to reinvestment risk.
Increases in consolidation loan activity by the Company and its competitors present a risk to the Company’s loan portfolio and
profitability.
The Company’s portfolio of federally insured loans is subject to refinancing through the use of consolidation loans, which are
expressly permitted by the Higher Education Act. Consolidation loan activity may result in three detrimental effects. First, when the
Company consolidates loans in its own portfolio, the new consolidation loans have a lower yield than the loans being refinanced due
to the statutorily mandated consolidation loan rebate fee of 1.05% per year. Although consolidation loans generally feature higher
average balances, longer average lives, and slightly higher special allowance payments, such attributes may not be sufficient to
counterbalance the cost of the rebate fees. Second, and more significantly, the Company may lose student loans in its portfolio that
are consolidated away by competing lenders. Increased consolidations of student loans by the Company’s competitors may result in a
negative return on loans, when considering the origination costs or acquisition premiums paid with respect to these loans.
Additionally, consolidation of loans away by competing lenders can result in a decrease of the Company’s servicing portfolio, thereby
decreasing fee-based servicing income. Third, increased consolidations of the Company’s own student loans create cash flow risk
because the Company incurs upfront consolidation costs, which are in addition to the origination or acquisition costs incurred in
connection with the underlying student loans, while extending the repayment schedule of the consolidated loans.
The Company's student loan origination and lending activities could be significantly impacted by the repeal of the single holder rule.
The single holder rule, which generally restricted a competitor from consolidating loans away from a holder that owns all of a
student's loans, was abolished effective June 15, 2006. As a result, a substantial portion of the Company's non-consolidated portfolio
could be at risk of being consolidated away by a competitor. On the other hand, the abolition of the rule has also opened up a portion
of the rest of the market to the Company that it previously could not access. As of December 31, 2006, the Company's nonConsolidation portfolio was 28% of its total portfolio. For the year ended December 31, 2006, the Company's net consolidation
originations were $2.7 billion and the consolidation loans lost to external parties were $1.1 billion.
The volume of available student loans may decrease in the future and may adversely affect the Company’s income.
The Company’s student loan originations generally are limited to students attending eligible educational institutions in the United
States. Volumes of originations are greater at some schools than others, and the Company’s ability to remain an active lender at a
particular school with concentrated volumes is subject to a variety of risks, including the fact that each school has the option to
remove the Company from its “preferred lender” list or to add other lenders to its “preferred lender” list, the risk that a school may
enter the FDL Program, or the risk that a school may begin making student loans itself. The Company acquires student loans through
forward flow commitments with other student loan lenders, but each of these commitments has a finite term. There can be no
assurance that these lenders will renew or extend their existing forward flow commitments on terms that are favorable to the
Company, if at all, following their expiration.
In addition, as of December 31, 2006, third parties owned approximately 50.5% of the loans the Company serviced. To the extent that
third-party servicing clients reduce the volume of student loans that the Company processes on their behalf, the Company’s income
would be reduced, and, to the extent the related costs could not be reduced correspondingly, net income could be adversely affected.
Such volume reductions occur for a variety of reasons, including if third-party servicing clients commence or increase internal
servicing activities, shift volume to another service provider, perhaps because such other service provider does not compete with the
client in student loan originations and acquisitions, or exit the FFEL Program completely, for instance as a result of reduced interest
rate margins.
If the Company does not have effective default prevention programs or the borrowers serviced by the Company otherwise go into
default in greater numbers than with other servicing companies, schools and other lenders may choose to utilize the services of
companies with lower default rates. In particular, schools are required to keep their default rates at or below certain levels under the
Higher Education Act. An increase in the Company’s default rate could be attributed to the schools and accordingly the schools
cohort default rates could increase. Such an increase may cause schools to utilize servicers with lower default rates, thereby reducing
the Company’s servicing and origination volume.
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The Company may be limited in its ability to pay dividends or make other payments as a result of the terms of certain outstanding
securities issued by the Company.
In September 2006, the Company issued certain junior subordinated hybrid securities (the “Hybrid Securities”). So long as the Hybrid
Securities remain outstanding, if the Company has given notice of its election to defer interest payments but the related deferral period
has not yet commenced or a deferral period is continuing, then the Company will not, and will not permit any of its subsidiaries to:
x
x

x

declare or pay any dividends or distributions on, or redeem, purchase, acquire or make a liquidation payment regarding, any
of the Company’s capital stock;
except as required in connection with the repayment of principal, and except for any partial payments of deferred interest that
may be made through the alternative payment mechanism described in the indenture relating to the Hybrid Securities, make
any payment of principal of, or interest or premium, if any, on, or repay, repurchase or redeem any of the Company’s debt
securities that rank pari passu with or junior to the Hybrid Securities; or
make any guaranty payments regarding any guaranty by the Company of the subordinated debt securities of any of the
Company’s subsidiaries if the guaranty ranks pari passu with or junior in interest to the Hybrid Securities.

In addition, if any deferral period lasts longer than one year, the limitation on the Company’s ability to redeem or repurchase any of its
securities that rank pari passu with or junior in interest to the Hybrid Securities will continue until the first anniversary of the date on
which all deferred interest has been paid or cancelled.
If the Company is involved in a business combination where immediately after its consummation more than 50% of the surviving
entity’s voting stock is owned by the shareholders of the other party to the business combination, then the immediately preceding
sentence will not apply to any deferral period that is terminated on the next interest payment date following the date of consummation
of the business combination.
However, at any time, including during a deferral period, the Company will be permitted to:
x
x
x

pay dividends or distributions in additional shares of the Company’s capital stock;
declare or pay a dividend in connection with the implementation of a shareholders’ rights plan, or issue stock under such a
plan, or redeem or repurchase any rights distributed pursuant to such a plan; and
purchase common stock for issuance pursuant to any employee benefit plans.

Failures in the Company’s information technology system could materially disrupt its business.
The Company’s servicing and operating processes are highly dependent upon its information technology system infrastructure, and the
Company faces the risk of business disruption if failures in its information systems occur, which could have a material impact upon its
business and operations. The Company depends heavily on its own computer-based data processing systems in servicing both its own
student loans and those of third-party servicing customers. If servicing errors do occur, they may result in a loss of the federal
guaranty on the federally insured loans serviced or in a failure to collect amounts due on the student loans that the Company services.
The Company regularly backs up its data and maintains detailed disaster recovery plans. With the exception of the Company’s loan
servicing systems, the Company does not maintain fully redundant information systems. A major physical disaster or other calamity
that causes significant damage to information systems could adversely affect the Company’s business. Additionally, loss of
information systems for a sustained period of time could have a negative impact on the Company’s performance and ultimately on
cash flow in the event the Company were unable to process borrower payments.
Transactions with affiliates and potential conflicts of interest of certain of the Company’s officers and directors, including one of
its Co-Chief Executive Officers, pose risks to the Company’s shareholders that the Company may not enter into transactions on the
same terms that the Company could receive from unrelated, third-parties.
The Company has entered into certain contractual arrangements with entities controlled by Michael S. Dunlap, the Company’s
Chairman and Co-Chief Executive Officer and a principal shareholder, and members of his family and, to a lesser extent, with entities
in which other directors and members of management hold equity interests or board or management positions. Such arrangements
constitute a significant portion of the Company’s business and include sales of student loans and student loan origination rights by
such affiliates to the Company. These arrangements may present potential conflicts of interest. Many of these arrangements are with
Union Bank and Trust Company (“Union Bank”), in which Michael S. Dunlap owns an indirect interest and of which he serves as
non-executive chairman. The Company intends to maintain its relationship with Union Bank, which management believes provides
substantial benefits to the Company, although there can be no assurance that any transactions between the Company and entities
controlled by Mr. Dunlap, his family, and/or other officers and directors of the Company are, or in the future will be, on terms that are
no less favorable than what could be obtained from an unrelated third party.
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Imposition of personal holding company tax would decrease the Company’s net income.
A corporation is considered to be a “personal holding company” under the U.S. Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the
“Code”), if (1) at least 60% of its adjusted ordinary gross income is “personal holding company income” (generally, passive income)
and (2) at any time during the last half of the taxable year more than half, by value, of its stock is owned by five or fewer individuals,
as determined under attribution rules of the Code. If both of these tests are met, a personal holding company is subject to an additional
tax on its undistributed personal holding company income, currently at a 15% rate. Five or fewer individuals hold more than half the
value of the Company’s stock. In June 2003, the Company submitted a request for a private letter ruling from the Internal Revenue
Service seeking a determination that its federally guaranteed student loans qualify as assets of a “lending or finance business,” as
defined in the Code. Such a determination would have assured the Company that holding such loans does not make it a personal
holding company. Based on its historical practice of not issuing private letter rulings concerning matters that it considers to be
primarily factual, however, the Internal Revenue Service has indicated that it will not issue the requested ruling, taking no position on
the merits of the legal issue. So long as more than half of the Company’s value continues to be held by five or fewer individuals, if it
were to be determined that some portion of its federally guaranteed student loans does not qualify as assets of a “lending or finance
business,” as defined in the Code, the Company could become subject to personal holding company tax on its undistributed personal
holding company income. The Company continues to believe that neither Nelnet, Inc. nor any of its subsidiaries is a personal holding
company. However, even if Nelnet, Inc. or one of its subsidiaries was determined to be a personal holding company, the Company
believes that by utilizing intercompany distributions, it could eliminate or substantially eliminate its exposure to personal holding
company taxes, although it cannot assure that this will be the case.
“Do not call” registries limit the Company’s ability to market its products and services.
The Company’s direct marketing operations are or may become subject to additional federal and state “do not call” laws and
requirements. In January 2003, the Federal Trade Commission amended its rules to provide for a national “do not call” registry.
Under these federal regulations, consumers may have their phone numbers added to the national “do not call” registry. Generally, the
Company is prohibited from calling anyone on that registry with whom it does not have an existing relationship. In September 2003,
telemarketers first obtained access to the registry and since that time have been required to compare their call lists against the national
“do not call” registry at least once every 90 days. The Company is also required to pay a fee to access the registry on a quarterly
basis. Enforcement of the federal “do not call” provisions began in the fall of 2003, and the rule provides for fines of up to $11,000
per violation and other possible penalties. This and similar state laws may restrict the Company’s ability to effectively market its
products and services to new customers. Furthermore, compliance with this rule may prove difficult, and the Company may incur
penalties for improperly conducting its marketing activities.
The Company’s inability to maintain its relationships with significant branding and forward flow partners and/or customers could
have an adverse impact on its business.
The Company’s inability to maintain strong relationships with significant schools, branding and forward flow partners, servicing
customers, guaranty agencies, and software licensees could result in loss of:
•
•
•
•

loan origination volume with borrowers attending certain schools;
loan origination volume generated by some of the Company’s branding and forward flow partners;
loan and guaranty servicing volume generated by some of the Company’s loan servicing and guaranty agency customers; and
software licensing volume generated by some of the Company’s licensees.

The Company cannot make any assurances that its forward flow channel lenders or its branding partners will continue their
relationships with the Company. Loss of a strong branding or forward flow partner or relationships with schools from which a
significant volume of student loans is directly or indirectly acquired, could result in an adverse effect on the Company’s business.
The business of servicing Canadian student loans by EDULINX is limited to a small group of servicing customers and the agreement
with the largest of such customers is currently scheduled to expire on March 31, 2008. As discussed in Part I, Item 1, “Business –
Operating Segments – Student Loan and Guaranty Servicing”, EDULINX has been notified that the Government of Canada has
decided to award a competitive contract to provide financial and related administrative services in support of the CSLP, upon the
expiration of the current EDULINX contract for such services, to another service provider. During 2006, the Company recognized
$53.9 million, or 28.3% of its loan and guaranty servicing income, from this customer.
As a result of the non-renewal of the CSLP contract, the Company is exploring various options for EDULINX. The Company may
incur charges or losses in connection with the disposal, through sale or otherwise, or continued operation of EDULINX. Such losses
or charges may be significant and would have a material adverse effect on the Company’s operations.
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The Company’s failure to successfully manage business and certain asset acquisitions could have a material adverse effect on the
Company’s business, financial condition, and/or results of operations.
The Company may acquire new products and services or enhance existing products and services through acquisitions of other
companies, product lines, technologies, and personnel, or through investments in other companies. During 2004 through 2006, the
Company acquired the stock and certain assets of 17 different entities. Any acquisition or investment is subject to a number of risks.
Such risks may include diversion of management time and resources, disruption of the Company’s ongoing business, difficulties in
integrating acquisitions, dilution to existing stockholders if the Company’s common stock is issued in consideration for an acquisition
or investment, incurring or assuming indebtedness or other liabilities in connection with an acquisition, lack of familiarity with new
markets, and difficulties in supporting new product lines. The Company’s failure to successfully manage acquisitions or investments,
or successfully integrate acquisitions, could have a material adverse effect on the Company’s business, financial condition, and/or
results of operations. Correspondingly, the Company’s expectations to the accretive nature of the acquisitions could be inaccurate.
ITEM 1B. UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS
The Company has received no written comments regarding its periodic or current reports from the staff of the Securities and Exchange
Commission that were issued 180 days or more preceding the end of its 2006 fiscal year and that remain unresolved.
ITEM 2. PROPERTIES
The following table lists the principal facilities owned or leased by the Company. The Company owns the building in Lincoln,
Nebraska where its principal office is located.

Location
Jacksonville, FL..................
Aurora, CO .........................
Mississauga, Ontario ..........
Lincoln, NE ........................
Indianapolis, IN ..................
Lawrenceville, NJ...............

Primary Function or Segment
Student Loan and Guaranty Servicing, Software and Technical Services
Asset Generation and Management, Student Loan and Guaranty Servicing,
Software and Technical Services
Student Loan Servicing
Corporate Headquarters, Asset Generation and Management, Student Loan
and Guaranty Servicing
Asset Generation and Management, Student Loan and Guaranty Servicing
Enrollment Services and List Management

Approximate
square feet
109,000
114,000
113,000
109,000
62,000
62,000

Lease
expiration
date
January 2014
February 2008
August 2009

–
February 2008
April 2011

The Company leases other facilities located throughout the United States. These properties are leased on terms and for durations that
are reflective of commercial standards in the communities where these properties are located. The Company believes that its
respective properties are generally adequate to meet its long-term business goals. The Company’s principal office is located at 121
South 13th Street, Suite 201, Lincoln, Nebraska 68508.
On October 13, 2006, the Company completed the purchase of the building in Lincoln, Nebraska in which the Company's corporate
headquarters are located. The Company acquired the building through the Company’s indirectly, wholly-owned subsidiary M & P
Building, LLC (“M & P”). In connection with the acquisition of the building M & P assumed the outstanding note and deed of trust
on the property.
ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS
General
The Company is subject to various claims, lawsuits, and proceedings that arise in the normal course of business. These matters
principally consist of claims by borrowers disputing the manner in which their loans have been processed and disputes with other
business entities. On the basis of present information, anticipated insurance coverage, and advice received from counsel, it is the
opinion of the Company's management that the disposition or ultimate determination of these claims, lawsuits, and proceedings will
not have a material adverse effect on the Company's business, financial position, or results of operations.
Report by the Office of Inspector General of the Department of Education
On January 19, 2007, the Company entered into a Settlement Agreement (the "Settlement Agreement") with the Department to resolve
the audit by the OIG of the Company's portfolio of student loans receiving 9.5% special allowance payments. Under the terms of the
Settlement Agreement, the Company will retain the 9.5% special allowance payments that the Company received from the
Department prior to July 1, 2006. In addition, the Settlement Agreement will effectively eliminate all 9.5% special allowance
payments with respect to the Company's portfolios of loans for periods on and after July 1, 2006.
As previously reported, the OIG audit report contained a finding by the OIG that an increase in the amount of 9.5% special allowance
payments that had been received by the Company was based on what the OIG deemed to be ineligible loans. Such loans were deemed
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by the OIG to be ineligible for 9.5% special allowance payments due to interpretive issues as outlined in the Settlement Agreement.
The Company disagrees with the OIG audit report, and continues to believe that the Company billed for the 9.5% special allowance
payments in accordance with applicable laws, regulations, and the Department's previous guidance. As a part of the Settlement
Agreement, the Company and the Department acknowledge a dispute exists related to guidance previously issued by the Department
and the application of the existing laws and regulations related to the Company receiving certain 9.5% special allowance payments,
and that the Settlement Agreement is based in part on the parties' desire to avoid costly litigation regarding that dispute. The new
guidance provided to the Company in the Settlement Agreement will effectively eliminate all future 9.5% special allowance payments
for the Company. These loans will continue to receive special allowance payments using other applicable special allowance formulas.
The Settlement Agreement resolves all issues between the Company and the Department that arise out of or relate to the contents of
the OIG audit report and the Department's review of the issues raised therein related to the receipt of the 9.5% special allowance.
The Settlement Agreement does not preclude any other government agency from reviewing the issues raised in the OIG audit report.
The Company was informed by the Department that a civil attorney with the Department of Justice has opened a file regarding this
issue which the Company understands is common procedure following an OIG audit report. The Company believes that any claim
related to this issue has no merit.
Investigation by the New York Attorney General’s Office
On January 11, 2007, the Company received a letter from the NYAG requesting certain information and documents from the
Company in connection with the NYAG’s investigation into preferred lender list activities. “Preferred lender lists” are lists of lenders
recommended by college and university financial aid departments to students seeking financial aid. The Company understands that
the NYAG’s office is conducting an investigation to determine if there are conflict of interest issues relating to lenders being placed
on the preferred lender lists at colleges and universities. The Company understands that the NYAG has sent similar requests to other
lenders and is also seeking information from a number of colleges and universities nationwide. The Company is cooperating with the
NYAG’s investigation and believes its practices comply with all applicable laws and regulations.
ITEM 4. SUBMISSION OF MATTERS TO A VOTE OF SECURITY HOLDERS
No matters were submitted to a vote of security holders during the fourth quarter of fiscal 2006.

PART II.
ITEM 5. MARKET FOR REGISTRANT’S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED SHAREHOLDER MATTERS, AND ISSUER
PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES
The Company’s Class A Common Stock is listed and traded on the New York Stock Exchange under the symbol “NNI,” while its
Class B Common Stock is not publicly traded. The number of holders of record of the Company’s Class A Common Stock and Class
B Common Stock as of February 22, 2007 was 388 and nine, respectively. Because many shares of the Company’s Class A Common
stock are held by brokers and other institutions on behalf of shareholders, the Company is unable to estimate the total number of
beneficial owners represented by these record holders. The following table sets forth the high and low sales prices for the Company’s
Class A Common Stock for each full quarterly period in 2006 and 2005.
2006
1st Quarter
High
Low

$

43.19
40.00

2nd Quarter
$

42.97
36.04

2005
3rd Quarter

$

40.65
28.52

4th Quarter
$

30.79
25.24

1st Quarter
$

34.75
26.27

2nd Quarter
$

38.12
31.00

3rd Quarter
$

38.01
33.65

4th Quarter
$

40.68
35.99

The Company did not pay cash dividends on either class of its Common Stock during the two most recent fiscal years. On February 7,
2007, the Company’s Board of Directors approved a cash dividend of $0.07 per share on the Company’s Class A and Class B
Common Stock to be paid on March 15, 2007 to shareholders of record as of March 1, 2007. The Company intends to continue
paying a quarterly dividend in the future.
Performance Graph
The following graph compares the change in the cumulative total shareholder return on the Company’s Class A Common Stock to that
of the cumulative return of the Dow Jones U.S. Total Market Index and the Dow Jones U.S. Financial Services Index. The graph
assumes that the value of an investment in the Company’s Class A Common Stock and each index was $100 on December 11, 2003
(the date of the Company’s initial public offering of its Class A Common Stock), and that all dividends, if applicable, were reinvested.
The performance shown in the graph represents past performance and should not be considered an indication of future performance.
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COMPARISON OF CUMULATIVE TOTAL RETURN
AMONG NELNET, INC., THE DOW JONES US TOTAL MARKET INDEX,
AND THE DOW JONES US FINANCIAL SERVICES INDEX
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Nelnet, Inc.
Dow Jones U.S. Total Market Index
Dow Jones U.S. Financial Services Index

$
$
$

100.00 $
100.00 $
100.00 $

12/31/2003

12/31/2004

102.75 $
103.71 $
103.63 $

12/31/2005

123.53 $
116.17 $
118.41 $

186.61 $
123.52 $
128.33 $

12/31/2006
125.50
142.75
163.95

The preceding information under the caption “Performance Graph” shall be deemed to be “furnished” but not “filed” with the
Securities and Exchange Commission.
Stock Repurchases
The following table summarizes the repurchases of Class A Common Stock during the fourth quarter of 2006 by the Company or any
“affiliated purchaser” of the Company, as defined in Rule 10b-18(a)(3) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934.

Period
October 1 - October 31, 2006
November 1 - November 30, 2006
December 1 - December 31, 2006
Total

(1)

Total number
of shares
purchased (1)

Average
price paid
per share

$
—
90,684
—
90,684 $

—
25.60
—
25.60

Total number of
shares purchased
as part of publicly
announced plans
or programs (2) (3)
—
90,684
—
90,684

Maximum number
of shares that may
yet be purchased
under the plans
or programs (4)
4,401,512
4,467,944
4,418,535

The total number of shares includes: (i) shares purchased pursuant to the 2006 Plan discussed in footnote (2) below,
of which there were none for the months of October, November, and December; and (ii) shares repurchased pursuant
to the 2006 ESLP discussed in footnote (3) below.
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(2)

On May 25, 2006, the Company publicly announced that its Board of Directors had authorized a stock repurchase
program to buy back up to a total of five million shares of the Company’s Class A Common Stock (the “2006
Plan”). The 2006 Plan has an expiration date of May 24, 2008 (not January 31, 2008 as indicated in the press
release dated May 25, 2006 which announced the program). On February 7, 2007, the Company’s Board of
Directors increased the total shares the Company is allowed to buy back to 10 million. No shares were repurchased
by the Company during October, November, and December 2006 under the 2006 Plan.

(3)

On May 25, 2006, the Company publicly announced that the shareholders of the Company approved an Employee
Stock Purchase Loan Plan (the “2006 ESLP”) to allow the Company to make loans to employees for the purchase of
shares of the Company's Class A Common Stock either in the open market or directly from the Company. A total of
$40 million in loans may be made under the 2006 ESLP, and a total of one million shares of Class A Common Stock
are reserved for issuance under the 2006 ESLP. Shares may be purchased directly from the Company or in the open
market through a broker at prevailing market prices at the time of purchase, subject to any conditions or restrictions
on the timing, volume, or prices of purchases as determined by the Compensation Committee of the Board of
Directors and set forth in the Stock Purchase Loan Agreement with the participant. The 2006 ESLP shall terminate
May 25, 2016. All of the shares repurchased by the Company during October, November, and December 2006 were
repurchased under the 2006 ESLP.

(4)

The maximum number of shares that may yet be purchased under the plans is calculated below. In February 2007,
the Company repurchased 3,059,800 shares under the 2006 Plan, including 2,725,000 shares repurchased from
certain members of management of the Company, for $75.4 million ($24.65 per share). There are no assurances that
any additional shares will be repurchased under either the 2006 Plan or the 2006 ESLP. Shares under the 2006
ESLP may be issued by the Company rather than purchased in open market transactions.

As of

Approximate dollar
Maximum number of value of shares that
may yet be
shares that may yet be
purchased under the
purchased under
2006 Plan
the 2006 ESLP
(A)
(B)
$

39,500,000

Closing price on
the last trading
day of the
Company's Class
A Common Stock
( C)
$

(B / C)

(A + D)

Approximate
number of shares
that may yet be
purchased under
the 2006 ESLP
(D)

Approximate
number of shares
that may yet be
purchased under
the 2006 Plan and
2006 ESLP

October 31, 2006

3,059,800

29.44

1,341,712

4,401,512

November 30, 2006

3,059,800

37,175,000

26.40

1,408,144

4,467,944

December 31, 2006

3,059,800

37,175,000

27.36

1,358,735

4,418,535

Equity Compensation Plans
For information regarding the Company’s equity compensation plans, see Part III, Item 12 of this Report.
ITEM 6. SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA
The following table sets forth selected financial and other operating information of the Company. The selected financial data in the
table is derived from the consolidated financial statements of the Company. As a result of several business and asset acquisitions
made by the Company and the Company’s rapid organic growth, the period-to-period comparability of the Company’s financial
position and results of operations may be difficult. In addition, the Company began recognizing interest income in 2004 on a loan
portfolio in which it earned a minimum of 9.5 percent. Interest income earned on this portfolio has decreased as a result of rising
interest rates and the pay down of the portfolio. As a result of the Company’s settlement entered into with the Department, beginning
July 1, 2006 the Company no longer recognizes income on this loan portfolio. As such, the following data should be read in
conjunction with the consolidated financial statements, the related notes, and “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial
Condition and Results of Operation” included in this Report.
Management evaluates the Company’s GAAP-based financial information as well as operating results on a non-GAAP performance
measure referred to as “base net income.” Management believes “base net income” provides additional insight into the financial
performance of the core operations.
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Income Statement Data:
Net interest income
Less provision (recovery) for loan losses
Net interest income after provision
(recovery) for loan losses
Other income
Derivative market value, foreign currency,
and put option adjustments
Derivative settlements, net
Salaries and benefits
Amortization of intangible assets
Impairment expense
Other operating expenses
Income before income taxes and
minority interest
Net income
Earnings per share, basic and diluted
Weighted average shares outstanding
Other Data:
Origination and acquisition volume (a)
Average student loans
Student loans serviced (at end of period)

$

$

$
$
$

Ratios:
Core student loan spread
Net loan charge-offs as a percentage of
average student loans
Shareholders' equity to total assets
(at end of period)

Balance Sheet Data:
Cash and cash equivalents
Student loans receivables, net
Goodwill and intangible assets
Total assets
Bonds and notes payable

$

2006

Year ended Decmber 31,
2005
2004
2003
(dollars in thousands, except share data)

2002

308,692
15,308

329,097
7,030

398,166
(529)

171,722
11,475

185,029
5,587

293,384
332,131

322,067
204,962

398,695
124,529

160,247
121,976

179,442
127,941

(31,075)
23,432
(246,116)
(25,122)
(31,090)
(208,675)

96,227
(17,008)
(172,732)
(9,479)
—
(140,092)

(11,918)
(34,140)
(133,667)
(8,768)
—
(100,316)

(1,183)
(1,601)
(124,273)
(12,766)
—
(96,111)

2,962
(3,541)
(106,874)
(22,214)
—
(101,875)

106,869
68,155
1.27
53,593,056

283,945
181,122
3.37
53,761,727

234,415
149,179
2.78
53,648,605

46,289
27,103
0.60
45,501,583

75,841
48,538
1.08
44,971,290

6,696,118
21,696,466
39,636,502

8,471,121
15,716,388
35,127,452

4,070,529
11,809,663
28,288,622

3,093,014
9,316,354
18,773,899

1,983,403
8,171,898
17,863,210

1.42%

1.51%

1.66%

1.78%

1.65%

0.012%

0.006%

0.070%

0.080%

0.047%

2.51%

2.85%

2.56%

1.12%

2006

2005

106,086
23,789,552
354,414
26,796,873
25,562,119

103,650
20,260,807
252,652
22,798,693
21,673,620

3.01%
As of December 31,
2004
(dollars in thousands)
39,989
13,461,814
20,509
15,169,511
14,300,606

2003

2002

198,423
10,455,442
11,630
11,932,831
11,366,458

40,155
8,559,420
23,909
9,766,583
9,447,682

(a) Initial loans originated or acquired through various channels, including originations through the direct channel; acquisitions through the branding partner channel,
the forward flow channel, and the secondary market (spot purchases); and loans acquired in portfolio and business acquisitions.

ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF
OPERATION
OVERVIEW
The Company is an education planning and financing company focused on providing quality products and services to students,
families, and schools nationwide. The Company is a vertically-integrated organization that offers a broad range of pre-college, incollege, and post-college products and services to its customers.
Built through a focus on long-term organic growth and further enhanced by strategic acquisitions, the Company earns its revenues
from net interest income on its portfolio of student loans as well as from fee based revenues related to its education finance and
service operations.
During 2006, the Company continued to become more vertically-integrated and focused on complimenting solid asset growth with
revenue diversification. The table below summarizes the percentage of revenue earned from net interest income and fee-based income
over the past three years.
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Revenue Diversification
77.6%
62.5%
50.0% 50.0%
37.5%
22.4%

2004

2005
Net Interest Income

2006
Fee Based Income

The Company accomplished revenue diversification through (i) growth of existing fee based activities such as list sales and tuition
payment management services and (ii) business acquisitions. During 2006, the Company acquired infiNET which expanded its
campus commerce product offerings, and CUnet and Petersons which contribute to the Company’s Enrollment Services and List
Management segment.
While revenue diversification and student loan asset growth were the highlights of 2006 for the Company, several other events in 2006
affected the Company’s results of operations.
x

On February 8, 2006, the Higher Education Reconciliation Act (“HERA”) of 2005 was enacted into law. One of the
provisions of HERA reduced guarantee rates on FFELP loans. As a result, in February 2006, the Company recorded an
expense of $6.9 million ($4.3 million after tax) to increase the Company’s allowance for loan losses.

x

The Company experienced compression of its core student loan yield primarily due to changes in portfolio mix and a
reduction of floor income earned on its fixed rate portfolio. The Company’s portfolio of consolidation student loan assets was
72.0% as of December 31, 2006 compared to 64.2% as of December 31, 2005. In addition rising interest rates reduced the
amount of floor income earned by the Company on loans earning at fixed rates, however, the Company had hedged a
substantial portion of this risk.

x

Beginning in the third quarter 2006, the Company sold student loans to an unrelated party. Loans sold were not serviced by
the Company and, as such, management believed these loans were at a greater risk of being consolidated away from the
Company by third parties. These loan sales resulted in a $14.0 million gain.

x

In December 2006, EDULINX, a subsidiary of the Company, was notified that the Government of Canada had decided to
award its contract to another service provider upon the expiration of the contract with EDULINX on March 31, 2008. As a
result, the Company recognized a $9.4 million impairment charge on long-lived assets. See “Recent Developments” for
additional information about this event.

x

In January 2007, the Company entered into a Settlement Agreement with the Department that resulted in the elimination of
9.5% special allowance payments and recognized a charge of $21.7 million in 2006 as a result of the Agreement. See
“Recent Developments” for additional information about the Settlement Agreement.

x

During 2006, the Company repurchased and retired 1,940,200 shares of Class A Common Stock for $62.4 million.

RESULTS OF OPERATIONS
The Company’s operating results are primarily driven by the performance of its existing portfolio, the cost necessary to generate new
assets, the revenues generated by its fee based business, and the cost to provide those services. The performance of the Company’s
portfolio is driven by net interest income and losses related to credit quality of the assets along with the cost to administer and service
the assets and related debt.
Acquisitions
Management believes the Company’s business and asset acquisitions in recent years have enhanced the Company’s position as a
vertically-integrated industry leader and established a strong foundation for growth. Although the Company’s assets, loan portfolios,
and fee-based revenues increase through such transactions, a key aspect of each transaction is its impact on the Company’s
prospective organic growth and the development of its integrated platform of services. Management believes these acquisitions allow
the Company to expand the products and services offered to education and financial institutions and students and families throughout
the education and education finance process. In addition, these acquisitions diversify the Company’s asset generation streams and/or
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diversify revenue by offering other products and services that are not dependent on government programs, which reduces the
Company’s exposure to legislation and political risk. The Company also expects to reduce costs from these acquisitions through
economies of scale and by integrating certain support services. In addition, the Company expects to increase revenue from these
acquisitions by offering multiple products and services to its customers. As a result of these recent acquisitions and the Company’s
rapid organic growth, the period-to-period comparability of the Company’s results of operations may be difficult.
Net Interest Income
The Company generates a significant portion of its earnings from the spread, referred to as its student loan spread, between the yield
the Company receives on its student loan portfolio and the cost of funding these loans. This spread income is reported on the
Company’s consolidated statement of operations as net interest income. The amortization of loan premiums, including capitalized
costs of origination, the consolidation loan rebate fee, and yield adjustments from borrower benefit programs, are netted against loan
interest income on the Company’s statements of income. The amortization of debt issuance costs is included in interest expense on the
Company’s statements of income.
The Company’s portfolio of FFELP loans originated prior to April 1, 2006 earns interest at the higher of a variable rate based on the
special allowance payment (SAP) formula set by the Department and the borrower rate. The SAP formula is based on an applicable
index plus a fixed spread that is dependent upon when the loan was originated, the loan’s repayment status, and funding sources for
the loan. As a result of one of the provisions of HERA, the Company’s portfolio of FFELP loans originated on or after April 1, 2006
earns interest at a variable rate based on the SAP formula. For the portfolio of loans originated on or after April 1, 2006, when the
borrower rate exceeds the variable rate based on the SAP formula, the Company must return the excess to the Department.
On most consolidation loans, the Company must pay a 1.05% per year rebate fee to the Department. Those consolidation loans that
have variable interest rates based on the SAP formula earn an annual yield less than that of a Stafford loan. Those consolidation loans
that have fixed interest rates less than the sum of 1.05% and the variable rate based on the SAP formula also earn an annual yield less
than that of a Stafford loan. As a result, as consolidation loans matching these criteria become a larger portion of the Company’s loan
portfolio, there will be a lower yield on the Company’s loan portfolio in the short term. However, due to the extended terms of
consolidation loans, the Company expects to earn the yield on these loans for a longer duration, making them beneficial to the
Company in the long term.
Because the Company generates a significant portion of its earnings from its student loan spread, the interest rate sensitivity of the
Company’s balance sheet is very important to its operations. The current and future interest rate environment can and will affect the
Company’s interest earnings, net interest income, and net income. The effects of changing interest rate environments are further
outlined in Item 7A, “Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Market Risk — Interest Rate Risk.”
Investment interest income, which is a component of net interest income, includes income from unrestricted interest-earning deposits
and funds in the Company’s special purpose entities which are utilized for its asset-backed securitizations.
Provision for Loan Losses
The allowance for loan losses is estimated and established through a provision charged to expense. Losses are charged against the
allowance when management believes the collectibility of the loan principal is unlikely. Recovery of amounts previously charged off
is credited to the allowance for loan losses. The allowance for federally insured and non-federally insured loans is maintained at a
level management believes is adequate to provide for estimated probable credit losses inherent in the loan portfolio. This evaluation is
inherently subjective because it requires estimates that may be susceptible to significant changes. The Company analyzes the
allowance separately for its federally insured loans and its non-federally insured loans.
The allowance for the federally insured loan portfolio is based on periodic evaluations of the Company’s loan portfolios considering
past experience, trends in student loan claims rejected for payment by guarantors, changes to federal student loan programs, current
economic conditions, and other relevant factors. One of the changes to the Higher Education Act as a result of HERA’s enactment in
February 2006 was to lower the guarantee rates on FFELP loans, including a decrease in insurance and reinsurance on portfolios
receiving the benefit of the Exceptional Performance designation by 1%, from 100% to 99% of principal and accrued interest
(effective July 1, 2006), and a decrease in insurance and reinsurance on portfolios not subject to the Exceptional Performance
designation by 1%, from 98% to 97% of principal and accrued interest (effective for all loans first disbursed on and after July 1,
2006). In February 2006, as a result of the change in these legislative provisions, the Company recorded an expense of $6.9 million
($4.3 million after tax) to increase the Company’s allowance for loan losses.
In September 2005, the Company was re-designated as an Exceptional Performer by the Department in recognition of its exceptional
level of performance in servicing FFELP loans. As a result of this designation, the Company receives 99% reimbursement (100%
reimbursement prior to July 1, 2006) on all eligible FFELP default claims submitted for reimbursement. Only FFELP loans that are
serviced by the Company, as well as loans owned by the Company and serviced by other service providers designated as Exceptional
Performers by the Department, are eligible for the 99% reimbursement. As of December 31, 2006, more than 99% of the Company’s
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federally insured loans were serviced by providers designated as Exceptional Performers. If the Company or a third party servicer
were to lose its Exceptional Performer designation, either by a legislative discontinuance of the program or the Company or third party
servicer not meeting the required servicing standards or failing to get re-designated during the annual application process, loans
serviced by the Company or such third party would become subject to the 3% risk sharing for all claims submitted after loss of the
designation (2% risk sharing effective for all loans disbursed prior to July 1, 2006).
In June 2006, the Company submitted its application for Exceptional Performer redesignation to the Department to continue receiving
reimbursements at the 99% level for the 12-month period from June 1, 2006 through May 31, 2007. As of March 1, 2007, the
Department has not notified the Company of its redesignation. Until the Department confirms or denies the Company’s application
for renewal, the Company continues to receive the benefit of the Exceptional Performer designation. It is the opinion of the
Company’s management, based on information currently known, that there is no reason to believe the Company’s application will be
rejected. If the Department rejected the Company’s application for Exceptional Performer status, the Company would have to
establish a provision for loan losses related to the risk sharing on those loans that the Company services internally. Based on the
balance of federally insured loans outstanding as of December 31, 2006, this provision would be approximately $15.3 million.
In determining the adequacy of the allowance for loan losses on the non-federally insured loans, the Company considers several
factors including: loans in repayment versus those in a nonpaying status, months in repayment, delinquency status, type of program,
and trends in defaults in the portfolio based on Company and industry data. The Company places a non-federally insured loan on
nonaccrual status and charges off the loan when the collection of principal and interest is 120 days past due.
Other Income
The Company also earns fees and generates income from other sources, including principally loan and guaranty servicing income; feebased income on borrower late fees, payment management activities, and certain marketing and enrollment services; and fees from
providing software services.
Loan and Guaranty Servicing Income – Loan servicing fees are determined according to individual agreements with customers and are
calculated based on the dollar value or number of loans serviced for each customer. Guaranty servicing fees are calculated based on
the number of loans serviced or amounts collected. Revenue is recognized when earned pursuant to applicable agreements, and when
ultimate collection is assured.
Other Fee-Based Income – Other fee-based income includes borrower late fee income, payment management fees, the sale of lists and
print products, and subscription-based products and services. Borrower late fee income earned by the Company’s education lending
subsidiaries is recognized when payments are collected from the borrower. Fees for payment management services are recognized
over the period in which services are provided to customers. Revenue from the sale lists and printed products is generally earned and
recognized, net of estimated returns, upon shipment or delivery. Revenues from the sales of subscription-based products and services
are recognized ratably over the term of the subscription. Subscription revenue received or receivable in advance of the delivery of
services is included in deferred revenue.
Software Services – Software services income is determined from individual agreements with customers and includes license and
maintenance fees associated with student loan software products. Computer and software consulting services are recognized over the
period in which services are provided to customers.
Other income also includes the derivative market value and foreign currency adjustments and derivative net settlements from the
Company’s derivative instruments and Euro Notes as further discussed in Item 7A, “Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about
Market Risk.” The change in the fair value of put options (issued as part of the consideration for certain business combinations) is
also included in other income.
Operating Expenses
Operating expenses includes indirect costs incurred to generate and acquire student loans, costs incurred to manage and administer the
Company’s student loan portfolio and its financing transactions, costs incurred to service the Company’s student loan portfolio and the
portfolios of third parties, costs incurred to provide tuition payment processing, campus commerce, enrollment, list management,
software, and technical services to third parties, and other general and administrative expenses. Operating expenses also includes the
depreciation and amortization of capital assets and intangible assets.
Recent Developments
Department of Education Settlement
Based on provisions of the Higher Education Act and regulations and guidance of the Department and related interpretations,
education lenders may receive special allowance payments from the Department which provide a minimum 9.5% interest rate (the
“9.5% Floor”) on loans currently financed or financed prior to September 30, 2004 with proceeds of tax-exempt obligations originally
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issued prior to October 1, 1993. A portion of the Company’s FFELP loan portfolio is comprised of loans financed prior to September
30, 2004 with tax-exempt obligations originally issued prior to October 1, 1993. As of December 31, 2006, the Company had $3.0
billion of FFELP loans it determined were eligible to receive special allowance payments at the 9.5% Floor rate. Of this portfolio,
$2.4 billion in loans were financed prior to September 30, 2004 with proceeds of tax-exempt obligations originally issued prior to
October 1, 1993 and then subsequently sold to taxable obligations, without retiring the tax-exempt obligations. Loan interest earned
on this $2.4 billion portfolio is referred to as the “special allowance yield adjustment” by the Company.
In May 2003, the Company sought confirmation from the Department regarding whether the Company was allowed to receive the
special allowance payments based on the 9.5% Floor on loans being acquired with funds obtained from the proceeds of tax-exempt
obligations originally issued prior to October 1, 1993 and then subsequently sold using proceeds of taxable obligations without retiring
the tax-exempt obligations. In June 2004, after consideration of certain clarifying information received in connection with the
guidance the Company had sought, and based on written and verbal communications with the Department, including written
confirmation from the Department that the public could continue to rely on a Department guidance letter issued in March 1996, the
Company concluded that the earnings process had been completed and recognized the previously deferred income of $124.3 million
on this portfolio. Pending satisfactory resolution of this issue, the Company deferred recognition of that portion of the 9.5% Floor
income generated by these loans which exceeded statutorily defined special allowance rates under a taxable financing. As of
December 31, 2003, the amount of deferred excess interest income on these loans was $42.9 million and was included in other
liabilities on the Company’s consolidated balance sheet.
In June 2005, the Office of Inspector General of the Department of Education (the “OIG”) commenced an audit of the portion of the
Company’s student loan portfolio receiving 9.5% Floor special allowance payments. On September 29, 2006, the Company received a
final audit report from the OIG which contained a finding by the OIG that an increase in the amount of 9.5% special allowance
payments that have been received by the Company was based on what the OIG deemed to be ineligible loans.
On January 19, 2007, the Company entered into a Settlement Agreement with the Department to resolve the audit by the OIG of the
Company’s portfolio of student loans receiving 9.5% special allowance payments. Under the terms of the Settlement Agreement, the
Company will retain the 9.5% special allowance payments that it received from the Department prior to July 1, 2006. In addition, the
Settlement Agreement will eliminate all 9.5% special allowance payments with respect to the Company’s portfolios of loans for
periods on and after July 1, 2006.
The Company disagrees with the OIG audit report, and continues to believe that it billed for the 9.5% special allowance payments in
accordance with applicable laws, regulations, and the Department’s previous guidance. As a part of the Settlement Agreement, the
Company and the Department acknowledge a dispute exists related to guidance previously issued by the Department and the
application of the existing laws and regulations related to the Company receiving certain 9.5% special allowance payments, and that
the Settlement Agreement is based in part on the parties’ desire to avoid costly litigation regarding that dispute. The new guidance
provided to the Company in the Settlement Agreement will effectively eliminate all future 9.5% special allowance payments for the
Company. These loans will continue to receive special allowance payments using other applicable special allowance formulas.
The Company believes the prospective loss of the 9.5% special allowance payments will not have a material adverse affect on the
Company’s operations. In addition, the Company does not expect the Settlement Agreement to have any material adverse effect on
the outstanding debt obligations issued by the Company’s education lending subsidiaries in the securitization of student loan assets.
The Settlement Agreement resolves all issues between the Company and the Department that arise out of or relate to the contents of
the OIG audit report and the Department’s review of the issues raised therein. The Settlement Agreement does not preclude any other
government agency from reviewing the issues raised in the OIG audit report.
As a result of the Settlement Agreement, the Company recognized an impairment charge of $21.7 million in 2006 related to loan
premiums paid on loans acquired in 2005 from the acquisition of LoanSTAR Funding Group, Inc. (“LoanSTAR”) that were
previously considered eligible for 9.5% special allowance payments.
EDULINX – Loss of Servicing Contract
Under its existing contract with the Government of Canada, EDULINX, a subsidiary of the Company, provides services in support of
the Canada and Integrated Student Loan Programs (“CSLP”) for student borrowers attending public institutions. The Government of
Canada is EDULINX’s largest customer. EDULINX’s servicing revenue for the year ended December 31, 2006 was $69.0 million, of
which $53.9 million was earned under the CSLP contract.
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On December 22, 2006, EDULINX was notified that the Government of Canada had decided to award the CSLP contract to another
service provider upon the expiration of the contract with EDULINX on March 31, 2008. As a result of this decision, EDULINX will
be required to transition the existing direct-financed CSLP portfolio it services to the selected service provider. As a result of the
Government of Canada’s decision to award the CSLP contract to another service provider, the Company recorded an impairment
charge of $9.4 million in 2006 related to certain EDULINX assets, including servicing software and hardware under development
($6.8 million), goodwill ($1.5 million), and intangible assets ($1.1 million).
Recent Developments Related to the Higher Education Act
See Part I, Item 1, “Business — Recent Developments Related to the Higher Education Act,” for additional information regarding
current legislative proposals that could have an impact on the Company’s results of operations.
Year ended December 31, 2006 compared to year ended December 31, 2005
Net Interest Income
Year ended
December 31,
December 31,
2006
2005
(dollars in thousands)
Interest income:
Loan interest
Investment interest
Total interest income
Interest expense:
Interest on bonds and notes payable
Net interest income
Provision for loan losses
Net interest income after
provision for loan losses

$

$ Change

1,455,715
94,151
1,549,866

904,949
44,259
949,208

550,766
49,892
600,658

1,241,174
308,692
15,308

620,111
329,097
7,030

621,063
(20,405)
8,278

293,384

322,067

(28,683)

$

Net interest income decreased $28.7 million for the year ended December 31, 2006 compared to 2005. Net interest income for 2006
and 2005 included $24.5 million and $94.7 million of excess yield related to the Company’s 9.5% special allowance yield adjustment.
Excluding the excess yield net interest income increased $41.5 million, or 18.3%. This increase was the result of a 38% increase in
average student loans and was offset by a decrease in the Company’s student loan yield, recognition of $6.9 million in expense for
provision of loan losses related to HERA, and the increase in interest expense as a result of additional issuances of unsecured debt.
Additional analysis of net interest income is included in the Company’s operating segment discussion under the Asset Generation and
Management operating segment.
Other Income

Year ended
December 31,
December 31,
2006
2005
(dollars in thousands)
Loan and guaranty servicing income
Other fee-based income
Software services income
Other income
Derivative market value, foreign currency,
and put option adjustments
Derivative settlements, net
Total other income

$

$

$ Change

190,563
102,318
15,890
23,360

152,493
35,641
9,169
7,659

38,070
66,677
6,721
15,701

(31,075)
23,432

96,227
(17,008)

(127,302)
40,440

324,488

284,181

40,307

Loan and guaranty servicing income increased due to growth from acquisitions and an increase in Canadian loan servicing income
offset by a decrease in FFELP loan servicing income. Other fee-based income increased largely due to recent acquisitions. In
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addition, the Company experienced an increase in borrower late fee income related to loan portfolio growth, an increase in the number
of managed tuition payment plans, and an increase in list sales volume which also contributed to the growth in other fee-based
income. Software services income increased due to the acquisition of 5280 Solutions, LLC (“5280”). The increase in other income is
from the gains on the sales of student loan assets. Additional analysis of the increase in income for the year ended December 31, 2006
compared to 2005 is included in the discussion of the results of operations for each of the Company’s operating segments. The change
in derivative market value, foreign currency, and put option adjustments was caused by a change in the fair value of the Company’s
derivative portfolio and foreign currency rate fluctuations which are further discussed in Item 7A, “Quantitative and Qualitative
Disclosures about Market Risk.”
Operating Expenses
Operating expenses increased $188.7 million for the year ended December 31, 2006 compared to 2005. Operating expenses of the
Company’s acquisitions, in which there were no comparable operations during 2005, resulted in $143.6 million of this increase. In
addition, during 2006, the Company recorded impairment expense of $31.1 million related to the loss of the EDULINX CSLP contract
and the Settlement Agreement with the Department.
Net change
Impact of
after
acquisitions
acquistions
(dollars in thousands)
60,222
13,162
65,709
2,874
17,641
(1,998)
—
31,090
143,572
45,128

Year ended
December 31, 2005
Salaries and benefits
Other expenses
Amortization of intangible assets
Impairment expense
Total operating expenses

$

$

172,732
140,092
9,479
—
322,303

Year ended
December 31, 2006
246,116
208,675
25,122
31,090
511,003

Excluding the impact of acquisitions and the impairment loss, salaries and benefits and other expenses increased $16.0 million, or
5.1%. This increase was a result of (i) increased costs to develop systems to support a larger organizational structure and (ii) organic
growth of the organization, specifically that of the Company’s school-based marketing efforts. The Company’s costs to develop its
corporate structure include projects such as recruitment, development, and retention of intellectual capital and technology
enhancements to support a larger, more diversified customer and employee base. Additional analysis of the increase in operating
expenses for the year ended December 31, 2006 compared to 2005 is included in the discussion of the results of operations for each of
the Company’s operating segments.
Income Taxes
The Company’s effective tax rate has remained consistent from 2005 to 2006 at 36%. During 2006, the Company’s effective tax rate
would have been negatively affected due to a put option adjustment, but was offset by a favorable rate adjustment from the resolution
of various federal and state tax positions.
Year ended December 31, 2005 compared to year ended December 31, 2004
Net Interest Income
Year ended
December 31,
December 31,
2005
2004
(dollars in thousands)
Interest income:
Loan interest
Investment Interest
Total interest income
Interest expense:
Interest on bonds and notes payable
Net interest income
Provision (recovery) for loan losses
Net interest income after
provision (recovery) for loan losses

$

$
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$ Change

904,949
44,259
949,208

635,014
17,762
652,776

269,935
26,497
296,432

620,111
329,097
7,030

254,610
398,166
(529)

365,501
(69,069)
7,559

322,067

398,695

(76,628)

Net interest income decreased $76.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2005 compared to 2004. The Company’s 9.5% special
allowance yield adjustment decreased $108.8 million to $94.7 million in 2005 from $203.5 million in 2004. During 2004, the
Company recognized $42.9 million of special allowance yield adjustments that had been previously deferred. Excluding the special
allowance yield adjustment, net interest income increased $32.2 million, or 16.5%, driven by a 33% increase in average student loans,
the reduction of the allowance for loan losses by $9.4 million as a result of the Company’s (and other service providers servicing the
Company’s student loans) Exception Performer Designations, and offset by a decrease in student loan spread and an increase in
interest expense related to the issuance of unsecured debt. Additional analysis of net interest income is included in the Company’s
operating segment discussion under the Asset Generation and Management operating segment.
Other Income
Year ended
December 31,
December 31,
2005
2004
(dollars in thousands)
Loan and guaranty servicing income
Other fee-based income
Software services income
Other income
Derivative market value, foreign currency,
and put option adjustments
Derivative settlements, net
Total other income

$

$

$ Change

152,493
35,641
9,169
7,659

100,130
7,027
8,051
9,321

52,363
28,614
1,118
(1,662)

96,227
(17,008)

(11,918)
(34,140)

108,145
17,132

284,181

78,471

205,710

Loan and guaranty servicing income increased as the result of acquisitions offset by a decrease in FFELP loan servicing income.
Other fee-based income increased largely due to recent acquisitions and an increase in borrower late fee income related to loan
portfolio growth. Software services income increased due to the acquisition of 5280 on November 1, 2005. The decrease in other
income is from the gain on the sale of a fixed asset in 2004. Additional analysis of the increase in income for the year ended
December 31, 2005 compared to 2004 is included in the discussion of the results of operations for each of the Company’s operating
segments. The change in derivative market value, foreign currency, and put option adjustments was caused by a change in the fair
value of the Company’s derivative portfolio, which is further discussed in Item 7A, “Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about
Market Risk.”
Operating expenses
Operating expenses increased $79.5 million for the year ended December 31, 2005 compared to 2004. Operating expenses of the
Company’s acquisitions, in which there were no comparable operations during 2004, resulted in a $88.3 million of this increase in
expenses. This was offset by certain intangible assets that became fully amortized during 2004 and a decrease in the amount of
incentive plan compensation for 2005 compared to 2004.
Net change
Year ended
Impact of
after
Year ended
December 31, 2004
acquisitions
acquistions
December 31, 2005
(dollars in thousands)
Salaries and benefits
$
133,667
43,909
(4,844)
172,732
Other expenses
100,316
36,620
3,156
140,092
Amortization of intangible assets
8,768
7,782
(7,071)
9,479
Total operating expenses
$
242,751
88,311
(8,759)
322,303

Additional analysis of the increase in operating expenses for the year ended December 31, 2005 compared to 2004 is included in the
discussion of the results of operations for each of the Company’s operating segments.
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Financial Condition as of December 31, 2006 compared to December 31, 2005
As of December 31,
Change
2006
2005
$ Change
% Change
(dollars in thousands)
Assets:
Student loans receivable, net
Cash, cash equivalents, and investments
Goodwill
Intangible assets, net
Fair value of derivative instruments
Other assets
Total assets
Liabilities:
Bonds and notes payable
Fair value of derivative instruments
Other liabilities
Total liabilities

$

$

$

23,789,552
1,777,494
191,420
162,994
146,099
729,314
26,796,873

20,260,807
1,645,797
99,535
153,117
82,837
556,600
22,798,693

3,528,745
131,697
91,885
9,877
63,262
172,714
3,998,180

17.4 %
8.0
92.3
6.5
76.4
31.0
17.5 %

25,562,119
27,973
534,931
26,125,023

21,673,620
71
474,884
22,148,575

3,888,499
27,902
60,047
3,976,448

17.9 %
39,298.6
12.6
18.0

626

(626)

649,492
22,798,693

22,358
3,998,180

Minority interest
Shareholders' equity
Total liabilities and shareholders' equity

—
$

671,850
26,796,873

100.0
3.4
17.5 %

The Company’s total assets increased $4.0 billion, or 17.5%, during 2006 primarily due to an increase in student loans receivable and
related assets. The Company originated or acquired $6.7 billion in student loans which was offset by repayments and loan sales. The
Company financed the increase in student loans and total assets through the issuance of bonds and notes payable. In addition, in
September 2006, the Company issued $200.0 million of unsecured debt, a portion of which was used to repurchase 1.9 million shares
of the Company’s Class A Common Stock for $62.4 million under its existing share repurchase program.
OPERATING SEGMENTS
The Company has five operating segments as defined in SFAS No. 131, Disclosures about Segments of an Enterprise and Related
Information (“SFAS No. 131”), as follows: Asset Generation and Management, Student Loan and Guaranty Servicing, Tuition
Payment Processing and Campus Commerce, Enrollment Services and List Management, and Software and Technical Services. The
Company’s operating segments are defined by the products and services they offer or the types of customers they serve, and they
reflect the manner in which financial information is currently evaluated by management. During 2006, the Company changed the
structure of its internal organization in a manner that caused the composition of its operating segments to change. All earlier years
presented have been restated to conform to the 2006 operating segment presentation. The accounting policies of the Company’s
operating segments are the same as those described in the summary of significant accounting policies. Intersegment revenues are
charged by a segment to another segment that provides the product or service. The amount of intersegment revenue is based on
comparable fees charged in the market. Intersegment revenues and expenses are included within each segment consistent with the
income statement presentation provided to management.
The management reporting process measures the performance of the Company’s operating segments based on the management
structure of the Company as well as the methodology used by management to evaluate performance and allocate resources.
Management, including the Company’s chief operating decision maker, evaluates the performance of the Company’s operating
segments based on their profitability. As discussed further below, management measures the profitability of the Company’s operating
segments based on “base net income.” Accordingly, information regarding the Company’s operating segments is provided based on
“base net income.” The Company’s “base net income” is not a defined term within GAAP and may not be comparable to similarly
titled measures reported by other companies. Unlike financial accounting, there is no comprehensive, authoritative guidance for
management reporting.
“Base net income” is the primary financial performance measure used by management to develop the Company’s financial plans,
track results, and establish corporate performance targets and incentive compensation. While “base net income” is not a substitute for
reported results under GAAP, the Company relies on “base net income” in operating its business because “base net income” permits
management to make meaningful period-to-period comparisons of the operational and performance indicators that are most closely
assessed by management. Management believes this information provides additional insight into the financial performance of the core
business activities of the Company’s operating segments.
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Accordingly, the tables presented below reflect “base net income” which is reviewed and utilized by management to manage the
business for each of the Company’s operating segments. Reconciliation of the segment totals to the Company’s consolidated
operating results in accordance with GAAP are also included in the tables below. Included below under “Non-GAAP Performance
Measures” is further discussion regarding “base net income” and its limitations, including a table that details the differences between
“base net income” and GAAP net income by operating segment.

Year ended December 31, 2006
Student
Loan
and
Guaranty
Servicing

Tuition
Payment
Processing
and Campus
Commerce

9,190

531

105

—

—

9,190

4,029
8
4,021

531

105

15,308

—

—

—

—

15,308

303,586

9,190

4,021

531

105

317,433

—

—

190,563
102,318
15,890
20,058
82,925

Asset
Generation
and
Management

Total interest income
Interest expense
Net interest income

$

Less provision for loan losses
Net interest income after provision
for loan losses
Other income (expense):
Loan and guarantee servicing income
Other fee-based income
Software services income
Other income
Intersegment revenue
Derivative market value, foreign currency,
and put option adjustments
Derivative settlements, net
Total other income (expense)

1,534,423
1,215,529
318,894

—

11,867
238
19,966
—
—

—

190,563
—

5
92
63,545

Enrollment
Services
and
List
Management

—

35,090

55,361
157

—

Software
and
Technical
Total
Services
Segments
(dollars in thousands)

—

15,490

—

—

—

503

1,000

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

17,877

15,308

—

—

293,384

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

3,302
662

—

—

190,563
102,318
15,890
23,360

(24,049)

(31,075)

(12,254)

1,747

25,301

58,887
4,857
96,721

8,171
2,942
5,229

276,568
99,564
177,004

(111,755)
(40,836)
(70,919)

15,510

22,063

8,371
1,025
27,003

30,854
17
46,381

Income (loss) before income taxes
Income tax expense (benefit) (a)
Net income (loss) before minority interest

175,373
63,134
112,239

69,745
25,108
44,637

12,611
4,540
8,071

10,668
3,840
6,828

—

3,238
—

—

—

(242)

—

—

Net income (loss)

$

112,239

44,637

7,829

6,828

5,229

176,762

(70,919)

Total assets

$

26,174,592

798,248

177,105

152,962

29,359

27,332,266

37,268

40

—

32,977

17,607

(a) Income taxes are based on a percentage of net income before tax for the individual operating segment.

(83,587)

223,646
31,090
149,788
66,476
471,000

115,430
9,403
56,240
12,577
193,650

(242)

—

(31,075)

53,036
21,687
51,085
52,857
178,665

—

—

—

(83,587)

Operating expenses:
Salaries and benefits
Impairment expense
Other expenses
Intersegment expenses
Total operating expenses

—

—

—

33,367

Minority interest in subsidiary income

—

1,549,866
1,241,174
308,692

—

—

56,518

—

—

—

35,593

GAAP
Results of
Operations

(2,858)
(2,858)

5,051
9,015

254,205

—

4,446
28,495
(24,049)

Eliminations
and
Reclassifications

"Base net
income"
Adjustments
to GAAP
Results

18,381
430,135

18,381
50,452

—

1,548,278
1,215,537
332,741

Corporate
Activity
and
Overhead

—
—

(71,333)
(83,587)
—
—
—
—
—

(572,661)

—

—

25,122
—

—

(31,075)
23,432
324,488

246,116
31,090
233,797
—

26,869

511,003

(57,944)
(20,256)
(37,688)

106,869
38,472
68,397

—

(37,688)
—

(242)
68,155
26,796,873

Year ended December 31, 2005
Asset
Generation
and
Management
Total interest income
Interest expense
Net interest income

$

Less provision for loan losses
Net interest income after provision
for loan losses

940,390
609,863
330,527
7,030
323,497

Student
Loan
and
Guaranty
Servicing

Tuition
Payment
Processing
and Campus
Commerce

Enrollment
Services
and
List
Management

4,678

1,384

165

—

—

—

4,678

1,384

165

—

—

—

4,678

1,384

165

Other income (expense):
Loan and guarantee servicing income
Other fee-based income
Software services income
Other income
Intersegment revenue
Derivative market value, foreign currency,
and put option adjustments
Derivative settlements, net
Total other income (expense)

(17,008)
(4,232)

195,305

14,239

12,488

Operating expenses:
Salaries and benefits
Other expenses
Intersegment expenses
Total operating expenses

39,482
39,659
33,070
112,211

92,804
46,913
5,196
144,913

7,065
3,815
99
10,979

3,081
3,512

Income (loss) before income taxes
Income tax expense (benefit) (a)
Net income (loss) before minority interest

207,054
74,539
132,515

55,070
19,825
35,245

4,644
1,672
2,972

—

9,053
127
3,596
—
—

Minority interest in subsidiary income

—

152,493
—

—

—

14,239

12,349

Software
and
Technical
Total
Services
Segments
(dollars in thousands)
21
946,638
—
609,863
21
336,775
—

21

—
—

—

—

9,042

—

—

—

—

139

5,848

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

14
42,798

—

GAAP
Results of
Operations

(45)
(45)

—

—

—

949,208
620,111
329,097

—

—

—

7,030

329,745

(7,678)

—

—

322,067

152,493
35,641
9,169
3,610
48,785

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

4,049
408

—

—

152,493
35,641
9,169
7,659

7,030

—

(49,193)

—

—

—

—

14,890

4,457

(49,193)

149,629
94,867
38,357
282,853

33,555
45,225
384
79,164

(10,452)

6,593

7,197
968
(8)
8,157

6,060
2,181
3,879

6,754
2,431
4,323

279,582
100,648
178,934

(82,385)
(31,251)
(51,134)

—

—

(603)

—

$

132,515

35,245

2,369

3,879

4,323

178,331

(51,134)

Total assets

$

22,327,023

505,957

90,794

41,649

23,178

22,988,601

58,173
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"Base net
income"
Adjustments
to GAAP
Results

2,615
10,293
(7,678)

Net income (loss)

(a) Income taxes are based on a percentage of net income before tax for the individual operating segment.

Eliminations
and
Reclassifications

(17,008)
232,690

—

(603)

Corporate
Activity
and
Overhead

—

(38,741)
(49,193)
—
—
—
—
—

(248,081)

—

—

96,227
—

96,227

—

9,479
—

—

96,227
(17,008)
284,181

172,732
149,571
—

9,479

322,303

86,748
32,823
53,925

283,945
102,220
181,725

—

53,925
—

(603)
181,122
22,798,693

Year ended December 31, 2004
Asset
Generation
and
Management

Total interest income
Interest expense
Net interest income

$

649,629
254,353
395,276

Less provision for loan losses
Net interest income after provision
for loan losses

Tuition
Payment
Processing
and Campus
Commerce

Enrollment
Services
and
List
Management

1,377

—

—

—

—

—

1,377

—

—

—

—

—

395,805

1,377

—

—

32
7,027

99,890

(529)

Other income (expense):
Loan and guarantee servicing income
Other fee-based income
Software services income
Other income
Intersegment revenue
Derivative market value, foreign currency,
and put option adjustments
Derivative settlements, net
Total other income (expense)

(34,140)
(23,214)

Operating expenses:
Salaries and benefits
Other expenses
Intersegment expenses
Total operating expenses
Income (loss) before income taxes
Income tax expense (benefit) (a)
Net income (loss) before minority interest

Software
and
Technical
Total
Services
Segments
(dollars in thousands)
7
—

7

348

—

—

—

—

348

398,695

100,130
7,027
8,051
9,321

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

5,454
640

—

—

—

—

—

—

8,051

—

—

—

—

—

—

3,932

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

136,597

—

—

11,983

37,111
35,169
28,284
100,564

67,266
24,246
3,617
95,129

—

667
132

6,066
705

272,027
98,913
173,114

42,845
15,579
27,266
—

—

—

—

3,867

—

348

208

—

—

(41,279)

—

—

—

—

(11,918)

6,302

(41,279)

31,838
40,064
97
71,999

(9,281)

—

—

8,768

(64,539)
(23,135)
(41,404)

—

—

—

—

799

6,771

—
—

(799)
(291)
(508)

5,219
1,898
3,321

319,292
116,099
203,193

—

—

—

—

—

Net income (loss)

$

173,114

27,266

—

(508)

3,321

203,193

(41,404)

Total assets

$

14,819,857

320,309

—

—

5,893

15,146,059

62,665

(31,998)
(41,279)
—
—
—
—
—

(39,213)

652,776
254,610
398,166
(529)

—

(34,140)
125,366

111,110
60,252
31,901
203,263

—

(94)
(94)

99,922
7,027
8,051
3,867
40,639

—

—

GAAP
Results of
Operations

1,509
351
1,158

1,158

—

—

Eliminations
and
Reclassifications

"Base net
income"
Adjustments
to GAAP
Results

397,189

—

—

Corporate
Activity
and
Overhead

7

—

36,707

651,013
254,353
396,660
(529)

—

—

—

Minority interest in subsidiary income

Student
Loan
and
Guaranty
Servicing

—

(11,918)

—

(11,918)
(34,140)
78,471

133,667
109,084

—

—

8,768

242,751

(20,338)
(7,728)
(12,610)

234,415
85,236
149,179

—

(12,610)
—

—

149,179
15,169,511

(a) Income taxes are based on a percentage of net income before tax for the individual operating segment.

Non-GAAP Performance Measures
In accordance with the Rules and Regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”), the Company prepares financial
statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles (“GAAP”). In addition to evaluating the Company’s GAAPbased financial information, management also evaluates the Company’s operating segments on a non-GAAP performance measure
referred to as “base net income” for each operating segment. While “base net income” is not a substitute for reported results under
GAAP, the Company relies on “base net income” to manage each operating segment because management believes these measures
provide additional information regarding the operational and performance indicators that are most closely assessed by management.
“Base net income” is the primary financial performance measure used by management to develop financial plans, allocate resources,
track results, evaluate performance, establish corporate performance targets, and determine incentive compensation. Accordingly,
financial information is reported to management on a “base net income” basis by operating segment, as these are the measures used
regularly by the Company’s chief operating decision maker. The Company’s board of directors utilizes “base net income” to set
performance targets and evaluate management’s performance. The Company also believes analysts, rating agencies, and creditors use
“base net income” in their evaluation of the Company’s results of operations. While “base net income” is not a substitute for reported
results under GAAP, the Company utilizes “base net income” in operating its business because “base net income” permits
management to make meaningful period-to-period comparisons by eliminating the temporary volatility in the Company’s performance
that arises from certain items that are primarily affected by factors beyond the control of management. Management believes “base
net income” provides additional insight into the financial performance of the core business activities of the Company’s operations.
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Limitations of “Base Net Income”
While GAAP provides a uniform, comprehensive basis of accounting, for the reasons discussed above, management believes that
“base net income” is an important additional tool for providing a more complete understanding of the Company’s results of
operations. Nevertheless, “base net income” is subject to certain general and specific limitations that investors should carefully
consider. For example, as stated above, unlike financial accounting, there is no comprehensive, authoritative guidance for
management reporting. The Company’s “base net income” is not a defined term within GAAP and may not be comparable to
similarly titled measures reported by other companies. Investors, therefore, may not be able to compare our Company’s performance
with that of other companies based upon “base net income”. “Base net income” results are only meant to supplement GAAP results
by providing additional information regarding the operational and performance indicators that are most closely monitored and used by
the Company’s management and board of directors to assess performance and information which the Company believes is important
to analysts, rating agencies, and creditors.
Other limitations of “base net income” arise from the specific adjustments that management makes to GAAP results to derive “base
net income” results. These differences are described below.
The adjustments required to reconcile from the Company’s “base net income” measure to its GAAP results of operations relate to
differing treatments for derivatives, foreign currency transaction adjustments, and certain other items that management does not
consider in evaluating the Company’s operating results. The following table reflects adjustments associated with these areas by
operating segment and corporate activities and overhead for the years ended December 31, 2006, 2005, and 2004:
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Asset
Generation
and
Management

Student
Loan
and
Guaranty
Servicing

Year ended December 31, 2006
Tuition
Enrollment
Payment
Services
Software
Processing
and
and
and Campus
List
Technical
Commerce
Management
Services

Corporate
Activity
and
Overhead

Total

(dollars in thousands)
Derivative market value, foreign currency, and
put option adjustments
$
Amortization of intangible assets
Non-cash stock based compensation related
to business combinations
Variable-rate floor income
Net tax effect (a)
Total adjustments to GAAP

$

(5,483)
(7,617)

—

(5,701)

—

—

(5,968)

(4,573)

—

(1,263)

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

(25,592)
—

(1,747)

(31,075)
(25,122)
(1,747)

—

—

4,978

2,166

2,268

1,738

480

8,626

20,256

(8,122)

(3,535)

(3,700)

(2,835)

(783)

(18,713)

(37,688)

Asset
Generation
and
Management

Student
Loan
and
Guaranty
Servicing

Year ended December 31, 2005
Tuition
Enrollment
Payment
Services
Software
Processing
and
and
and Campus
List
Technical
Commerce
Management
Services

Corporate
Activity
and
Overhead

Total

(dollars in thousands)
Derivative market value, foreign currency, and
put option adjustments
$
Amortization of intangible assets
Non-cash stock based compensation related
to business combinations
Variable-rate floor income
Net tax effect (a)
Total adjustments to GAAP

$

95,854
(1,840)

Total adjustments to GAAP

$

—

(2,350)

—

(2,032)

—

373

(847)

—

96,227
(9,479)

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

(35,726)

916

893

772

322

—

(32,823)

58,288

(1,494)

(1,457)

(1,260)

(525)

373

53,925

Asset
Generation
and
Management
Derivative market value, foreign currency, and
put option adjustments
$
Amortization of intangible assets
Non-cash stock based compensation related
to business combinations
Variable-rate floor income
Net tax effect (a)

—

(2,410)

(11,918)
(395)
—

Student
Loan
and
Guaranty
Servicing

—

(1,353)

Year ended December 31, 2004
Tuition
Enrollment
Payment
Services
Software
Processing
and
and
and Campus
List
Technical
Commerce Management
Services
(dollars in thousands)
—

—

—

—

—

(7,020)

Corporate
Activity
and
Overhead

—
—

—
—

Total

(11,918)
(8,768)

—

—

—

—

—

348
4,546

—

—

—

—

—

514

—

—

2,668

—

348
7,728

—

(7,419)

(839)

—

—

(4,352)

—

(12,610)

(a) Tax effect computed at 38%. The change in the value of the put option (included in Corporate Activity and Overhead) is not tax effected as this is not
deductible for income tax purposes.

Differences between GAAP and “Base Net Income”
Management’s financial planning and evaluation of operating results does not take into account the following items because their
volatility and/or inherent uncertainty affect the period-to-period comparability of the Company’s results of operations. A more
detailed discussion of the differences between GAAP and “base net income” follows.
Derivative market value, foreign currency, and put option adjustments: “Base net income” excludes the periodic unrealized gains
and losses that are caused by the change in fair value on derivatives in which the Company does not qualify for “hedge treatment”
under GAAP. Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 133, Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities
(“SFAS No. 133”), requires that changes in fair value of derivative instruments be recognized currently in earnings unless specific
hedge accounting criteria, as specified by SFAS No. 133, are met. The Company maintains an overall interest rate risk management
strategy that incorporates the use of derivative instruments to reduce the economic effect of interest rate volatility. Derivative
instruments primarily used by the Company include interest rate swaps, basis swaps, interest rate floor contracts, and cross-currency
interest rate swaps. Management has structured all of the Company's derivative transactions with the intent that each is economically
effective. However, the Company does not qualify its derivatives for “hedge treatment” as defined by SFAS No. 133, and the standalone derivative must be marked-to-market in the income statement with no consideration for the corresponding change in fair value
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of the hedged item. Since the Company plans to hold all derivative instruments until their maturity, the Company believes these
point-in-time estimates of asset and liability values that are subject to interest rate fluctuations make it difficult to evaluate the ongoing
results of operations against its business plan and affect the period-to-period comparability of the results of operations. Included in
“base net income” are the economic effects of the Company’s derivative instruments, which includes any cash paid or received being
recognized as an expense or revenue upon actual derivative settlements. These settlements are included in “Derivative market value,
foreign currency, and put option adjustments and derivative settlements, net” on the Company’s consolidated statements of income.
“Base net income” excludes the foreign currency transaction gains or losses caused by the re-measurement of the Company’s Eurodenominated bonds to U.S. dollars. In connection with the issuance of the Euro-denominated bonds, the Company has entered into
cross-currency interest rate swaps. Under the terms of these agreements, the principal payments on the Euro-denominated notes will
effectively be paid at the exchange rate in effect at the issuance date of the bonds. The cross-currency interest rate swaps also convert
the floating rate paid on the Euro-denominated bonds (EURIBOR index) to an index based on LIBOR. Included in “base net income”
are the economic effects of any cash paid or received being recognized as an expense or revenue upon actual settlements of the crosscurrency interest rate swaps. These settlements are included in “Derivative market value, foreign currency, and put option
adjustments and derivative settlements, net” on the Company’s consolidated statements of income. However, the gains or losses
caused by the re-measurement of the Euro-denominated bonds to U.S. dollars and the change in market value of the cross-currency
interest rate swaps are excluded from “base net income” as the Company believes the point-in-time estimates of value that are subject
to currency rate fluctuations related to these financial instruments make it difficult to evaluate the ongoing results of operations against
the Company’s business plan and affect the period-to-period comparability of the results of operations. The re-measurement of the
Euro-denominated bonds correlates with the change in fair value of the cross-currency interest rate swaps. However, the Company
will experience unrealized gains or losses related to the cross-currency interest rate swaps if the two underlying indices (and related
forward curve) do not move in parallel.
“Base net income” also excludes the change in fair value of put options issued by the Company for certain business acquisitions. The
put options are valued by the Company each reporting period using a Black-Scholes pricing model. Therefore, the fair value of these
options is primarily affected by the strike price and term of the underlying option, the Company’s current stock price, and the
volatility of the Company’s stock. The Company believes these point-in-time estimates of value that are subject to fluctuations make
it difficult to evaluate the ongoing results of operations against the Company’s business plans and affects the period-to-period
comparability of the results of operations.
The gains and/or losses included in “Derivative market value, foreign currency, and put option adjustments and derivative settlements,
net” on the Company’s consolidated statements of income are primarily caused by interest rate and currency volatility, changes in the
value of put options based on the inputs used in the Black-Scholes pricing model, as well as the volume and terms of put options and
of derivatives not receiving hedge treatment. “Base net income” excludes these unrealized gains and losses and isolates the effect of
interest rate, currency, and put option volatility on the fair value of such instruments during the period. Under GAAP, the effects of
these factors on the fair value of the put options and the derivative instruments (but not the underlying hedged item) tend to show
more volatility in the short term.
Amortization of intangible assets: “Base net income” excludes the amortization of acquired intangibles, which arises primarily from
the acquisition of definite life intangible assets in connection with the Company’s acquisitions, since the Company feels that such
charges do not drive the Company’s operating performance on a long-term basis and can affect the period-to-period comparability of
the results of operations.
Non-cash stock based compensation related to business combinations: The Company has structured certain business combinations
in which the stock consideration paid has been dependent on the sellers’ continued employment with the Company. As such, the
value of the consideration paid is recognized as compensation expense by the Company over the term of the applicable employment
agreement. “Base net income” excludes this expense because the Company believes such charges do not drive its operating
performance on a long-term basis and can affect the period-to-period comparability of the results of operations. If the Company did
not enter into the employment agreements in connection with the acquisition, the amount paid to these former shareholders of the
acquired entity would have been recorded by the Company as additional consideration of the acquired entity, thus, not having an effect
on the Company’s results of operations.
Variable-rate floor income: Loans that reset annually on July 1 can generate excess spread income compared with the rate based on
the special allowance payment formula in declining interest rate environments. The Company refers to this additional income as
variable-rate floor income. The Company excludes variable rate floor income from its “base net income” since its timing and amount
(if any) is uncertain, it has been eliminated by legislation for all loans originated on and after April 1, 2006, and it is in excess of
expected spreads. In addition, because variable rate floor income is subject to the underlying rate for the subject loans being reset
annually on July 1, it is a factor beyond the Company’s control which can affect the period-to-period comparability of results of
operations. There was no variable-rate floor income in the periods presented.
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ASSET GENERATION AND MANAGEMENT OPERATING SEGMENT – RESULTS OF OPERATIONS
The Company’s Asset Generation and Management segment is its largest product and service offering and drives the majority of the
Company’s earnings. The Asset Generation and Management segment includes the acquisition, management, and ownership of the
Company’s student loan assets. Revenues are primarily generated from net interest income on the student loan assets. The Company
generates student loan assets through direct origination or through acquisitions. The student loan assets are held in a series of
education lending subsidiaries designed specifically for this purpose.
In addition to the student loan portfolio, all costs and activity associated with the generation of assets, funding of those assets, and
maintenance of the debt transactions are included in this segment. This includes derivative activity and the related derivative market
value and foreign currency adjustments. The Company is also able to leverage its capital market expertise by providing investment
advisory services and services to third parties through a licensed broker dealer. Revenues and expenses for those functions are also
included in the Asset Generation and Management segment.
Student Loan Portfolio
The table below outlines the components of the Company’s loan portfolio (dollars in thousands):

Federally insured:
Stafford
PLUS/SLS
Consolidation
Non-federally insured
Total
Unamortized premiums and deferred
origination costs
Allowance for loan losses:
Allowance - federally insured
Allowance - non-federally insured
Net

As of December 31, 2006
Percent
Dollars

As of December 31, 2005
Percent
Dollars

As of December 31, 2004
Percent
Dollars

$

$

$

5,724,586
365,112
17,127,623
197,147
23,414,468
401,087

(7,601)
(18,402)
$ 23,789,552

24.1 %
1.5
72.0
0.8
98.4
1.7

6,434,655
376,042
13,005,378
96,880
19,912,955
361,242

—
(0.1)
100.0 %

(98)
(13,292)
$ 20,260,807

31.8 %
1.8
64.2
0.5
98.3
1.8
—
(0.1)
100.0 %

5,047,487
252,910
7,908,292
90,405
13,299,094
169,992

(117)
(7,155)
$ 13,461,814

37.5 %
1.9
58.7
0.7
98.8
1.3
—
(0.1)
100.0 %

The Company’s net student loan assets have increased $3.5 billion, or 17.4%, to $23.8 billion as of December 31, 2006 compared to
$20.3 billion as of December 31, 2005. The Company’s net student loan assets increased $6.8 billion, or 50.5%, from $13.5 billion as
of December 31, 2004 to $20.3 billion as of December 31, 2005. The Company has also experienced a change in the composition of
its portfolio that includes a larger percentage of consolidation loans. Consolidation loans comprised 72.0% of the total portfolio as of
December 31, 2006 compared to 64.2% and 58.7% as of December 31, 2005 and 2004, respectively.
Origination and Acquisition
The Company originates and acquires loans through various methods and channels including: (i) direct-to-consumer channel, (ii)
campus based origination channels, and (iii) spot purchases. Through its direct to consumer channel, the Company originates student
loans directly with student and parent borrowers. During 2006, additions through this channel were primarily attributable to loans
originated under the Consolidation loan program.
The Company will originate or acquire loans through its campus based channel either directly under one of its brand names or through
other originating lenders. In addition to its brands, the Company acquires student loans from lenders to whom the Company provides
marketing and/or origination services established through various contracts. Branding partners are lenders for which the Company
acts as a marketing agent in specified geographic areas. A forward flow lender is one for whom the Company provides origination
services but provides no marketing services or whom simply agrees to sell loans to the Company under forward sale commitments.
The table below sets forth the activity of loans originated or acquired through each of the Company’s channels (dollars in thousands):
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Beginning balance
$
Direct channel:
Consolidation loan originations
Less consolidation of existing portfolio
Net consolidation loan originations
Stafford/PLUS loan originations
Branding partner channel (a)
Forward flow channel
Other channels
Total channel acquisitions
Repayments, claims, capitalized interest, and other
Consolidation loans lost to external parties
Loans acquired in portfolio and business acquisitions
Loans sold
Ending balance
$

(a)

Year ended December 31,
2006
2005
19,912,955
13,299,094

2004
10,314,874

5,299,820
(2,643,880)
2,655,940
1,035,695
910,756
1,600,990
492,737
6,696,118
(1,332,086)
(1,114,040)
—
(748,479)
23,414,468

3,060,427
(1,427,200)
1,633,227
279,885
989,867
780,803
250,609
3,934,391
(570,509)
(515,800)
136,138
—
13,299,094

4,037,366
(1,966,000)
2,071,366
720,545
657,720
1,153,125
796,886
5,399,642
(1,002,260)
(855,000)
3,071,479
—
19,912,955

Included in the branding partner channel are private loan originations of $120.6 million, $13.4 million, and $9.8 million for the years ended December
31, 2006, 2005, and 2004, respectively.

The “other channels” for the year ended December 31, 2005 includes $630.8 million of student loans purchased from Union Bank and
Trust (“Union Bank”), an entity under common control with the Company. The acquisition of these loans was made by the Company
as part of an agreement with Union Bank entered into in February 2005. As part of this agreement, Union Bank also committed to
transfer to the Company substantially all of the remaining balance of Union Bank’s origination rights in guaranteed student loans. As
such, beginning in the second quarter of 2005, all loans originated by Union Bank on behalf of the Company are presented in the table
above as direct channel originations.
“Loans acquired in portfolio and business acquisitions” for the year ended December 31, 2005 includes $2.2 billion and $0.9 billion of
student loans purchased in October 2005 from Chela Education Funding, Inc. (“Chela”) and LoanSTAR Funding Group, Inc.
(“LoanSTAR”), respectively.
The Company has extensive and growing relationships with many large financial and educational institutions that are active in the
education finance industry. Loss of a relationship with an institution from which the Company directly or indirectly acquires a
significant volume of student loans could result in an adverse effect on the volume derived from its various channels.
Nova Southeastern University (“Nova”), a school-as-lender customer, has elected not to renew their existing contract with the
Company, which expired in December 2006. Total loans acquired from Nova were $275.6 million, $299.3 million, and $267.8
million for the years ended December 31, 2006, 2005, and 2004, respectively. Loans acquired from Nova are included in the forward
flow channel in the above table.
During 2006, the Company sold approximately $555.9 million (par value) of student loans to an unrelated party. Of the loans sold to
the unrelated party, $382.6 million were originated by Nova. The loans sold were not serviced by the Company and as such were at a
greater risk of being consolidated away from the Company by third parties.
As part of the agreement for the acquisition of the capital stock of LoanSTAR from the Texas Foundation completed in October 2005,
the Company agreed to sell student loans in an aggregate amount sufficient to permit the Texas Foundation to maintain a portfolio of
loans equal to no less then $200.0 million through October 2010. The sales price for such loans is the fair market value mutually
agreed upon between the Company and the Texas Foundation. To satisfy this obligation, the Company will sell loans to the Texas
Foundation on a quarterly basis. During 2006, the Company sold the Texas Foundation $130.4 million (par value) of student loans
which is reflected in loan sales in the above table.
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Activity in the Allowance for Loan Losses
The provision for loan losses represents the periodic expense of maintaining an allowance sufficient to absorb losses, net of
recoveries, inherent in the portfolio of student loans. An analysis of the Company’s allowance for loan losses is presented in the
following table (dollars in thousands):

Balance at beginning of period
Provision for loan losses:
Federally insured loans
Non-federally insured loans
Total provision for loan losses
Charge-offs, net of recoveries:
Federally insured loans
Non-federally insured loans
Net charge-offs
Balance at end of period
Allocation of the allowance for loan losses:
Federally insured loans
Non-federally insured loans
Total allowance for loan losses

$

$
$
$

Net loan charge-offs as a percentage of average student loans
Total allowance as a percentage of average student loans
Total allowance as a percentage of ending balance of student loans
Non-federally insured allowance as a percentage of the ending
balance of non-federally insured loans
Average student loans
Ending balance of student loans
Ending balance of non-federally insured loans

$

Year ended December 31,
2006
2005
13,390
7,272

2004
16,026

9,268
6,040
15,308

280
6,750
7,030

(7,639)
7,110
(529)

(1,765)
(930)
(2,695)
26,003

(299)
(613)
(912)
13,390

(1,999)
(6,226)
(8,225)
7,272

7,601
18,402
26,003

98
13,292
13,390

117
7,155
7,272

0.012 %
0.120 %
0.111 %

0.006 %
0.085 %
0.067 %

0.070 %
0.062 %
0.055 %

9.334 %
21,696,466
23,414,468
197,147

13.720 %
15,716,388
19,912,955
96,880

7.914 %
11,809,663
13,299,094
90,405

In 2004, the Company’s allowance and the provision for loan losses were each reduced by $9.4 million to account for the estimated
effects of the Company’s (and other service providers servicing the Company’s student loans) Exceptional Performance designations.
In 2006, the Company recognized a $6.9 million provision on its federally insured portfolio as a result of HERA which was enacted
into law on February 8, 2006. See note 2 in the accompanying consolidated financial statements included in this Report for additional
information related to HERA.
Delinquencies have the potential to adversely impact the Company’s earnings through increased servicing and collection costs and
account charge-offs. The table below shows the Company’s student loan delinquency amounts (dollars in thousands):
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As of December 31, 2006
Dollars
Percent
Federally Insured Loans:
Loans in-school/grace/deferment(1)
Loans in forebearance(2)
Loans in repayment status:
Loans current
Loans delinquent 31-60 days(3)
Loans delinquent 61-90 days(3)
Loans delinquent 91 days or greater(4)
Total loans in repayment
Total federally insured loans
Non-Federally Insured Loans:
Loans in-school/grace/deferment(1)
Loans in forebearance(2)
Loans in repayment status:
Loans current
Loans delinquent 31-60 days(3)
Loans delinquent 61-90 days(3)
Loans delinquent 91 days or greater(4)
Total loans in repayment
Total non-federally insured loans

$

6,271,558
2,318,184

$

12,944,768
623,439
299,413
759,959
14,627,579
23,217,321

$
$

88.5 %
4.3
2.0
5.2
100.0 %
$

83,973
6,113

5,512,448
2,160,577
10,790,625
526,044
236,117
590,264
12,143,050
19,816,075

$

101,084
2,681
1,233
2,063
107,061
197,147

$

As of December 31, 2005
Dollars
Percent

94.4 %
2.5
1.2
1.9
100.0 %
$

88.9 %
4.3
1.9
4.9
100.0 %

27,709
2,938
61,079
2,059
1,301
1,794
66,233
96,880

92.2 %
3.1
2.0
2.7
100.0 %

__________
(1)

Loans for borrowers who still may be attending school or engaging in other permitted educational activities and are not yet required to make payments on the loans, e.g., residency periods
for medical students or a grace period for bar exam preparation for law students.

(2)

Loans for borrowers who have temporarily ceased making full payments due to hardship or other factors, according to a schedule approved by the servicer consistent with the established
loan program servicing procedures and policies.

(3)

The period of delinquency is based on the number of days scheduled payments are contractually past due and relate to repayment loans, that is, receivables not charged off, and not in
school, grace, deferment, or forbearance.

(4)

Loans delinquent 91 days or greater include loans in claim status, which are loans which have gone into default and have been submitted to the guaranty agency for FFELP loans, or, if
applicable, the insurer for non-federally insured loans, to process the claim for payment.

Student Loan Spread Analysis
The following table analyzes the student loan spread on the Company’s portfolio of student loans and represents the spread on assets
earned in conjunction with the liabilities and derivative instruments used to fund the assets:

2006
Student loan yield (a)
Consolidation rebate fees
Premium and deferred origination costs amortization (b)
Student loan net yield
Student loan cost of funds (c)
Student loan spread
Special allowance yield adjustment, net of
settlements on derivatives (d)
Core student loan spread
Average balance of student loans (in thousands)
Average balance of debt outstanding (in thousands)

7.85
(0.72)
(0.39)
6.74
(5.12)
1.62

Year ended December 31,
2005
%
6.90 %
(0.65)
(0.49)
5.76
(3.75)
2.01

(0.20)
1.42 %
$ 21,696,466
23,379,258

(0.50)
1.51 %
15,716,388
16,759,511

2004
6.55 %
(0.58)
(0.60)
5.37
(2.25)
3.12
(1.46)
1.66 %
11,809,663
12,822,524

(a)

The student loan yield for the year ended December 31, 2006 does not include the $2.8 million charge to write off accounts receivable from the Department
related to third quarter 9.5% special allowance payments that will not be received under the Company's previously disclosed Settlement Agreement with the
Department. The $2.8 million relates to loans earning 9.5% special allowance payments that were not subject to the OIG audit.

(b)

Premium and deferred origination costs amortization for the year ended December 31, 2006 excludes fourth quarter premium amortization related to the
Company's portfolio of 9.5% loans purchased in October 2005 as part of the LoanSTAR acquisition.
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(c)

The student loan cost of funds includes the effects of net settlement costs on the Company's derivative instruments (excluding the $2.0 million settlement
related to the derivative instrument entered into in connection with the issuance of the junior subordinated hybrid securities and the net settlements of $7.0
million for the year ended December 31, 2006 on those derivatives no longer hedging student loan assets).

(d)

The special allowance yield adjustments represent the impact on net spread had loans earned at statutorily defined rates under a taxable financing. The
special allowance yield adjustments include net settlements on derivative instruments that were used to hedge this loan portfolio earning the excess yield. As
previously disclosed, on January 19, 2007, the Company entered into a Settlement Agreement with the Department to resolve the audit by the OIG of the
Company’s portfolio of student loans receiving 9.5% special allowance payments. Under the terms of the Agreement, all 9.5% special allowance payments
were eliminated for periods on and after July 1, 2006. The Company had been deferring recognition of 9.5% special allowance payments related to those
loans subject to the OIG audit effective July 1, 2006 pending satisfactory resolution of this issue.

The compression of the Company’s core student loan spread has been primarily due to (i) an increase in lower yielding consolidation
loans and increase in the consolidation rebate fees; (ii) the elimination of 9.5% special allowance payments on non-special allowance
yield adjustment student loans as a result of the Settlement Agreement with the Department; and (iii) the mismatch in the reset
frequency between the Company’s floating rate assets and floating rate liabilities. The Company’s core student loan spread benefited
in the rising interest rate environment because the Company’s cost of funds reset quarterly on the discreet basis while the Company’s
student loans kept increasing in yield on an average daily basis. As interest rates remained relatively flat in 2006, as compared to the
prior two years, the Company did not benefit from the rate reset discrepancy of its assets and liabilities contributing to the
compression.
As noted in Item 7A, “Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Market Risk”, the Company has a portfolio of $0.8 billion of
student loans that are earning interest at a fixed borrower rate which exceeds the statutorily defined variable lender rate creating floor
income which is included in its core student loan spread. The majority of these loans are consolidation loans that earn the greater of
the borrower rate or 2.64% above the average commercial paper rate during the calendar quarter. The Company estimates that its core
student loan spread for the year ended December 31, 2006, included approximately 14 basis points related to this floor income. When
excluding floor income, the Company’s core student loan spread was 1.28% for the year ended December 31, 2006.
The Company’s core student loan spread for the three months ended December 31, 2006 was 1.31%, which includes approximately 9
basis points of floor income. The Company believes it will experience continued loan spread compression through 2007.
Year ended December 31, 2006 compared to year ended December 31, 2005

Year ended
December 31,
December 31,
2006
2005
(dollars in thousands)
Net interest income after the provision
for loan losses

303,586

323,497

(19,911)

Other fee-based income
Software services income
Other income
Derivative settlements, net
Total other income

11,867
238
19,966
18,381
50,452

9,053
127
3,596
(17,008)
(4,232)

2,814
111
16,370
35,389
54,684

Salaries and benefits
Other expenses
Intersegment expenses
Total operating expenses

53,036
72,772
52,857
178,665

39,482
39,659
33,070
112,211

13,554
33,113
19,787
66,454

"Base net income" before income taxes
Income tax expense

175,373
63,134

207,054
74,539

(31,681)
(11,405)

112,239

132,515

(20,276)

31.7%

41.5%

"Base net income"

$

$ Change

$

After Tax Operating Margin

Net interest income after the provision for loan losses. Net interest income increased as a result of the growth in the Company’s
student loan portfolio which was offset by a decrease from the compression in the Company’s core student loan spread and the loss of
the 9.5% special allowance payments as a result of the Settlement Agreement with the Department related to the OIG audit. A
summary of the changes in net interest income follows (dollars in thousands):
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Year ended December 31,
2006
2005
Loan interest, excluding special
allowance yield adjustment
Special allowance yield adjustment
Consolidation rebate fees
Amortization of loan premiums and
deferred origination costs
Total loan interest
Investment interest
Total interest income
Interest on bonds and notes payable
Intercompany interest
Provision for loan losses
Net interest income after provision for
loan losses

$

$

Change
Dollars

Percent

1,675,399
24,460
(156,751)

989,523
94,655
(102,699)

685,876
(70,195)
(54,052)

69.3 %
(74.2)
(52.6)

(87,393)
1,455,715
78,708
1,534,423
1,213,446
2,083
15,308

(76,530)
904,949
35,441
940,390
609,830
33
7,030

(10,863)
550,766
43,267
594,033
603,616
2,050
8,278

(14.2)
60.9
122.1
63.2
99.0
6,212.1
117.8

303,586

323,497

(19,911)

(6.2)

Total loan interest income increased $550.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2006 compared to 2005 as follows:
x

The average student loan portfolio increased $6.0 billion, or 38%, for the year ended December 31, 2006 compared to 2005.
Student loan yield, excluding the special allowance yield adjustment, increased to 7.72% in 2006 from 6.30% in 2005. The
increase in student loan yield is a result of a rising interest rate environment and is offset by an increase in the percentage of
lower yielding consolidation loans to the total portfolio. In addition, as a result of the Company’s Settlement Agreement with
the Department, during the third and fourth quarters of 2006, the Company did not recognize any 9.5% special allowance
payments on loans not subject to the OIG audit. Loan interest income, excluding the special allowance yield adjustment,
increased $685.9 million as a result of these factors.

x

The special allowance yield adjustment decreased $70.2 million for 2006 compared to 2005 primarily as a result of the
Settlement Agreement with the Department, an increase in interest rates, which decreases the excess special allowance
payments over the statutorily defined rates under a taxable financing, and a decrease in the portfolio of loans earning the
special allowance yield adjustment.

x

Consolidation rebate fees increased due to the $4.1 billion increase in the consolidation loan portfolio.

x

Amortization of loan premiums and deferred origination costs increased as a result of the growth in the student loan portfolio.

x

Investment interest income has increased as a result of an increase in cash, cash equivalents, and investments from student
loan growth and business combinations, and as a result of the rising interest rate environment.

Interest expense increased $603.6 million due to the $6.6 billion, or 39.5%, increase in average debt for the year ended December 31,
2006 compared to 2005. In addition, the Company’s cost of funds increased to 5.19% for the year ended December 31, 2006 up from
3.64% for the same period a year ago.
The provision for loan losses increased because the Company recognized a $6.9 million provision in 2006 on its federally insured
portfolio as a result of HERA which was enacted into law on February 8, 2006. See note 2 in the accompanying consolidated
financial statements in this Report for additional information related to HERA.
Other fee-based income. Borrower late fees increased $2.1 million as the result of the increase in the average student loan portfolio.
The Company is able to leverage its capital market expertise by providing services to third parties through licensed broker dealer and
investment advisory services. Income from these activities increased $0.7 million in 2006 compared to 2005.
Other income. Other income increased $16.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2006 compared to 2005. During 2006, the
Company recognized $15.9 million in gains on the sale of loans. Historically, the Company has not sold a material amount of loan
assets and thus there is no similar activity for the year ended December 31, 2005. The majority of loans sold were loans not serviced
by the Company that management believed had an increased risk of consolidation loss.
Salaries and benefits. Salaries and benefits in this segment are primarily related to the generation of assets through various channels
including sales and marketing support as well as portfolio and debt management activities. Salaries and benefits increased $13.6
million, or 34.3%, for the year ended December 31, 2006 compared to 2005. The Company’s average loan portfolio increased $6.0
billion, or 38%, in 2006 compared to 2005. The Company’s efforts to increase its loan porfolio resulted in increased salaries and
benefits expense.
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Other expenses. During 2006, the Company recognized a $21.7 million impairment charge related to 9.5% loan asset premiums that
were impaired as a result of the Company’s Settlement Agreement with the Department. See “Recent Developments” for additional
information related to this charge. The increase in other expenses excluding the impairment charge was $11.4 million, or 28.7%,
which is driven by the increase in the Company’s loan portfolio and increased sales and marketing efforts to grow the Company’s loan
portfolio and includes the following items:
x

Servicing fees expense increased $4.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2006 compared to 2005 as a result of the
acquisition of the Chela portfolio of loans which were not serviced by the Company.

x

Advertising and marketing expenses increased $2.8 million as a result of the increased sales and marketing efforts.

x

Trustee and other debt related fees increased $1.8 million, or approximately 19%, related to the $6.6 billion, or 39.5%,
increase in average debt outstanding. The Company’s trustee and other debt-related fees did not increase at the same rate as
the increase in average debt outstanding due to a reduction in fee rates paid by the Company.

Year ended December 31, 2005 compared to year ended December 31, 2004

Year ended
December 31,
December 31,
2005
2004
(dollars in thousands)
Net interest income after the provision
for loan losses

323,497

395,805

(72,308)

Loan and guaranty servicing income
Other fee-based income
Software services income
Other income
Derivative settlements, net
Total other income

—
9,053
127
3,596
(17,008)
(4,232)

32
7,027
—
3,867
(34,140)
(23,214)

(32)
2,026
127
(271)
17,132
18,982

Salaries and benefits
Other expenses
Intersegment expenses
Total operating expenses

39,482
39,659
33,070
112,211

37,111
35,169
28,284
100,564

2,371
4,490
4,786
11,647

"Base net income" before income taxes
Income tax expense

207,054
74,539

272,027
98,913

(64,973)
(24,374)

132,515

173,114

(40,599)

41.5%

46.5%

"Base net income"

$

$ Change

$

After Tax Operating Margin

Net interest income after the provision for loan losses. Net interest income after the provision for loan losses decreased $72.3 million
for the year ended December 31, 2005 compared to 2004 as follows (dollars in thousands):
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Year ended December 31,
2005
2004
Loan interest, excluding special
allowance yield adjustment
Special allowance yield adjustment
Consolidation rebate fees
Amortization of loan premiums and
deferred origination costs
Total loan interest
Investment interest
Total interest income
Interest on bonds and notes payable
Intercompany interest
Provision for loan losses
Net interest income after provision for
loan losses

$

$

Change
Dollars

Percent

989,523
94,655
(102,699)

569,657
203,486
(68,107)

419,866
(108,831)
(34,592)

73.7 %
(53.5)
(50.8)

(76,530)
904,949
35,441
940,390
609,830
33
7,030

(70,370)
634,666
14,963
649,629
254,259
94
(529)

(6,160)
270,283
20,478
290,761
355,571
(61)
7,559

(8.8)
42.6
136.9
44.8
139.8
(64.9)
(1,428.9)

323,497

395,805

(72,308)

(18.3)

Total loan interest income increased $270.3 million for the year ended December 31, 2005 compared to 2004 as follows:
x

The average student loan portfolio increased $3.9 billion, or 33%, for the year ended December 31, 2005 compared to 2004.
The student loan yield, excluding the special allowance yield adjustment, increased to 6.30% in 2005 from 4.83% in 2004.
The increase in student loan yield is a result of a rising interest rate environment and is offset by an increase in the percentage
of lower yielding consolidation loans to the total portfolio. Loan interest income, excluding the special allowance yield
adjustment, increased $419.9 million as a result of these factors.

x

The special allowance yield adjustment decreased $108.8 million to $94.7 million for 2005 compared to $203.5 million in
2004. This decrease is due to an increase in interest rates, which decreases the excess special allowance payments over the
statutorily defined rates under a taxable financing, and a decrease in the portfolio of loans earning the special allowance yield
adjustment. In addition, the 2004 special yield adjustment included approximately $42.9 million that was previously
deferred.

x

Consolidation rebate fees increased $34.6 million in 2005 compared to 2004. This is a result of the increase in the
consolidation loan portfolio to $13.0 billion at December 31, 2005 compared to $7.9 billion at December 31, 2004.

x

Amortization of loan premiums and deferred origination costs increased as a result of the growth in the student loan portfolio.

x

Investment interest income has increased as a result of an increase in cash, cash equivalents, and investments as a result of the
rising interest rate environment.

Average debt increased approximately $3.9 billion, or 31%, for the year ended December 31, 2005 compared to 2004 and the
Company’s cost of funds increased to 3.64% for the year ended December 31, 2005 up from 1.98% for the same period a year ago.
Together these two factors resulted in a $355.6 million increase in interest expense.
The provision for loan losses for federally insured student loans increased $7.9 million from a recovery of $7.6 million in 2004 to an
expense of $0.3 million in 2005 as a result of the Company’s Exceptional Performer designation in June 2004. The provision for loan
losses for non-federally insured loans decreased $0.4 million from $7.1 million in 2004 to $6.7 million in 2005 because of the
expected performance of the non-federally insured portfolio.
Other fee-based income. Income from borrower late fees increased $1.2 million in 2005 as a result of the increase in the size of the
Company’s student loan portfolio. In addition, the Company is able to leverage its capital market expertise by providing services to
third parties through licensed broker dealer and investment advisory services. Income from these activities increased $0.8 million in
2005 compared to 2004.
Salaries and benefits. Salaries and benefits increased $2.4 million, or 6.4% for the year ended December 31, 2005 compared to 2004.
During 2005, the Company recognized $5.3 million less in incentive plan compensation expense. This decrease was offset by salaries
and related costs for efforts to increase the size of its loan portfolio resulting in increased salaries and benefits expense.
Other expenses. Other expenses increased $4.5 million, or 12.8%, as a result of the increase in the Company’s loan portfolio and
increased sales and marketing efforts to grow the Company’s loan portfolio. Specifically, the Company had increased costs for
advertising and marketing and postage and distribution expenses.
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STUDENT LOAN AND GUARANTY SERVICING OPERATING SEGMENT – RESULTS OF OPERATIONS
The Student Loan and Guaranty Servicing segment provides for the servicing of the Company’s student loan portfolios and the
portfolios of third parties and servicing provided to guaranty agencies. The servicing activities include loan origination activities,
application processing, borrower updates, payment processing, due diligence procedures, and claim processing. These activities are
performed internally for the Company’s portfolio in addition to generating fee revenue when performed for third-party clients. The
guaranty servicing and servicing support activities include providing systems software, hardware and telecommunications support,
borrower and loan updates, default aversion tracking services, claim processing services, and post-default collection services to
guaranty agencies. The broad category of products and percentage of total external loan and guaranty servicing revenue provided by
each during 2006 and 2005 is as follows:
1.

Origination and servicing of FFEL Program loans (34.8% and 46.2%);

2.

Origination and servicing of non-federally insured student loans (5.1% and 0.9%);

3.

Servicing and support outsourcing for guaranty agencies (23.9% and 14.1%); and

4.

Origination and servicing of loans under the Canadian government sponsored student loan program (36.2% and 38.8%).

The Company performs origination and servicing activities for FFEL Program loans for itself as well as third-party clients. The
Company also leverages its size and scale to provide origination and servicing activities for non-federally insured loans. Effective
November 1, 2005, the Company increased its servicing activities for non-federally insured loans through the purchase of the
remaining 50% interest in FirstMark Services, LLC (“FirstMark”). The Company owned 50% of this entity and accounted for it under
the equity method of accounting prior to the transaction. FirstMark specializes in originating and servicing education loans funded
outside the federal student loan programs. This acquisition was accounted for under purchase accounting and the results of operations
have been included in the consolidated financial statements from the date of acquisition.
The Company also provides servicing support for guaranty agencies. On October 31, 2005, the Company significantly expanded its
guarantor outsourcing activities with an agreement with the College Access Network (“CAN”).
The agreement terminates
November 1, 2015 and can be extended for an additional 10-year period upon mutual agreement.
Through its subsidiary, EDULINX Canada Corporation (“EDULINX”), the Company provides student loan administrative services in
Canada. EDULINX provides student loan administrative services, including loan disbursement, in-study account management, loan
consolidation, repayment management, customer contact, default prevention, and portfolio management services. In Canada, the
principal market for these services consists of the federal government and various provincial governments who deliver their student
loans through direct-financing programs as well as financial institutions who participate in either government-guaranteed and/or riskshared loan programs. See “Recent Developments” for information related to the loss of a significant EDULINX customer contract in
December 2006. The Company acquired EDULINX on December 1, 2004.
Student Loan Servicing Volumes
As of December 31,
Company

2006
Third party

FFELP and private loans
Canadian loans (in U.S. $)

$ 21,869
—

8,725
9,043

30,594
9,043

16,969
—

10,020
8,139

26,989
8,139

Total

$ 21,869

17,768

39,637

16,969

18,159

35,128
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Total
Company
(dollars in millions)

2005
Third party

Total

Year ended December 31, 2006 to compared year ended December 31, 2005

Year ended
December 31,
December 31,
2006
2005
(dollars in thousands)
Net interest income after the provision
for loan losses

$

$ Change

9,190

4,678

4,512

Loan and guaranty servicing income
Software services income
Other income
Intersegment revenue
Total other income

190,563
5
92
63,545
254,205

152,493
—
14
42,798
195,305

38,070
5
78
20,747
58,900

Salaries and benefits
Other expenses
Intersegment expenses
Total operating expenses

115,430
65,643
12,577
193,650

92,804
46,913
5,196
144,913

22,626
18,730
7,381
48,737

69,745
25,108

55,070
19,825

14,675
5,283

44,637

35,245

9,392

17.0%

17.6%

"Base net income" before income taxes
Income tax expense
"Base net income"

$

After Tax Operating Margin

Loan and guaranty servicing income. Loan and guaranty servicing income increased $38.1 million for the year ended December 31,
2006 compared to the year ended December 31, 2005 as follows (dollars in thousands):

Year ended December 31, 2005

$

Acquisition of private loan servicing operations

152,493
8,290

Expansion of guaranty servicing operations

24,029

Increase in Canadian loan servicing revenue (a)

9,808

Decrease in U.S. loan servicing revenue (b)

(4,011)

Other

(46)

Year ended December 31, 2006

$

190,563

(a) The increase in loan servicing revenue includes $4.4 million of performance based revenue for meeting certain servicing
criteria under the Company’s agreement with the Government of Canada to provide financial and related administrative
services to support the CSLP. The remaining $5.4 million increase is the result of an increase in volume of loans serviced
and an increase in certain servicing rates effective in April 2006. As noted under “Recent Developments” in this Report, the
Company’s CSLP contract will expire in March 2008 and will not be renewed.
(b) The decrease in loan servicing revenue from U.S. operations is the result of the Company acquiring loans from third party
lenders that were serviced by the Company prior to the acquisition of such loans. This decrease is offset by servicing volume
added as a result of the acquisitions of LoanSTAR, CAN, and Chela.
Operating expenses. Total operating expenses increased $18.4 million as a result of the acquisition of private loan servicing
operations and expanded guaranty servicing operations agreement with CAN during the fourth quarter of 2005. Operating expenses
for the year ended December 31, 2006 include the $9.4 million impairment charge of certain long-lived assets related to the loss of the
CSLP contract. See “Recent Developments” for additional information regarding this charge. Operating expenses after adjusting for
the impact of acquisitions and the impairment charge increased $20.9 million, or 14.4%. This increase is attributable to an increased
investment in technology to generate operating efficiencies, integration costs from the acquisitions of LoanSTAR and Chela, and a
12.8% increase in the Company’s loan servicing volume from December 31, 2005 to December 31, 2006.
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Year ended December 31, 2005 compared to year ended December 31, 2004
Year ended
December 31,
December 31,
2005
2004
(dollars in thousands)
Net interest income after the provision
for loan losses

$

$ Change

4,678

1,377

3,301

Loan and guaranty servicing income
Other income
Intersegment revenue
Total other income

152,493
14
42,798
195,305

99,890
—
36,707
136,597

52,603
14
6,091
58,708

Salaries and benefits
Other expenses
Intersegment expenses
Total operating expenses

92,804
46,913
5,196
144,913

67,266
24,246
3,617
95,129

25,538
22,667
1,579
49,784

55,070
19,825

42,845
15,579

12,225
4,246

35,245

27,266

7,979

17.6%

19.8%

"Base net income" before income taxes
Income tax expense
"Base net income"

$

After Tax Operating Margin

Loan and guaranty servicing income. Loan and guaranty servicing income increased $52.6 million for the year ended December 31,
2005 compared to the year ended December 31, 2004 as follows (dollars in thousands):

Year ended December 31, 2004

$

Acquisition of Canadian servicing operations

99,890
54,524

Expansion of guaranty servicing operations

3,807

Acquisition of private loan servicing operations

1,379

Decrease in U.S. loan servicing revenue (a)

(5,922)

Loss of guaranty servicing customer

(2,690)

Other

1,505

Year ended December 31, 2005

$

152,493

(a) The decrease in U.S. loan servicing revenue is the result of a decrease in average loans serviced by the Company.
Operating expenses. Salaries and benefits expense increased approximately $30.8 million as a result of the timing of acquisitions.
This increase was offset by a $3.3 million decrease in incentive plan compensation expense. The increase in other expenses was the
result of acquisitions.
TUITION PAYMENT PROCESSING AND CAMPUS COMMERCE OPERATING SEGMENT – RESULTS OF
OPERATION
The Company’s Tuition Payment Processing and Campus Commerce operating segment provides products and services to help
institutions and education seeking families manage the payment of education costs during the pre-college and college stages of the
education life cycle. The Company provides actively managed tuition payment solutions, online payment processing, detailed
information reporting, financial needs analysis, and data integration services to K-12 and post-secondary educational institutions,
families, and students. In addition, the Company provides customer-focused electronic transactions, information sharing, and account
and bill presentment to colleges and universities.
Effective June 1, 2005, the Company purchased 80% of the capital stock of FACTS Management Co. (“FACTS”). FACTS provides
actively managed tuition payment solutions, online payment processing, detailed information reporting, and data integration services
to educational institutions, families, and students. In addition, FACTS provides financial needs analysis for students applying for aid
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in private and parochial K-12 schools. This acquisition was accounted for under purchase accounting and the results of operations
have been included in the consolidated financial statements from the effective date of acquisition. Effective January 31, 2006, the
Company purchased the remaining 20% interest in FACTS.
Effective January 31, 2006, the Company purchased the remaining 50% interest in infiNET Integrated Solutions, Inc. (“infiNET”).
The Company owned 50% of this entity and accounted for it under the equity method of accounting prior to the transaction. infiNET
provides customer-focused electronic transactions, information sharing, and account and bill presentment to colleges and universities.
This acquisition was accounted for under purchase accounting and the results of operations have been included in the consolidated
financial statements from the effective date of acquisition.
Year ended December 31, 2006 compared to year ended December 31, 2005

Year ended
December 31,
December 31,
2006
2005
(dollars in thousands)
Net interest income after the provision
for loan losses

$

$ Change

4,021

1,384

2,637

Other fee-based income
Intersegment revenue
Total other income

35,090
503
35,593

14,239
—
14,239

20,851
503
21,354

Salaries and benefits
Other expenses
Intersegment expenses
Total operating expenses

17,607
8,371
1,025
27,003

7,065
3,815
99
10,979

10,542
4,556
926
16,024

"Base net income" before income taxes
Income tax expense

12,611
4,540

4,644
1,672

7,967
2,868

8,071
(242)

2,972
(603)

5,099
361

7,829

2,369

5,460

20.4%

19.0%

"Base net income" before minority interest
Minority interest
"Base net income"

$

After Tax Operating Margin

Other fee-based income. Other fee-based income increased due to the timing of acquisitions and an increase in the number of tuition
payment plans managed by the Company as follows (dollars in thousands):
Year ended December 31, 2005

$

Acquisition of tuition payment processing and campus commerce operations

14,239
18,722

Increase in tuition payment plan fees

2,129

Year ended December 31, 2006

$

35,090

Operating expenses. Operating expenses increased $15.6 million due to the timing of acquisitions. The remaining increase is the
result of the increase in the number of tuition payment plans managed by the Company.
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Year ended December 31, 2005 compared to year ended December 31, 2004
Year ended
December 31,
December 31,
2005
2004
(dollars in thousands)
Net interest income after the provision
for loan losses

$

$ Change

1,384

—

1,384

Other fee-based income
Intersegment revenue
Total other income

14,239
—
14,239

—
—
—

14,239
—
14,239

Salaries and benefits
Other expenses
Intersegment expenses
Total operating expenses

7,065
3,815
99
10,979

—
—
—
—

7,065
3,815
99
10,979

4,644
1,672

—
—

4,644
1,672

2,972
(603)

—
—

2,972
(603)

2,369

—

2,369

19.0%

0.0%

"Base net income" before income taxes
Income tax expense
"Base net income" before minority interest
Minority interest
"Base net income"

$

After Tax Operating Margin

The Company’s Tuition Payment Processing and Campus Commerce segment commenced with the acquisition of FACTS in June
2005. As a result, there was no activity in the business segment for the year ended December 31, 2004.
ENROLLMENT SERVICES AND LIST MANAGEMENT OPERATING SEGMENT – RESULTS OF OPERATION
The Company’s Enrollment Services and List Management operating segment provides products and services to help institutions and
education seeking families primarily during the pre-college phase of the education lifecycle. The Company helps families plan and
prepare for college by providing products and services such as a college planning center, practice tests, and scholarship searches.
Focused on planning/preparation, lead generation, and ultimately retention, products and services offered by the Enrollment Services
and List Management segment also help schools and businesses reach the middle school, high school, college, and young adult market
places.
Effective February 28, 2005, the Company acquired 100% of the capital stock of Student Marketing Group, Inc. (“SMG”), a full
service direct marketing agency, and 100% of the membership interests of National Honor Roll, LLC (“NHR”), a company which
provides publications and scholarships for middle and high school students achieving exceptional academic success.
On June 30, 2006, the Company purchased 100% of the membership interests of CUnet. CUnet provides campus locations and online
schools with performance-based educational marketing, web-based marketing, lead generation, and vendor management services to
enhance their brands and improve student recruitment and retention.
On July 27, 2006, the Company purchased certain assets and assumed certain liabilities (hereafter referred to as “Peterson’s”) from
Thomson Learning Inc. Peterson’s provides a comprehensive suite of education and career-related solutions in the areas of education
search, test preparation, admissions, financial aid information (including scholarship search), and career assistance. Peterson’s
delivers these services through a variety of media including print (i.e. books) and online. Peterson’s reaches an estimated 105 million
consumers annually with its publications and online information about colleges and universities, career schools, graduate programs,
distance learning, executive training, private secondary schools, summer opportunities, study abroad, financial aid, test preparation,
and career exploration resources.
The Company’s Enrollment Services and List Management operating segment will enhance its position as a vertically-integrated
industry leader with a strong foundation for growth. The Company has focused on growing and organically developing its product
and service offerings as well as enhancing them through various acquisitions. A key aspect of each transaction is its impact on the
Company’s prospective organic growth and the development of its integrated platform of services.
The above acquisitions were accounted for under purchase accounting and the results of operations have been included in the
consolidated financial statements from the date of acquisition.
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Year ended December 31, 2006 compared to year ended December 31, 2005

Year ended
December 31,
December 31,
2006
2005
(dollars in thousands)
Net interest income after the provision
for loan losses

531

165

366

Other fee-based income
Software services income
Intersegment revenue
Total other income

55,361
157
1,000
56,518

12,349
—
139
12,488

43,012
157
861
44,030

Salaries and benefits
Other expenses
Intersegment expenses
Total operating expenses

15,510
30,854
17
46,381

3,081
3,512
—
6,593

12,429
27,342
17
39,788

"Base net income" before income taxes
Income tax expense

10,668
3,840

6,060
2,181

4,608
1,659

6,828

3,879

2,949

12.0%

30.7%

"Base net income"

$

$ Change

$

After Tax Operating Margin

Other fee-based income. Other fee-based income increased primarily as the result of acquisitions. The 2006 acquisitions of CUnet
and Peterson’s resulted in a $34.9 million increase in other-fee based revenues. SMG and NHR were acquired effective February 28,
2005 and as a result other fee-based income includes twelve months of income for 2006 compared to ten months of income in 2005.
The Company experienced an increase in list sales volume resulting in increased other-fee based revenues. Finally, the Company
decreased its merchandise revenue sales efforts targeted at certain customers with a lower profit margin which resulted in a decrease in
other fee-based income. A summary of these changes is as follows (dollars in thousands):

Year-ended December 31, 2005

$

Acquisition of SMG
Acquisition of NHR
Acquisition of Cunet
Acquisition of Petersons

12,349
4,624
1,092
20,415
14,520

Increased list sales
Decreased merchandise sales
Year-ended December 31, 2006

2,564
(203)
$

55,361

Operating expenses. Total operating expenses increased $39.8 million. Operating expenses increased $33.7 million as a result of the
acquisitions of CUnet and Peterson’s. The Company increased its investment in its college planning center which resulted in a $1.9
million increase in operating expenses. The remaining $4.2 million increase in operating expenses was the result of the timing of the
acquisitions of SMG and NHR which resulted in twelve months of expense for 2006 compared to ten months in 2005 and due to
increased list sales volume.
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Year ended December 31, 2005 compared to year ended December 31, 2004

Year ended
December 31,
December 31,
2005
2004
(dollars in thousands)
Net interest income after the provision
for loan losses

$

Other fee-based income
Intersegment revenue
Total other income

$ Change

165

—

165

12,349
139
12,488

—
—
—

12,349
139
12,488

Salaries and benefits
Other expenses
Total operating expenses

3,081
3,512
6,593

667
132
799

2,414
3,380
5,794

"Base net income" before income taxes
Income tax expense

6,060
2,181

(799)
(291)

6,859
2,472

3,879

(508)

4,387

30.7%

0.0%

"Base net income"

$

After Tax Operating Margin

The Company acquired SMG and NHR effective February 28, 2005. During 2004, the only operating activity in the Company’s
Enrollment Service and List Management operating segment was the Company’s college planning center. The college planning center
is leveraged by the Company to generate both fee based income and student loan assets. The Company’s college planning center
expenditures were $0.8 million in both 2005 and 2004.
SOFTWARE AND TECHNICAL SERVICES OPERATING SEGMENT – RESULTS OF OPERATION
The Software and Technical Services segment develops loan servicing software and also provides this software to third-party student
loan holders and servicers. In addition, this segment provides information technology products and services, with core areas of
business in student loan software solutions for schools, lenders, and guarantors; technical consulting services; and enterprise content
management.
Effective November 1, 2005, the Company purchased the remaining 50% interest in 5280 Solutions, LLC (“5280”). The Company
owned 50% of this entity and accounted for it under the equity method of accounting prior to the transaction. 5280 provides
information technology products and services, with core areas of business in student loan software solutions for schools, lenders, and
guarantors; technical consulting services; and enterprise content management. This acquisition was accounted for under purchase
accounting and the results of operations have been included in the consolidated financial statements from the date of acquisition.
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Year ended December 31, 2006 compared to year ended December 31, 2005

Year ended
December 31,
December 31,
2006
2005
(dollars in thousands)
Net interest income after the provision
for loan losses

$

$ Change

105

21

84

Software services income
Intersegment revenue
Total other income

15,490
17,877
33,367

9,042
5,848
14,890

6,448
12,029
18,477

Salaries and benefits
Other expenses
Intersegment expenses
Total operating expenses

22,063
3,238
—
25,301

7,197
968
(8)
8,157

14,866
2,270
8
17,144

8,171
2,942

6,754
2,431

1,417
511

5,229

4,323

906

15.6%

29.0%

"Base net income" before income taxes
Income tax expense
"Base net income"

$

After Tax Operating Margin

Software services income. Software services income increased $8.3 million for the year ended December 31, 2006 compared to the
year ended December 31, 2005 as a result of the acquisition of 5280 in November 2005. This increase was offset by a $1.9 million
decrease in maintenance and enhancement fee revenues on the Company’s existing operations. Intersegment revenues consist
primarily of technical consulting fees for services provided to the Company’s Student Loan and Guaranty Servicing and Tuition
Payment Processing and Campus Commerce segments.
Operating expenses. Operating expenses increased as a result of the acquisition of 5280 in November 2005.
Year ended December 31, 2005 compared to year ended December 31, 2004

Year ended
December 31,
December 31,
2005
2004
(dollars in thousands)
Net interest income after the provision
for loan losses

$

$ Change

21

7

14

9,042
5,848
14,890

8,051
3,932
11,983

991
1,916
2,907

Salaries and benefits
Other expenses
Intersegment expenses
Total operating expenses

7,197
968
(8)
8,157

6,066
705
—
6,771

1,131
263
(8)
1,386

"Base net income" before income taxes
Income tax expense

6,754
2,431

5,219
1,898

1,535
533

4,323

3,321

1,002

29.0%

27.7%

Software services income
Intersegment revenue
Total other income

"Base net income"

$

After Tax Operating Margin

Software services income. Software services income for the year ended December 31, 2005 increased $1.0 million to $9.0 million
from $8.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2004. This increase is primarily attributable to the acquisition of 5280 in
November 2005.
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Operating expenses. The increase in operating expenses was primarily due to the acquisition of 5280 in November 2005 offset by a
decrease in incentive plan compensation expense. The acquisition of 5280 in November 2005 resulted in a $2.1 million increase in
operating expenses. This increase was offset by a $0.5 million decrease in incentive plan compensation expense.
LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES
The Company utilizes operating cash flow, operating lines of credit, and secured financing transactions to fund operations and student
loan and business acquisitions. The Company has also used its common stock to partially fund certain business acquisitions. In
addition, the Company has a universal shelf registration statement with the Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”) which
allows the Company to sell up to $750 million of securities that may consist of common stock, preferred stock, unsecured debt
securities, warrants, stock purchase contracts, and stock purchase units. The terms of any securities are established at the time of the
offering.
The Company is limited in the amounts of funds that can be transferred from its subsidiaries through intercompany loans, advances, or
cash dividends. These limitations result from the restrictions contained in trust indentures under debt financing arrangements to which
the Company’s education lending subsidiaries are parties. The Company does not believe these limitations will significantly affect its
operating cash needs. The amounts of cash and investments restricted in the respective reserve accounts of the education lending
subsidiaries are shown on the balance sheets as restricted cash and investments.
Operating Lines of Credit
The Company uses its line of credit agreements primarily for general operating purposes, to fund certain asset and business
acquisitions, and to repurchase stock under the Company’s stock repurchase program. As of December 31, 2006 the Company had
outstanding a $500.0 million unsecured line of credit which terminates on August 19, 2010. The Company had $103.0 million of
outstanding borrowings and $397.0 million of available capacity under this facility as of December 31, 2006. In addition, EDULINX
has a credit facility agreement with a Canadian financial institution for approximately $10.8 million ($12.6 million in Canadian
dollars) that is cancelable by either party upon demand. The Company had no borrowings under the EDULINX facility as of
December 31, 2006.
On January 24, 2007, the Company established a $475 million unsecured commercial paper program. Under the program, the
Company may issue commercial paper for general corporate purposes. The maturities of the notes issued under this program will
vary, but may not exceed 397 days from the date of issue. Notes issued under this program will bear interest at rates that will vary
based on market conditions at the time of issuance.
Secured Financing Transactions
The Company relies upon secured financing vehicles as its most significant source of funding for student loans on a long-term basis.
The net cash flow the Company receives from the securitized student loans generally represents the excess amounts, if any, generated
by the underlying student loans over the amounts required to be paid to the bondholders, after deducting servicing fees and any other
expenses relating to the securitizations. The Company’s rights to cash flow from securitized student loans are subordinate to
bondholder interests and may fail to generate any cash flow beyond what is due to bondholders. The Company’s secured financing
vehicles are loan warehouse facilities and asset-backed securitizations.
Loan warehouse facilities
Student loan warehousing allows the Company to buy and manage student loans prior to transferring them into more permanent
financing arrangements. The Company uses its warehouse facilities to pool student loans in order to maximize loan portfolio
characteristics for efficient financing and to properly time market conditions for movement of the loans. Generally, loans that best fit
long-term financing vehicles are selected to be transferred into long-term securitizations. Because transferring those loans to a longterm securitization includes certain fixed administrative costs, the Company maximizes its economies of scale by executing large
transactions.
In August 2006, the Company established a $5.0 billion loan warehouse program through its wholly-owned subsidiary, Nelnet Student
Asset Funding Extendible CP, LLC (“Nelnet SAFE”), under which Nelnet SAFE may issue one or more short-term extendable
secured liquidity notes (the “Secured Liquidity Notes”). Each Secured Liquidity Note will be issued at a discount or an interestbearing basis having an expected maturity of between 1 and 307 days (each, an “Expected Maturity”) and a final maturity of 90 days
following the Expected Maturity. The Secured Liquidity Notes issued as interest-bearing notes may be issued with fixed interest rates
or with interest rates that fluctuate based upon a one-month LIBOR rate, a three-month LIBOR rate, a commercial paper rate, or a
federal funds rate. The Secured Liquidity Notes are not redeemable by the Company nor subject to voluntary prepayment prior to the
Expected Maturity date. The Secured Liquidity Notes are secured by FFELP loans purchased in connection with the program. As of
December 31, 2006, the Company has $2.3 billion of Secured Liquidity Notes outstanding and $2.7 billion of capacity remaining
under this warehouse program. The Company is offering the Secured Liquidity Notes through Bank of America Securities LLC and
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Credit Suisse. The Company has also entered into other financing arrangements with Bank of America and Credit Suisse, including
an unsecured line of credit.
The Company also utilizes bank supported commercial paper conduit programs for loan warehousing. The Company had a loan
warehousing capacity of $4.2 billion as of December 31, 2006, of which $2.9 billion was outstanding and $1.3 billion was available
for future use, under these programs. The conduit programs terminate in 2008 and 2009; however, they must be renewed annually by
underlying liquidity providers. Historically, the Company has been able to renew its commercial paper conduit programs, including
the underlying liquidity agreements, and therefore the Company does not believe the renewal of these contracts presents a significant
risk to its liquidity.
Management believes the Company’s warehouse facilities allow for expansion of liquidity and capacity for student loan growth and
should provide adequate liquidity to fund the Company’s student loan operations for the foreseeable future.
Asset-backed securitizations
Of the $25.6 billion of debt outstanding as of December 31, 2006, $19.7 billion was issued under asset-backed securitizations. On
February 21, 2006, May 18, 2006, and December 5, 2006, the Company completed asset-backed securities transactions totaling $2.0
billion, $2.1 billion, and $2.2 billion, respectively. These transactions included €773.2 million of notes issued with initial spreads to
the 3-month EURIBOR. Depending on market conditions, the Company anticipates continuing to access the asset-backed securities
market. Securities issued in the securitization transactions are generally priced based upon a spread to LIBOR or set under an auction
procedure. The interest rate on student loans being financed is generally set based upon a spread to commercial paper or U.S.
Treasury bills.
Universal Shelf Offerings
In May 2005, the Company consummated a debt offering under its universal shelf consisting of $275.0 million in aggregate principal
amount of Senior Notes due June 1, 2010 (the “Notes”). The Notes are unsecured obligations of the Company. The interest rate on
the Notes is 5.125%, payable semiannually. At the Company’s option, the Notes are redeemable in whole at any time or in part from
time to time at the redemption price described in the Company’s prospectus supplement.
On September 27, 2006 the Company consummated a debt offering under its universal shelf consisting of $200.0 million aggregate
principal amount of Junior Subordinated Hybrid Securities (“Hybrid Securities”). The Hybrid Securities are unsecured obligations of
the Company. The interest rate on the Hybrid Securities from the date they were issued through September 28, 2011 is 7.40%, payable
semi-annually. Beginning September 29, 2011 through September 29, 2036, the “scheduled maturity date”, the interest rate on the
Hybrid Securities will be equal to three-month LIBOR plus 3.375%, payable quarterly. The principal amount of the Hybrid Securities
will become due on the scheduled maturity date only to the extent that the Company has received proceeds from the sale of certain
qualifying capital securities prior to such date (as defined in the Hybrid Securities’ prospectus). If any amount is not paid on the
scheduled maturity date, it will remain outstanding and bear interest at a floating rate as defined in the prospectus, payable monthly.
On September 15, 2061, the Company must pay any remaining principal and interest on the Hybrid Securities in full whether or not
the Company has sold qualifying capital securities. At the Company’s option, the Hybrid Securities are redeemable in whole at any
time or in part from time to time at the redemption price described in the prospectus supplement.
The proceeds from these unsecured debt offerings were or will be used by the Company to fund general business operations, certain
asset and business acquisitions, and the repurchase of stock under the Company’s stock repurchase plan. As of December 31, 2006,
the Company has $275.0 million remaining under its universal shelf.
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The following table summarizes the Company’s bonds and notes outstanding as of December 31, 2006 (dollars in thousands):

Carrying
amount
Variable-rate bonds and notes (a):
Bond and notes based on indices (b)
Bond and notes based on auction
Total variable-rate bonds and notes
Commerical paper and other
Fixed-rate bonds and notes (a)
Unsecured fixed-rate debt
Unsecured line of credit
Other borrowings
Total

$

$

Percent of
total

16,622,385
2,671,370
19,293,755
5,173,723
403,431
475,000
103,000
113,210
25,562,119

65.0 %
10.5
75.5
20.2
1.6
1.9
0.4
0.4
100.0 %

Interest rate
range on carrying
amount

Final maturity

3.63% - 6.08%
3.63% - 5.45%

02/26/07 - 05/01/42
11/01/09 - 07/01/43

5.26%
5.20%
5.13%
5.69%
5.10%

05/11/07 - 10/17/08
11/01/09 - 05/01/29
06/01/10 - 09/29/36
08/19/10
06/29/07 - 11/01/15

-

5.62%
6.68%
7.40%
8.25%
5.78%

________________________________
(a)
(b)

Issued in securitization transactions.
Includes €773.2 million Euro Notes re-measured to $1.0 billion U.S. dollars as of December 31, 2006.

The Company is committed under noncancelable operating leases for certain office and warehouse space and equipment. The
Company’s contractual obligations as of December 31, 2006 were as follows (dollars in thousands):

Bonds and notes payable
Operating lease obligations
Other
Total

$

$

Total
25,562,119
32,243
27,081
25,621,443

Less than
1 year
5,386,480
9,470
4,950
5,400,900

1 to 3 years
184,790
13,393
11,052
209,235

3 to 5 years
504,993
6,062
11,079
522,134

More than
5 years
19,485,856
3,318
—
19,489,174

The Company’s bonds and notes payable due in less than one year include $5.2 billion under its loan warehouse facilities.
Historically, the Company has been able to renew its commercial paper conduit programs, including the underlying liquidity
agreements, and therefore the Company does not believe the renewal of these contracts presents a significant risk to its liquidity.
The Company has commitments with its branding partners and forward flow lenders which obligate the Company to purchase loans
originated under specific criteria, although the branding partners and forward flow lenders are typically not obligated to provide the
Company with a minimum amount of loans. Branding partners are those entities from whom the Company acquires student loans and
provides marketing and origination services. Forward flow lenders are those entities from whom the Company acquires student loans
and provides origination services. These commitments generally run for periods ranging from one to five years and are generally
renewable. Commitments to purchase loans under these arrangements are not included in the table above.
As a result of the Company’s recent acquisitions, the Company has certain contractual obligations or commitments as follows:
x

LoanSTAR – Commitment to sell student loans to the Texas Foundation on a quarterly basis.

x

SMG/NHR – Contingent payments of $4.0 million to $24.0 million payable in annual installments through April 2008 based
on the operating results of SMG and NHR. As of December 31, 2006, the Company has made payments of $3.0 million
related to this contingency and has accrued an additional $9.9 million which is included in the table above.

x

infiNET – Stock price guarantee of $104.8375 per share on 95,380 shares of Class A Common Stock issued as part of the
original purchase price. The obligation to pay this guaranteed stock price is due February 28, 2011 and is not included in the
table above.

x

FACTS – 238,237 shares of Class A Common Stock issued as part of the original purchase price is subject to a put option
arrangement whereby during the 30-day period beginning February 28, 2010, the holders of such shares can require the
Company to repurchase all or part of the shares at a price of $83.95 per share. The value of this put option as of December
31, 2006 was $10.8 million and is included in “other” in the above table.

x

CUnet – Contingent payments not to exceed $80.0 million due in annual installments through December 2010 based on the
aggregate cumulative net income before taxes of CUnet. In partial satisfaction of the contingent consideration, the Company
will issue shares of Class A Common Stock. These contingency payments are not included in the table above.
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x

5280 – 258,760 shares of Class A Common Stock issued as part of the original purchase price is subject to a put option
arrangement whereby during the 30-day period ending November 30, 2008, the holders may require the Company to
repurchase all or part of the shares at a price of $37.10 per share. The value of this put option as of December 31, 2006 was
$2.2 million and is included in “other” in the above table.

Additional information concerning the Company’s obligations related to the above acquisitions can be found in note 4 in the
accompanying consolidated financial statements included in this Report.
Dividends
The Company did not pay cash dividends on either class of its Common Stock during the two most recent fiscal years. On February 7,
2007, the Company’s Board of Directors approved a cash dividend of $0.07 per share on the Company’s Class A and Class B
Common Stock to be paid on March 15, 2007 to shareholders of record as of March 1, 2007. The Company intends to continue
making a quarterly dividend payment in the future.
Capital Covenant
On September 27, 2006, in connection with the closing of the Hybrid Securities offering, the Company entered into a Replacement
Capital Covenant (the “Covenant”), whereby the Company agreed for the benefit of persons that buy, hold, or sell a specified covered
series of the Company’s long-term indebtedness ranking senior to the Hybrid Securities that the Hybrid Securities will not be repaid,
redeemed or repurchased by the Company on or before September 15, 2051, unless the principal amount repaid or the applicable
redemption or repurchase price does not exceed a maximum amount determined by reference to the aggregate amount of net cash
proceeds the Company has received from the sale of common stock, rights to acquire common stock, “mandatorily convertible
preferred stock”, “debt exchangeable into equity,” and “qualifying capital securities” since the later of (x) the date 180 days prior to
the delivery of notice of such repayment or redemption or the date of such repurchase and (y) to the extent the Hybrid Securities are
outstanding after the scheduled maturity date, the most recent date, if any, on which a notice of repayment or redemption was
delivered in respect of, or on which the Company repurchased, any Hybrid Securities.
As of the date of this Report, the 5.125% Senior Notes due 2010 is the only series of long-term indebtedness for borrowed money that
is covered debt with respect to the Covenant.
CRITICAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
This Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations discusses the Company’s consolidated
financial statements, which have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States. The
preparation of these financial statements requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of
assets and liabilities and the reported amounts of income and expenses during the reporting periods. The Company bases its estimates
and judgments on historical experience and on various other factors that the Company believes are reasonable under the
circumstances. Actual results may differ from these estimates under varying assumptions or conditions. Note 2 of the consolidated
financial statements, which are included in this Report, includes a summary of the significant accounting policies and methods used in
the preparation of the consolidated financial statements.
On an on-going basis, management evaluates its estimates and judgments, particularly as they relate to accounting policies that
management believes are most “critical” — that is, they are most important to the portrayal of the Company’s financial condition and
results of operations and they require management’s most difficult, subjective, or complex judgments, often as a result of the need to
make estimates about the effect of matters that are inherently uncertain. Management has identified the following critical accounting
policies that are discussed in more detail below: allowance for loan losses, student loan income, and purchase price accounting related
to business and certain asset acquisitions.
Allowance for Loan Losses
The allowance for loan losses represents management’s estimate of probable losses on student loans. This evaluation process is
subject to numerous estimates and judgments. The Company evaluates the adequacy of the allowance for loan losses on its federally
insured loan portfolio separately from its non-federally insured loan portfolio.
The allowance for the federally insured loan portfolio is based on periodic evaluations of the Company’s loan portfolios considering
past experience, trends in student loan claims rejected for payment by guarantors, changes to federal student loan programs, current
economic conditions, and other relevant factors. Should any of these factors change, the estimates made by management would also
change, which in turn would impact the level of the Company’s future provision for loan losses.
On February 8, 2006, HERA was enacted into law. HERA effectively reauthorized the Title IV provisions of the FFEL Program
through 2012. One of the provisions of HERA resulted in lower guarantee rates on FFELP loans, including a decrease in insurance
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and reinsurance on portfolios receiving the benefit of Exceptional Performance designation by 1%, from 100% to 99% of principal
and accrued interest (effective July 1, 2006) and a decrease in insurance and reinsurance on portfolios not subject to the Exceptional
Performance designation by 1%, from 98% to 97% of principal and accrued interest (effective for all loans first disbursed on and after
July 1, 2006). As a result, during the year ended December 31, 2006, the Company applied the new provisions to its evaluation of the
adequacy of the allowance for loan losses on its federally insured loan portfolio.
In determining the adequacy of the allowance for loan losses on the non-federally insured loans, the Company considers several
factors including: loans in repayment versus those in a nonpaying status, months in repayment, delinquency status, type of program,
and trends in defaults in the portfolio based on Company and industry data. Should any of these factors change, the estimates made by
management would also change, which in turn would impact the level of the Company’s future provision for loan losses. The
Company places a non-federally insured loan on nonaccrual status and charges off the loan when the collection of principal and
interest is 120 days past due.
The allowance for federally insured and non-federally insured loans is maintained at a level management believes is adequate to
provide for estimated probable credit losses inherent in the loan portfolio. This evaluation is inherently subjective because it requires
estimates that may be susceptible to significant changes.
Student Loan Income
The Company recognizes student loan income as earned, net of amortization of loan premiums and deferred origination costs. Loan
income is recognized based upon the expected yield of the loan after giving effect to borrower utilization of incentives such as
principal reductions for timely payments (“borrower benefits”) and other yield adjustments. The estimate of the borrower benefits
discount is dependent on the estimate of the number of borrowers who will eventually qualify for these benefits. For competitive
purposes, the Company frequently changes the borrower benefit programs in both amount and qualification factors. These
programmatic changes must be reflected in the estimate of the borrower benefit discount. Loan premiums, deferred origination costs,
and borrower benefits are included in the carrying value of the student loan on the consolidated balance sheet and are amortized over
the estimated life of the loan in accordance with SFAS No. 91, Accounting for Non-Refundable Fees and Costs Associated with
Originating or Acquiring Loans and Initial Direct Costs of Leases. The most sensitive estimate for loan premiums, deferred
origination costs, and borrower benefits is the estimate of the constant repayment rate (“CPR”). CPR is a variable in the life of loan
estimate that measures the rate at which loans in a portfolio pay before their stated maturity. The CPR is directly correlated to the
average life of the portfolio. CPR equals the percentage of loans that prepay annually as a percentage of the beginning of period
balance. A number of factors can affect the CPR estimate such as the rate of consolidation activity and default rates. Should any of
these factors change, the estimates made by management would also change, which in turn would impact the amount of loan premium
and deferred origination cost amortization recognized by the Company in a particular period.
Purchase Price Accounting Related to Business and Certain Asset Acquisitions
The Company has completed several business and asset acquisitions which have generated significant amounts of goodwill and
intangible assets and related amortization. The values assigned to goodwill and intangibles, as well as their related useful lives, are
subject to judgment and estimation by the Company. Goodwill and intangibles related to acquisitions are determined and based on
purchase price allocations. Valuation of intangible assets is generally based on the estimated cash flows related to those assets, while
the initial value assigned to goodwill is the residual of the purchase price over the fair value of all identifiable assets acquired and
liabilities assumed. Thereafter, the value of goodwill cannot be greater than the excess of fair value of the Company’s reportable unit
over the fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities, based on an annual impairment test. Useful lives are determined based on
the expected future period of the benefit of the asset, the assessment of which considers various characteristics of the asset, including
historical cash flows. Due to the number of estimates involved related to the allocation of purchase price and determining the
appropriate useful lives of intangible assets, management has identified purchase price accounting as a critical accounting policy.
RECENT ACCOUNTING PRONOUNCEMENTS
In February 2006, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) issued SFAS No. 155, Accounting for Certain Hybrid
Financial Instruments (“SFAS No. 155”). SFAS No. 155 amends SFAS No. 133 and SFAS No. 140 and allows financial instruments
that have embedded derivatives that otherwise would require bifurcation from the host to be accounted for as a whole, if the holder
irrevocably elects to account for the whole instrument on a fair value basis. Subsequent changes in the fair value of the instrument
would be recognized in earnings. The standard also:
x

Clarifies which interest-only strips and principal-only strips are not subject to the requirements of SFAS No. 133;

x

Establishes a requirement to evaluate interests in securitized financial assets to determine whether interests are freestanding
derivatives or are hybrid financial instruments that contain an embedded derivative requiring bifurcation;

x

Clarifies that concentrations of credit risk in the form of subordination are not embedded derivatives; and
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x

Amends SFAS No. 140 to eliminate the prohibition on a qualifying special-purpose entity from holding a derivative financial
instrument that pertains to a beneficial interest (that is itself a derivative instrument).

SFAS No. 155 is effective for all financial instruments acquired or issued after the beginning of an entity’s fiscal year that begins after
September 15, 2006. Earlier adoption is permitted as of the beginning of an entity’s fiscal year, provided that the entity has not yet
issued financial statements, including financial statements for any interim period for that fiscal year. As of the filing of this Report,
management believes that SFAS No. 155 will not have a material effect on the financial position and results of operations of the
Company.
In March 2006, the FASB issued SFAS No. 156, Accounting for Servicing of Financial Assets, which amends SFAS No. 140,
Accounting for Transfers and Servicing of Financial Assets and Extinguishments of Liabilities. This statement will be effective for the
first fiscal year beginning after September 15, 2006. This statement:
x

Requires an entity to recognize a servicing asset or liability each time it undertakes an obligation to service a financial asset
as the result of i) a transfer of the servicer’s financial assets that meet the requirement for sale accounting; ii) a transfer of the
servicer’s financial assets to a qualifying special-purpose entity in a guaranteed mortgage securitization in which the
transferor retains all of the resulting securities and classifies them as either available-for-sale or trading securities in
accordance with SFAS No. 115, Accounting for Certain Investments in Debt and Equity Securities (“SFAS No. 115”); or iii)
an acquisition or assumption of an obligation to service a financial asset that does not relate to financial assets of the servicer
or its consolidated affiliates.

x

Requires all separately recognized servicing assets or liabilities to be initially measured at fair value, if practicable.

x

Permits an entity to either i) amortize servicing assets or liabilities in proportion to and over the period of estimated net
servicing income or loss and assess servicing assets or liabilities for impairment or increased obligation based on fair value at
each reporting date (amortization method); or ii) measure servicing assets or liabilities at fair value at each reporting date and
report changes in fair value in earnings in the period in which the changes occur (fair value measurement method). The
method must be chosen for each separately recognized class of servicing asset or liability.

x

At its initial adoption, permits a one-time reclassification of available-for-sale securities to trading securities by entities with
recognized servicing rights, without calling into question the treatment of other available-for-sale securities under SFAS No.
115, provided that the available-for-sale securities are identified in some manner as offsetting the entity’s exposure to
changes in fair value of servicing assets or liabilities that a servicer elects to subsequently measure at fair value.

x

Requires separate presentation of servicing assets and liabilities subsequently measured at fair value in the statement of
financial position and additional disclosures for all separately recognized servicing asset and liabilities.

As of the filing of this Report, management believes that SFAS No. 156 will not have a material effect on the financial position and
results of operations of the Company.
In July 2006, the FASB released FASB Interpretation No. 48, Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes, an interpretation of FASB
Statement No. 109 (“FIN 48”). FIN 48 clarifies the accounting and reporting for income taxes where interpretation of the tax law may
be uncertain. FIN 48 prescribes a comprehensive model for the financial statement recognition, measurement, presentation and
disclosure of income tax uncertainties with respect to positions taken or expected to be taken in income tax returns. The Company
will adopt FIN 48 on January 1, 2007. As of the filing of this Report, management believes that FIN 48 will not have a material effect
on the financial position and results of operations of the Company.
In September 2006, the FASB issued SFAS No. 157, Fair Value Measurements (“SFAS No. 157”). This Statement defines fair value,
establishes a framework for measuring fair value in generally accepted accounting principles, and expands disclosures about
fair value measurements. The provisions of SFAS No. 157 are effective as of the beginning of the first fiscal year that begins after
November 15, 2007. As of the filing of this Report, management believes that SFAS No. 157 will not have a material effect on the
financial position and results of operations of the Company.
In February 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. 159, The Fair Value Option for Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities – Including
an amendment of FASB Statement No. 115 (“SFAS. No. 159”), which permits entities to choose to measure many financial
instruments at fair value. The Statement allows entities to achieve an offset accounting effect for certain changes in fair value of
related assets and liabilities without having to apply complex hedge accounting provisions, and is expected to expand the use of fair
value measurement consistent with the Board’s long-term objectives for financial instruments. This Statement is effective as of the
beginning of an entity’s first fiscal year that begins after November 15, 2007. Early adoption is permitted. Retrospective application
to fiscal years preceding the effective date (or early adoption date) is prohibited. Management is currently evaluating SFAS No. 159
to assess its impact on the Company’s financial statements.
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ITEM 7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK
Interest Rate Risk
The Company’s primary market risk exposure arises from fluctuations in its borrowing and lending rates, the spread between which
could impact the Company due to shifts in market interest rates. Because the Company generates a significant portion of its earnings
from its student loan spread, the interest sensitivity of the balance sheet is a key profitability driver.
The Company’s portfolio of FFELP loans originated prior to April 1, 2006 earns interest at the higher of a variable rate based on the
special allowance payment (SAP) formula set by the Department and the borrower rate. The SAP formula is based on an applicable
index plus a fixed spread that is dependent upon when the loan was originated, the loan’s repayment status, and funding sources for
the loan. As a result of one of the provisions of HERA, the Company’s portfolio of FFELP loans originated on or after April 1, 2006
earns interest at a variable rate based on the SAP formula. For the portfolio of loans originated on or after April 1, 2006, when the
borrower rate exceeds the variable rate based on the SAP formula, the Company must return the excess to the Department.
The following table sets forth the Company’s loan assets and debt instruments by rate characteristics (dollars in thousands):

Fixed-rate loan assets
Variable-rate loan assets
Total
Fixed-rate debt instruments
Variable-rate debt instruments
Total

As of December 31, 2006
Dollars
Percent
$
787,378
3.4 %
22,627,090
96.6
$ 23,414,468
100.0 %

As of December 31, 2005
Dollars
Percent
$
4,908,865
24.7 %
15,004,090
75.3
$ 19,912,955
100.0 %

$

$

$

878,431
24,683,688
25,562,119

3.4 %
96.6
100.0 %

$

794,086
20,879,534
21,673,620

3.7 %
96.3
100.0 %

The following table shows the Company’s student loan assets currently earning at a fixed rate as of December 31, 2006 (dollars in
thousands):

Fixed interest
rate range

Borrower/
lender
weighted
average yield

Estimated
variable
conversion
rate (a)

8.0 - 9.0%
> 9.0%

8.23%
9.05

5.59%
6.41

Current
balance of
fixed rate assets
$

377,489
409,889

$

787,378

___________________
(a) The estimated variable conversion rate is the estimated short-term interest rate at which loans would convert to variable rate.

Historically, the Company has followed a policy of funding the majority of its student loan portfolio with variable-rate debt. In a low
interest rate environment, the FFELP loan portfolio yields excess income primarily due to the reduction in interest rates on the
variable-rate liabilities that fund student loans at a fixed borrower rate and also due to consolidation loans earning interest at a fixed
rate to the borrower. This excess income is referred to as “floor income.” Therefore, absent utilizing derivative instruments, in a low
interest rate environment, a rise in interest rates will have an adverse effect on earnings. For the year ended December 31, 2006, loan
interest income includes approximately $30 million of floor income. In higher interest rate environments, where the interest rate rises
above the borrower rate and the fixed-rate loans become variable rate and are effectively matched with variable-rate debt, the impact
of rate fluctuations is substantially reduced.
The Company attempts to match the interest rate characteristics of pools of loan assets with debt instruments of substantially similar
characteristics, particularly in rising interest rate environments. Due to the variability in duration of the Company’s assets and varying
market conditions, the Company does not attempt to perfectly match the interest rate characteristics of the entire loan portfolio with
the underlying debt instruments. The Company has adopted a policy of periodically reviewing the mismatch related to the interest rate
characteristics of its assets and liabilities and the Company’s outlook as to current and future market conditions. Based on those
factors, the Company will periodically use derivative instruments as part of its overall risk management strategy to manage risk arising
from its fixed-rate and variable-rate financial instruments. Derivative instruments used as part of the Company’s interest rate risk
management strategy include interest rate swaps, basis swaps, interest rate floor contracts, and cross-currency interest rate swaps.
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Interest Rate Swaps - Loan Portfolio
The following table summarizes the outstanding interest rate derivative instruments as of December 31, 2006 used by the Company to
hedge the fixed-rate student loan portfolio (dollars in thousands):

Weighted average
fixed rate paid by
the Company

Notional
values

Maturity
2006 (a)
2008
2009

$

250,000
462,500
312,500

Total

$ 1,025,000

3.16 %
3.76
4.01
3.69

(a) Expired on December 31, 2006

In addition to the interest rate swaps with notional values of $1.0 billion summarized above, as of December 31, 2006, the Company
had $403.4 million of fixed-rate debt (excluding the Company’s fixed-rate unsecured debt of $475 million) that was used by the
Company to hedge fixed-rate student loan assets. The weighted average interest rate paid by the Company on the $403.4 million of
debt as of December 31, 2006 was 6.0%.
Interest Rate Swaps- Other
As discussed under Item 7, “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operation”, the Company
entered into a Settlement Agreement with the Department to resolve the audit by the OIG of the Company’s portfolio of student loans
receiving the 9.5% special allowance payments. Under the terms of the Agreement, all 9.5% special allowance payments will no
longer be received by the Company.
In consideration of not receiving the 9.5% special allowance payments on a prospective basis, the Company entered into a series of
off-setting interest rate swaps that mirror the $2.45 billion in pre-existing interest rate swaps that the Company had utilized to hedge
its loan portfolio receiving 9.5% special allowance payments against increases in interest rates. The net effect of the new offsetting
derivatives is to lock in a series of future income streams on underlying trades through their respective maturity dates. A summary of
these derivatives is as follows (dollars in thousands):

Notional
Amount

Maturity
2007
2010
2012
2013

Weighted
average fixed
rate paid by
the Company

Notional
Amount

Weighted
average fixed
rate received by
the Company

$

512,500
1,137,500
275,000
525,000

3.42 %
4.25
4.31
4.36

$

512,500
1,137,500
275,000
525,000

5.25 % (a)
4.75
4.76
4.80

$

2,450,000

4.11 %

$

2,450,000

4.87 %

(a) The effective date of the 2007 derivatives in which the Company will receive a fixed rate is January 2, 2007.
Basis Swaps
On May 1, 2006, the Company entered into three ten-year basis swaps with notional values of $500.0 million each in which the
Company receives three-month LIBOR and pays one-month LIBOR less a spread as defined in the agreements. The effective dates of
these agreements were November 25, 2006, December 25, 2006, and January 25, 2007.
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Interest Rate Floor Contracts
In June 2006, the Company entered into interest rate floor contracts in which the Company received an upfront fee of $8.6 million.
These contracts were structured to monetize on an upfront basis the potential floor income associated with certain consolidation loans.
On January 30, 2007, the Company paid $8.1 million to terminate these contracts and recognized a gain of $2.1 million.
Cross-currency interest rate swaps
See “Foreign Currency Exchange Risk”.
Financial Statement Impact of Derivative Instruments
The Company accounts for its derivative instruments in accordance with SFAS No. 133. SFAS No. 133 requires that changes in the
fair value of derivative instruments be recognized currently in earnings unless specific hedge accounting criteria as specified by SFAS
No. 133 are met. Management has structured all of the Company’s derivative transactions with the intent that each is economically
effective. However, the Company’s derivative instruments do not qualify for hedge accounting under SFAS No. 133; consequently,
the change in fair value of these derivative instruments is included in the Company’s operating results. Changes or shifts in the
forward yield curve and fluctuations in currency rates can significantly impact the valuation of the Company’s derivatives.
Accordingly, changes or shifts to the forward yield curve and fluctuations in currency rates will impact the financial position and
results of operations of the Company. The change in fair value of the Company’s derivatives are included in “derivative market value,
foreign currency, and put option adjustments and derivative settlements, net” in the Company’s consolidated statements of income
was a loss of $22.3 million, income of $95.9 million, and a loss of $11.9 million for the years ended December 31, 2006, 2005, and
2004, respectively.
The following summarizes the derivative settlements included in “derivative market value, foreign currency, and put option
adjustments and derivative settlements, net” on the consolidated statements of income:
Year ended December 31,
2005
(dollars in thousands)
12,993
(1,129)
7,044
—
19,794
(15,879)
(14,406)
—
(1,993)
—

2006
Interest rate and basis swap derivatives- loan portfolio
Interest rate swap derivatives- other (a)
Special allowance yield adjustment derivatives (a)
Cross-currency interest rate swaps
Other (b)

$

Derivative settlements, net

$

23,432

(17,008)

2004
(2,980)
—
(31,160)
—
—
(34,140)

(a) Derivative settlements for interest rate swaps “other” include settlements on the portfolio of derivatives that the Company had used
to hedge 9.5% special allowance payments and the portfolio of off-setting interest rate swaps the Company entered into during the
fourth quarter 2006. The new derivatives mirror the 9.5% special allowance payment derivatives. Settlements on the 9.5% special
allowance derivatives were classified as special allowance yield adjustment derivatives through September 30, 2006.
(b) During 2006, the Company issued junior subordinated hybrid securities and entered into a derivative instrument to economically
lock into a fixed interest rate prior to the actual pricing of the transaction. Upon pricing of these notes, the Company terminated this
derivative instrument. The consideration paid by the Company to terminate this derivative was $2.0 million.

Sensitivity Analysis
The following tables summarize the effect on the Company’s earnings, based upon a sensitivity analysis performed by the Company
assuming a hypothetical increase and decrease in interest rates of 100 basis points and an increase in interest rates of 200 basis points
while funding spreads remain constant. The effect on earnings was performed on the Company’s variable-rate assets and liabilities.
The analysis includes the effects of the Company’s interest rate swaps, basis swaps, and interest rate floor contracts in existence
during these periods. As a result of the Company’s interest rate management activities, the Company expects such a change in pre-tax
net income resulting from a 100 basis point increase or decrease or a 200 basis point increase in interest rates would not result in a
proportional decrease in net income.
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Change from decrease of 100
basis points
Dollar
Percent
Effect on earnings:
Increase in pre-tax net income before
impact of derivative settlements
Impact of derivative settlements
Increase (decrease) in net income before taxes
Increase (decrease) in basic and diluted
earning per share

$
$

9,695
(12,875)
(3,180)

$

(0.04)

9.1 %
(12.1)
(3.0) %

$
$
$

41,974
(37,959)
4,015

14.8 %
(13.4)
1.4 %

0.05

$
$
$

69,617
(60,177)
9,440

24.1 %
12.1
36.2 %

Year ended December 31, 2005
Change from increase of 100
basis points
Dollar
Percent
(dollars in thousands)
(9,310)
37,959
28,649

29.7 %
(25.7)
4.0 %

(3.3) %
13.4
10.1 %

0.11

0.28

56,351
25,750
82,101

52.7 %
24.1
76.8 %

Change from increase of 200
basis points
Dollar
Percent

(10,004)
75,919
65,915

(3.5) %
26.7
23.2 %

0.78

Year ended December 31, 2004
Change from increase of 100
basis points
Dollar
Percent
(dollars in thousands)
(36,312)
60,177
23,865

Change from increase of 200
basis points
Dollar
Percent

0.98

0.34

Change from decrease of 100
basis points
Dollar
Percent
Effect on earnings:
Increase (decrease) in pre-tax net income before
impact of derivative settlements
Impact of derivative settlements
Increase in net income before taxes
Increase in basic and diluted
earning per share

25,841
12,875
38,716
0.46

Change from decrease of 100
basis points
Dollar
Percent
Effect on earnings:
Increase (decrease) in pre-tax net income before
impact of derivative settlements
Impact of derivative settlements
Increase in net income before taxes
Increase in basic and diluted
earning per share

Year ended December 31, 2006
Change from increase of 100
basis points
Dollar
Percent
(dollars in thousands)

(15.5) %
25.7
10.2 %

Change from increase of 200
basis points
Dollar
Percent

(66,882)
120,355
53,473

(28.5) %
51.3
22.8 %

0.63

Foreign Currency Exchange Risk
The Company purchased EDULINX in December 2004. EDULINX is a Canadian corporation that engages in servicing Canadian
student loans. As a result of this acquisition, the Company is exposed to market risk related to fluctuations in foreign currency
exchange rates between the U.S. and Canadian dollars. The Company has not entered into any foreign currency derivative instruments
to hedge this risk. However, the Company does not believe fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates will have a significant
effect on the financial position, results of operations, or cash flows of the Company.
On February 21, 2006, and May 18, 2006, the Company completed separate debt offerings of student loan asset-backed securities that
included 420.5 million and 352.7 million Euro-denominated notes with interest rates based on a spread to the EURIBOR index. As a
result of this transaction, the Company is exposed to market risk related to fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates between the
U.S. and Euro dollars. The principal and accrued interest on these notes is re-measured at each reporting period and recorded on the
Company’s balance sheet in U.S. dollars based on the foreign currency exchange rate on that date. Changes in the principal and
accrued interest amounts as a result of foreign currency exchange rate fluctuations are included in the “derivative market value,
foreign currency, and put option adjustments and derivative settlements, net” in the Company’s consolidated statements of income.
The Company entered into cross-currency interest rate swaps in connection with the issuance of the Euro Notes. Under the terms of
these derivative instrument agreements, the Company receives from a counterparty a spread to the EURIBOR index based on notional
amounts of €420.5 million and €352.7 million and pays a spread to the LIBOR index based on notional amounts of $500.0 million and
$450.0 million, respectively. In addition, under the terms of these agreements, all principal payments on the Euro Notes will
effectively be paid at the exchange rate in effect as of the issuance of the notes. The Company did not qualify these derivative
instruments as hedges under SFAS No. 133; consequently, the change in fair value is included in the Company’s operating results.
For the year ended December 31, 2006, the Company recorded expense of $70.4 million as a result of re-measurement of the Euro
Notes and income of $66.2 million for the change in the fair value of the related derivative instrument. Both of these amounts are
included in “derivative market value, foreign currency, and put option adjustments and derivative settlements, net” on the Company’s
consolidated statement of income.
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ITEM 8. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA
Reference is made to the consolidated financial statements listed under the heading “(a) 1. Consolidated Financial Statements” of Item
15 of this Report, which consolidated financial statements are incorporated into this Report by reference in response to this Item 8.
ITEM 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL
DISCLOSURE
None.
ITEM 9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES
Disclosure Controls and Procedures
Under supervision and with the participation of certain members of the Company’s management, including the co-chief executive
officers and the chief financial officer, the Company completed an evaluation of the effectiveness of the design and operation of its
disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) to the Securities Act). Based on this evaluation, the
Company’s co-chief executive officers and the chief financial officer believe that the disclosure controls and procedures were
effective as of the end of the period covered by this Report with respect to timely communication to them and other members of
management responsible for preparing periodic reports and material information required to be disclosed in this Report as it relates to
the Company and its consolidated subsidiaries.
The effectiveness of the Company’s or any system of disclosure controls and procedures is subject to certain limitations, including the
exercise of judgment in designing, implementing, and evaluating the controls and procedures, the assumptions used in identifying the
likelihood of future events, and the inability to eliminate misconduct completely. As a result, there can be no assurance that the
Company’s disclosure controls and procedures will prevent all errors or fraud or ensure that all material information will be made
known to appropriate management in a timely fashion. By their nature, the Company’s or any system of disclosure controls and
procedures can provide only reasonable assurance regarding management’s control objectives.
Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting
There was no change in the Company’s internal control over financial reporting during the Company’s last quarter that has materially
affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the Company’s internal control over financial reporting.
Management’s Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting
Management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting for the Company. The
Company’s internal control system was designed to provide reasonable assurance to the Company’s management and board of
directors regarding the preparation and fair presentation of published financial statements.
Management has assessed the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2006, based
on the criteria for effective internal control described in Internal Control—Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of
Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission. Based on its assessment, management concluded that the Company’s
internal control over financial reporting was effective as of December 31, 2006.
During the year ended December 31, 2006, the Company acquired CUnet, LLC, Peterson’s Nelnet, LLC, and the remaining 50% of
the stock of infiNET Integrated Solutions, Inc. Total assets of these entities represented 0.46 percent of consolidated total assets as of
December 31, 2006. Total net interest income and other income of these entities represented 6.57 percent of consolidated net interest
income and other income for the year ended December 31, 2006. The Company has excluded these entities from its assessment of
internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2006, and management’s conclusion about the effectiveness of the
Company’s internal control over financial reporting does not extend to the internal controls of these entities. These acquisitions are
described in Note 4, “Business and Certain Asset Acquisitions” to the consolidated financial statements included in this Annual
Report on Form 10-K.
Management has engaged KPMG LLP (“KPMG”), the independent registered public accounting firm that audited the consolidated
financial statements included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K, to attest to and report on management’s evaluation of the
Company’s internal control over financial reporting. KPMG’s report is included herein.
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
The Board of Directors and Shareholders
Nelnet, Inc.:
We have audited management’s assessment, included in the accompanying Management’s Report on Internal Control over Financial
Reporting, that Nelnet, Inc. maintained effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2006, based on criteria
established in Internal Control—Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway
Commission (COSO). Nelnet, Inc.’s management is responsible for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting and
for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on
management’s assessment and an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting based on our
audit.
We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those
standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether effective internal control over
financial reporting was maintained in all material respects. Our audit included obtaining an understanding of internal control over
financial reporting, evaluating management’s assessment, testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal
control, and performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audit provides a
reasonable basis for our opinion.
A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of
financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting
principles. A company’s internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the
maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the
company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only in
accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding
prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company’s assets that could have a material effect
on the financial statements.
Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections
of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in
conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.
In our opinion, management’s assessment that Nelnet, Inc. maintained effective internal control over financial reporting as of
December 31, 2006, is fairly stated, in all material respects, based on criteria established in Internal Control—Integrated Framework
issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO). Also, in our opinion, Nelnet, Inc.
maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2006, based on criteria
established in Internal Control—Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway
Commission (COSO).
Nelnet, Inc. acquired CUnet, LLC, Peterson’s Nelnet, LLC, and the remaining 50% interest of infiNET Integrated Solutions, Inc.,
during 2006, and management excluded from its assessment of the effectiveness of Nelnet, Inc.’s internal control over financial
reporting as of December 31, 2006, CUnet, LLC, Peterson’s Nelnet, LLC, and the remaining 50% interest of infiNET Integrated
Solutions, Inc., internal control over financial reporting associated with total assets of 0.46 percent and total net interest income and
other income of 6.57 percent included in the consolidated financial statements of Nelnet, Inc. and subsidiaries as of and for the year
ended December 31, 2006. Our audit of internal control over financial reporting of Nelnet, Inc. also excluded an evaluation of the
internal control over financial reporting of CUnet, LLC, Peterson’s, Nelnet, LLC, and the remaining 50% interest of infiNET
Integrated Solutions, Inc.
We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States), the
consolidated balance sheets of Nelnet, Inc. and subsidiaries as of December 31, 2006 and 2005, and the related consolidated
statements of income, shareholders’ equity and comprehensive income, and cash flows for each of the years in the three-year period
ended December 31, 2006, and our report dated March 1, 2007 expressed an unqualified opinion on those consolidated financial
statements.
/s/ KPMG LLP
Lincoln, Nebraska
March 1, 2007
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ITEM 9B. OTHER INFORMATION
During the fourth quarter of 2006, no information was required to be disclosed in a report on Form 8-K, but not reported.

PART III.
ITEM 10. DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS, AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
The information as to the directors, executive officers, and corporate governance of the Company set forth under the captions
“PROPOSAL 1—ELECTION OF DIRECTORS—Nominees,” “EXECUTIVE OFFICERS,” and “CORPORATE GOVERNANCE”
in the Proxy Statement to be filed on Schedule 14A with the SEC, no later than 120 days after the end of the Company’s fiscal year
with the SEC, relating to the Company’s Annual Meeting of Shareholders scheduled to be held on May 24, 2007 (the “Proxy
Statement”) is incorporated into this Report by reference.
ITEM 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION
The information set forth under the caption “EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION” in the Proxy Statement is incorporated into this
Report by reference.
ITEM 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND RELATED
SHAREHOLDER MATTERS
The information set forth under the caption “SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS, AND
PRINCIPAL SHAREHOLDERS—Stock Ownership” in the Proxy Statement is incorporated into this Report by reference. There are
no arrangements known to the Company, the operation of which may at a subsequent date result in a change in the control of the
Company.
The following table summarizes, as of December 31, 2006, information about compensation plans under which equity securities are
authorized for issuance.
Equity Compensation Plan Information
Number of shares to be
issued upon exercise of
outstanding options,
warrants, and rights
(a)

Weighted-average exercise
price of outstanding options,
warrants, and rights
(b)

Number of shares remaining
available for future issuance
under equity compensation
plans (excluding securities
reflected in column (a))
(c)

Equity compensation plans
approved by shareholders

0

$0

2,722,366

Equity compensation plans
not approved by shareholders

0

$0

0

Total

0

$0

2,722,366(1)

Plan category

(1)

Includes 887,154, 50,443, 888,094, and 896,675 shares of Class A Common Stock remaining available for future issuance under the Nelnet, Inc.
Restricted Stock Plan, Nelnet, Inc. Directors Stock Compensation Plan, Nelnet, Inc. Employee Share Purchase Plan, and Nelnet, Inc. Employee Stock
Purchase Loan Plan.

ITEM 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS AND DIRECTOR INDEPENDENCE
The information set forth under the captions “CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS” and “DIRECTOR
INDEPENDENCE” in the Proxy Statement is incorporated into this Report by reference.
ITEM 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING FEES AND SERVICES
The information set forth under the caption “PROPOSAL 2—APPOINTMENT OF INDEPENDENT AUDITOR—Independent
Accounting Fees and Services” in the Proxy Statement is incorporated into this Report by reference.
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PART IV.
ITEM 15. EXHIBITS AND FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES
(a) 1. Consolidated Financial Statements
The following consolidated financial statements of Nelnet, Inc. and its subsidiaries and the Report of Independent Registered
Public Accounting Firm thereon are included in Item 8 above:
Page
Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
F-2
Consolidated Balance Sheets as of December 31, 2006 and 2005
F-3
Consolidated Statements of Income for the years ended December 31, 2006, 2005, and 2004
F-4
Consolidated Statements of Shareholders’ Equity and Comprehensive Income for the years ended
December 31, 2006, 2005, and 2004
F-5
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the years ended December 31, 2006, 2005, and 2004
F-6
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
F-7
2. Financial Statement Schedules
All schedules are omitted because they are not applicable or the required information is shown in the consolidated financial
statements or notes thereto.
3. Exhibits
The exhibits listed in the accompanying index to exhibits are filed or incorporated by reference as part of this Report.
4. Appendix
Appendix A – Description of the Federal Family Education Loan Program
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(b) Exhibits
EXHIBIT INDEX
Exhibit
No.
2.1
2.2
2.3
3.1
3.2
3.3
3.4
4.1
4.2
4.3

4.4
4.5
4.6
4.7

4.8

4.9
4.10
4.11
4.12

Description
Agreement for Purchase of LLC Membership Interest among David A. Hoeft, Todd J. Wolfe, Tina D. Mercer,
Premiere Credit of North America, LLC and Nelnet, Inc., dated as of January 28, 2004. Incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 2.17 to the registrant’s annual report for the year ended 2003, filed on Form 10-K.
Stock and Asset Purchase Agreement dated as of October 3, 2005 among Nelnet, Inc., NNI Acquisition
Servicing Limited Partnership, Greater Texas Foundation, and LoanSTAR Systems, Inc., filed as Exhibit 2.1 to
Nelnet, Inc.’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on October 3, 2005 and incorporated herein by reference.
Asset Purchase Agreement dated as of September 27, 2005, among Nelnet, Inc., Chela Education Financing, Inc.
and The Education Financing Foundation of California, filed as Exhibit 2.2 to Nelnet, Inc.’s Current Report on
Form 8-K filed on October 26, 2005 and incorporated herein by reference.
Second Amended and Restated Articles of Incorporation of Nelnet, Inc. Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1
to the registrant’s Form S-1 Registration Statement.
Second Amended and Restated Bylaws of Nelnet, Inc. Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.2 to the
registrant’s Form S-1 Registration Statement.
Third Amended and Restated Bylaws of Nelnet, Inc. Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to the registrant’s
current report on Form 8-K filed on November 18, 2004.
Second Amended and Restated Articles of Incorporation of Nelnet, Inc., as amended, filed as Exhibit 3.1 to the
registrant’s Quarterly Report for the period ended September 30, 2006, filed on Form 10-Q and incorporated by
reference herein.
Form of Class A Common Stock Certificate of Nelnet, Inc. Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to the
registrant’s Form S-1 Registration Statement.
Indenture of Trust by and between NELNET Student Loan Corporation-2 and Zions First National Bank, as
Trustee, dated as of June 1, 2000. Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.2 to the registrant’s Form S-1
Registration Statement.
Series 2000 Supplemental Indenture of Trust by and between NELNET Student Loan Corporation-2 and Zions
First National Bank, as Trustee, authorizing the issuance of $1,000,000,000 NELNET Student Loan
Corporation-2 Taxable Student Loan Asset-Backed Notes Series 2000, dated as of June 1, 2000. Incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 4.3 to the registrant’s Form S-1 Registration Statement.
Indenture of Trust by and between Nelnet Student Loan Trust 2002-1 and Zions First National Bank, as Trustee,
dated as of May 1, 2002. Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.4 to the registrant’s Form S-1 Registration
Statement.
Indenture of Trust by and between Nelnet Student Loan Trust 2002-2 and Zions First National Bank, as Trustee,
dated as of September 1, 2002. Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.5 to the registrant’s Form S-1 Registration
Statement.
Indenture of Trust between Nelnet Student Loan Trust 2003-1 and Zions First National Bank, as Trustee, dated
as of January 1, 2003. Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.6 to the registrant’s Form S-1 Registration
Statement.
Indenture of Trust by and among Nelnet Education Loan Funding, Inc., Wells Fargo Bank Minnesota, National
Association, as Indenture Trustee, and Wells Fargo Bank Minnesota, National Association, as Eligible Lender
Trustee, dated as of June 1, 2003. Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.7 to the registrant’s Form S-1
Registration Statement.
Series 2003-1 Supplemental Indenture of Trust by and between Nelnet Education Loan Funding, Inc. and Wells
Fargo Bank Minnesota, National Association, as Indenture Trustee, authorizing the issuance of $1,030,000,000
Nelnet Education Loan Funding, Inc. Student Loan Asset-Backed Notes Series 2003-1, dated as of June 1, 2003.
Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.8 to the registrant’s Form S-1 Registration Statement.
Option Agreement, dated as of January 24, 2002, by and between NELnet, Inc. (subsequently renamed National
Education Loan Network, Inc.) and Hilario Arguinchona. Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.10 to the
registrant’s Form S-1 Registration Statement.
Registration Rights Agreement, dated as of December 16, 2003, by and among Nelnet, Inc. and the shareholders
of Nelnet, Inc. signatory thereto. Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.11 to the registrant’s Form S-1
Registration Statement.
Indenture of Trust among Nelnet Education Loan Funding, Inc. and Wells Fargo Bank Minnesota, National
Association, as Indenture Trustee and Eligible Lender Trustee, dated as of January 1, 2004. Incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 4.11 to the registrant’s annual report for the year ended 2003, filed on Form 10-K.
Trust Agreement, dated as of April 1, 2001, among NELNET Student Loan Corporation-1, as Depositor,
MELMAC LLC, as Depositor, NELnet, Inc. (subsequently renamed National Education Loan Network, Inc.), as
Administrator, The Chase Manhattan Bank, as Collateral Agent, Note Registrar and Note Paying Agent, and
Wilmington Trust Company, as Trustee, Certificate Registrar and Certificate Paying Agent. Incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.59 to the registrant's Form S-1 Registration Statement.
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4.13

4.14
4.15
4.16
4.17
4.18
4.19
4.20
4.21
4.22
4.23

4.24

4.25
4.26
4.27
10.1

10.2

10.3+
10.4

Trust Agreement, dated as of December 1, 2001, among EMT Corp., as Depositor, NELnet, Inc. (subsequently
renamed National Education Loan Network, Inc.), as Administrator, JPMorgan Chase Bank, as Collateral Agent,
Note Registrar and Note Paying Agent, and Wilmington Trust Company, as Trustee, Certificate Registrar and
Certificate Paying Agent. Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.60 to the registrant's Form S-1 Registration
Statement.
Indenture of Trust among Nelnet Education Loan Funding, Inc. and Wells Fargo Bank, National Association, as
Indenture Trustee and Eligible Lender Trustee, dated as of April 1, 2004. Incorporated by reference to Exhibit
4.14 to the registrant’s quarterly report for the period ended March 31, 2004, filed on Form 10-Q.
Indenture of Trust, dated as of July 1, 2004, between Nelnet Student Loan Trust 2004-3 and Zions First National
Bank, as eligible lender trustee and as indenture trustee. Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.15 to the
registrant’s quarterly report for the period ended June 30, 2004, filed on Form 10-Q.
Indenture of Trust, dated as of September 1, 2004, between Nelnet Student Loan Trust 2004-4 and Zions First
National Bank, as eligible lender trustee and as indenture trustee. Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.16 to
the registrant’s quarterly report for the period ended September 30, 2004, filed on Form 10-Q.
Indenture of Trust, dated as of February 1, 2005, by and between Nelnet Student Loan Trust 2005-1 and Zions
First National Bank, as Trustee and Eligible Lender Trustee. Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.17 to the
registrant’s annual report for the year ended 2004, filed on Form 10-K.
Indenture of Trust, dated as of April 1, 2005, between Nelnet Student Loan Trust 2005-2 and Zions First
National Bank, as trustee and as eligible lender trustee, filed as Exhibit 4.1 to Nelnet Student Loan Trust 20022’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on April 29, 2005 and incorporated herein by reference.
Indenture of Trust, dated as of July 1, 2005, between Nelnet Student Loan Trust 2005-3 and Zions First National
Bank, as trustee and as eligible lender trustee, filed as Exhibit 4.1 to Nelnet Student Loan Trust 2005-3’s Current
Report on Form 8-K filed on August 1, 2005 and incorporated herein by reference.
Indenture of Trust by and between Nelnet Student Loan Trust 2005-4 and Zions First National Bank, dated as of
November 1, 2005, filed as Exhibit 4.1 to Nelnet Student Loan Trust 2005-4’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed
on November 18, 2005 and incorporated herein by reference.
Indenture of Trust by and between Nelnet Student Loan Trust 2006-1 and Zions First National Bank, dated as of
February 1, 2006, filed as Exhibit 4.1 to Nelnet Student Loan Trust 2006-1’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed
on February 24, 2006 and incorporated herein by reference.
Form of Nelnet, Inc. Senior Debt Securities Indenture. Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to the
registrant’s Amendment No. 1 to Form S-3 filed on May 12, 2005.
Indenture dated as of September 27, 2006 between Nelnet, Inc. and Deutsche Bank Trust Company Americas,
filed as Exhibit 4.1 to the registrant's Current Report on Form 8-K filed on September 28, 2006 and incorporated
by reference herein.
Supplemental Indenture dated as of September 27, 2006 between Nelnet, Inc. and Deutsche Bank Trust
Company Americas, filed as Exhibit 4.2 to the registrant's Current Report on Form 8-K filed on September 28,
2006 and incorporated by reference herein.
Form of Junior Subordinated Hybrid Securities, filed as Exhibit 4.3 to the registrant's Current Report on Form 8K filed on September 28, 2006 and incorporated by reference herein.
Indenture of Trust by and between Nelnet Student Loan Trust 2006-3 and Zions First National Bank, dated as of
December 1, 2006, filed as Exhibit 4.1 to Nelnet Student Loan Trust 2006-3’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed
on December 8, 2006 and incorporated by reference herein.
Indenture of Trust by and between Nelnet Student Loan Trust 2006-2 and Zions First National Bank, dated as of
May 1, 2006, filed as Exhibit 4.1 to Nelnet Student Loan Trust 2006-2’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on
May 23, 2006 and incorporated by reference herein.
Agreement to Terminate Stockholders Agreement, dated as of August 4, 2003, by and among Nelnet Loan
Services, Inc. (f/k/a UNIPAC Service Corporation) (subsequently renamed Nelnet, Inc.) and those stockholders
party to the Stockholders Agreement dated as of March 2, 2000. Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the
registrant's Form S-1 Registration Statement.
Warehouse Note Purchase and Security Agreement among Nelnet Education Loan Funding, as Borrower, Wells
Fargo Bank Minnesota, National Association, as Trustee, Wells Fargo Bank Minnesota, National Association, as
Eligible Lender Trustee, Quincy Capital Corporation, as Bank of America Conduit Lender, Bank of America,
N.A., as Bank of America Alternate Lender, Bank of America, N.A., as Bank of America Facility Agent,
Gemini Securitization Corp., as Deutsche Bank Conduit Lender, Deutsche Bank AG, New York Branch, as
Deutsche Bank Alternate Lender, Deutsche Bank AG, New York Branch, as Deutsche Bank Facility Agent,
Barton Capital Corporation, as Societe Generale Conduit Lender, Societe Generale, as Societe Generale
Alternate Lender, Societe Generale, as Societe Generale Facility Agent, and Bank of America, N.A., as
Administrative Agent, dated as of May 1, 2003. Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.16 to the registrant's
Form S-1 Registration Statement.
Employment Contract, dated as of May 1, 2001, by and between NHELP, Inc. and Richard H. Pierce.
Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.26 to the registrant's Form S-1 Registration Statement.
Marketing Expense Reimbursement Agreement, dated as of January 1, 1999, by and between Union Bank and
Trust Company and National Education Loan Network, Inc. Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.27 to the
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registrant's Form S-1 Registration Statement.
First Amendment of Marketing Expense Reimbursement Agreement, dated as of April 1, 2001, by and between
Union Bank and Trust Company and NELnet, Inc. (f/k/a National Education Loan Network, Inc.) (subsequently
renamed National Education Loan Network, Inc.). Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.28 to the registrant's
Form S-1 Registration Statement.
Second Amendment of Marketing Expense Reimbursement Agreement, dated as of December 21, 2001, by and
between Union Bank and Trust Company and NELnet, Inc. (f/k/a National Education Loan Network, Inc.)
(subsequently renamed National Education Loan Network, Inc.). Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.29 to
the registrant's Form S-1 Registration Statement.
Amended and Restated Participation Agreement, dated as of June 1, 2001, by and between NELnet, Inc.
(subsequently renamed National Education Loan Network, Inc.) and Union Bank and Trust Company.
Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.30 to the registrant's Form S-1 Registration Statement.
First Amendment of Amended and Restated Participation Agreement, dated as of December 19, 2001, by and
between Union Bank and Trust Company and NELnet, Inc. (subsequently renamed National Education Loan
Network, Inc.). Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.31 to the registrant's Form S-1 Registration Statement.
Second Amendment of Amended and Restated Participation Agreement, dated as of December 1, 2002, by and
between Union Bank and Trust Company and Nelnet, Inc. (f/k/a NELnet, Inc.) (subsequently renamed National
Education Loan Network, Inc.). Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.32 to the registrant's Form S-1
Registration Statement.
Alternative Loan Participation Agreement, dated as of June 29, 2001, by and between NELnet, Inc.
(subsequently renamed National Education Loan Network, Inc.) and Union Bank and Trust Company.
Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.33 to the registrant's Form S-1 Registration Statement.
Amended and Restated Agreement, dated as of January 1, 1999, by and between Union Bank and Trust
Company and National Education Loan Network, Inc. Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.34 to the
registrant's Form S-1 Registration Statement.
Guaranteed Purchase Agreement, dated as of March 19, 2001, by and between NELnet, Inc. (subsequently
renamed National Education Loan Network, Inc.) and Union Bank and Trust Company. Incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.36 to the registrant's Form S-1 Registration Statement.
First Amendment of Guaranteed Purchase Agreement, dated as of February 1, 2002, by and between NELnet,
Inc. (subsequently renamed National Education Loan Network, Inc.) and Union Bank and Trust Company.
Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.37 to the registrant's Form S-1 Registration Statement.
Second Amendment of Guaranteed Purchase Agreement, dated as of December 1, 2002, by and between Nelnet,
Inc. (f/k/a/ NELnet, Inc.) (subsequently renamed National Education Loan Network, Inc.) and Union Bank and
Trust Company. Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.38 to the registrant's Form S-1 Registration Statement.
Agreement For Use of Revolving Purchase Facility, dated as of January 1, 1999, by and between Union Bank
and Trust Company and National Education Loan Network, Inc. Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.78 to
the registrant's Form S-1 Registration Statement.
Nelnet, Inc. Executive Officers’ Bonus Plan. Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.79 to the registrant's Form
S-1 Registration Statement.
Share Retention Policy. Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.83 to the registrant's Form S-1 Registration
Statement.
Nelnet, Inc. Restricted Stock Plan. Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.12 to the registrant’s Form S-1
Registration Statement.
Nelnet, Inc. Directors Stock Compensation Plan. Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.13 to the registrant’s
Form S-1 Registration Statement.
Nelnet, Inc. Employee Share Purchase Plan. Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.14 to the registrant’s Form
S-1 Registration Statement.
Guaranty Agreement, by and among Charter Account Systems, Inc., ClassCredit, Inc., EFS, Inc., EFS Services,
Inc., GuaranTec LLP, Idaho Financial Associates, Inc., InTuition, Inc., National Higher Educational Loan
Program, Inc., Nelnet Canada, Inc., Nelnet Corporation (subsequently renamed Nelnet Corporate Services, Inc.),
Nelnet Guarantee Services, Inc., Nelnet Marketing Solutions, Inc., Student Partner Services, Inc., UFS
Securities, LLC and Shockley Financial Corp., dated as of September 25, 2003. Incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.86 to the registrant's Form S-1 Registration Statement.
Letter Agreement by and between Nelnet Education Loan Funding, Inc. and Bank of America, N.A., dated as of
June 25, 2003, relating to the increase of the Warehouse Note Purchase and Security Agreement dated as of May
1, 2003. Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.90 to the registrant's Form S-1 Registration Statement.
Letter Agreement by and between Nelnet Education Loan Funding, Inc. and Deutsche Bank AG, New York
Branch, dated as of June 25, 2003, relating to the increase of the Warehouse Note Purchase and Security
Agreement dated as of May 1, 2003. Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.91 to the registrant's Form S-1
Registration Statement.
Letter Agreement by and between Nelnet Education Loan Funding, Inc. and Societe Generale, dated as of June
25, 2003, relating to the increase of the Warehouse Note Purchase and Security Agreement dated as of May 1,
2003. Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.92 to the registrant's Form S-1 Registration Statement.
Amendment to Application and Agreement for Standby Letter of Credit, Loan Purchase Agreements, and
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Standby Student Loan Purchase Agreements, dated effective October 21, 2003, by and among National
Education Loan Network, Inc., Nelnet, Inc., Nelnet Education Loan Funding, Inc., Union Bank and
Trust Company, and Bank of America, N.A. Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.94 to the registrant's Form
S-1 Registration Statement.
Letter Agreement between Nelnet Education Loan Funding, Inc. and Deutsche Bank AG, dated as of February
20, 2004. Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.56 to the registrant’s annual report for the year ended 2003,
filed on Form 10-K.
Letter Agreement between Nelnet Education Loan Funding, Inc. and Bank of America, N.A., dated as of
February 20, 2004. Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.57 to the registrant’s annual report for the year
ended 2003, filed on Form 10-K.
Letter Agreement between Nelnet Education Loan Funding, Inc. and Societe Generale, dated as of February 20,
2004. Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.58 to the registrant’s annual report for the year ended 2003, filed
on Form 10-K.
Operating Agreement for Premiere Credit of North America, LLC among Nelnet, Inc., Todd J. Wolfe, David A.
Hoeft, and Tina D. Mercer, dated as of January 28, 2004. Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.60 to the
registrant’s annual report for the year ended 2003, filed on Form 10-K.
Third Amendment to Amended and Restated Participation Agreement between National Education Loan
Network, Inc. and Union Bank and Trust Company, dated as of February 5, 2004. Incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.61 to the registrant’s annual report for the year ended 2003, filed on Form 10-K.
February 2004 Amendment to Application and Agreement for Standby Letter of Credit, Loan Purchase
Agreements and Standby Student Loan Purchase Agreements, dated as of February 20, 2004, among National
Education Loan Network, Inc., Nelnet, Inc., Nelnet Education Loan Funding, Inc., Union Bank and Trust
Company, and Bank of America, N.A. Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.62 to the registrant’s annual
report for the year ended 2003, filed on Form 10-K.
Amendment to Application and Agreement for Standby Letter of Credit, Loan Purchase Agreements, and
Standby Student Loan Purchase Agreements, dated effective November 20, 2003, by and among National
Education Loan Network, Inc., Nelnet, Inc., Nelnet Education Loan Funding, Inc., Union Bank and Trust
Company, and Bank of America, N.A. Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.63 to the registrant’s annual
report for the year ended 2003, filed on Form 10-K.
Amendment to Application and Agreement for Standby Letter of Credit, Loan Purchase Agreements, and
Standby Student Loan Purchase Agreements, dated effective December 19, 2003, by and among National
Education Loan Network, Inc., Nelnet, Inc., Nelnet Education Loan Funding, Inc., Union Bank and Trust
Company, and Bank of America, N.A. Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.64 to the registrant’s annual
report for the year ended 2003, filed on Form 10-K.
April 2004 Amendment to Application and Agreement for Standby Letter of Credit, Loan Purchase Agreements,
and Standby Purchase Agreements, dated effective April 15, 2004, among Bank of America, N.A., Nelnet
Education Loan Funding, Inc., National Education Loan Network, Inc, Nelnet, Inc., and Union Bank and Trust
Company. Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.67 to the registrant’s quarterly report for the period ended
March 31, 2004, filed on Form 10-Q.
Loan Sale and Commitment Agreement among Union Bank and Trust Company and Student Loan Acquisition
Authority of Arizona, dated as of April 1, 2002, relating to student loan sale terms. Incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.68 to the registrant’s quarterly report for the period ended March 31, 2004, filed on Form 10-Q.
Letter Agreement among National Education Loan Network, Inc., Student Loan Acquisition Authority of
Arizona, LLC, and Union Bank and Trust Company, dated as of April 19, 2004, relating to student loan sale
terms. Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.69 to the registrant’s quarterly report for the period ended March
31, 2004, filed on Form 10-Q.
Agreement to Extend Termination Date for the Warehouse Note Purchase and Security Agreement, dated as of
May 1, 2004, among Nelnet Education Loan Funding, Inc., Bank of America, N.A., Deutsche Bank AG, New
York Branch, and Societe Generale. Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.71 to the registrant’s quarterly
report for the period ended March 31, 2004, filed on Form 10-Q.
Stock Purchase Agreement, dated as of April 5, 2004, between National Education Loan Network, Inc. and
infiNET Integrated Solutions, Inc. Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.72 to the registrant’s quarterly report
for the period ended March 31, 2004, filed on Form 10-Q.
Line of Credit Agreement dated as of June 15, 2004, between National Education Loan Network, Inc. and
Premiere Credit of North America, LLC. Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.76 to the registrant’s quarterly
report for the period ended June 30, 2004, filed on Form 10-Q.
Promissory Note dated as of June 15, 2004, and executed by Premiere Credit of North America, LLC, in favor of
National Education Loan Network, Inc. Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.77 to the registrant’s quarterly
report for the period ended June 30, 2004, filed on Form 10-Q.
Security Agreement dated as of June 15, 2004, between National Education Loan Network, Inc. and Premiere
Credit of North America, LLC. Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.78 to the registrant’s quarterly report for
the period ended June 30, 2004, filed on Form 10-Q.
Real Estate Mortgage dated as of June 15, 2004, and executed by Premiere Credit of North America, LLC, in
favor of National Education Loan Network, Inc. Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.79 to the registrant’s
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quarterly report for the period ended June 30, 2004, filed on Form 10-Q.
Amendment of Agreements dated as of February 4, 2005, by and between National Education Loan Network,
Inc. and Union Bank and Trust Company. Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the registrant’s current
report on Form 8-K filed on February 10, 2005.
Aircraft Management Agreement, dated as of September 30, 2004, by and among Nelnet Corporate Services,
Inc., Duncan Aviation, Inc., and Union Financial Services, Inc. Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.67 to
the registrant’s annual report for the year ended 2004, filed on Form 10-K.
Aircraft Joint Ownership Agreement, dated as of September 30, 2004, by and between Nelnet Corporate
Services, Inc. and Union Financial Services, Inc. Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.68 to the registrant’s
annual report for the year ended 2004, filed on Form 10-K.
Aircraft Sales Agreement, dated as of October 1, 2004, by and among Nelnet Corporate Services, Inc., Union
Financial Services, Inc., and Mobek Investments, LLC. Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.69 to the
registrant’s annual report for the year ended 2004, filed on Form 10-K.
Amended Nelnet, Inc. Executive Officers’ Bonus Plan. Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the
registrant’s quarterly report for the period ended March 31, 2005, filed on Form 10-Q.
Amended Nelnet, Inc. Employee Share Purchase Plan. Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the
registrant’s quarterly report for the period ended March 31, 2005, filed on Form 10-Q.
Summary of Named Executive Officer Compensation for 2005. Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to the
registrant’s quarterly report for the period ended March 31, 2005, filed on Form 10-Q.
Summary of Non-Employee Director Compensation for 2005. Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 to the
registrant’s quarterly report for the period ended March 31, 2005, filed on Form 10-Q.
Amendment of Agreements dated as of February 4, 2005, by and between Union Bank and Trust Company and
National Education Loan Network, Inc., filed as Exhibit 10.1 to the registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K
filed on February 10, 2005 and incorporated herein by reference.
Amended Nelnet, Inc. Employee Share Purchase Plan. Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the
registrant’s quarterly report for the period ended September 30, 2005, filed on Form 10-Q.
Credit Agreement dated August 19, 2005, among Nelnet, Inc., JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A. individually and as
Administrative Agent, Citibank, N.A. individually and as Syndication Agent and various lender parties thereto,
filed as Exhibit 99.1 to Nelnet, Inc.’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on August 25, 2005 and incorporated
herein by reference.
Summary of Named Executive Officer Compensation for 2006. Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.78 to the
registrants annual report for the year ended December 31, 2005, filed on Form 10-K.
Summary of Non-Employee Director Compensation for 2006. Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.79 to the
registrants annual report for the year ended December 31, 2005, filed on Form 10-K.
Amended Nelnet, Inc. Directors Stock Compensation Plan. Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.80 to the
registrants annual report for the year ended December 31, 2005, filed on Form 10-K.
Amended Nelnet, Inc. Restricted Stock Plan. Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the registrant’s
quarterly report for the period ended June 30, 2006, filed on Form 10Q.
Agreement of Purchase and Sale dated as of May 25, 2006 between Mad Dog Guest Ranch LLC and Nelnet,
Inc., filed as Exhibit 10.1 to Nelnet, Inc.’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on June 1, 2006 and incorporated
herein by reference.
Replacement Capital Covenant of Nelnet, Inc. dated September 27, 2006, filed as Exhibit 10.1 to the registrant's
Current Report on Form 8-K filed on September 28, 2006 and incorporated by reference herein.
Amendment to Agreement of Purchase and Sale dated as of September 25, 2006 between Mad Dog Guest Ranch
LLC and Nelnet, Inc. filed as Exhibit 10.2 to the registrant's Current Report on Form 8-K filed on October 16,
2006 and incorporated by reference herein.
Office Building Lease dated June 21, 1996 between Miller & Paine and Union Bank and Trust Company, filed
as Exhibit 10.3 to the registrant's Current Report on Form 8-K filed on October 16, 2006 and incorporated by
reference herein.
Amendment to Office Building Lease dated June 11, 1997 between Miller & Paine and Union Bank and Trust
Company, filed as Exhibit 10.4 to the registrant's Current Report on Form 8-K filed on October 16, 2006 and
incorporated by reference herein.
Lease Amendment Number Two dated February 8, 2001 between Miller & Paine and Union Bank and Trust
Company, filed as Exhibit 10.5 to the registrant's Current Report on Form 8-K filed on October 16, 2006 and
incorporated by reference herein.
Lease Amendment Number Three dated May 23, 2005 between Miller & Paine, LLC and Union Bank and Trust
Company, filed as Exhibit 10.6 to the registrant's Current Report on Form 8-K filed on October 16, 2006 and
incorporated by reference herein.
Lease Agreement dated May 20, 2005 between Miller & Paine, LLC and Union Bank and Trust Company, filed
as Exhibit 10.7 to the registrant's Current Report on Form 8-K filed on October 16, 2006 and incorporated by
reference herein.
Office Sublease dated April 30, 2001 between Union Bank and Trust Company and Nelnet, Inc., filed as Exhibit
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10.8 to the registrant's Current Report on Form 8-K filed on October 16, 2006 and incorporated by reference
herein.
Executive Officers Bonus Plan as amended, filed as Exhibit 10.1 to the registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K
filed on November 20, 2006 and incorporated herein by reference.
Settlement Agreement dated January 19, 2007 between Nelnet, Inc. and the United States Department of
Education, filed as Exhibit 10.1 to the registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on January 19, 2007 and
incorporated herein by reference.
Commercial Paper Dealer Agreement between Nelnet, Inc. and Banc of America Securities LLC. dated as of
December 29, 2006, filed as Exhibit 10.2 to the registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on January 30,
2007 and incorporated herein by reference.
Commercial Paper Issuing and Paying Agent Agreement between Nelnet, Inc. and Deutsche Bank Trust
Company Americas dated as of December 29, 2006, filed as Exhibit 10.3 to the registrant’s Current Report on
Form 8-K filed on January 30, 2007 and incorporated herein by reference.
Commercial Paper Dealer Agreement between Nelnet, Inc. and SunTrust Capital Markets, Inc. dated as of
December 29, 2006, filed as Exhibit 10.1 to the registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on January 30,
2007 and incorporated herein by reference.
Nelnet, Inc. Amended Share Retention Policy.
Computation of Ratio of Earnings to Fixed Charges.
Nelnet, Inc. Code of Ethics. Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 14.1 to the registrant’s annual report for the
year ended 2004, filed on Form 10-K.
Nelnet Education Loan Funding, Inc. Code of Ethics. Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 14.2 to the
registrant’s annual report for the year ended 2004, filed on Form 10-K.
Subsidiaries of Nelnet, Inc.
Consent of KPMG LLP, Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm.
Certification Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 of Co-Chief Executive Officer Michael
S. Dunlap.
Certification Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 of Co-Chief Executive Officer Stephen
F. Butterfield.
Certification Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 of Chief Financial Officer Terry J.
Heimes.
Certification Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as Adopted Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act
of 2002.
Response of Nelnet, Inc. to Final Audit Report, Special Allowance Payments to Nelnet for Loans Funded by
Tax-Exempt Obligations.

__________
* Filed herewith
** Furnished herewith
+ Indicates a compensatory plan or arrangement contemplated by Item 15(a)(3) of Form 10-K

81

SIGNATURES
Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Registrant has duly caused this report
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Dated: March 1, 2007
NELNET, INC.
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

The Board of Directors and Shareholders
Nelnet, Inc.:
We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Nelnet, Inc. and subsidiaries as of December 31,
2006 and 2005, and the related consolidated statements of income, shareholders’ equity and comprehensive income,
and cash flows for each of the years in the three-year period ended December 31, 2006. These consolidated financial
statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these
consolidated financial statements based on our audits.
We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board
(United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis,
evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the
accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial
statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.
In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the
financial position of Nelnet, Inc. and subsidiaries as of December 31, 2006 and 2005, and the results of their
operations and their cash flows for each of the years in the three-year period ended December 31, 2006, in conformity
with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles.
We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United
States), the effectiveness of Nelnet, Inc.’s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2006, based on
criteria established in Internal Control—Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring
Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO), and our report dated March 1, 2007 expressed an unqualified
opinion on management’s assessment of, and the effective operation of, internal control over financial reporting.
/s/ KPMG LLP
Lincoln, Nebraska
March 1, 2007
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NELNET, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
Consolidated Balance Sheets
December 31, 2006 and 2005

2006
2005
(Dollars in thousands, except share data)
Assets:
Student loans receivable (net of allowance for loan losses of $26,003 in 2006 and $13,390 in 2005) $
Cash and cash equivalents:
Cash and cash equivalents – not held at a related party
Cash and cash equivalents – held at a related party

23,789,552

20,260,807

38,705
67,381

49,863
53,787

106,086
1,388,719
129,132
153,557
503,365
64,859
191,420
162,994
67,924
93,166
146,099

103,650
1,228,570
160,479
153,098
394,630
36,331
99,535
153,117
36,750
88,889
82,837

$

26,796,873

22,798,693

$

25,562,119
120,211
261,163
153,557
27,973

21,673,620
94,281
227,505
153,098
71

26,125,023

22,148,575

—

626

—

—

390

400

135
182,846
496,341
(5,168)
(2,825)
131

140
220,432
428,186
(86)
—
420

671,850

649,492

26,796,873

22,798,693

Total cash and cash equivalents
Restricted cash
Restricted investments
Restricted cash – due to customers
Accrued interest receivable
Accounts receivable, net
Goodwill
Intangible assets, net
Property and equipment, net
Other assets
Fair value of derivative instruments
Total assets

Liabilities:
Bonds and notes payable
Accrued interest payable
Other liabilities
Due to customers
Fair value of derivative instruments
Total liabilities
Minority interest
Shareholders’ equity:
Preferred stock, $0.01 par value. Authorized 50,000,000 shares; no shares issued or outstanding
Common stock:
Class A, $0.01 par value. Authorized 600,000,000 shares; issued and outstanding
39,035,169 shares in 2006 and 40,040,841 shares in 2005
Class B, convertible, $0.01 par value. Authorized 60,000,000 shares; issued and outstanding
13,505,812 shares in 2006 and 13,962,954 shares in 2005
Additional paid-in capital
Retained earnings
Unearned compensation
Employee notes receivable
Accumulated other comprehensive income, net of taxes
Total shareholders’ equity
Commitments and contingencies
Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity

$

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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NELNET, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
Consolidated Statements of Income
Years ended December 31, 2006, 2005, and 2004

2006
2005
2004
(Dollars in thousands, except share data)
Interest income:
Loan interest
Investment interest

$

1,455,715
94,151

904,949
44,259

635,014
17,762

1,549,866

949,208

652,776

1,241,174

620,111

254,610

Net interest income
Less provision (recovery) for loan losses

308,692
15,308

329,097
7,030

398,166
(529)

Net interest income after provision (recovery) for loan losses
Other income:
Loan and guaranty servicing income
Other fee-based income
Software services income
Other income
Derivative market value, foreign currency, and put option adjustments
and derivative settlements, net

293,384

322,067

398,695

190,563
102,318
15,890
23,360

152,493
35,641
9,169
7,659

100,130
7,027
8,051
9,321

(7,643)

79,219

(46,058)

324,488

284,181

78,471

246,116

172,732

133,667

41,300
39,917
32,442
31,090
25,824
23,554
11,802
58,958

23,950
15,218
23,903
—
18,824
18,730
9,714
39,232

19,399
9,677
15,067
—
12,817
13,235
10,291
28,598

Total other operating expenses

264,887

149,571

109,084

Total operating expenses

511,003

322,303

242,751

106,869
38,472

283,945
102,220

234,415
85,236

68,397
(242)

181,725
(603)

149,179
—

Total interest income
Interest expense:
Interest on bonds and notes payable

Total other income
Operating expenses:
Salaries and benefits
Other operating expenses:
Depreciation and amortization
Advertising and marketing
Professional and other services
Impairment expense
Occupancy and communications
Postage and distribution
Trustee and other debt related fees
Other

Income before income taxes and minority interest
Income tax expense
Income before minority interest
Minority interest in subsidiary income
Net income

$

68,155

181,122

149,179

Earnings per share, basic and diluted

$

1.27

3.37

2.78

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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—

—
—
—
—
—

Total comprehensive income
Issuance of common stock, net of forfeitures
Compensation expense for stock based awards
Conversion of common stock

Balance as of December 31, 2004

—

Balance as of December 31, 2005

—

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.

—

—

Balance as of December 31, 2006

39,035,169

—
477,386
—
(1,940,200)
457,142

—
—
—
—
—

—
—

—
—

40,040,841

Total comprehensive income
Adjustment to initially apply FASB Statement
No. 158, net of tax
Issuance of common stock, net of forfeitures
Compensation expense for stock based awards
Repurchase of common stock
Conversion of common stock
Loans to employees for purchases of
common stock

Comprehensive income:
Net income
Other comprehensive income related to
foreign currency translation

—
—
—

Total comprehensive income
Issuance of common stock, net of forfeitures
Compensation expense for stock based awards
Conversion of common stock
333,304
—
20,500

—
—
—

—
—
—

Comprehensive income:
Net income
Other comprehensive income:
Cash flow hedge, net of tax
Foreign currency translation

39,687,037

45,203
—
40,000

—

39,601,834

—

—

13,505,812

—

—
—
—
—
(457,142)

—

—

13,962,954

—
—
(20,500)

—
—

—

13,983,454

—
—
(40,000)

—

—

14,023,454

Common stock shares
Class A
Class B

Comprehensive income:
Net income
Other comprehensive income related to
cash flow hedge, net of tax

Balance as of December 31, 2003

Preferred
stock
shares

NELNET, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

$

$

—

—

—
—
—
—
—

—

—

—

—
—
—

—
—

—

—

—
—
—

—

—

—

Preferred
stock

390

—

—
4
—
(19)
5

—

—

400

3
—
—

—
—

—

397

1
—
—

—

—

396

Class A
common
stock

F-5

135

—

—
—
—
—
(5)

—

—

140

—
—
—

—
—

—

140

—
—
—

—

—

140

182,846

—

—
24,784
—
(62,370)
—

—

—

220,432

12,517
—
—

—
—

—

207,915

1,084
—
—

—

—

206,831

496,341

—

—
—
—
—
—

—

68,155

428,186

—
—
—

—
—

181,122

247,064

—
—
—

—

149,179

97,885

Class B
Additional
common
paid-in
Retained
stock
capital
earnings
(Dollars in thousands, except share data)

Years ended December 31, 2006, 2005, and 2004

Consolidated Statements of Shareholders’ Equity and Comprehensive Income

(5,168)

—

—
(7,267)
2,185
—
—

—

—

(86)

(72)
63
—

—
—

—

(77)

(101)
24
—

—

—

—

Unearned
compensation

(2,825)

(2,825)

—
—
—
—
—

—

—

—

—
—
—

—
—

—

—

—
—
—

—

—

—

Employee
notes
receivable

131

—

(191)
—
—
—
—

(98)

—

420

—
—
—

(736)
420

—

736

—
—
—

499

—

237

Accumulated
other
comprehensive
income

671,850

(2,825)

(191)
17,521
2,185
(62,389)
—

68,057

(98)

68,155

649,492

180,806
12,448
63
—

(736)
420

181,122

456,175

149,678
984
24
—

499

149,179

305,489

Total
shareholders’
equity

NELNET, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
Years ended December 31, 2006, 2005, and 2004

2006
Net income
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating activities
net of business acquisitions:
Depreciation and amortization, including amortization of loan premiums and deferred
origination costs
Derivative market value adjustment
Foreign currency transaction adjustment
Change in value of put options issued in business acquisition
Proceeds from sale of floor contracts
Gain on sale of student loans
Non-cash compensation expense
Income from equity method investments
Gain on sale of fixed asset
Deferred income tax expense (benefit)
Impairment expense
Provision (recovery) for loan losses
Other non-cash items
Increase in accrued interest receivable
Decrease (increase) in accounts receivable
Decrease (increase) in other assets
Increase in accrued interest payable
Increase (decrease) in other liabilities

$

2005
(Dollars in thousands)

2004

68,155

181,122

149,179

169,066
(43,941)
70,374
4,640
8,580
(15,886)
2,495
(536)
—
(6,380)
31,090
15,308
480
(108,735)
(16,858)
9,176
25,930
2,284

109,077
(95,854)
—
(373)
—
—
1,810
(1,637)
—
46,507
—
7,030
631
(126,202)
(3,336)
(3,532)
42,724
1,141

96,725
11,918
—
—
—
—
696
(958)
(3,037)
11,781
—
(529)
89
(50,392)
1,332
20,127
28,488
(24,337)

215,242

159,108

241,082

(6,276,416)
(588,564)
2,446,126
782,124
—
(51,945)
(160,149)
(765,817)
797,164
—
149
—
—
(100,531)

(6,716,276)
(1,102,699)
1,857,260
—
—
(19,195)
(383,308)
(878,089)
999,439
—
625
(9,280)
(41,282)
(225,991)

(3,485,907)
(671,396)
1,223,184
—
3,573
(16,456)
61
(954,489)
853,348
(10,110)
970
(7,899)
—
(17,876)

Net cash used in investing activities

(3,917,859)

(6,518,796)

(3,082,997)

Cash flows from financing activities:
Payments on bonds and notes payable
Proceeds from issuance of bonds and notes payable
Proceeds from issuance of notes payable due to a related party, net
Payments of debt issuance costs
Proceeds from issuance of common stock
Loans to employees for purchases of common stock
Repurchases of common stock

(5,071,626)
8,751,908
108,089
(19,907)
1,645
(2,825)
(62,389)

(460,885)
6,905,000
—
(22,002)
961
—
—

(3,536,093)
6,234,813
—
(15,375)
312
—
—

3,704,895

6,423,074

2,683,657

158

275

(176)

2,436

63,661

(158,434)

Net cash provided by operating activities
Cash flows from investing activities, net of business acquisitions:
Originations, purchases, and consolidations of student loans, including loan premiums
and deferred origination costs
Purchases of student loans, including loan premiums, from a related party
Net proceeds from student loan repayments, claims, capitalized interest, and othe
Proceeds from sale of student loans
Proceeds from sale of fixed asset
Purchases of property and equipment, net
Decrease (increase) in restricted cash
Purchases of restricted investments
Proceeds from maturities of restricted investments
Purchase of equity method investments
Distributions from equity method investments
Purchase of loan origination rights
Consideration paid to expand customer relationships
Business acquisitions, net of cash acquired

Net cash provided by financing activities
Effect of exchange rate fluctuations on cash
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year

103,650

39,989

198,423

Cash and cash equivalents, end of year

$

106,086

103,650

39,989

Supplemental disclosures of cash flow information:
Interest paid

$

1,160,482

558,893

216,275

$

51,834

57,469

60,117

$

5,134

—

—

Income taxes paid, net of refunds
Supplemental disclosures of noncash financing activities:
Note payable assumed in connection with purchase of property

Supplemental disclosures of noncash operating, investing, and financing activities regarding business acquisitions and the Company's cash flow hedge
are contained in notes 4 and 8, respectively

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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NELNET, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
1.

Description of Business

Nelnet, Inc. and its subsidiaries (“Nelnet” or the “Company”) is an education planning and financing company focused on providing
quality products and services to students, families, and schools nationwide. The Company ranks among the nation’s leaders in terms
of total student loan assets originated, consolidated, held, and serviced, principally consisting of loans originated under the Federal
Family Education Loan Program (“FFELP” or “FFEL Program”). The Company offers a broad range of pre-college, in-college, and
post-college products and services to students, families, schools, and financial institutions. These products and services help students
and families plan and pay for their educations and students plan their careers. The Company’s products and services are designed to
simplify the education planning and financing process and are focused on providing value to students, families, and schools
throughout the education life cycle. In recent years, the Company’s acquisitions have enhanced its position as a vertically-integrated
industry leader. Management believes these acquisitions allow the Company to expand products and services delivered to customers
and further diversify revenue and asset generation streams.
The Company is a vertically integrated education finance organization that has five operating segments as defined in Statement of
Financial Accounting Standards (“SFAS”) No. 131, Disclosures about Segments of an Enterprise and Related Information (“SFAS
No. 131”), as follows: Asset Generation and Management, Student Loan and Guaranty Servicing, Tuition Payment Processing and
Campus Commerce, Enrollment Services and List Management, and Software and Technical Services. See note 17 for additional
information on the Company’s segment reporting.
x

Asset Generation and Management. The Asset Generation and Management segment includes the acquisition, management, and
ownership of the Company’s student loan assets. The Company’s asset management business is its largest product and service
offering and drives the majority of its earnings. The Company owns a large portfolio of student loan assets through a series of
education lending subsidiaries. The Company obtains loans through direct origination or through acquisition of loans. The
education lending subsidiaries primarily invest in student loans, through an eligible lender trustee, made under Title IV of the
Higher Education Act of 1965, as amended (the “Higher Education Act”). Certain subsidiaries also invest in non-federally
insured student loans.
Student loans beneficially owned by the education lending subsidiaries include those originated under the FFEL Program,
including the Stafford Loan Program, the Parent Loan for Undergraduate Students (“PLUS”) program, the Supplemental Loans
for Students (“SLS”) program, and loans that consolidate certain borrower obligations (“Consolidation”). Title to the student
loans is held by eligible lender trustees under the Higher Education Act for the benefit of the education lending subsidiaries. The
financed eligible loan borrowers are geographically located throughout the United States. The bonds and notes outstanding are
payable primarily from interest and principal payments on the student loans, as specified in the resolutions authorizing the sale of
the bonds and notes.

x

Student Loan and Guaranty Servicing. The Company services its student loan portfolio and the portfolios of third parties. The
Company also provides servicing and support outsourcing for guaranty agencies. Servicing activities include application
processing, underwriting, disbursement of funds, customer service, account maintenance, federal reporting and billing
collections, payment processing, default aversion, claim filing, and recovery/collection services. These activities are performed
internally for the Company’s portfolio in addition to generating fee revenue when performed for third-party clients. In December
2004, the Company purchased EDULINX Canada Corporation (“EDULINX”). EDULINX is a Canadian corporation that
services student loans in Canada. The following table summarizes the Company’s loan servicing volumes as of December 31,
2006:
Company

Third party

Total

(dollars in millions)
FFELP and private loans

$

Canadian loans (in U.S. $)
Total

x

$

21,869

8,725

—

9,043

30,594
9,043

21,869

17,768

39,637

Tuition Payment Processing and Campus Commerce. The Company’s Tuition Payment Processing and Campus Commerce
segment provides products and services to help institutions and education seeking families manage the payment of education
costs during the pre-college and college stages of the education life cycle. The Company provides actively managed tuition
payment solutions, online payment processing, detailed information reporting, and data integration services to K-12 and postsecondary educational institutions, families, and students. In addition, the Company provides financial needs analysis for
students applying for aid in private and parochial K-12 schools. This segment also provides customer-focused electronic
transactions, information sharing, and account and bill presentment to educational institutions.
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x

Enrollment Services and List Management. The Company’s Enrollment Services and List Management segment provides
products and services to help institutions and education seeking families during primarily the pre-college phase of the education
life cycle. The Company provides a wide range of direct marketing products and services to help schools and businesses reach
the middle school, high school, college bound high school, college, and young adult market places. This segment also offers
enrollment products and services that are focused on helping i) education seeking families plan for and prepare for college and ii)
colleges recruit and retain students.

x

Software and Technical Services. The Company uses internally developed student loan servicing software and also provides this
software to third-party student loan holders and servicers. The Company also provides information technology products and
services, with core areas of business in student loan software solutions for schools, lenders, and guarantors; technical consulting
services; and enterprise content management.

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies and Practices
Consolidation
The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company and its subsidiaries. All significant intercompany balances
and transactions have been eliminated in consolidation. Certain amounts previously reported have been reclassified to conform to the
current year presentation.
The Company’s education lending subsidiaries under the Asset Generation and Management operating segment are engaged in the
securitization of education finance assets. These education lending subsidiaries hold beneficial interests in eligible loans, subject to
creditors with specific interests. The liabilities of the Company’s education lending subsidiaries are not the obligations of Nelnet, Inc.
or any of its other subsidiaries and cannot be consolidated in the event of bankruptcy. The transfers of student loans to the eligible
lender trusts do not qualify as sales under the provisions of SFAS No. 140, Accounting for Transfers and Servicing of Financial
Assets and Extinguishments of Liabilities, as the trusts continue to be under the effective control of the Company. Accordingly, all the
financial activities and related assets and liabilities, including debt, of the securitizations are reflected in the Company’s consolidated
financial statements.
The entities accounted for under the equity method and the Company’s ownership percentages are summarized below:
As of December 31,
2006
Premiere Credit of North America, LLC

50

2005
%

50

2004
%

50

infiNET Integrated Solutions, Inc.

-

50

50

5280 Solutions, Inc.

-

-

50

FirstMark Services, LLC

-

-

50

%

As of December 31, 2006 and 2005, other assets in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets include $5.7 million and
$10.3 million, respectively, of investment in the entities accounted for under the equity method. Included in these balances is
$2.3 million and $5.6 million of excess cost that is not being amortized as of December 31, 2006 and 2005, respectively. The
Company would recognize a loss on this excess cost if there was a loss in value of any equity method investment that is other than a
temporary decline. For the years ended December 31, 2006, 2005, and 2004, income from the equity method investments of $0.5
million, $1.6 million, and $1.0 million, respectively, is included in other income in the accompanying consolidated statements of
income.
On November 8, 2005, the Company purchased the remaining 50% interest in 5280 Solutions, Inc. and FirstMark Services, LLC. On
February 17, 2006, the Company purchased the remaining 50% interest in infiNET Integrated Solutions, Inc. These acquisitions were
accounted for under purchase accounting and the results of operations have been included in the consolidated financial statements
from the effective date of these acquisitions. See note 4 for additional information on these acquisitions.
Use of Estimates
The preparation of the consolidated financial statements in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles requires
management to make a number of estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities, reported
amounts of revenues and expenses, and other disclosures. Actual results could differ from those estimates.
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Student Loans Receivable
Investments in student loans, including unamortized premiums and deferred origination costs, are recorded at amortized cost, net of
the allowance for loan losses. Student loans consist of federally insured student loans, non-federally insured student loans, and student
loan participations. If the Company has the ability and intent to hold loans for the foreseeable future, such loans are held for
investment and, therefore, carried at amortized cost. Any loans held for sale are carried at the lower of cost or fair value. As of
December 31, 2006, 2005, and 2004, no loans were held for sale.
Allowance for Loan Losses
The allowance for loan losses represents management’s estimate of probable losses on student loans. This evaluation process is
subject to numerous estimates and judgments. The Company evaluates the adequacy of the allowance for loan losses on its federally
insured loan portfolio separately from its non-federally insured loan portfolio.
The allowance for the federally insured loan portfolio is based on periodic evaluations of the Company’s loan portfolios considering
past experience, trends in student loan claims rejected for payment by guarantors, changes to federal student loan programs, current
economic conditions, and other relevant factors. The federal government currently guarantees 97% of the principal of and the interest
on federally insured student loans disbursed on and after July 1, 2006 (and 98% for those loans disbursed prior to July 1, 2006),
which limits the Company’s loss exposure on the outstanding balance of the Company’s federally insured portfolio. Also, in
accordance with the Student Loan Reform Act of 1993, student loans disbursed prior to October 1, 1993 are fully insured.
In September 2005, the Company was re-designated as an Exceptional Performer by the U.S. Department of Education (the
“Department”) in recognition of its exceptional level of performance in servicing FFELP loans. As a result of this designation, the
Company received 100% reimbursement on all eligible FFELP default claims submitted for reimbursement during a 12-month period
(June 1, 2005 through May 31, 2006). The Company was not subject to the 2% risk sharing on eligible claims submitted during this
12-month period. The Company first earned its Exceptional Performer designation effective June 1, 2004. In 2004, the Company’s
allowance and the provision for loan losses were each reduced by $9.4 million to account for the estimated effects of the Exceptional
Performance designations.
Pursuant to the terms of the Higher Education Act, the FFEL Program is periodically amended, and the Higher Education Act is
generally reauthorized by Congress every five to six years in order to prevent sunset of that Act. Historically, the United States
Congress makes changes to the provisions of the Higher Education Act during the reauthorization process. On February 8, 2006, the
Higher Education Reconciliation Act (“HERA”) of 2005 was enacted into law. HERA effectively reauthorized the Title IV
provisions of the FFEL Program through 2012. One of the provisions of HERA was to lower the guaranty rates on FFELP loans,
including a decrease in insurance and reinsurance on portfolios receiving the benefit of Exceptional Performance designation by 1%,
from 100% to 99% of principal and accrued interest (effective July 1, 2006), and a decrease in insurance and reinsurance on portfolios
not subject to the Exceptional Performance designation by 1%, from 98% to 97% of principal and accrued interest (effective for all
loans first disbursed on and after July 1, 2006). In February 2006, as a result of the change in these legislative provisions, the
Company recorded an expense of $6.9 million to increase the Company’s allowance for loan losses.
Only FFELP loans that are serviced by the Company, as well as loans owned by the Company and serviced by other service providers
designated as Exceptional Performers by the Department, are eligible for the 99% reimbursement. The Company is entitled to receive
this benefit as long as it and/or its service providers continue to meet the required servicing standards published by the Department.
Compliance with such standards is assessed on a quarterly basis. In addition, service providers must apply for redesignation as an
Exceptional Performer with the Department on an annual basis.
In June 2006, the Company submitted its application for Exceptional Performer redesignation to the Department to continue receiving
reimbursements at the 99% level for the 12-month period from June 1, 2006 through May 31, 2007. As of March 1, 2007, the
Department has not notified the Company of its redesignation. Until the Department confirms or denies the Company’s application
for renewal, the Company continues to receive the benefit of Exceptional Performer designation. It is the opinion of the Company’s
management, based on information currently known, that there is no reason to believe the Company’s application will be rejected. If
the Department rejected the Company’s application for Exceptional Performer status, the Company would have to establish a
provision for loan losses related to the risk sharing on those loans that the Company services internally.
As of December 31, 2006, more than 99% of the Company’s federally insured loans were serviced by providers designated as
Exceptional Performers. Of this portion, the Company serviced approximately 94% and third parties serviced approximately 6%. If
the Company or a third party servicer were to lose its Exceptional Performance designation, either by the Department discontinuing
the program or the Company or third party servicer not meeting the required servicing standards or failing to get re-designated during
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the annual application process, loans serviced by the Company or such third party would become subject to the applicable risk sharing
for all claims submitted.
In determining the adequacy of the allowance for loan losses on the non-federally insured loans, the Company considers several
factors including: loans in repayment versus those in a nonpaying status, months in repayment, delinquency status, type of program,
and trends in defaults in the portfolio based on Company and industry data. The Company places a non-federally insured loan on
nonaccrual status and charges off the loan when the collection of principal and interest is 120 days past due.
The evaluation of the allowance for loan losses is inherently subjective, as it requires material estimates that may be subject to
significant changes. The provision for loan losses reflects the activity for the applicable period and provides an allowance at a level
that the Company’s management believes is adequate to cover probable losses inherent in the loan portfolio.
Cash and Cash Equivalents
For purposes of the consolidated statements of cash flows, the Company considers all investments with maturities when purchased of
three months or less to be cash equivalents.
Restricted Cash and Restricted Investments
The Company’s restricted cash and restricted investments are held by the trustees in various accounts, subject to use restrictions
imposed by the trust indenture. All restricted cash and restricted investments held by the trustees is included on the consolidated
balance sheets.
Restricted Cash – Due to Customers
As a servicer of student loans, the Company collects student loan remittances and subsequently disburses these remittances to the
appropriate lending entities. In addition, the Company requests funding from lenders and subsequently disburses loan funds to
borrowers and schools on behalf of borrowers. The Company also collects tuition payments and subsequently remits these payments
to the appropriate schools. Cash collected for customers and the related liability are included in the accompanying consolidated
balance sheets. Interest income earned, net of service charges, by the Company on this cash for the years ended December 31, 2006,
2005, and 2004 was $11.5 million, $5.4 million, and $1.0 million, respectively.
Accounts Receivable
Accounts receivable are presented at their net realizable values, which includes allowances for doubtful accounts. Allowance
estimates are based upon individual customer experience, as well as age of receivables and likelihood of collection.
Goodwill and Intangible Assets
The Company accounts for goodwill and other intangible assets in accordance with SFAS No. 142, Goodwill and Other Intangible
Assets, pursuant to which goodwill and intangible assets with indefinite lives are not amortized but must be tested for impairment
annually or more frequently if an event indicates that the asset(s) might be impaired. Goodwill is tested for impairment using a fair
value approach at the reporting unit level. A reporting unit is the operating segment, or a business one level below that operating
segment if discrete financial information is prepared and regularly reviewed by segment management. However, components are
aggregated as a single reporting unit if they have similar economic characteristics. The Company recognizes an impairment charge
for any amount by which the carrying amount of a reporting unit’s goodwill exceeds its fair value. The Company uses discounted
cash flows to establish fair values. When available and as appropriate, the Company uses comparative market multiples to
corroborate discounted cash flow results. Intangible assets with indefinite lives are tested annually for impairment and written down
to fair value as required. Intangible assets with finite lives are amortized over their estimated lives. Such assets are amortized using a
method of amortization that reflects the pattern in which the economic benefits of the intangible asset is consumed or otherwise used
up. If that pattern cannot be reliably determined, the Company uses a straight-line amortization method.
The Company uses estimates to determine the fair value of acquired assets to allocate the purchase price to acquired intangible assets.
Such estimates are generally based on estimated future cash flows or cost savings associated with particular assets and are discounted
to a present value using an appropriate discount rate. The estimates of future cash flows associated with intangible assets are
generally prepared using a cost savings method, a lost income method, or an excess return method, as appropriate. In utilizing such
methods, management must make certain assumptions about the amount and timing of estimated future cash flows and other
economic benefits from the assets, the remaining economic useful life of the assets, and general economic factors concerning the
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selection of an appropriate discount rate. The Company may also use replacement cost or market comparison approaches to
estimating fair value if such methods are determined to be more appropriate.
Property and Equipment
Property and equipment are carried at cost, net of accumulated depreciation. Maintenance and repairs are charged to expense as
incurred, and major improvements, including leasehold improvements, are capitalized. Gains and losses from the sale of property and
equipment are included in determining net income. The Company uses accelerated and straight-line methods for recording
depreciation and amortization. Accelerated methods are used for certain equipment and software when this method is believed to
provide a better matching of income and expenses. Leasehold improvements are amortized over the lesser of their useful life or the
related lease period.
Impairment of Long-Lived Assets
The Company reviews its long-lived assets, such as property and equipment, and purchased intangibles subject to amortization for
impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of an asset may not be recoverable.
Recoverability of assets to be held and used is measured by a comparison of the carrying amount of an asset to estimated
undiscounted future cash flows expected to be generated by the asset. If the carrying amount of an asset exceeds its estimated future
cash flows, an impairment charge is recognized by the amount by which the carrying amount of the asset exceeds the fair value of the
asset. Assets to be disposed of are reported at the lower of the carrying amount or fair value less costs to sell, and depreciation ceases.
Software Developed or Obtained for Internal-Use
Direct development costs associated with internal-use software are capitalized, including external direct costs of services and internal
payroll costs for employees devoting time to the software projects. These costs are included in property and equipment and are
amortized over the expected future period of benefit beginning when the asset is placed into service. During the years ended
December 31, 2006, 2005, and 2004 the Company capitalized $17.2 million, $5.8 million, and $4.3 million, respectively, in costs
related to internal-use software development. Amortization of internal-use software was $1.6 million, $0.9 million, and $0.5 million
during the years ended December 31, 2006, 2005, and 2004, respectively.
Other Assets
Other assets are recorded at cost or amortized cost and consist primarily of prepaid expenses, debt issuance costs, investments in
entities accounted for under the equity method, and deposits. Debt issuance costs are amortized using the effective interest method.
Revenue Recognition
Loan Interest Income – Loan interest is paid by the Department or the borrower, depending on the status of the loan at the time of the
accrual. In addition, the Department makes quarterly interest subsidy payments on certain qualified FFELP loans until the student is
required under the provisions of the Higher Education Act to begin repayment. Borrower repayment of FFELP loans normally begins
within six months after completion of the loan holder’s course of study, leaving school, or ceasing to carry at least one-half the normal
full-time academic load, as determined by the educational institution. Borrower repayment of PLUS and Consolidation loans normally
begins within 60 days from the date of loan disbursement, and borrower repayment of SLS loans begins within one month after
completion of course study, leaving school, or ceasing to carry at least the normal full-time academic load, as determined by the
educational institution. Borrower repayment of non-federally insured loans typically begins six months following a borrower’s
graduation from a qualified institution and the interest is either paid by the borrower or capitalized annually or at repayment.
The Department provides a special allowance to lenders participating in the FFEL Program. The special allowance is accrued based
upon the average rate established in the auction of 13-week Treasury Bills in the previous quarter relative to the yield of the student
loan. Under certain circumstances, the special allowance is reduced by approximately one-half for loans that were originated or
purchased from funds obtained from issuance of tax-exempt obligations, depending upon the issuance date of the obligation.
The Company recognizes student loan income as earned, net of amortization of loan premiums and deferred origination costs. Loan
income is recognized based upon the expected yield of the loan after giving effect to borrower utilization of incentives such as timely
payments (“borrower benefits”) and other yield adjustments. Loan premiums, deferred origination costs, and borrower benefits are
amortized over the estimated life of the loan in accordance with SFAS No. 91, Accounting for Non-Refundable Fees and Costs
Associated with Originating or Acquiring Loans and Initial Direct Costs of Leases, which includes an estimate of prepayment speeds.
The Company periodically evaluates the assumptions used to estimate the life of the loans and prepayment speeds.
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The Company also pays the Department an annual 105 basis point rebate fee on Consolidation loans. These rebate fees are netted
against loan interest income.
Loan and Guaranty Servicing Income – Loan servicing fees are determined according to individual agreements with customers and
are calculated based on the dollar value or number of loans serviced for each customer. Guaranty servicing fees are calculated based
on the number of loans serviced or amounts collected. Revenue is recognized when earned pursuant to applicable agreements, and
when ultimate collection is assured.
Other Fee-Based Income – Other fee-based income primarily consists of the following items:
x

Borrower late fee income - Borrower late fee income earned by the education lending subsidiaries is recognized
when payments are collected from the borrower.

x

Payment management services - Fees for payment management services are recognized over the period in which
services are provided to customers.

x

List and print product sales - Revenue from the sale of lists and print products is generally earned and recognized,
net of estimated returns, upon shipment or delivery.

x

Subscription-based products and services - Revenues from sales of subscription-based products and services are
recognized ratably over the term of the subscription. Subscription revenue received or receivable in advance of
the delivery of services is included in deferred revenue.

Software Services – Software services income is determined from individual agreements with customers and includes license and
maintenance fees associated with student loan software products. The Company accounts for software revenues in accordance with
the AICPA’s Statement of Position 97-2, Software Revenue Recognition (“SOP 97-2”). SOP 97-2 provides guidance on when and in
what amounts income should be recognized for licensing, selling, leasing, or otherwise marketing computer software. Income for
contracts with customers that does not require significant production, modification, or customization of software is recognized when
all the following criteria are met: persuasive evidence of an arrangement exists, delivery has occurred, vendors fee is fixed and
determinable, and collectibility is probable. Income paid on maintenance and enhancement agreements for services to be performed in
subsequent periods is deferred and recognized in income over the life of the agreements. Computer and software consulting services
are recognized over the period in which services are provided to customers.
Minority Interest
Minority interest reflects the proportionate share of shareholders’ equity and net income attributable to the minority shareholders of
FACTS Management Co. (“FACTS”). In February 2006, the Company purchased the remaining minority interest of FACTS.
Derivative Accounting
The Company accounts for its derivatives, which include interest rate swaps, basis swaps, interest rate floor contracts, and crosscurrency interest rate swaps, in accordance with SFAS No. 133, Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities, as
amended by SFAS No. 138, Accounting for Certain Derivative Instruments and Certain Hedging Activities, an Amendment of FASB
Statement No. 133 (“SFAS No. 133”). SFAS No. 133 requires that every derivative instrument, including certain derivative
instruments embedded in other contracts, be recorded at fair value on the balance sheet as either an asset or liability. The Company
determines the fair value for its derivative contracts using either (i) pricing models that consider current market conditions and the
contractual terms of the derivative contract or (ii) counterparty valuations. These factors include interest rates, time value, forward
interest rate curve, and volatility factors, as well as foreign exchange rates. Pricing models and their underlying assumptions impact
the amount and timing of unrealized gains and losses recognized, and the use of different pricing models or assumptions could
produce different financial results. Management has structured all of the Company’s derivative transactions with the intent that each is
economically effective. However, with the exception of one interest rate swap that expired in September 2005, the Company’s
derivative instruments do not qualify for hedge accounting under SFAS No. 133. Changes in the fair value of derivative instruments
that do not qualify for hedge accounting are reported in current period earnings. Net settlements on derivatives that do not qualify as
hedges under SFAS No. 133 are included in “derivative market value, foreign currency, and put option adjustments and derivative
settlements, net” on the consolidated statements of income.
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Foreign Currency
The Company’s foreign subsidiary, EDULINX, uses the Canadian dollar as its functional currency. The assets and liabilities of
EDULINX are translated to U.S. dollars at the exchange rate in effect at the balance sheet date. Revenues and expenses are translated
at the average exchange rate during the period. Translation gains or losses are reflected in the consolidated financial statements as a
component of accumulated other comprehensive income. EDULINX was purchased in December 2004, thus, the translation gain was
insignificant for the year ended December 31, 2004.
During 2006, the Company issued Euro-denominated bonds. Transaction gains and losses resulting from exchange rate changes when
re-measuring these bonds to U.S. dollars at the balance sheet date are included in “derivative market value, foreign currency, and put
option adjustments and derivative settlements, net” on the consolidated statements of income.
Income Taxes
Income taxes are accounted for under the asset and liability method. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized for the future
tax consequences attributable to differences between the financial statement carrying amounts of existing assets and liabilities and
their respective tax bases and operating loss and tax credit carryforwards. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured using
enacted tax rates expected to apply to taxable income in the years in which those temporary differences are expected to be recovered
or settled. The effect on deferred tax assets and liabilities of a change in tax rates is recognized in income in the period that includes
the enactment date.
Income tax expense includes deferred tax expense, which represents the net change in the deferred tax asset or liability balance during
the year, plus any change made in the valuation allowance, and current tax expense, which represents the amount of tax currently
payable to or receivable from a tax authority plus amounts for expected tax deficiencies (including both tax and interest).
Earnings Per Share
The basic earnings per common share is computed by dividing net income by the weighted average number of common shares
outstanding for the periods presented. The weighted average number of shares for the years ended December 31, 2006, 2005, and
2004 were 53,593,056, 53,761,727, and 53,648,605, respectively. Nelnet had no common stock equivalents and no potentially
dilutive common shares during the years presented. Included in the Company’s weighted average shares outstanding in 2006 and
2005 is 10,793 shares and 6,727 shares, respectively, that will be issued to nonemployee directors upon their termination from the
board of directors under the Company’s nonemployee directors compensation plan (see note 14).
3.

Recent Developments

Department of Education Settlement
Based on provisions of the Higher Education Act and regulations and guidance of the Department and related interpretations,
education lenders may receive special allowance payments from the Department which provide a minimum 9.5% interest rate (the
“9.5% Floor”) on loans currently financed or financed prior to September 30, 2004 with proceeds of tax-exempt obligations originally
issued prior to October 1, 1993. A portion of the Company’s FFELP loan portfolio is comprised of loans financed prior to September
30, 2004 with tax-exempt obligations originally issued prior to October 1, 1993. As of December 31, 2006, the Company had $3.0
billion of FFELP loans it determined were eligible to receive special allowance payments at the 9.5% Floor rate. Of this portfolio,
$2.4 billion in loans were financed prior to September 30, 2004 with proceeds of tax-exempt obligations originally issued prior to
October 1, 1993 and then subsequently sold to taxable obligations, without retiring the tax-exempt obligations.
In May 2003, the Company sought confirmation from the Department regarding whether the Company was allowed to receive the
special allowance payments based on the 9.5% Floor on loans being acquired with funds obtained from the proceeds of tax-exempt
obligations originally issued prior to October 1, 1993 and then subsequently sold using proceeds of taxable obligations without
retiring the tax-exempt obligations. In June 2004, after consideration of certain clarifying information received in connection with the
guidance the Company had sought, and based on written and verbal communications with the Department, including written
confirmation from the Department that the public could continue to rely on a Department guidance letter issued in March 1996, the
Company concluded that the earnings process had been completed and recognized the previously deferred income of $124.3 million
on this portfolio. Pending satisfactory resolution of this issue, the Company deferred recognition of that portion of the 9.5% Floor
income generated by these loans which exceeded statutorily defined special allowance rates under a taxable financing. As of
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December 31, 2003, the amount of deferred excess interest income on these loans was $42.9 million and was included in other
liabilities on the Company’s consolidated balance sheet.
In June 2005, the Office of Inspector General of the Department of Education (the “OIG”) commenced an audit of the portion of the
Company’s student loan portfolio receiving 9.5% Floor special allowance payments. On September 29, 2006, the Company received a
final audit report from the OIG which contained a finding by the OIG that an increase in the amount of 9.5% special allowance
payments that have been received by the Company was based on what the OIG deemed to be ineligible loans.
On January 19, 2007, the Company entered into a Settlement Agreement with the Department to resolve the audit by the OIG of the
Company’s portfolio of student loans receiving 9.5% special allowance payments. Under the terms of the Settlement Agreement, the
Company will retain the 9.5% special allowance payments that it received from the Department prior to July 1, 2006. In addition, the
Settlement Agreement will eliminate all 9.5% special allowance payments with respect to the Company’s portfolios of loans for
periods on and after July 1, 2006.
The Company disagrees with the OIG audit report, and continues to believe that it billed for the 9.5% special allowance payments in
accordance with applicable laws, regulations, and the Department’s previous guidance. As a part of the Settlement Agreement, the
Company and the Department acknowledge a dispute exists related to guidance previously issued by the Department and the
application of the existing laws and regulations related to the Company receiving certain 9.5% special allowance payments, and that
the Settlement Agreement is based in part on the parties’ desire to avoid costly litigation regarding that dispute. The new guidance
provided to the Company in the Settlement Agreement will effectively eliminate all future 9.5% special allowance payments for the
Company. These loans will continue to receive special allowance payments using other applicable special allowance formulas.
The Settlement Agreement does not preclude any other government agency from reviewing the issues raised in the OIG audit report.
The Company was informed by the Department that a civil attorney with the Department of Justice has opened a file regarding this
issue which the Company understands is common procedure following an OIG audit report. The Company believes that any claim
related to this issue has no merit.
As a result of the Settlement Agreement, the Company recognized an impairment charge of $21.7 million related to loan premiums
paid on loans acquired in 2005 from the acquisition of LoanSTAR Funding Group, Inc. that were previously considered eligible for
9.5% special allowance payments.
EDULINX – Loss of Servicing Contract
Under its existing contract with the Government of Canada, EDULINX, a subsidiary of the Company, provides services in support of
the Canada and Integrated Student Loan Programs (“CSLP”) for student borrowers attending public institutions. The Government of
Canada is EDULINX’s largest customer. EDULINX’s servicing revenue for the year ended December 31, 2006 was $69.0 million, of
which $53.9 million was earned under the CSLP contract.
On December 22, 2006, EDULINX was notified that the Government of Canada had decided to award the CSLP contract to another
service provider upon the expiration of the contract with EDULINX on March 31, 2008. As a result of this decision, EDULINX will
be required to transition the existing direct-financed CSLP portfolio it services to the selected service provider. As a result of the
Government of Canada’s decision to award the CSLP contract to another service provider, the Company recorded an impairment
charge of $9.4 million related to certain EDULINX assets, including servicing software and hardware under development ($6.8
million), goodwill ($1.5 million), and intangible assets ($1.1 million).
4.

Business and Certain Asset Acquisitions

The Company has positioned itself for growth by building a strong foundation through business and certain asset acquisitions.
Although the Company’s assets, loan portfolios, net interest income, and fee-based revenues increase through such transactions, a key
aspect of each transaction is its impact on the Company’s prospective organic growth and the development of its integrated platform
of services. The acquisitions described below expand the Company’s products and services offered to education and financial
institutions and students and families throughout the education and education finance process. In addition, these acquisitions
diversify the Company’s asset generation streams and/or diversify revenue by offering other products and services that are not
dependent on government programs, which reduces the Company’s exposure to legislation and political risk. The Company also
expects to reduce costs from these acquisitions through economies of scale and by integrating certain support services. In addition,
the Company expects to increase revenue from these acquisitions by offering multiple products and services to its customers.
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Premiere Credit of North America, LLC (“Premiere”)
On January 28, 2004, the Company acquired 50% of the membership interests in Premiere. Premiere is a collection services company
that specializes in collection of educational debt. Total consideration paid by the Company for Premiere was $5.3 million, $2.3
million of which represents excess purchase price, which will not be amortized. Included in the Premiere purchase agreement is a
“call” option, which expires six years after the purchase date, that allows the Company to purchase 100% ownership of Premiere at a
price as determined in the agreement. In addition, Premiere has a “put” option, which expires five years after the purchase date, to
require the Company to purchase 100% ownership of Premiere at a price as determined in the agreement. The call and put option
prices are based on a formula of future pre-tax net income of Premiere through 2010 and 2009, respectively. As such, the Company
did not assign a value to these options as the value is not determinable until these future dates. The Company is accounting for
Premiere using the equity method of accounting. The investment in Premiere is included in other assets on the consolidated balance
sheet.
Rhode Island Student Loan Authority (“RISLA”)
On March 11, 2004, the Company acquired rights, title, and interest in certain assets of RISLA for total consideration of $13.2
million, including the right to originate student loans in RISLA’s name without competition from RISLA for a term of 10 years. Total
consideration assigned by the Company for the rights to originate student loans was $7.9 million, which will be amortized using a
straight-line method over 10 years. The loan origination rights are included in intangible assets on the consolidated balance sheet.
The Company also purchased certain assets, consisting primarily of furniture and equipment from RISLA for $0.3 million and a
portfolio of federally insured loans. Total consideration assigned by the Company for the student loan portfolio was $5.0 million over
the $175.1 million outstanding par value of the portfolio.
SLAAA Acquisition Corp. (“SLAAA”)
On April 19, 2004, the Company purchased 100% of SLAAA for $11.1 million, including $0.1 million of direct acquisition costs.
SLAAA is a student loan secondary market. This acquisition was accounted for under purchase accounting and the results of
operations have been included in the consolidated financial statements from the date of acquisition.
The following table summarizes the estimated fair values of the assets acquired and liabilities assumed at the date of acquisition
(dollars in thousands):
Cash and cash equivalents

$

Restricted cash

277
97,864

Student loans and accrued interest

146,173

Other assets

133

Excess cost over fair value of net assets acquired (goodwill)

5,971

Bonds and notes payable and accrued interest

(238,645)

Other liabilities

(667)

Total purchase price

$

11,106

The $6.0 million of goodwill was assigned to the Asset Generation and Management operating segment and is expected to be
deductible for tax purposes.
infiNET Integrated Solutions, Inc. (“infiNET”)
On April 20, 2004, the Company purchased 50% of the stock of infiNET for $4.9 million. On February 17, 2006, the Company
purchased the remaining 50% of the stock of infiNET. infiNET provides software for customer-focused electronic transactions,
information sharing, and electronic account and bill presentment for colleges and universities. Consideration for the purchase of the
remaining 50% of the stock of infiNET was $9.5 million in cash and 95,380 restricted shares of the Company’s Class A common
stock. Under the terms of the purchase agreement, the 95,380 shares of Class A common stock issued in the acquisition are subject to
stock price guaranty provisions whereby if on or about February 28, 2011 the average market trading price of the Class A common
stock is less than $104.8375 per share and has not exceeded that price for any 25 consecutive trading days during the 5-year period
from the closing of the acquisition to February 28, 2011, then the Company must pay additional cash to the sellers of infiNET for
each share of Class A common stock issued in an amount representing the difference between $104.8375 less the greater of $41.9335
or the gross sales price such seller obtained from a prior sale of the shares. In connection with the acquisition, the Company entered
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into employment agreements with two of the infiNET sellers, in which the guaranteed value related to the shares of Class A common
stock issued is dependent on their continued employment with the Company. Accordingly, the guaranteed value associated with the
shares of Class A common stock issued to these employees of $5.7 million was recorded as unearned compensation in the
accompanying consolidated balance sheet and will be recognized by the Company as compensation expense over the three-year term
of the employment agreements. The total purchase price recorded by the Company to acquire the remaining interest in infiNET was
$13.8 million, which represents the $9.5 million in cash and $4.3 million attributable to the guaranteed value of the shares of Class A
common stock issued to the infiNET shareholders other than the two shareholders who entered into employment agreements with the
Company. Any cash paid by the Company in consideration of satisfying the guaranteed value of stock issued for this acquisition
would be recorded by the Company as a reduction to additional paid-in capital.
Prior to purchasing the remaining 50% of the common stock of infiNET, the Company accounted for this investment under the equity
method. As of December 31, 2005, other assets in the accompanying consolidated balance sheet included $5.0 million (including
$3.3 million of excess cost) related to the infiNET investment. The purchase of the remaining 50% of the stock of infiNET was
accounted for under purchase accounting and the results of operations have been included in the consolidated financial statements
from January 31, 2006, the effective date of the acquisition.
The following table summarizes the estimated fair values of the assets acquired and liabilities assumed at the date of acquisition for
the remaining 50% of the stock of infiNET (dollars in thousands). The Company is in the process of valuing certain intangible assets;
thus, the allocation of the purchase price is subject to refinement.
Cash and cash equivalents
Restricted cash - due to customers
Accounts receivable
Intangible assets
Property and equipment
Other assets
Excess cost over fair value of net assets acquired (goodwill)
Due to customers
Other liabilities
Previously recorded investment in equity interest

$

3,576
16,343
558
4,172
134
630
12,247
(16,343)
(2,334)
(5,202)

$

13,781

As of the date of acquisition, the $4.2 million of acquired intangible assets had a weighted average useful life of approximately 7
years. The intangible assets that made up this amount included non-competition agreements of $2.0 million (5-year useful life),
customer relationships of $1.6 million (10-year useful life), computer software of $0.4 million (5-year useful life), and trade names of
$0.2 million (3-year useful life). All intangible assets are amortized using a straight-line amortization method with the exception of
customer relationships. The customer relationships intangible asset is amortized over the projected revenues and expenses (cash
flows) attributable to this asset as of the date of acquisition. Because of customer attrition, the estimated annual cash flows related to
customer relationships diminish the further from the date of acquisition. As such, the Company uses an accelerated amortization
method that reflects the pattern in which the estimated economic benefits of this acquired asset is used by the Company.
The $12.2 million of goodwill was assigned to the Tuition Payment Processing and Campus Commerce operating segment and is not
expected to be deductible for tax purposes.
EDULINX Canada Corp. (“EDULINX”)
On December 1, 2004, the Company purchased 100% of the capital stock of EDULINX for $7.4 million, including $0.4 million of
direct acquisition costs. EDULINX is a Canadian corporation that services student loans in Canada. The acquisition was accounted
for under purchase accounting and the results of operations have been included in the consolidated financial statements from the date
of acquisition.

The following table summarizes the fair values of the assets acquired and liabilities assumed at the date of acquisition (dollars in
thousands):
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The following table summarizes the fair values of the assets acquired and liabilities assumed at the date of acquisition (dollars in
thousands):
Cash and cash equivalents

$

Accounts receivable

—

11,273

Intangible
assets
Cash and cash
equivalents
Property and
equipment
Accounts
receivable

$

Other assets
Intangible
assets
Excess cost
fair value of net assets acquired (goodwill)
Property
andover
equipment

2,996
5,464
(20,731)
1,180

Other liabilities
Other
assets
Excess cost
over
fair value
of net assets acquired (goodwill)
Total
purchase
price

$

2,996
7,428
(20,731)

$

7,428

Other liabilities
Total purchase price

7,246
—
5,464
11,273
1,180
7,246

As of the date of acquisition, the $7.2 million of acquired intangible assets had a weighted-average useful life of approximately 6
years. The intangible assets that made up this amount included customer relationships of $6.3 million (7-year useful life), computer
software
$0.7ofmillion
(2-year
andoftrade
namesintangible
of $0.2 million
useful life). All intangible
are amortized
As of theofdate
acquisition,
theuseful
$7.2 life),
million
acquired
assets (7-year
had a weighted-average
useful life assets
of approximately
6
using
straight-line
amortization
years. a The
intangible
assets that method.
made up this amount included customer relationships of $6.3 million (7-year useful life), computer
software of $0.7 million (2-year useful life), and trade names of $0.2 million (7-year useful life). All intangible assets are amortized
The
million of amortization
goodwill wasmethod.
assigned to the Student Loan and Guaranty Servicing operating segment and is not expected to be
using$3.0
a straight-line
deductible for tax purposes.
The $3.0 million of goodwill was assigned to the Student Loan and Guaranty Servicing operating segment and is not expected to be
Included
thetaxpurchase
agreement, the Company was to pay an additional payment of approximately $6.3 million if EDULINX
deductibleinfor
purposes.
obtained an extension or renewal of a servicing contract with the Government of Canada. As disclosed in note 3, on December 22,
2006,
the in
Government
of Canada
decided
award this
service
provider.
As a result of this
theEDULINX
Company
Included
the purchase
agreement,
the to
Company
wascontract
to pay toananother
additional
payment
of approximately
$6.3decision,
million if
recorded
impairmentorcharge
of of
$9.4
million related
to with
certain
assets,
including
under
obtained an extension
renewal
a servicing
contract
theEDULINX
Government
of Canada.
Asservicing
disclosedsoftware
in note and
3, onhardware
December
22,
development
($6.8 million),
goodwill
($1.5
and
intangible
assets service
(customer
relationships
of $1.1
million
and trade
names of
2006, the Government
of Canada
decided
to million),
award this
contract
to another
provider.
As a result
of this
decision,
the Company
approximately
$37,000). charge
In addition,
Company
changed
the remaining
of the unamortized
intangible
(customer
recorded an impairment
of $9.4the
million
related
to certain
EDULINXuseful
assets,life
including
servicing software
andassets
hardware
under
relationship
and
trade
name)
to
amortize
these
assets
through
March
31,
2008,
the
date
the
Government
of
Canada’s
loans
will be
development ($6.8 million), goodwill ($1.5 million), and intangible assets (customer relationships of $1.1 million and trade names
of
transferred
to the
new service
provider.the Company changed the remaining useful life of the unamortized intangible assets (customer
approximately
$37,000).
In addition,
relationship and trade name) to amortize these assets through March 31, 2008, the date the Government of Canada’s loans will be
Student
Marketing
Group,
Inc.
(“SMG”) and National Honor Roll, L.L.C. (“NHR”)
transferred
to the new
service
provider.
On
March
29, 2005,Group,
the Company
purchased
100%
of theHonor
capitalRoll,
stockL.L.C.
of SMG
and 100% of the membership interests of NHR. The
Student
Marketing
Inc. (“SMG”)
and
National
(“NHR”)
initial consideration paid by the Company was $27.1 million, including $0.1 million of direct acquisition costs. SMG and NHR were
entities
owned
under the
common
control.
SMG is
a fullofservice
directstock
marketing
agency
providing
wide range ofinterests
productsofand
services
On March
29, 2005,
Company
purchased
100%
the capital
of SMG
and 100%
of thea membership
NHR.
The
to
helpconsideration
businesses reach
thethemiddle
school,
bound
school,
college,
and young
marketplace.
In
initial
paid by
Company
was high
$27.1school,
million,college
including
$0.1high
million
of direct
acquisition
costs.adult
SMG
and NHR were
addition,
SMG under
provides
marketing
services
bound
student
lists toagency
collegeproviding
and university
offices and
nationwide.
entities owned
common
control.
SMGand
is a college
full service
direct
marketing
a wideadmissions
range of products
services
NHR
recognizes
middle
school
students
exceptional
success
by providing
publication
in themarketplace.
National Honor
to help
businesses
reachand
thehigh
middle
school,
highfor
school,
collegeacademic
bound high
school,
college, and
young adult
In
Roll
Commemorative
Edition,
scholarships,
a college
notification
service, and
anduniversity
notices toadmissions
local newspapers
and elected
addition,
SMG provides
marketing
services and
collegeadmissions
bound student
lists to college
offices nationwide.
officials.
In addition
to the
purchase
price, additional
payments
are tosuccess
be paidby
byproviding
the Company
based on
results
NHR recognizes
middle
andinitial
high school
students
for exceptional
academic
publication
in the
the operating
National Honor
of SMG
and NHR as defined
the purchasea agreement.
The contingent
payments
are and
payable
in annual
installments
April
Roll
Commemorative
Edition,inscholarships,
college admissions
notification
service,
notices
to local
newspapersthrough
and elected
2008
and In
in addition
total willto range
frompurchase
a minimum
$4.0 million
to a maximum
of $24.0
of December
31, 2006,
the
officials.
the initial
price,ofadditional
payments
are to be paid
by themillion.
CompanyAsbased
on the operating
results
Company
hasNHR
paid as
$3.0
million
accrued
an additional
millionpayments
as additional
consideration
based
upon the terms
of April
these
of SMG and
defined
in and
the has
purchase
agreement.
The $9.8
contingent
are payable
in annual
installments
through
contingencies.
Thewill
Company
records
the contingency
the applicable
is of
resolved
and the
2008 and in total
range from
a minimum
of $4.0 payments
million to when
a maximum
of $24.0contingency
million. As
December
31, additional
2006, the
consideration
is
issued
or
issuable
or
the
outcome
of
the
contingency
is
determinable
beyond
a
reasonable
doubt.
All
contingent
Company has paid $3.0 million and has accrued an additional $9.8 million as additional consideration based upon the terms
of these
payments
are accounted
for as records
additional
increase
the the
excess
cost over
fair value is
of resolved
net assetsand
acquired.
These
contingencies.
The Company
theconsideration
contingency and
payments
when
applicable
contingency
the additional
acquisitions
were
accounted
for
under
purchase
accounting
and
the
results
of
operations
have
been
included
in
the
consolidated
consideration is issued or issuable or the outcome of the contingency is determinable beyond a reasonable doubt. All contingent
financial
from for
March
1, 2005, the
effective date
of increase
the acquisitions.
paymentsstatements
are accounted
as additional
consideration
and
the excess cost over fair value of net assets acquired. These
acquisitions were accounted for under purchase accounting and the results of operations have been included in the consolidated
financial statements from March 1, 2005, the effective date of the acquisitions.

The following table summarizes the fair values of the assets acquired and liabilities assumed at the date of acquisition and additional
consideration paid and accrued as of December 31, 2006 as a result of the contingency payments (dollars in thousands):
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Cash
and values
cash equivalents
The following table summarizes the
fair
of the assets acquired and liabilities$ assumed157at the date of acquisition and additional
Accounts
receivable
1,212 (dollars in thousands):
consideration paid and accrued as of December 31, 2006 as a result of the contingency payments
Intangible assets

13,111

Property and equipment

545

Other assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Excess cost over fair value of net assets acquired (goodwill)
Accounts receivable
Other liabilities
Intangible assets
Property
andpurchase
equipment
Total
price
Other assets

$

$

4,891
157
23,000
1,212
(2,991)
13,111
545
39,925
4,891

Excess cost over fair value of net assets acquired (goodwill)

23,000

Other liabilities

(2,991)

Of the $13.1 million of acquired intangible assets, $2.2 million was assigned to trade names that are not subject to amortization. The
Total purchase
price on the date of acquisition had $a weighted-average
39,925
remaining $10.9 million of acquired intangible
assets
useful life of approximately 5
years. The intangible assets that made up this amount included student lists of $8.2 million (4-year useful life), customer relationships
of $2.0 million (7-year useful life), non-competition agreements of $0.4 million (5-year useful life), and an other asset of $0.3 million
Of
the $13.1
million
intangible
assets,
$2.2 million
assignedamortization
to trade names
that are not subject to amortization. The
(11-year
useful
life). of
Allacquired
intangible
assets are
amortized
using awas
straight-line
method.
remaining $10.9 million of acquired intangible assets on the date of acquisition had a weighted-average useful life of approximately 5
years.
Themillion
intangible
assets that
made
up thistoamount
includedServices
student lists
of $8.2
million (4-year
useful
life), customer
relationships
The $23.0
of goodwill
was
assigned
the Enrollment
and List
Management
operating
segment
and is expected
to be
of
$2.0 million
(7-year
useful life), non-competition agreements of $0.4 million (5-year useful life), and an other asset of $0.3 million
deductible
for tax
purposes.
(11-year useful life). All intangible assets are amortized using a straight-line amortization method.
FACTS Management Co. (“FACTS”)
The $23.0 million of goodwill was assigned to the Enrollment Services and List Management operating segment and is expected to be
On June 10,
the Company purchased 80% of the capital stock of FACTS for $56.1 million, including $0.1 million of direct
deductible
for2005,
tax purposes.
acquisition costs. On February 17, 2006, the Company purchased the remaining 20% of the stock of FACTS. FACTS provides
FACTS Management
Co.payment
(“FACTS”)
actively
managed tuition
solutions, online payment processing, detailed information reporting, and data integration services
to K-12 and post secondary educational institutions, families, and students. In addition, FACTS provides financial needs analysis for
On
June applying
10, 2005,for
theaidCompany
80%K-12
of theschools.
capital Consideration
stock of FACTS
million,
of direct
students
in privatepurchased
and parochial
for for
the $56.1
purchase
of theincluding
remaining$0.1
20%million
of FACTS
was
acquisition
costs.
On
February
17,
2006,
the
Company
purchased
the
remaining
20%
of
the
stock
of
FACTS.
FACTS
provides
$5.6 million in cash and 238,237 restricted shares of the Company’s Class A common stock valued at $9.9 million. The value
of the
actively
tuitionwas
payment
solutions,
payment
detailed
and data
integration
commonmanaged
shares issued
determined
basedonline
on the
closingprocessing,
market price
of the information
Company’s reporting,
common shares
over
the 2-dayservices
period
to K-12and
andafter
postthe
secondary
institutions,
families,
andannounced.
students. In
addition,
FACTS
provides
financial
needs the
analysis
for
before
terms ofeducational
the acquisition
were agreed
to and
Under
the terms
of the
purchase
agreement,
238,237
studentsofapplying
aid in private
and parochial
K-12 schools.
Consideration
for the
purchase of the
remaining
20%
FACTS
was
shares
Class A for
common
stock issued
in the acquisition
are subject
to put option
arrangements
whereby
during
theof30-day
period
$5.6 million
in cash 28,
and2010
238,237
of the can
Company’s
Class
A common
stock valued
million.
The at
value
of the
beginning
February
the restricted
holders ofshares
such shares
require the
Company
to repurchase
all at
or $9.9
part of
the shares
a price
of
commonpershares
wasoption
determined
based on the
closingapplies
markettoprice
of the Company’s
common
shares stock
over purchased
the 2-day period
$83.95
share.issued
The put
in the alternative
similarly
replacement
shares of Class
A common
by the
before and
after
terms ofof,theand
acquisition
andbyannounced.
termsofofClass
the purchase
agreement,
the 238,237
holders
from
thethe
proceeds
within 60were
daysagreed
of, a to
sale
the holdersUnder
of thethe
shares
A common
stock issued
in the
shares of Class
stock pursuant
issued intotheprovisions
acquisition
are subject
to the
put6-month
option arrangements
the Company
30-day period
acquisition
backAtocommon
the Company
whereby
during
period endingwhereby
June 30,during
2009 the
may
beginning
28, 2010
holders
of such
shares
can require
Company
to repurchase
all orofpart
theoption
shares isat subject
a price of
be
requiredFebruary
to repurchase
thethe
shares
at the
market
trading
price atthethat
time. The
exercisability
theofput
to
$83.95 per share.
Thetermination
put option in
similarly
replacement
of Class
A common
stock
purchased
the
acceleration
and then
in the
the alternative
event that during
theapplies
4-yeartoperiod
ending shares
February
28, 2010
the market
trading
price by
of the
holders
the proceeds
of, and
within
60 days
of, per
a sale
by the
theput
shares
of as
Class
A common
stock
issued
in the
Class A from
common
stock is equal
to or
exceeds
$83.95
share.
Theholders
value ofofthe
option
of the
acquisition
of the
remaining
acquisition
back
to
the
Company
pursuant
to
provisions
whereby
during
the
6-month
period
ending
June
30,
2009
the
Company
20% of the stock of FACTS was $7.5 million and was recorded by the Company as additional purchase price. The value of themay
put
be
required
to repurchase
the shares
market
trading price
that time. Thepricing
exercisability
of the
option assumptions:
is subject to
option
was valued
by the Company
onatthethe
date
of acquisition
usingata Black-Scholes
model using
theput
following
acceleration
and then
termination
in the
event that
the and
4-year
ending
28, 2010 the
trading
price of
of the
risk-free
interest
rate of
5.1 percent,
volatility
of 34during
percent,
no period
dividend
yield.February
As of December
31, market
2006, the
fair value
the
Class
A
common
stock
is
equal
to
or
exceeds
$83.95
per
share.
The
value
of
the
put
option
as
of
the
acquisition
of
the
remaining
put option was $10.8 million. The increase in the fair value of the put option from the date of acquisition of $3.3 million is included
20%
of the stock
of FACTS
$7.5 currency,
million andand
wasput
recorded
the Company
additionalsettlements,
purchase price.
value
of the put
in
“derivative
market
value,was
foreign
option by
adjustments
and asderivative
net” The
on the
consolidated
option wasofvalued
by the
on the daterecorded
of acquisition
a Black-Scholes
pricing 20%
modelofusing
the following
assumptions:
statement
income.
TheCompany
total consideration
by theusing
Company
for the remaining
the stock
of FACTS
was $23.0
risk-free which
interestrepresents
rate of 5.1
volatility
of 34the
percent,
andthe
noClass
dividend
yield. As
of December
31, 2006,
value
of put
the
million,
thepercent,
$5.6 million
in cash,
value of
A common
stock
of $9.9 million,
and the
the fair
value
of the
put
option
was $10.8ofmillion.
The increase in the fair value of the put option from the date of acquisition of $3.3 million is included
option
arrangements
$7.5 million.
in “derivative market value, foreign currency, and put option adjustments and derivative settlements, net” on the consolidated
statement
of income.
The total for
consideration
recorded
by the Company
for the
the included
stock of in
FACTS
was $23.0
This acquisition
was accounted
under purchase
accounting
and the results
of remaining
operations 20%
haveof
been
the consolidated
million,
represents
the $5.6
million
cash, the
ofacquisition.
the Class A common stock of $9.9 million, and the value of the put
financialwhich
statements
from June
1, 2005,
the in
effective
datevalue
of the
option arrangements of $7.5 million.
This acquisition was accounted for under purchase accounting and the results of operations have been included in the consolidated
financial statements from June 1, 2005, the effective date of the acquisition.
The following table summarizes the fair values of the assets acquired and liabilities assumed at the date of acquisition (dollars in
thousands):
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Remaining
Total
The following table summarizes the fair values of the assets acquiredInitial
and 80%
liabilities assumed
at20%
the date of acquisition
(dollars in
thousands):
Cash and cash equivalents
$
Restricted cash - due to customers
Accounts receivable
Intangible assets
Property
Cash
and and
cashequipment
equivalents
$
Other assets
Restricted
cash - due to customers
Excess cost
over fair value of net assets acquired (goodwill)
Accounts
receivable
Due to customers
Intangible
assets
Other liabilities
Property
and equipment
Minority
interests' ownership in net assets acquired
Other
assets
Previously
Excess costrecorded
over fairminority
value of interest
net assets acquired (goodwill)
Due to customers
Total purchase price
$
Other liabilities
Minority interests' ownership in net assets acquired
Previously recorded minority interest

2,466
11,034
Initial 80%55
36,438
321
2,466
24
11,034
28,689
55
(11,034)
36,438
(11,901)
321
(23)
24
—
28,689
(11,034)
56,069
(11,901)
(23)
—

—
—
—
Remaining 20%
8,374
—
—
16,487
—
—
8,374
(2,699)
—
—
868
16,487
—
23,030
(2,699)
—
868

2,466
11,034
Total 55
44,812
321
2,466
24
11,034
45,176
55
(11,034)
44,812
(14,600)
321
(23)
24
868
45,176
(11,034)
79,099
(14,600)
(23)
868

Of the $44.8 million of acquired intangible assets, $11.6 million was assigned to trade names that are not subject to amortization. The
Total
56,069
23,030 useful life 79,099
remaining $33.2 million
ofpurchase
acquiredprice
intangible assets on the date$of acquisition
had a weighted-average
of approximately
14 years. The intangible assets that made up this amount included customer relationships of $19.2 million (20-year useful life), noncompetition agreements of $12.6 million (5-year useful life), and computer software of $1.4 million (3-year useful life). All
Of
the $44.8
million
of acquiredusing
intangible
assets, $11.6
million was
assigned
namesof
that
are not subject
to amortization.
The
intangible
assets
are amortized
a straight-line
amortization
method
with to
thetrade
exception
customer
relationships.
The customer
remaining $33.2
millionasset
of acquired
intangible
on the date
of acquisition
had a(cash
weighted-average
useful to
lifethis
of asset
approximately
relationships
intangible
is amortized
over assets
the projected
revenues
and expenses
flows) attributable
as of the
14
The intangible
assetsofthat
made up
this amount
included annual
customer
relationships
of $19.2
million relationships
(20-year useful
life), nondateyears.
of acquisition.
Because
customer
attrition,
the estimated
cash
flows related
to customer
diminish
the
competition
agreements
of $12.6 million
(5-year
useful life),
andaccelerated
computer amortization
software of method
$1.4 million
(3-yeartheuseful
All
further
from the
date of acquisition.
As such,
the Company
uses an
that reflects
patternlife).
in which
intangible
assets
are amortized
straight-line
method
with the exception of customer relationships. The customer
the
estimated
economic
benefitsusing
of thisa acquired
assetamortization
is used by the
Company.
relationships intangible asset is amortized over the projected revenues and expenses (cash flows) attributable to this asset as of the
date $45.2
of acquisition.
the estimated
cash and
flows
relatedCommerce
to customer
relationships
diminish
the
The
million of Because
goodwill of
wascustomer
assignedattrition,
to the Tuition
Paymentannual
Processing
Campus
operating
segment
and is not
further from
thedeductible
date of acquisition.
As such, the Company uses an accelerated amortization method that reflects the pattern in which
expected
to be
for tax purposes.
the estimated economic benefits of this acquired asset is used by the Company.
Foresite Solutions, Inc. (“Foresite”)
The $45.2 million of goodwill was assigned to the Tuition Payment Processing and Campus Commerce operating segment and is not
On
July 1,to2005,
the Company
purchased
expected
be deductible
for tax
purposes.100% of the capital stock of Foresite for $750,000. Foresite develops complementary Webbased software applications that improve the administration of financial aid offices and work-study programs at colleges and
universities.
The acquisition
was accounted for under purchase accounting and the results of operations have been included in the
Foresite
Solutions,
Inc. (“Foresite”)
consolidated financial statements from the date of acquisition.
On July 1, 2005, the Company purchased 100% of the capital stock of Foresite for $750,000. Foresite develops complementary Webbased
softwaretable
applications
that the
improve
the administration
of financial
aid officesassumed
and work-study
at colleges
The following
summarizes
fair values
of the assets acquired
and liabilities
at the dateprograms
of acquisition
(dollarsand
in
universities. The acquisition was accounted for under purchase accounting and the results of operations have been included in the
thousands):
consolidated financial statements from the date of acquisition.
Cash and cash equivalents

$

15

receivable
The following table summarizesAccounts
the fair
values of the assets acquired and liabilities assumed123at the date of acquisition (dollars in
Intangible asset - computer software
85
thousands):
Property and equipment

15

Cash
cash equivalents
Otherand
assets

$

151

Accounts
receivable
Excess cost
over fair value of net assets acquired (goodwill)

123
668

Intangible
asset - computer software
Other liabilities

85
(157)

Property and equipment
Total purchase price
Other assets

$

Excess cost over fair value of net assets acquired (goodwill)
Other liabilities

15
7501
668
(157)

The computer software intangible asset is being amortized straight-line over its estimated useful life of 3 years. The $0.7 million of
Total purchase and
price Management operating segment and
$ is not expected
750
goodwill was assigned to the Asset Generation
to be deductible for tax
purposes.
The
computer
softwareGroup,
intangible
is being amortized straight-line over its estimated useful life of 3 years. The $0.7 million of
LoanSTAR
Funding
Inc. asset
(“LoanSTAR”)
goodwill was assigned to the Asset Generation and Management operating segment and is not expected to be deductible for tax
purposes.
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NELNET, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
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On
OctoberFunding
24, 2005,
the Company
purchased 100% of the capital stock of LoanSTAR and servicing assets from LoanSTAR
LoanSTAR
Group,
Inc. (“LoanSTAR”)
Systems, Inc. for $176.9 million, including $0.3 million of direct acquisition costs. LoanSTAR and LoanSTAR Systems, Inc. were
On October
2005,
the Company
of the capital
stock ofmarket
LoanSTAR
and
servicingLoanSTAR
assets fromSystems,
LoanSTAR
entities
owned24,
under
common
control. purchased
LoanSTAR100%
is a Texas-based
secondary
and loan
originator.
Inc.
Systems,student
Inc. forloans.
$176.9These
million,
including $0.3
of direct
acquisition
costs.
LoanSTAR
and results
LoanSTAR
Systems,have
Inc. were
services
acquisitions
were million
accounted
for under
purchase
accounting
and the
of operations
been
entities owned
common
control.statements
LoanSTAR
is athe
Texas-based
market and loan originator. LoanSTAR Systems, Inc.
included
in the under
consolidated
financial
from
date of the secondary
acquisitions.
services student loans. These acquisitions were accounted for under purchase accounting and the results of operations have been
included
in the table
consolidated
financial
statements
date of
the acquisitions.
The
following
summarizes
the fair
values from
of thetheassets
acquired
and liabilities assumed at the date of acquisition (dollars in
thousands):
The following table summarizes the fair values of the assets acquired and liabilities assumed at the date of acquisition (dollars in
Cash and cash equivalents
$
22,441
thousands):
Restricted cash

113,196

Cash
and cash
Restricted
cashequivalents
- due to customers

$

Restricted
cashand accrued interest
Student loans

22,441
3,649
113,196
937,645

Restricted
cash - due to customers
Intangible assets

3,649
46,443

Student
and accrued interest
Propertyloans
and equipment

937,645
641

Intangible
assets
Other assets

46,443
6,662

Property
andover
equipment
Excess cost
fair value of net assets acquired (goodwill)

641
35,913

Other
Bondsassets
and notes payable and accrued interest

6,662
(931,908)

Excess
cost over fair value of net assets acquired (goodwill)
Due to customers

35,913
(3,649)

Bonds
and notes payable and accrued interest
Other liabilities

(931,908)
(54,138)

Due to customers
Total purchase price
Other liabilities

$

(3,649)
176,895
(54,138)

Total purchase price

$

176,895

Of the $46.4 million of acquired intangible assets, $2.9 million was assigned to trade names that are not subject to amortization. The
remaining $43.5 million of acquired intangible assets on the date of acquisition had a weighted-average useful life of approximately 7
Of
the $46.4
million of acquired
intangible
$2.9 million
was assigned
to trade names
that are
subject
to amortization.
The
years.
The intangible
assets that
made upassets,
this amount
included
non-competition
agreements
of not
$25.9
million
(7-year weighted
remaining
$43.5
million
of
acquired
intangible
assets
on
the
date
of
acquisition
had
a
weighted-average
useful
life
of
approximately
average useful life) and loan origination rights of $17.6 million (7-year useful life). These intangible assets are amortized using 7a
years.
The amortization
intangible assets
that made up this amount included non-competition agreements of $25.9 million (7-year weighted
straight-line
method.
average useful life) and loan origination rights of $17.6 million (7-year useful life). These intangible assets are amortized using a
straight-line
amortization
method.
The $35.9 million
of goodwill
was assigned to the Asset Generation and Management operating segment and is not expected to be
deductible for tax purposes.
The $35.9 million of goodwill was assigned to the Asset Generation and Management operating segment and is not expected to be
deductible
forintax
purposes.
As disclosed
note
3, as a result of the Settlement Agreement with the Department, the Company recognized an impairment charge
of $21.7 million to write-off student loan premiums on loans receiving 9.5% special allowance payments. These premiums are
As
disclosed
in note loans
3, as and
a result
of the
Settlement
with the Department, the Company recognized an impairment charge
included
in “student
accrued
interest”
in theAgreement
above table.
of $21.7 million to write-off student loan premiums on loans receiving 9.5% special allowance payments. These premiums are
included
in “student
loans andInc.
accrued
interest” in the above table.
Chela Education
Financing,
(“Chela”)
Chela
Education
Financing,
Inc. (“Chela”)
On October
25, 2005,
the Company
acquired a FFELP student loan portfolio of approximately $2.2 billion and certain servicing and
origination rights from Chela. In addition, the Company purchased the rights to the Chela brand. Total consideration paid by the
On
October
25,$109.3
2005, the
Company
acquired
a FFELP
student interest
loan portfolio
of approximately
$2.2 billion
and certain
servicing
and
Company
was
million
over the
par value
and accrued
of the student
loan portfolio.
The Company
allocated
$99.3
origination
fromand
Chela.
In addition,
thepurchase
Company
purchased
the rights
the Chelaloan
brand.
Total consideration
paid by and
the
million,
$9.0rights
million,
$1.0 million
of the
price
to the student
loantoportfolio,
origination
rights, and property
Company was
$109.3 million
overorigination
the par value
andareaccrued
interest
of the student
loan
Thebalance
Company
equipment,
respectively.
The loan
rights
included
in intangible
assets on
theportfolio.
consolidated
sheetallocated
and are $99.3
being
million, $9.0
million, and
million
purchase
price the
to the
studentofloan
portfolio,
loanrelated
origination
rights,
andwere
property
and
amortized
straight-line
over$1.0
5 years.
At of
thethe
time
of purchase,
portfolio
student
loans and
accrued
interest
financed
equipment,
respectively.
The
loan
origination
rights
are
included
in
intangible
assets
on
the
consolidated
balance
sheet
and
are
being
by the Company through existing student loan warehouse facilities.
amortized straight-line over 5 years. At the time of purchase, the portfolio of student loans and related accrued interest were financed
by
the Company
through (“CAN”)
existing student loan warehouse facilities.
College
Access Network
College
Access
On October
31, Network
2005, the(“CAN”)
Company entered into an agreement to amend an existing contract with CAN. CAN is the Colorado statedesignated guarantor of FFELP student loans. Under the agreement, the Company will provide student loan servicing and guaranty
On Octoberand
31, will
2005,
the Company
entered into
an agreement
to amendofancertain
existingCAN
contract
with CAN.
CAN
the the
Colorado
state-a
operations
assume
the operational
expenses
and employment
employees.
CAN
willispay
Company
designated
guarantor
of FFELPand
student
loans.
the agreement,
the Company
Company providing
will provide
student
loanonservicing
guaranty
portion of the
gross servicing
guaranty
feesUnder
as consideration
for the
these
services
behalf ofand
CAN.
The
operations terminates
and will assume
the operational
and employment
of certain
CAN
employees.
CANagreement.
will pay the
Company
agreement
November
1, 2015 and expenses
can be extended
for an additional
10-year
period
upon mutual
The
Companya
portion
of the
grossasservicing
and guaranty
consideration
the Company
thesemillion
services
behalf
of CAN.costs.
The
paid
$41.3
million
consideration
to enterfees
intoasthis
outsourcingfor
contract,
which providing
includes $0.1
of on
direct
acquisition
agreement
terminates
2015related
and can
extended
for an additional
10-year
uponstraight-line
mutual agreement.
The Company
This payment
created November
intangible 1,
assets
to be
customer
relationships
that are
beingperiod
amortized
by the Company
over
paid
$41.3ofmillion
as consideration to enter into this outsourcing contract, which includes $0.1 million of direct acquisition costs.
the terms
the contracts.
This payment created intangible assets related to customer relationships that are being amortized straight-line by the Company over
the
terms
of the contracts.
5280
Solutions,
Inc. (“5280”)
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NELNET, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
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On
2005,
the Company purchased the remaining 50% of the stock of 5280. 5280 provides information technology
5280November
Solutions,8,Inc.
(“5280”)
products and services, with core areas of business in student loan software solutions for schools, lenders, and guarantors; technical
On November
8, 2005,
Companycontent
purchased
the remaining
50% of the
of 5280. 5280
provides restricted
information
technology
consulting
services;
andthe
enterprise
management.
Consideration
forstock
the purchase
was 258,760
shares
of the
products andClass
services,
with core
areas
of business
student The
loanvalue
software
solutions
forshares
schools,
lenders,
guarantors;
technical
Company’s
A common
stock
valued
at $9.7 inmillion.
of the
common
issued
was and
determined
based
on the
consulting
services;
and
management.
Consideration
the and
purchase
wasterms
258,760
of the
closing market
price of
theenterprise
Company’scontent
common
shares over the
2-day periodfor
before
after the
of therestricted
acquisitionshares
were agreed
Company’s
Class A The
common
stock
valued
$9.7Amillion.
value
of the
common
shares are
issued
was to
determined
on the
to
and announced.
258,760
shares
of at
Class
commonThe
stock
issued
in the
acquisition
subject
put optionbased
agreements
closing market
of the Company’s
common
shares30,
over
the the
2-day
periodmay
before
and the
afterCompany
the termstoofrepurchase
the acquisition
whereby
duringprice
the 30-day
period ending
November
2008
holders
require
all orwere
partagreed
of the
to and at
announced.
The 258,760
shares
ClassofAthecommon
stockas issued
in the acquisition
subject to
option
agreements
shares
a price of $37.10
per share.
Theofvalue
put options
of the closing
date of the are
acquisition
wasput
$1.2
million
and was
whereby during
30-day as
period
endingpurchase
November
30, 2008
the holders
require the
repurchase
or the
partdate
of the
recorded
by the the
Company
additional
price.
The value
of themay
put options
wasCompany
valued bytothe
Companyallon
of
shares at a price
$37.10 per share.
Themodel
value using
of thethe
putfollowing
options asassumptions:
of the closing
date ofinterest
the acquisition
was
$1.2 million
andofwas
acquisition
usingof
a Black-Scholes
pricing
risk-free
rate of 4.4
percent,
volatility
27
recorded and
by the
Companyyield.
as additional
purchase price.
Theand
value
of the
by thewas
Company
on theand
date
of
percent,
no dividend
As of December
31, 2006
2005,
the put
fairoptions
value ofwas
thevalued
put option
$2.2 million
$0.8
acquisition
using
a
Black-Scholes
pricing
model
using
the
following
assumptions:
risk-free
interest
rate
of
4.4
percent,
volatility
of
27
million, respectively. The change in the fair value of the put option for the years ended December 31, 2006 and 2005 was an increase
percent,
and no and
dividend
yield.of As
of million,
December
31, 2006 and 2005,
the fair
value of themarket
put option
$2.2 currency,
million and
of
$1.4 million
a decrease
$0.4
respectively,
is included
in “derivative
value,was
foreign
and$0.8
put
million,
respectively.
The
change
in
the
fair
value
of
the
put
option
for
the
years
ended
December
31,
2006
and
2005
was
an
increase
option adjustments and derivative settlements, net” on the consolidated statements of income. The Company also incurred direct
of $1.4 million
decrease
of $0.4
million, respectively,
and is included
in “derivative
market value,
foreign
currency,
put
acquisition
costsand
of a$0.1
million.
Accordingly,
the total consideration
recorded
by the Company
for this
acquisition
wasand
$11.0
option
adjustments
and
derivative
settlements,
net”
on
the
consolidated
statements
of
income.
The
Company
also
incurred
direct
million, which consists of the value assigned to the common stock of $9.7 million and the put options of $1.2 million and the
of $0.1
$0.1 million.
million. The
Accordingly,
consideration
recorded
by accounting
the Company
acquisition
was $11.0
acquisition costs of
acquisitionthe
wastotal
accounted
for under
purchase
andfor
thethis
results
of operations
have
million,
which in
consists
of the valuefinancial
assignedstatements
to the common
stock of $9.7
andeffective
the put options
million and
thetodirect
been
included
the consolidated
from November
1, million
2005, the
date of of
the$1.2
acquisition.
Prior
this
acquisition costs
of $0.1 million.
was accounted
under
purchase
accounting
and the results of operations have
acquisition,
the Company
accountedThe
for acquisition
its 50% ownership
of 5280 for
under
the equity
method
of accounting.
been included in the consolidated financial statements from November 1, 2005, the effective date of the acquisition. Prior to this
acquisition,
the table
Company
accounted
50% ownership
of 5280
underand
the liabilities
equity method
of accounting.
The
following
summarizes
thefor
fairitsvalues
of the assets
acquired
assumed
at the date of acquisition (dollars in
thousands):
The following table summarizes the fair values of the assets acquired and liabilities assumed at the date of acquisition (dollars in
Cash and cash equivalents
$
1,845
thousands):
Accounts receivable

2,688

Cash
and cash
equivalents
Intangible
assets

$

1,845
5,301

Accounts
receivable
Property and
equipment

2,688
175

Intangible
assets
Other assets
Property
andover
equipment
Excess cost
fair value of net assets acquired (goodwill)

5,301
112
175
6,045

Other liabilities
assets

112
(3,542)

Excess
costrecorded
over fairinvestment
value of netinassets
Previously
equityacquired
interest (goodwill)

6,045
(1,629)

Other liabilities
Totalrecorded
purchaseinvestment
price
Previously
in equity interest
Total purchase price

$

(3,542)
10,995
(1,629)

$

10,995

As of the date of acquisition, the $5.3 million of acquired intangible assets had a weighted-average useful life of approximately 7
years. The intangible assets that made up this amount included customer relationships of $3.0 million (10-year useful life), nonAs of the date
of acquisition,
$5.3 (3-year
million useful
of acquired
intangiblesoftware
assets had
a weighted-average
useful life),
life of
7
competition
agreements
of $1.4the
million
life), computer
of $0.7
million (4-year useful
andapproximately
trade names of
years.
The
intangible
assets
that
made
up
this
amount
included
customer
relationships
of
$3.0
million
(10-year
useful
life),
non$0.2 million (3-year useful life). All intangible assets are amortized using a straight-line amortization method with the exception of
competition
agreements ofThe
$1.4
million (3-year
useful intangible
life), computer
of $0.7
million
(4-year useful
life),and
and expenses
trade names
of
customer
relationships.
customer
relationships
asset software
is amortized
over
the projected
revenues
(cash
$0.2
million
(3-year
useful
life).
All
intangible
assets
are
amortized
using
a
straight-line
amortization
method
with
the
exception
of
flows) attributable to this asset as of the date of acquisition. Because of customer attrition, the estimated annual cash flows related to
customer relationships
relationships. diminish
The customer
relationships
asset is amortized
projected
and expenses
(cash
the further
from the intangible
date of acquisition.
As such,over
the the
Company
usesrevenues
an accelerated
amortization
flows)
this
asset as
of the the
dateestimated
of acquisition.
Because
of customer
attrition,
theisestimated
annual
cash flows related to
methodattributable
that reflectstothe
pattern
in which
economic
benefits
of this acquired
asset
used by the
Company.
customer relationships diminish the further from the date of acquisition. As such, the Company uses an accelerated amortization
method
reflects
pattern was
in which
the estimated
economic
benefits
of this
acquiredoperating
asset is used
by theand
Company.
The $6.0that
million
ofthe
goodwill
assigned
to the Software
and
Technical
Services
segment
is not expected to be
deductible for tax purposes.
The $6.0 million of goodwill was assigned to the Software and Technical Services operating segment and is not expected to be
deductible
for tax purposes.
Firstmark Services,
L.L.C. (“Firstmark”)
Firstmark
Services,
L.L.C.
On November
8, 2005,
the (“Firstmark”)
Company purchased the remaining 50% interest in Firstmark for $2.4 million. Firstmark specializes in
originating and servicing non-federally insured loans. The acquisition was accounted for under purchase accounting and the results of
On
November
2005,included
the Company
thefinancial
remaining
50% interest
Firstmark 1,
for2005,
$2.4 million.
Firstmark
in
operations
have8,been
in the purchased
consolidated
statements
frominNovember
the effective
date ofspecializes
acquisition.
originating
servicingthe
non-federally
insured loans.
accounted
forthe
under
purchase
and the results of
Prior to thisand
acquisition,
Company accounted
for itsThe
50%acquisition
interest ofwas
Firstmark
under
equity
methodaccounting
of accounting.
operations have been included in the consolidated financial statements from November 1, 2005, the effective date of acquisition.
Prior to this acquisition, the Company accounted for its 50% interest of Firstmark under the equity method of accounting.
The following table summarizes the fair values of the assets acquired and liabilities assumed at the date of acquisition (dollars in
thousands):
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cashvalues
equivalents
$ assumed
396at the date of acquisition (dollars in
The following table summarizesCash
theandfair
of the assets acquired and liabilities
Restricted cash - due to customers
1,640
thousands):
Accounts receivable

1,424

Cash
and cash
equivalents
Intangible
assets

$

396
1,568

Restricted
cash
- due to customers
Property and
equipment

1,640
285

Accounts
receivable
Other assets

1,424
86

Intangible
assets
Other liabilities

1,568
(528)

Property
and equipment
Due to customers

285
(1,640)

Other
assetsrecorded investment in equity interest
Previously
Other liabilities
purchase price
Due to Total
customers

86
(831)
$

Previously recorded investment in equity interest

(528)
2,400
(1,640)
(831)

Of the $1.6 million of acquired intangible
assets,
$0.4 million was assigned to trade $names that
Total purchase
price
2,400are not subject to amortization. The
remaining $1.2 million of acquired intangible assets was assigned to customer relationships and is being amortized straight-line over
its estimated useful life of 7 years.
Of the $1.6 million of acquired intangible assets, $0.4 million was assigned to trade names that are not subject to amortization. The
remaining
$1.2
million of acquired intangible assets was assigned to customer relationships and is being amortized straight-line over
CUnet, LLC
(“CUnet”)
its estimated useful life of 7 years.
On June 30, 2006, the Company purchased 100% of the membership interests of CUnet. The initial consideration paid by the
CUnet,
LLC
Company
was(“CUnet”)
$40.1 million in cash, including $0.1 million of direct acquisition costs. CUnet provides campus locations and online
schools with performance-based educational marketing, web-based marketing, lead generation, and vendor management services to
On June their
30, 2006,
purchased
100% of
membership interests of CUnet. The initial consideration paid by the
enhance
brandsthe
andCompany
improve student
recruitment
andtheretention.
Company was $40.1 million in cash, including $0.1 million of direct acquisition costs. CUnet provides campus locations and online
schools
withtoperformance-based
marketing,
web-based
marketing,
lead
generation,
and
management
to
In addition
the initial purchaseeducational
price, additional
payments
are to be
paid by the
Company
based
onvendor
the operating
resultsservices
of CUnet.
enhance
their brands
and improve
student
recruitment
retention.net income before taxes (excluding any amortization of intangibles
The
contingent
consideration
is based
on the
aggregateand
cumulative
from the purchase price allocation) of CUnet earned for the period from July 1, 2006 through June 30, 2009 (“Cumulative Net
In
addition provided,
to the initial
purchase
price,
are tomay
be paid
the Company
based on
theCompany
operatingwill
results
of CUnet.
Income”),
however,
that
the additional
contingent payments
consideration
not by
exceed
$80.0 million.
The
calculate
the
The
contingent
consideration
is
based
on
the
aggregate
cumulative
net
income
before
taxes
(excluding
any
amortization
of
intangibles
Cumulative Net Income as of each June 30, 2007, June 30, 2008, and June 30, 2009 (individually, the “Calculation Period”). In
from
purchase of
price
CUnet earned
the period
1, 2006
through
June 30,stock
2009subsequent
(“Cumulative
Net
partialthe
satisfaction
theallocation)
contingent of
consideration,
thefor
Company
willfrom
issueJuly
shares
of Class
A common
to each
Income”),
provided,
however,
that
the
contingent
consideration
may
not
exceed
$80.0
million.
The
Company
will
calculate
the
Calculation Period, provided, however, that the market value of the shares issued shall not exceed $5.0 million in any one year, unless
Cumulative
Net
Income
as
of
each
June
30,
2007,
June
30,
2008,
and
June
30,
2009
(individually,
the
“Calculation
Period”).
In
the Company elects at its option to make a distribution in a higher amount. No later than June 30, 2010, 10% of the remaining
partial
satisfaction
of
the
contingent
consideration,
the
Company
will
issue
shares
of
Class
A
common
stock
subsequent
to
each
contingent consideration will be paid in cash, and the balance of 90% of the contingent consideration will be paid in cash no later than
Calculation31,
Period,
however,
thecontingent
market value
of the shares
not exceed2010
$5.0 will
million
any one
unless
December
2010.provided,
The cash
portion that
of the
consideration
to issued
be paidshall
in December
be in
reduced
byyear,
the market
the Company
elects at its
a distribution
in a issued
higher as
amount.
No later
than June 30,
10% ofwill
the record
remaining
value
as of December
15,option
2010 toofmake
any shares
previously
contingent
consideration.
The2010,
Company
the
contingent consideration
will be
in cash, contingency
and the balance
of 90% ofand
the the
contingent
consideration
will isbeissued
paid inorcash
no later
contingency
payments when
thepaid
applicable
is resolved
additional
consideration
issuable
orthan
the
December
The cash
portion of the
contingent
consideration
paid in December
2010 will be
byentered
the market
outcome of31,
the2010.
contingency
is determinable
beyond
a reasonable
doubt. to
In be
connection
with the acquisition,
thereduced
Company
into
value
as of agreements
December 15,
of sellers,
any shares
previously
issued aspayments
contingent
The Company
will record
employment
with2010
certain
in which
the contingency
areconsideration.
related to their continued
employment
with the
the
contingency
payments when
thethese
applicable
contingency
is resolved
thewill
additional
consideration
issued orasissuable
or the
Company. Accordingly,
when
contingency
payments
are paid,and
they
be recognized
by the isCompany
compensation
outcome
of the
is determinable
beyond aagreements.
reasonable doubt. In connection with the acquisition, the Company entered into
expense over
thecontingency
remaining term
of the employment
employment agreements with certain sellers, in which the contingency payments are related to their continued employment with the
Company.
Accordingly,
when for
these
contingency
they will
be recognized
theincluded
Companyin as
This acquisition
was accounted
under
purchase payments
accountingare
andpaid,
the results
of operations
haveby
been
thecompensation
consolidated
expense
the remaining
financialover
statements
from theterm
dateofofthe
theemployment
acquisition. agreements.
This acquisition was accounted for under purchase accounting and the results of operations have been included in the consolidated
financial statements from the date of the acquisition.

The following table summarizes the estimated fair values of the assets acquired and liabilities assumed at the date of acquisition
(dollars in thousands). The Company is in the process of valuing certain intangible assets; thus, the allocation of the purchase price is
subject to refinement.
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The following table summarizes
thereceivable
estimated fair values of the assets acquired and liabilities
assumed
Accounts
$
5,154 at the date of acquisition
(dollars in thousands). The Intangible
Company
is in the process of valuing certain intangible assets; thus, the 16,352
allocation of the purchase price is
assets
subject to refinement.
Property and equipment
360
Other assets
Accounts receivable
Excess cost over fair value of net assets acquired (goodwill)
Intangible assets
Other liabilities
Property and equipment
Other assets
Excess cost over fair value of net assets acquired (goodwill)

$

$

Other liabilities

520
5,154
22,335
16,352
(4,633)
360
520
40,088
22,335
(4,633)

As of the date of acquisition, the $16.4 million of acquired intangible assets had a weighted-average useful life of approximately 7
years. The intangible assets that made up this amount included customer relationships $of $9.6 40,088
million (8-year useful life), noncompetition agreements of $4.8 million (5-year useful life), trade names of $1.7 million (4-year useful life), and computer software of
$0.3 million (3-year useful life). All intangible assets are amortized using a straight-line amortization method with the exception of
As
of the relationships.
date of acquisition,
the $16.4 relationships
million of acquired
intangible
had a over
weighted-average
life and
of approximately
customer
The customer
intangible
asset isassets
amortized
the projected useful
revenues
expenses (cash7
years.
The
intangible
assets
that
made
up
this
amount
included
customer
relationships
of
$9.6
million
(8-year
useful
nonflows) attributable to this asset as of the date of acquisition. Because of customer attrition, the estimated annual cash flowslife),
related
to
competition
agreements
of
$4.8
million
(5-year
useful
life),
trade
names
of
$1.7
million
(4-year
useful
life),
and
computer
software
of
customer relationships diminish the further from the date of acquisition. As such, the Company uses an accelerated amortization
$0.3
million
(3-year the
useful
life).in which
All intangible
assetseconomic
are amortized
using
a straight-line
amortization
with the exception of
method
that reflects
pattern
the estimated
benefits
of this
acquired asset
is used bymethod
the Company.
customer relationships. The customer relationships intangible asset is amortized over the projected revenues and expenses (cash
flows)
attributable
to goodwill
this assetwas
as ofassigned
the datetoofthe
acquisition.
customer
attrition, theoperating
estimatedsegment
annual and
cashisflows
related
to
The $22.3
million of
EnrollmentBecause
Servicesofand
List Management
expected
to be
customer
diminish the further from the date of acquisition. As such, the Company uses an accelerated amortization
deductiblerelationships
for tax purposes.
method that reflects the pattern in which the estimated economic benefits of this acquired asset is used by the Company.
Peterson’s
The $22.3 million of goodwill was assigned to the Enrollment Services and List Management operating segment and is expected to be
On July 27,for2006,
the Company purchased certain assets and assumed certain liabilities (hereafter referred to as “Peterson’s”) from
deductible
tax purposes.
Thomson Learning Inc. for total consideration of $38.6 million in cash. The final purchase price of Peterson’s is subject to change
Peterson’s
based on certain purchase price adjustments as defined in the purchase agreement. Peterson’s provides a comprehensive suite of
education and career-related solutions in the areas of education search, test preparation, admissions, financial aid information, and
On
July
27, 2006, Peterson’s
the Company
purchased
certain105
assets
and assumed
certain
liabilities
(hereafter
referred
to as “Peterson’s”)
from
career
assistance.
reaches
an estimated
million
consumers
annually
with its
publications
and online
information about
Thomson
Learning
Inc. for
totalschools,
consideration
of $38.6
million
in cash.
The final
purchase
priceprivate
of Peterson’s
is subject
change
colleges and
universities,
career
graduate
programs,
distance
learning,
executive
training,
secondary
schools,tosummer
based
on certain
purchase
adjustments
defined inand
the career
purchase
agreement.
Peterson’s
a comprehensive
opportunities,
study
abroad,price
financial
aid, test as
preparation,
exploration
resources.
Thisprovides
acquisition
was accounted suite
for asofa
education
and career-related
the areas and
of education
search,
test preparation,
admissions,
aid information,
and
business combination
under solutions
purchase in
accounting
the results
of operations
have been
included financial
in the consolidated
financial
career assistance.
an estimated 105 million consumers annually with its publications and online information about
statements
from thePeterson’s
date of thereaches
acquisition.
colleges and universities, career schools, graduate programs, distance learning, executive training, private secondary schools, summer
opportunities,
financial
aid, test preparation,
career
exploration
Thisassumed
acquisition
wasdate
accounted
for as a
The
followingstudy
table abroad,
summarizes
the estimated
fair values and
of the
assets
acquiredresources.
and liabilities
at the
of acquisition
business
combination
under
purchase
accounting
and
the
results
of
operations
have
been
included
in
the
consolidated
financial
(dollars in thousands). The Company is in the process of valuing certain intangible assets; thus, the allocation of the purchase price is
statements
from the date of the acquisition.
subject
to refinement.
The following table summarizes the estimated fair values of the assets acquired and liabilities assumed at the date of acquisition
(dollars in thousands). TheAccounts
Company
is in the process of valuing certain intangible assets; thus,
the allocation
of the purchase price is
receivable
$
7,055
subject to refinement.
Intangible assets
4,309
Property and equipment
Accounts receivable
Other assets
Intangible assets
Excess cost over fair value of net assets acquired (goodwill)
Property and equipment
Other liabilities
Other assets
Excess cost over fair value of net assets acquired (goodwill)
Other liabilities

$

$

1,746
7,055
2,493
4,309
37,081
1,746
(14,047)
2,493
37,081
38,637
(14,047)

As of the date of acquisition, the intangible assets consist of database content and computer software of $2.3 million and $2.0 million,
$
38,637
respectively, and are being amortized straight-line over their estimated useful life of 3 years.
As
the date
of acquisition,
intangible
of database
andManagement
computer software
of $2.3
million
$2.0 million,
Theof$37.1
million
of goodwillthe
was
assignedassets
to the consist
Enrollment
Servicescontent
and List
operating
segment
and and
is expected
to be
respectively,
and
are
being
amortized
straight-line
over
their
estimated
useful
life
of
3
years.
deductible for tax purposes.
The
million
of goodwill was assigned to the Enrollment Services and List Management operating segment and is expected to be
Pro $37.1
Forma
Information
deductible for tax purposes.
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Pro Forma
Information
The
following
unaudited pro forma information presents the combined results of the Company as though the 2006 business
acquisitions of infiNET, FACTS (20%), CUnet, and Peterson’s occurred on January 1, 2006 and 2005 and the 2005 business
The following
unaudited
forma(80%),
information
presents
the combined
of the
Company
as though
the The
2006pro
business
acquisitions
of SMG,
NHR,pro
FACTS
Foresite,
LoanSTAR,
5280, andresults
Firstmark
occurred
on January
1, 2005.
forma
acquisitions
of infiNET,
(20%), reflect
CUnet,theand
Peterson’s
occurred
onacquisitions
January 1, had
2006
andin2005
thebeginning
2005 business
financial
information
doesFACTS
not necessarily
results
of operations
if the
been
effectand
at the
of the
acquisitions
ofmay
SMG,
FACTS
LoanSTAR,
Firstmarkreflects
occurred
January
1, 2005. The
pro on
forma
period
or that
beNHR,
attained
in the(80%),
future.Foresite,
In addition,
the pro 5280,
forma and
information
theon
results
of operations
based
the
financial information
does
not necessarily
reflect
thefor
results
of operations
if the acquisitions had been in effect at the beginning of the
Company’s
preliminary
allocation
of purchase
price
certain
of the acquisitions.
period or that may be attained in the future. In addition, the pro forma information reflects the results of operations based on the
Pro forma
Company’s preliminary allocation of purchase price for certain of the acquisitions.

5.

Net interest income
Other income
Net
Net interest
income income
Other income
Weighted
average shares outstanding, basic and diluted
Net income
Earnings per share, basic and diluted
Weighted average shares outstanding, basic and diluted
Earnings per share, basic and diluted

Intangible Assets and Goodwill

$
$

$
$

year ended
December 31,
Pro forma
2006
2005
year ended
December
31, share data)
(dollars in thousands,
except
2006
2005
(Unaudited)
(dollars in thousands, except share data)
308,732
348,176
(Unaudited)
383,921
375,825
308,732
348,176
66,437
179,915
383,921
375,825
53,621,391
54,354,104
66,437
179,915
1.24
3.31
53,621,391
54,354,104
1.24
3.31

Intangible
assetsAssets
consistand
of the
following:
5. Intangible
Goodwill
Intangible assets consist of the following:

Amortizable intangible assets:
Customer relationships (net of accumulated amortization of $11,515
and $3,771,
respectively)
Amortizable
intangible
assets:
Covenantsrelationships
not to compete
of accumulated
amortization
of $9,559
Customer
(net(net
of accumulated
amortization
of $11,515
and
respectively)
and$499,
$3,771,
respectively)
Loan origination
(net(net
of accumulated
amortization
of $7,238
Covenants
not to rights
compete
of accumulated
amortization
of $9,559
respectively)
and $2,505,
$499, respectively)
Student
lists (net rights
of accumulated
amortization
of $3,757 of $7,238
Loan
origination
(net of accumulated
amortization
$1,708, respectively)
and $2,505,
Trade names
(net of
of accumulated
accumulated amortization
amortization of
of $3,757
$363
Student
lists (net
$54, respectively)
and $1,708,
respectively)
Computer
software
of accumulated
amortization
of $1,759
Trade
names
(net of(net
accumulated
amortization
of $363
$656,respectively)
respectively)
and $54,
Other (net software
of accumulated
$348 and $21,
respectively)
Computer
(net of amortization
accumulated of
amortization
of $1,759
and $656, respectively)
Total - amortizable intangible assets
Other (net of accumulated amortization of $348 and $21, respectively)
Unamortizable intangible assets - trade names
Total - amortizable intangible assets
Unamortizable intangible assets - trade names

Weighted
average
remaining
Weighted
useful
life
average
as of
remaining
December
useful 31,
life2006
as of
December 31, 2006
127 months

$

57 months
127
months

$

As of December 31,
2006
2005
(dollars
in thousands)
As of December
31,
2006
2005
(dollars in thousands)
68,736
70,369
37,573
68,736

3,874
70,369

68 months
57

27,571
37,573

49,694
3,874

26 months
68

4,440
27,571

6,489
49,694

39
26 months

1,746
4,440

767
6,489

16
39 months
9 months
16 months
90 months
9 months

3,578
1,746
2,251
3,578
145,895
2,251
17,099
145,895
162,994
17,099

1,391
767
253
1,391
132,837
253
20,280
132,837
153,117
20,280

162,994

153,117

90 months

$
$

The Company recorded amortization expense on its intangible assets of $25.1 million, $9.5 million, and $8.8 million, during the years
ended December 31, 2006, 2005, and 2004, respectively. The Company will continue to amortize intangible assets over their
remaining useful lives. As disclosed in note 4, the Company is in the process of valuing certain intangible assets, however, as of
December 31, 2006 the Company estimates it will record amortization expense as follows (dollars in thousands):
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2007

$

28,851

2008

27,467

2009

23,566

2010

19,612

2011

13,913

2012 and thereafter

32,486
$

145,895

The change in the carrying amount of goodwill by operating segment was as follows:
Asset
Generation
and
Management

6.

Balance as of December 31, 2004
Goodwill acquired during the period
Goodwill from prior period acquisition
allocated during the period
Effect of foreign currency fluctuations
Balance as of December 31, 2005
Goodwill acquired during the period
Goodwill from prior period acquisition
allocated during the period
Effect of foreign currency fluctuations
Impairment charge

$

Balance as of December 31, 2006

$

$

Student Loan
and
Guaranty
Servicing

Tuition
Payment
Enrollment
Processing
Services
and Campus
and List
Commerce
Management
(dollars in thousands)
—
—
32,910
17,150

5,971
30,053

—
—

—
—
36,024
—

2,996
64
3,060
—

—
32,910
29,169

6,526
—
—

(1,661)
57
(1,456)

42,550

—

Software
and
Technical
Services

Total

2,551
7,840

8,522
87,953

—
—
17,150
59,416

—
—
10,391
—

2,996
64
99,535
88,585

(4,221)
—
—

5,850
—
—

(1,795)
—
—

4,699
57
(1,456)

57,858

82,416

8,596

191,420

Student Loans Receivable

Student loans receivable consisted of the following:
As of December 31,
2006
2005
(dollars in thousands)
Federally insured loans
Non-federally insured loans

$

Unamortized loan premiums and deferred origination costs
Allowance for loan losses – federally insured loans
Allowance for loan losses – non-federally insured loans
$
Non-federally insured allowance as a percentage of ending balance of non-federally insured loans
Total allowance as a percentage of ending balance of total loans

23,217,321
197,147

19,816,075
96,880

23,414,468
401,087
(7,601)
(18,402)

19,912,955
361,242
(98)
(13,292)

23,789,552

20,260,807

9.33%
0.11%

13.72%
0.07%

Federally insured loans may be made under the FFEL Program by certain lenders as defined by the Higher Education Act. These
loans, including related accrued interest, are guaranteed at their maximum level permitted under the Higher Education Act by an
authorized guaranty agency, which has a contract of reinsurance with the Department. The terms of the loans, which vary on an
individual basis, generally provide for repayment in monthly installments of principal and interest over a period of up to 30 years.
Interest rates on loans may be fixed or variable, dependent upon type, terms of loan agreements, and date of origination. Interest rates
on loans currently range from 2.6% to 12.0% (the weighted average rate was 5.3% and 4.7% as of December 31, 2006 and 2005,
respectively). For FFELP loans, the education lending subsidiaries have entered into trust agreements in which unrelated financial
institutions serve as the eligible lender trustees. As eligible lender trustees, the financial institutions act as the eligible lender in
acquiring certain eligible student loans as an accommodation to the subsidiaries, which hold beneficial interests in the student loan
assets as the beneficiaries of such trusts.
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Substantially all FFELP loan principal and related accrued interest is guaranteed as defined by the Higher Education Act. These
guarantees are made subject to the performance of certain loan servicing procedures stipulated by applicable regulations. If these due
diligence procedures are not met, affected student loans may not be covered by the guarantees should the borrower default. The
Company and its education lending subsidiaries retain and enforce recourse provisions against servicers and lenders under certain
circumstances. Such student loans are subject to “cure” procedures and reinstatement of the guaranty under certain circumstances.
Student loans receivable also includes non-federally insured loans. The terms of the non-federally insured loans, which vary on an
individual basis, generally provide for repayment in monthly installments of principal and interest over a period of up to 30 years.
Interest rates on the loans will vary based on the average of the 91-day U.S. Treasury Bill or the prime rate. The non-federally insured
loans are not covered by guarantees or collateral should the borrower default.
The Company has provided for an allowance for loan losses related to the non-federally insured loans and federally insured loans.
Activity in the allowance for loan losses for the years ended December 31, 2006, 2005, and 2004 is shown below:
2006

Beginning balance
Provision (recovery) for loan losses
Loans charged off, net of recoveries
Ending balance

$

2005
(dollars in thousands)

13,390
15,308
(2,695)
26,003

$

2004

7,272
7,030
(912)
13,390

16,026
(529)
(8,225)
7,272

Loan Sales
As part of the Company’s asset management strategy, the Company periodically sells student loan portfolios to third parties. During
the year ended December 31, 2006, the Company sold $748.5 million (par value) of student loans resulting in the recognition of a
gain of $15.9 million. The gain on the sale of the student loans is included in “other income” on the consolidated statement of
income.
As part of the agreement for the acquisition of the capital stock of LoanSTAR from the Texas Foundation completed in October 2005,
the Company agreed to sell student loans in an aggregate amount sufficient to permit the Texas Foundation to maintain a portfolio of
loans equal to no less than $200.0 million through October 2010. The sales price for such loans is the fair value mutually agreed upon
between the Company and the Texas Foundation. To satisfy this obligation, the Company sells loans to the Texas Foundation on a
quarterly basis. The loan sales to the Texas Foundation are included in the total loan sales in the preceding paragraph.
7.

Bonds and Notes Payable

The following tables summarize outstanding bonds and notes payable by type of instrument:

Carrying
amount
(dollars in
thousands)

As of December 31, 2006
Interest rate
range

Final maturity

Variable-rate bonds and notes (a):
Bonds and notes based on indices

$

Bonds and notes based on auction
Total variable-rate bonds and notes

16,622,385

3.63% - 6.08%

02/26/07 - 05/01/42

2,671,370

3.63% - 5.45%

11/01/09 - 07/01/43

5.26% - 5.62%

05/11/07 - 10/17/08

19,293,755

Commercial paper and other

5,173,723

Fixed-rate bonds and notes (a)

403,431

5.20% - 6.68%

11/01/09 - 05/01/29

Unsecured fixed rate debt

475,000

5.13% - 7.40%

06/01/10 - 09/29/36

Unsecured line of credit
Other borrowings

103,000
113,210

5.69% - 8.25%
5.10% - 5.78%

08/19/10
06/29/07 - 11/01/15

$
(a) Issued in securitization transactions
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Carrying
amount
(dollars in
thousands)

As of December 31, 2005
Interest rate
range

Final maturity

Variable-rate bonds and notes (a):
Bonds and notes based on indices

$

Bonds and notes based on auction
Total variable-rate bonds and notes

12,813,137

2.85% - 4.94%

04/01/07 - 05/01/42

3,159,570

3.15% - 4.60%

11/01/09 - 07/01/43

15,972,707

Commercial paper and other

4,816,827

4.24% - 4.31%

05/12/06 - 09/02/09

Fixed-rate bonds and notes (a)

519,086

5.20% - 6.68%

11/01/06 - 05/01/29

Unsecured fixed rate debt
Unsecured line of credit

275,000
90,000

5.13%
4.56% - 4.81%

06/01/10
08/19/10

$

21,673,620

(a) Issued in securitization transactions

Securitization Transactions
The Company’s secured financing instruments include variable-rate tax-exempt bonds, fixed-rate tax-exempt bonds, fixed-rate bonds,
and various asset-backed securities. Of the $25.6 billion of debt outstanding as of December 31, 2006, $19.7 billion was issued under
securitization transactions. During 2006 and 2005, the Company completed asset-backed securities transactions totaling $6.3 billion
and $6.5 billion, respectively. Securities issued in the securitization transactions are generally priced based upon a spread to LIBOR
or set under an auction procedure.
Most of the bonds and notes payable are primarily secured by the student loans receivable, related accrued interest, and by the
amounts on deposit in the accounts established under the respective bond resolutions or financing agreements. The student loan
interest margin (“SLIMS”) notes, included in fixed-rate bonds and notes in the above tables, are secured by the rights to residual cash
flows from certain variable-rate bonds and notes and fixed-rate notes. Certain variable-rate bonds and notes and fixed-rate bonds of
$1.6 billion and $1.7 billion as of December 31, 2006 and 2005, respectively, are secured by financial guaranty insurance policies
issued by Municipal Bond Investors Assurance Corporation, Ambac Assurance Corporation, and State Street.
Notes issued during 2006 included €773.2 million (950 million in U.S. dollars) with variable interest rates initially based on a spread
to EURIBOR (the “Euro Notes”). As of December 31, 2006, the Euro Notes were recorded on the Company’s balance sheet at
$1,020.4 million. The increase in the principal amount of Euro Notes of $70.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2006 as a
result of the fluctuation of the foreign currency exchange rate is included in the “derivative market value, foreign currency, and put
option adjustments and derivative settlements, net” in the consolidated statement of income. Concurrently with the issuance of the
Euro Notes, the Company entered into cross-currency interest rate swaps which are further discussed in note 8.
In May and October 2002, the Company consummated debt offerings of student loan asset-backed notes of $1.0 billion and
$1.2 billion, respectively. In connection with these debt offerings, the Company entered into agreements with certain investment
banks pursuant to which the Company will pay the investment banks a fee equal in the aggregate to 0.01% and 0.0075% per annum of
the principal balance of the May and October 2002 notes, respectively. These fees are for credit enhancements to the notes whereby
the investment banks will provide liquidity advances to the Company in the instance of disintermediation in the spread between
student loan interest rates and the notes’ interest rates as defined in the agreement. The total net amount paid by the Company under
these agreements was approximately $61,000, $85,000, and $115,000 during the years ended December 31, 2006, 2005, and 2004,
respectively.
Commercial Paper and Other
As of December 31, 2006 and 2005, the Company had a loan warehousing capacity of $4.2 billion and $6.6 billion, respectively, of
which $2.9 billion and $4.8 billion, respectively, was outstanding, through bank supported commercial paper conduit programs. The
Company had $1.3 billion and $1.8 billion in warehouse capacity available under its warehouse facilities as of December 31, 2006
and 2005, respectively. These conduit programs mature in 2006 through 2009; however, they must be renewed annually by
underlying liquidity providers. Historically, the Company has been able to renew its commercial paper conduit programs, including
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the underlying liquidity agreements. The commercial paper conduit programs are secured by the student loans receivable and related
accrued interest purchased in connection with the programs.
In August 2006, the Company established a $5.0 billion loan warehouse program under which it can issue one or more short-term
extendable secured liquidity notes (the “Secured Liquidity Notes”). Each Secured Liquidity Note is issued at a discount or an
interest-bearing basis having an expected maturity of between 1 and 307 days (each, an “Expected Maturity”) and a final maturity of
90 days following the Expected Maturity. The Secured Liquidity Notes issued as interest-bearing notes may be issued with fixed
interest rates or with interest rates that fluctuate based upon a one-month LIBOR rate, a three-month LIBOR rate, a commercial paper
rate, or a federal funds rate. The Secured Liquidity Notes are not redeemable by the Company nor subject to voluntary prepayment
prior to the Expected Maturity date. The Secured Liquidity Notes are secured by FFELP loans purchased in connection with the
program. As of December 31, 2006, the Company has $2.3 billion of Secured Liquidity Notes outstanding and $2.7 billion of
remaining authorization under this warehouse program.
Unsecured Fixed Rate Debt
On April 13, 2005, the Company filed a universal shelf registration statement with the Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”)
which was declared effective on May 12, 2005. This facility allows the Company to sell up to $750 million of securities that may
consist of common stock, preferred stock, unsecured debt securities, warrants, stock purchase contracts, and stock purchase units.
The terms of any securities are established at the time of the offering. On May 25, 2005, the Company consummated a debt offering
under this universal shelf consisting of $275.0 million in aggregate principal amount of Senior Notes due June 1, 2010 (the “Notes”).
The Notes are unsecured obligations of the Company. The interest rate on the Notes is 5.125%, payable semiannually. At the
Company’s option, the Notes are redeemable in whole at any time or in part from time to time at the redemption price described in its
prospectus supplement.
On September 27, 2006 the Company consummated a debt offering of $200.0 million aggregate principal amount of Junior
Subordinated Hybrid Securities (“Hybrid Securities”) under the universal shelf. The Hybrid Securities are unsecured obligations of
the Company.
The interest rate on the Hybrid Securities from the date they were issued through September 28, 2011 is 7.40%, payable semiannually. Beginning September 29, 2011 through September 29, 2036, the “scheduled maturity date”, the interest rate on the Hybrid
Securities will be equal to three-month LIBOR plus 3.375%, payable quarterly. The principal amount of the Hybrid Securities will
become due on the scheduled maturity date only to the extent that the Company has received proceeds from the sale of certain
qualifying capital securities prior to such date (as defined in the Hybrid Securities’ prospectus). If any amount is not paid on the
scheduled maturity date, it will remain outstanding and bear interest at a floating rate as defined in the prospectus, payable monthly.
On September 15, 2061, the Company must pay any remaining principal and interest on the Hybrid Securities in full whether or not
the Company has sold qualifying capital securities.
At the Company’s option, the Hybrid Securities are redeemable (i) in whole or in part, at any time on or after September 29, 2011, at
their principal amount plus accrued and unpaid interest, provided in the case of a redemption in part that the principal amount
outstanding after such redemption is at least $50.0 million, or (ii) in whole, but not in part, prior to September 29, 2011, after certain
events involving taxation (as described in the Hybrid Securities’ prospectus).
Unsecured Lines of Credit
On August 19, 2005, the Company entered into a credit agreement for a $500.0 million unsecured line of credit that terminates in
August 2010. As of December 31, 2006, there was $103.0 million outstanding on this line and $397.0 available for future use. The
weighted average interest rate on this line of credit was 6.68% as of December 31, 2006.
EDULINX has a credit facility agreement with a Canadian financial institution for approximately $10.8 million ($12.6 million in
Canadian dollars) that is cancelable by either party upon demand. There was no amount outstanding on this line as of December 31,
2006 and 2005.
On January 24, 2007, the Company established a $475 million unsecured commercial paper program. Under the program, the
Company may issue commercial paper for general corporate purposes. The maturities of the notes issued under this program will
vary, but may not exceed 397 days from the date of issue. Notes issued under this program will bear interest at rates that will vary
based on market conditions at the time of issuance.
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Other Borrowings
As of December 31, 2006, bonds and notes payable includes $108.1 million of notes due to Union Bank and Trust, an entity under
common control with the Company. The Company has used the proceeds from these notes to invest in student loan assets via a
participation agreement.
On October 13, 2006, the Company purchased a building in which its corporate headquarters is located. In connection with the
acquisition of the building, the Company assumed the outstanding note on the property. As of December 31, 2006, the outstanding
balance on the note was $5.1 million.
Maturity Schedule
Bonds and notes outstanding as of December 31, 2006 are due in varying amounts as shown below (dollars in thousands). The
student loan warehouse lines are renewable annually by underlying liquidity providers; therefore, they are reflected as maturing in
2007.
2007
2008
2009
2010
2011
2012 and thereafter

$

5,386,480
76,800
107,990
392,349
112,644
19,485,856

$

25,562,119

Generally, the Company’s secured financing instruments bearing interest at variable rates can be redeemed on any interest payment
date at par plus accrued interest. Subject to certain provisions, all bonds and notes are subject to redemption prior to maturity at the
option of certain education lending subsidiaries.
One of the Company’s education lending subsidiaries has irrevocably escrowed funds to make the remaining principal and interest
payments on previously issued bonds and notes. Accordingly, neither these obligations nor the escrowed funds are included on the
accompanying consolidated balance sheets. As of December 31, 2006 and 2005, $27.6 million and $25.7 million, respectively, of
defeased debt remained outstanding.
Certain bond resolutions contain, among other requirements, covenants relating to restrictions on additional indebtedness, limits as to
direct and indirect administrative expenses, and maintaining certain financial ratios. Management believes the Company is in
compliance with all covenants of the bond indentures and related credit agreements as of December 31, 2006.
8.

Derivative Financial Instruments

The Company maintains an overall risk management strategy that incorporates the use of derivative instruments to reduce the
economic effect of interest rate volatility and fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates. Derivative instruments used as part of
the Company’s risk management strategy include interest rate swaps, basis swaps, interest rate floor contracts, and cross-currency
interest rate swaps.
Interest Rate Swaps
The Company uses interest rate swaps to hedge fixed-rate student loan assets. The following table summarizes the outstanding
interest rate swaps as of December 31, 2006 used by the Company to hedge its fixed-rate loan portfolio (dollars in thousands):
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Weighted average
fixed rate paid by
the Company

Notional
values

Maturity
2006 (a)
2008
2009

$

250,000
462,500
312,500

Total

$ 1,025,000

3.16 %
3.76
4.01
3.69

(a) Expired on December 31, 2006
As discussed in note 3, the Company reached a Settlement Agreement with the Department to resolve the audit by the OIG of the
Company’s portfolio of student loans receiving the 9.5% special allowance payments. Under the terms of the Agreement, all 9.5%
special allowance payments will no longer be received by the Company. In consideration of not receiving the 9.5% special allowance
payments on a prospective basis, the Company entered into a series of off-setting interest rate swaps that mirror the $2.45 billion in
pre-existing interest rate swaps that the Company had utilized to hedge its loan portfolio receiving 9.5% special allowance payments
against increases in interest rates. The net effect of the new offsetting derivatives is to lock in a series of future income streams on
underlying trades through their respective maturity dates. A summary of these derivatives is as follows (notional amounts in
thousands):

Notional
Amount

Maturity
2007
2010
2012
2013

Weighted
average fixed
rate paid by
the Company

Notional
Amount

Weighted
average fixed
rate received by
the Company

$

512,500
1,137,500
275,000
525,000

3.42 %
4.25
4.31
4.36

$

512,500
1,137,500
275,000
525,000

5.25 % (a)
4.75
4.76
4.80

$

2,450,000

4.11 %

$

2,450,000

4.87 %

(a) The effective date of the 2007 derivatives in which the Company will receive a fixed rate is January 2, 2007.

Basis Swaps
On May 1, 2006, the Company entered into three ten-year basis swaps with notional amounts of $500.0 million each in which the
Company receives three-month LIBOR and pays one-month LIBOR less a spread as defined in the agreements. The effective dates of
these agreements were November 25, 2006, December 25, 2006, and January 25, 2007.
In addition to the three basis swaps summarized above, the Company also had four basis swaps with a total notional amount of $362.0
million that matured in July 2006 and one basis swap with a notional amount of $500.0 million which matured in August 2006 in
which the Company paid a floating interest rate based on the U.S. Treasury bill rate and received a floating interest rate based on the
three-month LIBOR rate.
Interest Rate Floor Contracts
In June 2006, the Company entered into interest rate floor contracts in which the Company received an upfront fee of $8.6 million.
These contracts were structured to monetize on an upfront basis the potential floor income associated with certain consolidation loans
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(see (a) below). Under the terms of these contracts, the Company is obligated to pay the counterparty floor income earned on a
notional amount of underlying consolidation student loans over the life of the floor income contracts. Specifically, the Company
agreed to pay the counterparty the difference, if positive, between the fixed borrower rate less the special allowance payment spread
for consolidation loans and the three-month LIBOR rate plus a spread to better match the LIBOR floor strike rate to the underlying
student loan asset on that notional amount, regardless of the actual balance of underlying student loans, over the life of the contracts.
The contracts do not extend over the life of the underlying consolidation student loans.
The following provide the terms of these contracts (dollars in thousands):

$

Amortizing

Floor strike

notional amount
49,423
43,274
36,833
33,731
45,690
75,449
49,469
51,853
45,191
44,357
39,637
61,850
24,044
31,648
37,103
7,097
21,968
17,220
62,466

rate
2.760%
2.885%
3.010%
3.135%
3.260%
3.385%
3.510%
3.635%
3.760%
3.885%
4.010%
4.135%
4.460%
5.060%
5.510%
4.300%
4.550%
4.800%
5.550%

$

778,303

Those contracts with floor strike rates of 2.76%-4.135% and 4.460%-5.55% have an effective start date of June 30, 2006 and June 30,
2010, respectively. All contracts expire on June 30, 2016.
(a) FFELP student loans originated prior to April 1, 2006 generally earn interest at the greater of the borrower rate or a floating rate determined by reference
to the average of the applicable floating rates (91-day Treasury bill rate or commercial paper rate) in a calendar quarter, plus a fixed spread that is dependent
upon when the loan was originated, the loan’s repayment status, and funding sources for the loan. If the resulting floating rate exceeds the borrower rate, the
Department pays the difference directly to the Company. This payment is referred to as special allowance payments (SAP). The Company generally
finances its student loan portfolio with floating rate debt. In low and/or declining interest rate environments, when the fixed borrower rate is higher than the
rate produced by the SAP formula, student loans earn at a fixed rate while the interest on the floating rate debt continues to decline. In these interest rate
environments, the Company earns additional spread income referred to as floor income.

On January 30, 2007, the Company paid $8.1 million to terminate all of its interest rate floor contracts resulting in the recognition of a
$2.1 million gain.
Cross-Currency Interest Rate Swaps
The Company entered into derivative instruments in 2006 as a result of the issuance of the Euro Notes discussed in note 7. Under the
terms of these derivative instrument agreements, the Company receives from a counterparty a spread to the EURIBOR index based on
a notional amount of €420.5 million and €352.7 million, respectively, and pays a spread to the LIBOR index based on a notional
amount of $500.0 million and $450.0 million, respectively. In addition, under the terms of these agreements, all principal payments
on the Euro Notes will effectively be paid at the exchange rate in effect as of the issuance of these notes.
Accounting for Derivative Financial Instruments
The Company accounts for derivative instruments under SFAS No. 133, which requires that every derivative instrument be recorded
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on the balance sheet as either an asset or liability measured at its fair value. Management has structured all of the Company’s
derivative transactions with the intent that each is economically effective; however, except for one interest rate swap that expired in
September 2005, the Company’s derivative instruments do not qualify for hedge accounting under SFAS No. 133. As a result, the
change in fair value of derivative instruments is recorded in the consolidated statements of income at each reporting date.
As of December 31, 2006 and 2005, the net fair value of the Company’s derivative portfolio was $118.1 million and $82.8 million,
respectively, and the net change in the fair value of the Company’s derivative portfolio included in “derivative market value, foreign
currency, and put option adjustments and derivative settlements, net” on the Company’s consolidated statements of income was a
$43.9 million increase, $95.9 million increase, and $11.9 million decrease for the years ended December 31, 2006, 2005, and 2004,
respectively.
The Company accounted for one interest rate swap with a notional amount of $150.0 million that expired in September 2005 as a cash
flow hedge. The following table shows the components of the change in accumulated other comprehensive income, net of tax, related
to this interest rate swap for the years ended December 31, 2005 and 2004:
2005
2004
(dollars in thousands)
Beginning balance

$

Change in fair value of cash flow hedge
Hedge ineffectiveness reclassified to earnings
Total change in unrealized gain on derivative
Ending balance

$

736

237

(753)
17
(736)

443
56
499

—

736

The following table summarizes the net derivative settlements for the years ended December 31, 2006, 2005, and 2004, which are
included in the “derivative market value, foreign currency, and put option adjustments and derivative settlements, net” on the
consolidated statements of income:
2006

2005
(dollars in thousands)

2004

Interest rate swaps
Basis swaps
Cross-currency interest rate swaps
Other (1)

$

40,476
(645)
(14,406)
(1,993)

(13,723)
(3,200)
—
(85)

(28,976)
(4,623)
—
(541)

Derivative settlements, net

$

23,432

(17,008)

(34,140)

(1) In connection with the issuance of the Hybrid Securities during 2006 as described in note 7, the Company entered into a
derivative instrument to economically lock into a fixed interest rate of 7.65% prior to the actual pricing of the transaction.
Upon pricing of the Hybrid Securities, the Company terminated this derivative instrument. The consideration paid by the
Company to terminate this derivative was $2.0 million.
By using derivative instruments, the Company is exposed to credit and market risk. When the fair value of a derivative contract is
positive, this generally indicates that the counterparty owes the Company. If the counterparty fails to perform, credit risk is equal to
the extent of the fair value gain in a derivative. When the fair value of a derivative contract is negative, the Company owes the
counterparty and, therefore, it has no credit risk. The Company minimizes the credit (or repayment) risk in derivative instruments by
entering into transactions with high-quality counterparties that are reviewed periodically by the Company’s risk committee. The
Company also maintains a policy of requiring that all derivative contracts be governed by an International Swaps and Derivatives
Association, Inc. Master Agreement.
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Market risk is the adverse effect that a change in interest rates, or implied volatility rates, has on the value of a financial instrument.
The Company manages market risk associated with interest rates by establishing and monitoring limits as to the types and degree of
risk that may be undertaken.
9.

Shareholders’ Equity

Classes of Common Stock
The Company’s common stock is divided into two classes. The Class B common stock has ten votes per share, and the Class A
common stock has one vote per share. Each Class B share is convertible at any time at the holder’s option into one Class A share.
With the exception of the voting rights and the conversion feature, the Class A and Class B shares are identical in terms of other
rights, including dividend and liquidation rights.
Conversion of Class B Common Stock
During 2006, 2005, and 2004, principal shareholders gifted 57,142 shares, 20,500 shares, and 40,000 shares of Class B common
stock, respectively, to certain charitable organizations. In September 2006, a principal shareholder sold 400,000 Class B shares of
common stock to another principal shareholder in a private transaction. Per the articles of incorporation, these shares automatically
converted to Class A shares upon transfer.
Increase in Authorized Class B Common Stock
In May 2006, the Company’s shareholders approved an amendment of the Company’s Articles of Incorporation to increase the
number of authorized shares of Class B common stock from 15 million shares to 60 million shares to allow for future stock splits.
Stock Repurchase Program
In May 2006, the Company’s board of directors authorized a stock repurchase program. The program allows the Company to buy
back up to a total of five million shares of the Company’s Class A common stock and has an expiration date of May 24, 2008. During
the year ended December 31, 2006, the Company repurchased and retired 1,940,200 Class A common shares for $62.4 million
(average price of $32.12 per share) under this authority. On February 7, 2007, the Company’s board of directors increased the total
shares the Company is allowed to buy back to 10 million. In February 2007, the Company repurchased 3,059,800 shares, including
2,725,000 shares repurchased from certain members of management of the Company, for $75.4 million ($24.65 per share).
10.

Restricted Investments

The Company’s restricted investments are held by a trustee in various accounts subject to use restrictions and consist of guaranteed
investment contracts, commercial banking deposits, and repurchase agreements, which are classified as held-to-maturity. Due to the
characteristics of the investments, there is no available or active market for these types of financial instruments. These investments are
guaranteed and are purchased and redeemed at par value, which equals their cost as of December 31, 2006 and 2005. The carrying
value of these investments by contractual maturity is shown below:

2006

Over 1 year through 5 years
After 5 years through 10 years
After 10 years
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2005
(dollars in thousands)

$

3,009
33,817
92,306

4,997
20,382
135,100

$

129,132

160,479

NELNET, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements – (Continued)
11. Property and Equipment
Property and equipment consist of the following:
Useful

As of December 31,

life

2006

2005

(dollars in thousands)
Computer equipment and software

2-7 years

83,222

58,644

Office furniture and equipment

3-10 years

15,989

12,626

Leasehold improvements

1-10 years

15,541

8,602

39 years

7,683

—

3-10 years

3,795

3,864

700

—

126,930

83,736

59,006

46,986

67,924

36,750

Building
Transportation equipment
Land

$

—

Accumulated depreciation
$

Depreciation expense for the years ended December 31, 2006, 2005, and 2004 related to property and equipment was $16.1 million,
$14.4 million, and $10.6 million, respectively.
12. Income Taxes
The provision for income taxes for the years ended December 31, 2006, 2005, and 2004 consists of the following components:
2006

Current:
Federal
State
Foreign

$

Total current provision
Deferred:
Federal
State
Foreign
Total deferred provision (benefit)
Provision for incom e tax expense

$

2005
(dollars in thousands)

2004

40,881
340
1,256

51,140
2,686
1,887

67,616
5,106
—

42,477

55,713

72,722

(4,708)
(276)
979

43,244
3,511
(248)

11,455
1,059
—

(4,005)

46,507

12,514

38,472

102,220

85,236

The differences between the income tax provision computed at the statutory federal corporate tax rate and the financial statement
provision for income taxes for the years ended December 31, 2006, 2005, and 2004 are shown below:
2006
Tax expense at federal rate
Increase (decrease) resulting from:
State tax, net of federal income tax benefit
Resolution of uncertain federal and state tax matters
Impairment charge
Other, net
Put option

35.0

Effective tax rate

36.0
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2005
%

1.4
(3.3)
0.5
0.3
2.1

35.0

2004
%

1.4
—
—
(0.4)
—
%

36.0

35.0

%

1.7
—
—
(0.3)
—
%

36.4

%
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The Company’s net deferred income tax liability, which is included in other liabilities on the consolidated balance sheets, consists of
the following components:
As of December 31,
2006
2005
(dollars in thousands)
Deferred tax liabilities:
Loan origination services

$

44,508

24,279

Amortization

32,031

39,764

Basis in swap contracts
Prepaid expenses
Certain equity method investments
Depreciation
Other

20,601
2,208
208
—
100

30,464
1,358
2,962
687
100

99,656

99,614

9,044
3,963
658
247
132
168

6,114
2,958
—
—
—
609

14,212

9,681

(85,444)

(89,933)

Deferred tax liabilities
Deferred tax assets:
Student loans
Accrued expenses
Deferred revenue
Net operating loss
Depreciation
Other
Deferred tax assets
Net deferred income tax liability

$

No valuation allowance was considered necessary for the deferred tax assets as of December 31, 2006 and 2005. In assessing the
realizability of the Company’s deferred tax assets, management considers whether it is more likely than not that some portion or all of
the deferred tax assets will be realized. The ultimate realization of deferred tax assets is dependent upon the generation of future
taxable income during the period in which those temporary differences become deductible. Management considers the scheduled
reversals of deferred tax liabilities, projected taxable income, carryback opportunities, and tax planning strategies in making the
assessment of the amount of the valuation allowance. Management believes it is more likely than not the Company will realize the
benefits of the deferred tax assets.
As of December 31, 2006 and 2005, current income taxes receivable of $0.9 million and current income taxes payable of $7.7 million
are included in other assets and other liabilities, respectively, on the consolidated balance sheets.
As a U.S. corporation, Nelnet, Inc. and its subsidiaries are subject to U.S. taxation, currently, on all foreign pretax earnings earned by
a foreign branch. Pretax earnings of a foreign subsidiary or affiliate are subject to U.S. taxation when effectively repatriated. The
Company provides income taxes on undistributed earnings of non-U.S. subsidiaries except to the extent that such earnings are
indefinitely invested outside of the United States. At December 31, 2006, $7.5 million of accumulated undistributed earnings of
EDULINX, the Company’s only non-U.S. subsidiary, was indefinitely invested. At the existing U.S. federal income tax rate,
additional taxes (net of U.S. foreign tax credits) of approximately $539,000 would have to be provided if those earnings were remitted
currently.
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13. Fair Value of Financial Instruments
The following table summarizes the fair values of the Company’s financial instruments:
As of December 31,
2006
2005
Fair value
Carrying value
Fair value
Carrying value
(dollars in thousands)
Financial assets:
Student loans receivable
Cash and cash equivalents
Restricted cash
Restricted investments
Restricted cash – due to customers
Accrued interest receivable
Derivative instruments

$

Financial liabilities:
Bonds and notes payable
Accrued interest payable
Due to customers
Derivative instruments

24,514,443
106,086
1,388,719
129,132
153,557
503,365
146,099

23,789,552
106,086
1,388,719
129,132
153,557
503,365
146,099

20,802,495
103,650
1,228,570
160,479
153,098
394,630
82,837

20,260,807
103,650
1,228,570
160,479
153,098
394,630
82,837

25,583,865
120,211
153,557
27,973

25,562,119
120,211
153,557
27,973

21,691,103
94,281
153,098
71

21,673,620
94,281
153,098
71

Cash and Cash Equivalents, Restricted Cash, Restricted Cash – Due to Customers, Accrued Interest Receivable/Payable, and Due
to Customers
The carrying amount approximates fair value due to the variable rate of interest and/or the short maturities of these instruments.
Student Loans Receivable
The fair value of student loans receivable is estimated at amounts recently paid and/or received by the Company to acquire and/or sell
similar loans in the market and/or the characteristics of the portfolio.
Restricted Investments
Due to the characteristics of the investments, there is no available or active market for these types of financial instruments. These
investments are guaranteed and are purchased and redeemed at par value, which equals their cost.
Bonds and Notes Payable
The fair value of the bonds and notes payable is based on market prices for securities that possess similar credit risk and interest rate
risk.
Derivative Instruments
The fair value of the derivative instruments, obtained from pricing models that consider current market conditions and the contractual
terms of the derivative contract or counterparty valuations, was the estimated net amount that would have been paid or received to
terminate the respective agreements.
Limitations
The fair value of a financial instrument is the current amount that would be exchanged between willing parties, other than in a forced
liquidation. Fair value is best determined based upon quoted market prices. However, in many instances, there are no quoted market
prices for the Company’s various financial instruments. In cases where quoted market prices are not available, fair values are based on
estimates using present value or other valuation techniques. Those techniques are significantly affected by the assumptions used,
including the discount rate and estimates of future cash flows. Accordingly, the fair value estimates may not be realized in an
immediate settlement of the instrument. SFAS No. 107, Disclosures About Fair Value of Financial Instruments, excludes certain
financial instruments and all nonfinancial instruments from its disclosure requirements.
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Plan (the “Loan Plan”). The Loan Plan was approved by the Company’s board of directors and shareholders at the annual
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post-retirement
accompanying
sheets. plans that consist of health care and life insurance plans. As of December 31, 2006 and
2005, a liability related to these plans of $1.7 million and $1.2 million, respectively, is included in other liabilities on the
accompanying
consolidated balance sheets.
15.
Commitments
The
Company is committed under noncancelable operating leases for office and warehouse space and equipment. Total rental expense
15. Commitments
incurred by the Company for the years ended December 31, 2006, 2005, and 2004 was $16.3 million, $10.1 million, and $7.2 million,
The CompanyMinimum
is committed
under
noncancelable
operating
office
and warehouse
space and
equipment.
Total
rental
expense
respectively.
future
rentals
as of December
31, leases
2006, for
under
noncancelable
operating
leases
are shown
below
(dollars
in
incurred by the Company for the years ended December 31, 2006, 2005, and 2004 was $16.3 million, $10.1 million, and $7.2 million,
thousands):
respectively. Minimum future rentals as of December 31, 2006, under noncancelable operating leases are shown below (dollars in
thousands):
2007
$
9,470
2008
2007
2009
2008
2010
2009
2011
2010
2012
2011 and thereafter
2012 and thereafter

$

7,365
9,470
6,028
7,365
3,989
6,028
2,073
3,989
3,318
2,073
32,243
3,318

$

32,243

$

16. Related Parties
16. Related Parties
On February 4, 2005, the Company entered into an agreement to amend certain existing contracts with Union Bank, an entity under
On February 4, 2005, the Company entered into an agreement to amend certain existing contracts with Union Bank, an entity under
common control with the Company. Under the agreement, Union Bank committed to transfer to the Company substantially all of the
common control with the Company. Under the agreement, Union Bank committed to transfer to the Company substantially all of the
remaining balance of Union Bank’s origination rights in guaranteed student loans to be originated in the future, except for student
remaining balance of Union Bank’s origination rights in guaranteed student loans to be originated in the future, except for student
loans previously committed for sale to others. Union Bank will continue to originate student loans, and such guaranteed student loans
loans previously committed for sale to others. Union Bank will continue to originate student loans, and such guaranteed student loans
not previously committed for sale to others are to be sold by Union Bank to the Company in the future. Union Bank also granted to
not previously committed for sale to others are to be sold by Union Bank to the Company in the future. Union Bank also granted to
the Company exclusive rights as marketing agent for student loans on behalf of Union Bank. As part of the agreement, Union Bank
the Company exclusive rights as marketing agent for student loans on behalf of Union Bank. As part of the agreement, Union Bank
also agreed to sell the Company a portfolio of $630.8 million in guaranteed student loans. The Company agreed to pay the
also agreed to sell the Company a portfolio of $630.8 million in guaranteed student loans. The Company agreed to pay the
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During 2006, the Company entered into loan agreements with employees pursuant to the Company’s Employee Stock Purchase Loan
Plan (the “Loan Plan”). The Loan Plan was approved by the Company’s board of directors and shareholders at the annual
shareholders meeting in May 2006. A total of $40.0 million in loans may be made under the Loan Plan, and a total of 1,000,000
shares of Class A common stock are reserved for issuance under the Loan Plan. Shares may be purchased directly from the Company
or in the open market through a broker at prevailing market prices at the time of purchase. Proceeds from these loans issued in 2006
were used by the employees to purchase a total of 103,325 shares of the Company’s stock in the open market. The loans mature in
2016 and bear interest equal to the three-month LIBOR rate plus 50 basis points. At December 31, 2006, the balance of the loans
granted under the Loan Plan was $2.8 million and is reflected as a reduction to stockholders’ equity on the consolidated balance sheet.
Nonemployee Directors Compensation Plan
The Company has a compensation plan for non-employee directors pursuant to which non-employee directors can elect to receive
their annual retainer fees in the form of cash or Class A common stock. Up to 100,000 shares may be issued under the plan, subject to
antidilution adjustments in the event of certain changes in capital structure. If a nonemployee director elects to receive Class A
common stock, the number of shares of Class A common stock that are awarded is equal to the amount of the annual retainer fee
otherwise payable in cash divided by 85% of the fair market value of a share of Class A common stock on the date the fee is payable.
Non-employee directors who choose to receive Class A common stock may also elect to defer receipt of the Class A common stock
until termination of their service on the board of directors.
During the years ended December 31, 2006, 2005, and 2004, the Company issued 8,133 shares, 8,222 shares, and 22,409 shares,
respectively, of its Class A common stock to non-employee directors under this plan. These shares were issued to directors that
elected to receive shares and did not defer receipt of the shares. In addition, during the years ended December 31, 2006 and 2005,
4,066 shares and 6,727 shares, respectively, were issued to directors that elected to defer receipt of their shares until their termination
from the board of directors. The deferred shares are included in the Company’s 2006 and 2005 weighted average shares outstanding
calculation. For the years ended December 31, 2006, 2005, and 2004, the Company recognized approximately $494,000, $471,000,
and $529,000, respectively, of expense related to the issuance of shares under this plan.
Non-Pension Post-Retirement Benefit Plans
EDULINX has non-pension post-retirement plans that consist of health care and life insurance plans. As of December 31, 2006 and
2005, a liability related to these plans of $1.7 million and $1.2 million, respectively, is included in other liabilities on the
accompanying consolidated balance sheets.
15. Commitments
The Company is committed under noncancelable operating leases for office and warehouse space and equipment. Total rental expense
incurred by the Company for the years ended December 31, 2006, 2005, and 2004 was $16.3 million, $10.1 million, and $7.2 million,
respectively. Minimum future rentals as of December 31, 2006, under noncancelable operating leases are shown below (dollars in
thousands):
2007
2008
2009
2010
2011
2012 and thereafter

$

$

9,470
7,365
6,028
3,989
2,073
3,318
32,243

16. Related Parties
On February 4, 2005, the Company entered into an agreement to amend certain existing contracts with Union Bank, an entity under
common control with the Company. Under the agreement, Union Bank committed to transfer to the Company substantially all of the
remaining balance of Union Bank’s origination rights in guaranteed student loans to be originated in the future, except for student
loans previously committed for sale to others. Union Bank will continue to originate student loans, and such guaranteed student loans
not previously committed for sale to others are to be sold by Union Bank to the Company in the future. Union Bank also granted to
the Company exclusive rights as marketing agent for student loans on behalf of Union Bank. As part of the agreement, Union Bank
also agreed to sell the Company a portfolio of $630.8 million in guaranteed student loans. The Company agreed to pay the
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outstanding principal and accrued interest with respect to the student loans purchased, together with a one-time payment to Union
Bank in the amount of $20.0 million. The Company allocated the consideration paid to Union Bank to loan premiums except for
$260,000, which was allocated to loan origination rights.
The Company serviced loans for Union Bank of $26.5 million and $68.7 million as of December 31, 2006 and 2005, respectively.
Income earned by the Company from servicing loans for Union Bank for the years ended December 31, 2006, 2005, and 2004 was
$0.3 million, $1.3 million, and $5.4 million, respectively. As of December 31, 2006 and 2005, accounts receivable includes $0.1
million and $0.2 million, respectively, from Union Bank for loan servicing. The loan servicing terms with Union Bank were similar
to those terms with unrelated entities.
During the years ended December 31, 2006, 2005, and 2004, the education lending subsidiaries purchased student loans of
$577.8 million, $1.1 billion, which includes loans purchased in February 2005 as discussed above, and $657.8 million, respectively,
from Union Bank. Premiums paid on these loans totaled $10.8 million, $31.9 million, and $13.6 million, respectively. The purchases
from Union Bank were made on terms similar to those made with unrelated entities.
The Company has sold to Union Bank, as trustee, participation interests with balances of approximately $226.3 million and
$321.3 million as of December 31, 2006 and 2005, respectively.
The Company participates in the Short-Term Federal Investment Trust (“STFIT”) of the Student Loan Trust Division of Union Bank,
which is included in cash and cash equivalents held at a related party and restricted cash - due to customers on the accompanying
consolidated balance sheets. As of December 31, 2006 and 2005, the Company had approximately $121.4 million and $109.1 million,
respectively, invested in the STFIT or deposited at Union Bank in operating accounts, of which approximately $54.0 million and
$55.3 million, respectively, is cash collected for customers. The Company’s participation in the STFIT had similar terms and
investment yields as those prevailing for other nonaffiliated customers. Interest income earned by the Company on the amounts
invested in the STFIT for the years ended December 31, 2006, 2005, and 2004 was $7.9 million, $4.6 million, and $1.6 million,
respectively.
During the years ended December 31, 2006, 2005, and 2004, Union Bank reimbursed the Company $2.0 million, $1.8 million, and
$1.3 million, respectively, for marketing services and fees related to the Nebraska College Savings Plan.
During the year ended December 31, 2004, Union Bank paid the Company marketing income of $0.5 million, as a broker on a loan
sale, which is included in other income in the accompanying consolidated statement of income. In addition, in 2004, Union Bank
reimbursed the Company $0.9 million for student loan marketing services.
On October 13, 2006, the Company purchased its corporate headquarters building and assumed certain existing lease agreements
pursuant to which Union Bank leases office and storage space. Union Bank paid the Company approximately $28,000 for
commercial rent and storage income during 2006. The leases assumed by the Company provide for the lease to Union Bank of a total
of approximately 15,060 square feet of office and storage space for a total rental amount of approximately $168,000 per year. The
lease agreement expires on June 30, 2008, but is subject to options to extend the term of the lease for two periods of an additional five
years each. Rental rates are subject to specified annual rental increases and additional rental increases based on increases in the cost
of living measured by the National Consumer Price Index.
On March 1, 2006, the Company entered into an agreement to acquire participation interests in non-federally insured loans from First
National Bank Northeast at a price equal to the outstanding principal balance and accrued interest of such loans. The term of this
agreement is for 364 days. As of December 31, 2006, the balance of loans participated under this agreement was $1.3 million, and is
included in student loans receivable on the Company’s balance sheet. A director, executive officer, and significant shareholder of the
Company, Michael S. Dunlap, is a director and indirectly a significant shareholder of First National Bank Northeast.
During the years ended December 31, 2006, 2005, and 2004, the Company paid entities under common control with the Company
$0.6 million, $0.5 million, and $0.4 million, respectively, for payroll costs and miscellaneous fees and commissions. During the years
ended December 31, 2006, 2005, and 2004, entities under common control with the Company paid the Company $0.3 million, $0.4
million, and $0.3 million, respectively, for consulting services.
In 2004, the Company recorded a one-time gain of $3.0 million related to the sale of a fixed asset to an entity, of which a principal
shareholder is a director of the Company. The gain is included in other income in the accompanying consolidated statement of
income.
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Premiere, an entity with 50% interest owned by the Company, provides the Company with certain collection services. During the
years ended December 31, 2006, 2005, and 2004, the Company incurred collection fee expenses of approximately $380,000,
$552,000, and $121,000, respectively, for these services, which is included in other operating expenses in the accompanying
consolidated statements of income. The Company also provided a $1.0 million operating line of credit to Premiere in June 2004 that
is automatically renewable for 1 year terms. As of December 31, 2006 and 2005, Premiere owed the Company approximately
$379,000, under this line of credit, which is included in other assets in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets.
The Company has an agreement with 5280, an entity with 50% voting interest owned by the Company through November 1, 2005, to
provide certain software development and technology support services. During the period from January 1, 2005 through November 1,
2005 (the effective date of the Company’s remaining 50% acquisition of 5280) and the year ended December 31, 2004, the Company
paid 5280 fees of $4.6 million and $3.9 million, respectively, for these services, which is included in salaries and benefits expense in
the accompanying consolidated statements of income.
The Company has an agreement with FirstMark, an entity with 50% voting interest owned by the Company through November 1,
2005, whereby FirstMark has agreed to provide subcontracting servicing functions on the Company’s behalf with respect to private
loan servicing. During the period from January 1, 2005 through November 1, 2005 (the effective date of the Company’s remaining
50% acquisition of FirstMark) and the year ended December 31, 2004, the Company paid FirstMark fees of $5.2 million and
$6.5 million, respectively.
17. Segment Reporting
The Company has five operating segments as defined in SFAS No. 131 as follows: Asset Generation and Management, Student Loan
and Guaranty Servicing, Tuition Payment Processing and Campus Commerce, Enrollment Services and List Management, and
Software and Technical Services. The Company’s operating segments are defined by the products and services they offer or the types
of customers they serve, and they reflect the manner in which financial information is currently evaluated by management. During
2006, the Company changed the structure of its internal organization in a manner that caused the composition of its operating
segments to change. All earlier years presented have been restated to conform to the 2006 operating segment presentation. The
accounting policies of the Company’s operating segments are the same as those described in the summary of significant accounting
policies. Intersegment revenues are charged by a segment to another segment that provides the product or service. The amount of
intersegment revenue is based on comparable fees charged in the market. Intersegment revenues and expenses are included within
each segment consistent with the income statement presentation provided to management.
The management reporting process measures the performance of the Company’s operating segments based on the management
structure of the Company as well as the methodology used by management to evaluate performance and allocate resources.
Management, including the Company’s chief operating decision maker, evaluates the performance of the Company’s operating
segments based on their profitability. As discussed further below, management measures the profitability of the Company’s operating
segments based on “base net income.” Accordingly, information regarding the Company’s operating segments is provided based on
“base net income.” The Company’s “base net income” is not a defined term within GAAP and may not be comparable to similarly
titled measures reported by other companies. Unlike financial accounting, there is no comprehensive, authoritative guidance for
management reporting.
The Company does not have an individual customer that accounted for more than 10 percent of its total revenue during the years
ended December 31, 2006, 2005, and 2004. Substantially all of the Company’s revenues are earned from customers in the United
States except for revenue generated from servicing Canadian student loans at EDULINX. For the years ended December 31, 2006
and 2005 and the period from December 1, 2004 (the date of the Company’s acquisition of EDULINX) to December 31, 2004, the
Company recognized $69.0 million, $59.2 million, and $4.6 million, respectively, from Canadian student loan servicing customers.
The business of servicing Canadian student loans by EDULINX is limited to a small group of servicing customers and the agreement
with the largest of such customers is currently scheduled to expire on March 31, 2008. (See note 3 for further information concerning
the loss of this customer). For the years ended December 31, 2006 and 2005 and the period from December 1, 2004 (the date of the
Company’s acquisition of EDULINX) to December 31, 2004, the Company recognized $53.9 million, or 8.4%, $42.4 million, or
7.9%, and $3.3 million, or 0.6%, respectively, of its total consolidated revenue from this customer. The long-lived assets located in
Canada related to EDULINX’ business are not significant.
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Asset Generation and Management
In the Company’s Asset Generation and Management segment, the Company generates primarily federally guaranteed student loans,
which are administered by the Department in the FFELP, through direct origination or through acquisitions. The student loan assets
are held in a series of education lending subsidiaries designed specifically for this purpose. Revenues are primarily generated from net
interest income on the student loan assets. Earnings and earnings growth are directly affected by the size of the Company’s portfolio
of student loans, the interest rate characteristics of its portfolio, the costs associated with financing, servicing, and managing its
portfolio, and the costs associated with origination and acquisition of the student loans in the portfolio, which includes, among other
things, borrower benefits and rebate fees paid to the federal government. The Company generates the majority of its earnings from
the spread, referred to as its student loan spread, between the yield it receives on its student loan portfolio and the costs previously
described. While the spread may vary due to fluctuations in interest rates, the special allowance payments the Company receives from
the federal government ensure the Company receives a minimum yield on its student loans, so long as certain requirements are met.
Student Loan and Guaranty Servicing
The Student Loan and Guaranty Servicing segment provides for the servicing of the Company’s student loan portfolios and the
portfolios of third parties and servicing provided to guaranty agencies. The servicing activities include application processing,
underwriting, disbursement of funds, customer service, account maintenance, federal reporting and billing collections, payment
processing, default aversion, claim filing, and recovery/collection services. These activities are performed internally for the
Company’s portfolio in addition to generating fee revenue when performed for third-party clients. The following are the primary
product and service offerings the Company offers as part of its Student Loan and Guaranty Servicing segment:
x
x
x
x

Origination and servicing of FFELP loans;
Origination and servicing of non-federally insured student loans;
Servicing and support outsourcing for guaranty agencies; and
Origination and servicing of loans under the Canadian government-sponsored student loan program.

Tuition Payment Processing and Campus Commerce
The Tuition Payment Processing and Campus Commerce segment provides actively managed tuition payment solutions, online
payment processing, detailed information reporting, and data integration services to K-12 and post-secondary educational institutions,
families, and students. In addition, this segment provides financial needs analysis for students applying for aid in private and
parochial K-12 schools. This segment also provides customer-focused electronic transactions, information sharing, and account and
bill presentment to educational institutions.
Enrollment Services and List Management
The Enrollment Services and List Management segment provides a wide range of direct marketing products and services to help
schools and businesses reach the middle school, high school, college bound high school, college, and young adult market places. In
addition, this segment offers enrollment products and services that are focused on helping i) education seeking families plan for and
prepare for college and ii) colleges recruit and retain students.
Software and Technical Services
The Software and Technical Services segment uses internally developed student loan servicing software and also provides this
software to third-party student loan holders and servicers. In addition, this segment provides information technology products and
services, with core areas of business in student loan software solutions for schools, lenders, and guarantors; technical consulting
services; and enterprise content management.
Segment Operating Results – “Base Net Income”
The tables below include the operating results of each of the Company’s operating segments. Management, including the chief
operating decision maker, evaluates the Company on certain non-GAAP performance measures that the Company refers to as “base
net income” for each operating segment. While “base net income” is not a substitute for reported results under GAAP, the Company
relies on “base net income” to manage each operating segment because it believes this measure provides additional information
regarding the operational and performance indicators that are most closely assessed by management.

F-41

NELNET, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements – (Continued)
“Base net income” is the primary financial performance measures used by management to develop the Company’s financial plans,
track results, and establish corporate performance targets and incentive compensation. Management believes this information
provides additional insight into the financial performance of the core business activities of its operating segments. Accordingly, the
tables presented below reflect “base net income,” which is the operating measure reviewed and utilized by management to manage the
business. Reconciliation of the segment totals to the Company’s operating results in accordance with GAAP are also included in the
tables below.
Segment Results and Reconciliations to GAAP
Year ended December 31, 2006
Student
Loan
and
Guaranty
Servicing

Tuition
Payment
Processing
and Campus
Commerce

9,190

531

105

—

—

9,190

4,029
8
4,021

531

105

15,308

—

—

—

—

15,308

303,586

9,190

4,021

531

105

317,433

—

—

190,563
102,318
15,890
20,058
82,925

Asset
Generation
and
Management

Total interest income
Interest expense
Net interest income

$

Less provision for loan losses
Net interest income after provision
for loan losses
Other income (expense):
Loan and guarantee servicing income
Other fee-based income
Software services income
Other income
Intersegment revenue
Derivative market value, foreign currency,
and put option adjustments
Derivative settlements, net
Total other income (expense)

1,534,423
1,215,529
318,894

—

11,867
238
19,966
—
—

—

190,563
—

5
92
63,545

Enrollment
Services
and
List
Management

—

35,090
—

55,361
157

Software
and
Technical
Total
Services
Segments
(dollars in thousands)

—

15,490

—

—

—

503

1,000

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

17,877

15,308

—

—

293,384

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

3,302
662

—

—

190,563
102,318
15,890
23,360

(24,049)

(31,075)

(12,254)

1,747

25,301

58,887
4,857
96,721

8,171
2,942
5,229

276,568
99,564
177,004

(111,755)
(40,836)
(70,919)

15,510

22,063

8,371
1,025
27,003

30,854
17
46,381

Income (loss) before income taxes
Income tax expense (benefit) (a)
Net income (loss) before minority interest

175,373
63,134
112,239

69,745
25,108
44,637

12,611
4,540
8,071

10,668
3,840
6,828

—

3,238
—

—

—

(242)

—

—

Net income (loss)

$

112,239

44,637

7,829

6,828

5,229

176,762

(70,919)

Total assets

$

26,174,592

798,248

177,105

152,962

29,359

27,332,266

37,268
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—

32,977

17,607

(a) Income taxes are based on a percentage of net income before tax for the individual operating segment.

(83,587)

223,646
31,090
149,788
66,476
471,000

115,430
9,403
56,240
12,577
193,650

(242)

—

(31,075)

53,036
21,687
51,085
52,857
178,665

—

—

—

(83,587)

Operating expenses:
Salaries and benefits
Impairment expense
Other expenses
Intersegment expenses
Total operating expenses

—

—

—

33,367

Minority interest in subsidiary income

—

1,549,866
1,241,174
308,692

—

—

56,518

—

—

—

35,593

GAAP
Results of
Operations

(2,858)
(2,858)

4,446
28,495
(24,049)

5,051
9,015

254,205

—

Eliminations
and
Reclassifications

"Base net
income"
Adjustments
to GAAP
Results

18,381
430,135

18,381
50,452

—

1,548,278
1,215,537
332,741

Corporate
Activity
and
Overhead

—
—

(71,333)
(83,587)
—
—
—
—
—

(572,661)

—

—

25,122
—

—

(31,075)
23,432
324,488

246,116
31,090
233,797
—

26,869

511,003

(57,944)
(20,256)
(37,688)

106,869
38,472
68,397

—

(37,688)
—

(242)
68,155
26,796,873
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Year ended December 31, 2005
Asset
Generation
and
Management
Total interest income
Interest expense
Net interest income

$

Less provision for loan losses
Net interest income after provision
for loan losses

940,390
609,863
330,527
7,030
323,497

Student
Loan
and
Guaranty
Servicing

Tuition
Payment
Processing
and Campus
Commerce

Enrollment
Services
and
List
Management

4,678

1,384

165

—

—

—

4,678

1,384

165

—

—

—

4,678

1,384

165

Other income (expense):
Loan and guarantee servicing income
Other fee-based income
Software services income
Other income
Intersegment revenue
Derivative market value, foreign currency,
and put option adjustments
Derivative settlements, net
Total other income (expense)

(17,008)
(4,232)

195,305

14,239

12,488

Operating expenses:
Salaries and benefits
Other expenses
Intersegment expenses
Total operating expenses

39,482
39,659
33,070
112,211

92,804
46,913
5,196
144,913

7,065
3,815
99
10,979

3,081
3,512

Income (loss) before income taxes
Income tax expense (benefit) (a)
Net income (loss) before minority interest

207,054
74,539
132,515

55,070
19,825
35,245

4,644
1,672
2,972

—

9,053
127
3,596
—
—

Minority interest in subsidiary income

—

152,493
—

—

14,239

—

12,349

Software
and
Technical
Total
Services
Segments
(dollars in thousands)
21
946,638
—
609,863
21
336,775
—

21

—
—

—

—

9,042

—

—

—

—

139

5,848

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

14
42,798

—

(603)

Corporate
Activity
and
Overhead

(45)
(45)

—

—

—

949,208
620,111
329,097

—

—

—

7,030

329,745

(7,678)

—

—

322,067

152,493
35,641
9,169
3,610
48,785

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

4,049
408

—

—

152,493
35,641
9,169
7,659

7,030

—

—

—

—

—

14,890

4,457

(49,193)

149,629
94,867
38,357
282,853

33,555
45,225
384
79,164

(10,452)

6,593

7,197
968
(8)
8,157

6,060
2,181
3,879

6,754
2,431
4,323

279,582
100,648
178,934

(82,385)
(31,251)
(51,134)

—

—

(603)

—

$

132,515

35,245

2,369

3,879

4,323

178,331

(51,134)

Total assets

$

22,327,023

505,957

90,794

41,649

23,178

22,988,601

58,173
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(49,193)

(17,008)
232,690

—

GAAP
Results of
Operations

2,615
10,293
(7,678)

Net income (loss)

(a) Income taxes are based on a percentage of net income before tax for the individual operating segment.

Eliminations
and
Reclassifications

"Base net
income"
Adjustments
to GAAP
Results

—

(38,741)
(49,193)
—
—
—
—
—

(248,081)

—

—

96,227
—

96,227

—

9,479
—

—

96,227
(17,008)
284,181

172,732
149,571
—

9,479

322,303

86,748
32,823
53,925

283,945
102,220
181,725

—

53,925
—

(603)
181,122
22,798,693
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Year ended December 31, 2004
Asset
Generation
and
Management

$

Total interest income
Interest expense
Net interest income
Less provision for loan losses
Net interest income after provision
for loan losses

649,629
254,353
395,276

Tuition
Payment
Processing
and Campus
Commerce

Enrollment
Services
and
List
Management

1,377

—

—

—

—

—

1,377

—

—

—

—

—

395,805

1,377

—

—

32
7,027

99,890

(529)

Other income (expense):
Loan and guarantee servicing income
Other fee-based income
Software services income
Other income
Intersegment revenue
Derivative market value, foreign currency,
and put option adjustments
Derivative settlements, net
Total other income (expense)

(34,140)
(23,214)

Operating expenses:
Salaries and benefits
Other expenses
Intersegment expenses
Total operating expenses
Income (loss) before income taxes
Income tax expense (benefit) (a)
Net income (loss) before minority interest

Software
and
Technical
Total
Services
Segments
(dollars in thousands)
7
—

7

348

—

—

—

—

348

398,695

100,130
7,027
8,051
9,321

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

5,454
640

—

—

—

—

—

—

8,051

—

—

—

—

—

—

3,932

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

136,597

—

—

11,983

37,111
35,169
28,284
100,564

67,266
24,246
3,617
95,129

—

667
132

6,066
705

272,027
98,913
173,114

42,845
15,579
27,266
—

—

—

—

3,867

—

348

208

—

—

(41,279)

—

—

—

—

(11,918)

6,302

(41,279)

31,838
40,064
97
71,999

(9,281)

—

—

8,768

(64,539)
(23,135)
(41,404)

—

—

—

—

799

6,771

—
—

(799)
(291)
(508)

5,219
1,898
3,321

319,292
116,099
203,193

—

—

—

—

—

Net income (loss)

$

173,114

27,266

—

(508)

3,321

203,193

(41,404)

Total assets

$

14,819,857

320,309

—

—

5,893

15,146,059

62,665

(31,998)
(41,279)
—
—
—
—
—

(39,213)

652,776
254,610
398,166
(529)

—

(34,140)
125,366

111,110
60,252
31,901
203,263

—

(94)
(94)

99,922
7,027
8,051
3,867
40,639

—

—

GAAP
Results of
Operations

1,509
351
1,158

1,158

—

—

Eliminations
and
Reclassifications

"Base net
income"
Adjustments
to GAAP
Results

397,189

—

—

Corporate
Activity
and
Overhead

7

—

36,707

651,013
254,353
396,660
(529)

—

—

—

Minority interest in subsidiary income

Student
Loan
and
Guaranty
Servicing

—

(11,918)

—

(11,918)
(34,140)
78,471

133,667
109,084

—

—

8,768

242,751

(20,338)
(7,728)
(12,610)

234,415
85,236
149,179

—

(12,610)
—

—

149,179
15,169,511

(a) Income taxes are based on a percentage of net income before tax for the individual operating segment.

Corporate Activity and Overhead in the previous tables primarily includes the following items:
x
x
x
x

Income earned on certain investment activities;
Interest expense incurred on unsecured debt transactions;
Other products and service offerings that are not considered operating segments; and
Corporate activities and overhead functions such as executive management, human resources, accounting and finance,
legal, marketing, and corporate technology support.

The assets held at the corporate level are not identified with any of the operating segments. Accordingly, these assets are included in
the reconciliation of segment assets to total consolidated assets. These assets consist primarily of cash, investments, property and
equipment, and other assets.
The adjustments required to reconcile from the Company’s “base net income” measure to its GAAP results of operations relate to
differing treatments for derivatives, foreign currency transaction adjustments, and certain other items that management does not
consider in evaluating the Company’s operating results. The following table reflects adjustments associated with these areas by
operating segment and Corporate Activities and Overhead for the years ended December 31, 2006, 2005, and 2004:
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Asset
Generation
and
Management
Derivative market value, foreign currency, and
put option adjustments (1)
Amortization of intangible assets (2)
Non-cash stock based compensation related
to business combinations (3)
Variable-rate floor income (4)
Net tax effect (5)
Total adjustments to GAAP

$

$

Total adjustments to GAAP

$

$

Total adjustments to GAAP

$

$

Corporate
Activity
and
Overhead

Total

—
(5,701)

—
(5,968)

—
(4,573)

—
(1,263)

(25,592)
—

(31,075)
(25,122)

—
—
4,978

—
—
2,166

—
—
2,268

—
—
1,738

—
—
480

(1,747)
—
8,626

(1,747)
—
20,256

(8,122)

(3,535)

(3,700)

(2,835)

(783)

(18,713)

(37,688)

Student
Loan
and
Guaranty
Servicing

Year ended December 31, 2005
Tuition
Enrollment
Payment
Services
Software
Processing
and
and
and Campus
List
Technical
Commerce
Management
Services
(dollars in thousands)

Corporate
Activity
and
Overhead

Total

95,854
(1,840)

—
(2,410)

—
(2,350)

—
(2,032)

—
(847)

373
—

96,227
(9,479)

—
—
(35,726)

—
—
916

—
—
893

—
—
772

—
—
322

—
—
—

—
—
(32,823)

58,288

(1,494)

(1,457)

(1,260)

(525)

373

53,925

Asset
Generation
and
Management
Derivative market value, foreign currency, and
put option adjustments (1)
Amortization of intangible assets (2)
Non-cash stock based compensation related
to business combinations (3)
Variable-rate floor income (4)
Net tax effect (5)

Year ended December 31, 2006
Tuition
Enrollment
Payment
Services
Software
Processing
and
and
and Campus
List
Technical
Commerce
Management
Services
(dollars in thousands)

(5,483)
(7,617)

Asset
Generation
and
Management
Derivative market value, foreign currency, and
put option adjustments (1)
Amortization of intangible assets (2)
Non-cash stock based compensation related
to business combinations (3)
Variable-rate floor income (4)
Net tax effect (5)

Student
Loan
and
Guaranty
Servicing

Student
Loan
and
Guaranty
Servicing

Year ended December 31, 2004
Tuition
Enrollment
Payment
Services
Software
Processing
and
and
and Campus
List
Technical
Commerce
Management
Services
(dollars in thousands)

Corporate
Activity
and
Overhead

Total

(11,918)
(395)

—
(1,353)

—
—

—
—

—
(7,020)

—
—

(11,918)
(8,768)

—
348
4,546

—
—
514

—
—
—

—
—
—

—
—
2,668

—
—
—

—
348
7,728

(7,419)

(839)

—

—

(4,352)

—

(12,610)

(1)

Derivative market value, foreign currency, and put option adjustments: “Base net income” excludes the periodic unrealized gains and losses that
are caused by the change in fair value on derivatives in which the Company does not qualify for “hedge treatment” under GAAP. Included in
“base net income” are the economic effects of the Company’s derivative instruments, which includes any cash paid or received being recognized
as an expense or revenue upon actual derivative settlements. “Base net income” also excludes the foreign currency transaction gains or losses
caused by the re-measurement of the Company’s Euro-denominated bonds to U.S. dollars and the change in fair value of put options issued by the
Company for certain business acquisitions.

(2)

Amortization of intangible assets: “Base net income” excludes the amortization of acquired intangibles.
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(3)

Non-cash stock based compensation related to business combinations: As discussed in note 4, the Company has structured certain business
combinations in which the stock consideration paid has been dependent on the sellers’ continued employment with the Company. As such, the
value of the consideration paid is recognized as compensation expense by the Company over the term of the applicable employment agreement.
“Base net income” excludes this expense.

(4)

Variable-rate floor income: Loans that reset annually on July 1 can generate excess spread income compared with the rate based on the special
allowance payment formula in declining interest rate environments. The Company refers to this additional income as variable-rate floor income.
The Company excludes variable rate floor income from its “base net income” since its timing and amount (if any) is uncertain and it is in excess
of expected spreads.

(5)

Tax effect computed at 38%. The change in the value of the put option (included in Corporate Activity and Overhead) is not tax effected as this
is not deductible for income tax purposes.

18. Quarterly Financial Information (Unaudited)
2006
First

Second

Third

Fourth

quarter

quarter

quarter

quarter

(dollars in thousands)
Net interest income
Less provision for loan losses

$

Net interest income after provision for loan losses
Other income
Derivative market value, foreign currency, and put option adjustments
and derivative settlements, net
Operating expenses
Income tax (expense) benefit
Minority interest in net earnings of subsidiaries

86,252
9,618

86,212
2,190

72,356
1,700

63,872
1,800

76,634
70,625

84,022
67,040

70,656
97,699

62,072
96,767

44,007
(108,247)
(30,711)
(242)

35,815
(114,272)
(26,852)
—

(74,968)
(128,842)
13,101
—

(12,497)
(159,642)
5,990
—

Net income (loss)

$

52,066

45,753

(22,354)

(7,310)

Earnings (loss) per share, basic and diluted

$

0.96

0.84

(0.42)

(0.14)

2005
First

Second

Third

Fourth

quarter

quarter

quarter

quarter

(dollars in thousands)
Net interest income
Less provision for loan losses

$

Net interest income after provision for loan losses
Other income
Derivative market value, foreign currency, and put option adjustments
and derivative settlements, net
Operating expenses
Income tax (expense) benefit
Minority interest in net earnings of subsidiaries

86,802
2,031

82,017
2,124

78,998
1,402

81,280
1,473

84,771
44,138

79,893
47,831

77,596
52,371

79,807
60,622

50,204
(71,388)
(39,638)
—

(57,373)
(73,879)
1,755
—

62,420
(78,935)
(41,091)
(229)

23,968
(98,101)
(23,246)
(374)

Net income (loss)

$

68,087

(1,773)

72,132

42,676

Earnings (loss) per share, basic and diluted

$

1.27

(0.03)

1.34

0.79

19. Condensed Parent Company Financial Statements
The following represents the condensed balance sheets as of December 31, 2006 and 2005 and condensed statements of income and
cash flows for each of the years in the three-year period ended December 31, 2006 for Nelnet, Inc.
The Company is limited in the amount of funds that can be transferred to it by its subsidiaries through intercompany loans, advances,
or cash dividends. These limitations relate to the restrictions by trust indentures under the education lending subsidiaries debt
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financing arrangements. The amounts of cash and investments restricted in the respective reserve accounts of the education lending
subsidiaries are shown on the consolidated balance sheets as restricted cash and investments.
Balance Sheets
(Parent Company Only)
As of December 31,
2006
2005
(dollars in thousands)
Assets:
Cash and cash equivalents
Restricted cash - due to loan program customers
Investment in subsidiaries
Intangible assets, net
Accounts receivable
Other assets
Total assets
Liabilities:
Notes payable
Accrued interest payable
Other liabilities
Due to loan program customers

$

43,783
133,554
991,471
49,417
26,066
595,814

34,489
134,219
658,032
49,311
24,315
278,777

$

1,840,105

1,179,143

$

936,464
7,046
91,191
133,554

372,000
1,780
21,652
134,219

1,168,255

529,651

525
182,846
496,341
(5,168)
(2,825)
131

540
220,432
428,186
(86)
—
420

671,850

649,492

1,840,105

1,179,143

Total liabilities
Shareholders' equity:
Common stock
Additional paid-in capital
Retained earnings
Unearned compensation
Employee notes receivable
Accumulated other comprehensive income, net of taxes
Total shareholders' equity
Total liabilities and shareholders' equity

$

Statements of Income
(Parent Company Only)
2006
Operating revenues
Operating expenses
Net operating income

$

Net interest income (expense)
Derivative market value, foreign currency, and put option adjustments
and derivative settlements, net
Equity in earnings of subsidiaries
Income tax expense
Net income

$
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Year ended December 31,
2005
(dollars in thousands)

2004

206,528
186,399
20,129

190,373
132,341
58,032

161,988
116,257
45,731

(16,001)

(2,614)

1,505

11,497
59,837
7,307

79,707
96,264
50,267

(39,705)
147,909
6,261

68,155

181,122

149,179
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Statements of Cash Flows
(Parent Company Only)

2006
Cash flows from operating activities:
Net income
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash
provided by (used in) operating activities, net of business acquisitions:
Depreciation and amortization
Derivative market value adjustment
Proceeds from sale of floor contracts
Ineffectiveness of cash flow hedge
Non-cash compensation expense
Equity in earnings of subsidiaries
(Income) loss from equity method investment
Increase in accounts receivable
Decrease (increase) in other assets
Increase (decrease) in accrued interest payable
Increase (decrease) in other liabilities

$

Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities

Year ended December 31,
2005
(dollars in thousands)

2004

68,155

181,122

149,179

8,258
21,761
8,580
—
2,495
(59,837)
(491)
(1,751)
(316,679)
5,266
29,511

1,953
(97,004)
—
28
1,810
(96,264)
(91)
(3,395)
(159,764)
1,780
(1,115)

240
5,679
—
89
696
(147,909)
22
(206)
14,697
(23)
(21,775)

(234,732)

(170,940)

689

Cash flows from investing activities:
(Increase) decrease in restricted cash
Purchases of property and equipment, net
Purchase of loan origination rights
Business acquisitions, net of cash acquired
Consideration paid to expand customer relationships with
College Access Network
Distribution from equity method investments
Purchase of equity method investment
Capital contributions to/from subsidiary, net

—
—
—
(13,130)

10,018
(3,760)
(9,020)
(92,231)

(10,018)
—
—
—

—
149
—
(240,732)

(41,282)
—
—
(37,703)

—
—
(5,250)
(121,115)

Net cash flows used in investing activities

(253,713)

(173,978)

(136,383)

—
564,464
(3,156)
(62,389)
(2,825)
1,645

—
372,000
(3,058)
—
—
961

(12,662)
—
(175)
—
—
312

497,739

369,903

(12,525)

9,294

24,985

(148,219)

34,489

9,504

157,723

Cash flows from financing activities:
Payments on note payable
Proceeds from issuance of notes payable
Payment of debt issuance costs
Repurchases of common stock
Loans to employees for purchases of common stock
Proceeds from issuance of common stock
Net cash flows provided by (used in) financing activities
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year
Cash and cash equivalents, end of year

$

43,783

34,489

9,504

Supplemental cash flow information:
Income taxes paid, net of refunds

$

(16,968)

28,525

17,056

$

22,375

8,047

570

Interest paid
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THE FEDERAL FAMILY EDUCATION LOAN PROGRAM

The Federal Family Education Loan Program
The Higher Education Act provides for a program of federal insurance for student loans as well as reinsurance of student loans
guaranteed or insured by state agencies or private non-profit corporations.
The Higher Education Act currently authorizes certain student loans to be covered under the Federal Family Education Loan Program.
The Higher Education Reconciliation Act of 2005 extended the authorization for the Federal Family Education Loan Program through
September 30, 2012. Congress has extended similar authorization dates in prior versions of the Higher Education Act. However, the
current authorization dates may not again be extended and the other provisions of the Higher Education Act may not be continued in
their present form.
Generally, a student is eligible for loans made under the Federal Family Education Loan Program only if he or she:
x

has been accepted for enrollment or is enrolled in good standing at an eligible institution of higher education;

x

is carrying or planning to carry at least one-half the normal full-time workload, as determined by the institution, for the
course of study the student is pursuing;

x

is not in default on any federal education loans;

x

has not committed a crime involving fraud in obtaining funds under the Higher Education Act, or if he or she has committed
a crime, the funds have been fully repaid; and

x

meets other applicable eligibility requirements.

Eligible institutions include higher educational institutions and vocational schools that comply with specific federal regulations. Each
loan is to be evidenced by an unsecured note.
The Higher Education Act also establishes maximum interest rates for each of the various types of loans. These rates vary not only
among loan types, but also within loan types depending upon when the loan was made or when the borrower first obtained a loan
under the Federal Family Education Loan Program. The Higher Education Act allows lesser rates of interest to be charged.
Types of loans
Four types of loans are currently available under the Federal Family Education Loan Program:
x

Subsidized Stafford Loans

x

Unsubsidized Stafford Loans

x

PLUS Loans

x

Consolidation Loans

These loan types vary as to eligibility requirements, interest rates, repayment periods, loan limits, and eligibility for interest subsidies
and special allowance payments. Some of these loan types have had other names in the past. References to these various loan types
include, where appropriate, their predecessors.
The primary loan under the Federal Family Education Loan Program is the Subsidized Stafford Loan. Students who are not eligible
for Subsidized Stafford Loans based on their economic circumstances may be able to obtain Unsubsidized Stafford Loans. Graduate
or professional students and parents of dependent undergraduate students may be able to obtain PLUS Loans. Consolidation Loans
are available to borrowers with existing loans made under the Federal Family Education Loan Program and other federal programs to
consolidate repayment of the borrower’s existing loans. Prior to July 1, 1994, the Federal Family Education Loan Program also
offered Supplemental Loans for Students (“SLS Loans”) to graduate and professional students and independent undergraduate
students and, under certain circumstances, dependent undergraduate students, to supplement their Stafford Loans.
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Subsidized Stafford Loans
General. Subsidized Stafford Loans are eligible for insurance and reinsurance under the Higher Education Act if the eligible student
to whom the loan is made has been accepted or is enrolled in good standing at an eligible institution of higher education or vocational
school and is carrying at least one-half the normal full-time workload at that institution. Subsidized Stafford Loans have limits as to
the maximum amount which may be borrowed for an academic year and in the aggregate for both undergraduate and graduate or
professional study. Both annual and aggregate limits exclude loans made under the PLUS Loan Program. The Secretary of Education
has discretion to raise these limits to accommodate students undertaking specialized training requiring exceptionally high costs of
education.
Subsidized Stafford Loans are made only to student borrowers who meet the needs tests provided in the Higher Education Act.
Provisions addressing the implementation of needs analysis and the relationship between unmet need for financing and the availability
of Subsidized Stafford Loan Program funding have been the subject of frequent and extensive amendment in recent years. Further
amendment to such provisions may materially affect the availability of Subsidized Stafford Loan funding to borrowers or the
availability of Subsidized Stafford Loans for secondary market acquisition.
Interest rates for Subsidized Stafford Loans. For Stafford Loans first disbursed to a “new” borrower (a “new” borrower is defined
for purposes of this section as one who has no outstanding balance on a Federal Family Education Loan Program (FFELP) loan on the
date the new promissory note is signed) for a period of enrollment beginning before January 1, 1981, the applicable interest rate is
fixed at 7%.
For Stafford Loans first disbursed to a “new” borrower for a period of enrollment beginning on or after January 1, 1981, but before
September 13, 1983, the applicable interest rate is fixed at 9%.
For Stafford Loans first disbursed to a “new” borrower for a period of enrollment beginning on or after September 13, 1983, but
before July 1, 1988, the applicable interest rate is fixed at 8%.
For Stafford Loans first disbursed to a borrower with an outstanding balance on a PLUS, SLS, or Consolidation Loan, but not on a
Stafford Loan, where the new loan is intended for a period of enrollment beginning before July 1, 1988, the applicable interest rate is
fixed at 8%.
For Stafford Loans first disbursed before October 1, 1992, to a “new” borrower or to a borrower with an outstanding balance on a
PLUS, SLS, or Consolidation Loan, but not a Stafford Loan, where the new loan is intended for a period of enrollment beginning on
or after July 1, 1988, the applicable interest rate is as follows:
x

Original fixed interest rate of 8% for the first 48 months of repayment. Beginning on the first day of the 49th month of
repayment, the interest rate increased to a fixed rate of 10% thereafter. Note that loans in this category were subject to excess
interest rebates and have been converted to a variable interest rate based on the bond equivalent rate of the 91-day Treasury
bill auctioned at the final auction before the preceding June 1, plus 3.25%. The variable interest rate is adjusted annually on
July 1. The maximum interest rate for loans in this category is 10%.

For Stafford Loans first disbursed on or after July 23, 1992, but before July 1, 1994, to a borrower with an outstanding Stafford Loan
made with a 7%, 8%, 9%, or 8%/10% fixed interest rate, the original, applicable interest rate is the same as the rate provided on the
borrower’s previous Stafford Loan (i.e., a fixed rate of 7%, 8%, 9%, or 8%/10%). Note that loans in this category were subject to
excess interest rebates and have been converted to a variable interest rate based on the bond equivalent rate of the 91-day Treasury bill
auctioned at the final auction before the preceding June 1, plus 3.1%. The variable interest rate is adjusted annually on July 1. The
maximum interest rate for a loan in this category is equal to the loan’s previous fixed rate (i.e., 7%, 8%, 9%, or 10%).
For Stafford Loans first disbursed on or after October 1, 1992, but before December 20, 1993, to a borrower with an outstanding
balance on a PLUS, SLS, or Consolidation Loan, but not on a Stafford Loan, the original, applicable interest rate is fixed at 8%. Note
that loans in this category were subject to excess interest rebates and have been converted to a variable interest rate based on the bond
equivalent rate of the 91-day Treasury bill auctioned at the final auction before the preceding June 1, plus 3.1%. The variable interest
rate is adjusted annually on July 1. The maximum interest rate for a loan in this category is 8%.
For Stafford Loans first disbursed on or after October 1, 1992, but before July 1, 1994, to a “new” borrower, the applicable interest
rate is variable and is based on the bond equivalent rate of the 91-day Treasury bill auctioned at the final auction before the preceding
June 1, plus 3.1%. The variable interest rate is adjusted annually on July 1. The maximum interest rate for a loan in this category is
9%.
For Stafford Loans first disbursed on or after December 20, 1993, but before July 1, 1994, to a borrower with an outstanding balance
on a PLUS, SLS, or Consolidation Loan, but not on a Stafford Loan, the applicable interest rate is variable and is based on the bond
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equivalent rate of the 91-day Treasury bill auctioned at the final auction before the preceding June 1, plus 3.1%. The variable interest
rate is adjusted annually on July 1. The maximum interest rate for a loan in this category is 9%.
For Stafford Loans first disbursed on or after July 1, 1994, but before July 1, 1995, where the loan is intended for a period of
enrollment that includes or begins on or after July 1, 1994, the applicable interest rate is variable and is based on the bond equivalent
rate of the 91-day Treasury bill auctioned at the final auction before the preceding June 1, plus 3.1%. The variable interest rate is
adjusted annually on July 1. The maximum interest rate for a loan in this category is 8.25%.
For Stafford Loans first disbursed on or after July 1, 1995, but before July 1, 1998, the applicable interest rate is as follows:
x

When the borrower is in school, in grace, or in an authorized period of deferment, the applicable interest rate is variable and
is based on the bond equivalent rate of the 91-day Treasury bill auctioned at the final auction before the preceding June 1,
plus 2.5%. The variable interest rate is adjusted annually on July 1. The maximum interest rate is 8.25%.

x

When the borrower is in repayment or in a period of forbearance, the applicable interest rate is variable and is based on the
bond equivalent rate of the 91-day Treasury bill auctioned at the final auction before the preceding June 1, plus 3.1%. The
variable interest rate is adjusted annually on July 1. The maximum interest rate is 8.25%.

For Stafford Loans first disbursed on or after July 1, 1998, but before July 1, 2006, the applicable interest rate is as follows:
x

When the borrower is in school, in grace, or in an authorized period of deferment, the applicable interest rate is variable and
is based on the bond equivalent rate of the 91-day Treasury bill auctioned at the final auction before the preceding June 1,
plus 1.7%. The variable interest rate is adjusted annually on July 1. The maximum interest rate is 8.25%.

x

When the borrower is in repayment or in a period of forbearance, the applicable interest rate is variable and is based on the
bond equivalent rate of the 91-day Treasury bill auctioned at the final auction before the preceding June 1, plus 2.3%. The
variable interest rate is adjusted annually on July 1. The maximum interest rate is 8.25%.

For Stafford Loans first disbursed on or after July 1, 2006, the applicable interest rate is fixed at 6.8%.
Unsubsidized Stafford Loans
General. The Unsubsidized Stafford Loan program was created by Congress in 1992 for students who do not qualify for Subsidized
Stafford Loans due to parental and/or student income and assets in excess of permitted amounts. These students are entitled to borrow
the difference between the Stafford Loan maximum for their status (dependent or independent) and their Subsidized Stafford Loan
eligibility through the Unsubsidized Stafford Loan Program. The general requirements for Unsubsidized Stafford Loans are
essentially the same as those for Subsidized Stafford Loans. The interest rate, the annual loan limits and the special allowance
payment provisions of the Unsubsidized Stafford Loans are the same as the Subsidized Stafford Loans. However, the terms of the
Unsubsidized Stafford Loans differ materially from Subsidized Stafford Loans in that the federal government will not make interest
subsidy payments, and the loan limits are determined without respect to the expected family contribution. The borrower will be
required to either pay interest from the time the loan is disbursed, or the accruing interest will be capitalized when repayment begins
and during periods of deferment and forbearance. Unsubsidized Stafford Loans were not available before October 1, 1992. A student
meeting the general eligibility requirements for a loan under the Federal Family Education Loan Program is eligible for an
Unsubsidized Stafford Loan without regard to need.
Interest rates for Unsubsidized Stafford Loans. Unsubsidized Stafford Loans are subject to the same interest rate provisions as
Subsidized Stafford Loans.
PLUS Loans
General. PLUS Loans are made to parents, and under certain circumstances spouses of remarried parents, of dependent
undergraduate students. Effective July 1, 2006, graduate and professional students are also eligible borrowers under the PLUS
program. For PLUS Loans made on or after July 1, 1993, the borrower must not have an adverse credit history as determined by
criteria established by the Secretary of Education. The basic provisions applicable to PLUS Loans are similar to those of Stafford
Loans with respect to the involvement of guarantee agencies and the Secretary of Education in providing federal insurance and
reinsurance on the loans. However, PLUS Loans differ significantly, particularly from the Subsidized Stafford Loans, in that federal
interest subsidy payments are not available under the PLUS Loan Program and special allowance payments are more restricted.
Interest rates for PLUS Loans. For PLUS Loans first disbursed on or after January 1, 1981, but before October 1, 1981, the
applicable interest rate is fixed at 9%.
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For PLUS Loans first disbursed on or after October 1, 1981, but before November 1, 1982, the applicable interest rate is fixed at 14%.
For PLUS Loans first disbursed on or after November 1, 1982, but before July 1, 1987, the applicable interest rate is fixed at 12%.
Beginning July 1, 2001, for PLUS Loans first disbursed on or after July 1, 1987, but before October 1, 1992, the applicable interest
rate is variable and is based on the weekly average one-year constant maturity Treasury yield for the last calendar week ending on or
before June 26 preceding July 1 of each year, plus 3.25%. The variable interest rate is adjusted annually on July 1. The maximum
interest rate is 12%. Prior to July 1, 2001, PLUS Loans in this category had interest rates which were based on the 52-week Treasury
bill auctioned at the final auction held prior to the preceding June 1, plus 3.25%. The annual (July 1) variable interest rate adjustment
was applicable prior to July 1, 2001, as was the maximum interest rate of 12%. Note that PLUS Loans originally made at a fixed
interest rate, which have been refinanced for purposes of securing a variable interest rate, are subject to the variable interest rate
calculation described in this paragraph.
Beginning July 1, 2001, for PLUS Loans first disbursed on or after October 1, 1992, but before July 1, 1994, the applicable interest
rate is variable and is based on the weekly average one-year constant maturity Treasury yield for the last calendar week ending on or
before June 26 preceding July 1 of each year, plus 3.1%. The variable interest rate is adjusted annually on July 1. The maximum
interest rate is 10%. Prior to July 1, 2001, PLUS Loans in this category had interest rates which were based on the 52-week Treasury
bill auctioned at the final auction held prior to the preceding June 1, plus 3.1%. The annual (July 1) variable interest rate adjustment
was applicable prior to July 1, 2001, as was the maximum interest rate of 10%.
Beginning July 1, 2001, for PLUS Loans first disbursed on or after July 1, 1994, but before July 1, 1998, the applicable interest rate is
variable and is based on the weekly average one-year constant maturity Treasury yield for the last calendar week ending on or before
June 26 preceding July 1 of each year, plus 3.1%. The variable interest rate is adjusted annually on July 1. The maximum interest rate
is 9%. Prior to July 1, 2001, PLUS Loans in this category had interest rates which were based on the 52-week Treasury bill auctioned
at the final auction held prior to the preceding June 1, plus 3.1%. The annual (July 1) variable interest rate adjustment was applicable
prior to July 1, 2001, as was the maximum interest rate of 9%.
For PLUS Loans first disbursed on or after July 1, 1998, but before July 1, 2006, the applicable interest rate is variable and is based on
the bond equivalent rate of the 91-day Treasury bill auctioned at the final auction before the preceding June 1 of each year, plus 3.1%.
The variable interest rate is adjusted annually. The maximum interest rate is 9%.
For PLUS Loans first disbursed on or after July 1, 2006, the applicable interest rate is fixed at 8.5%.
SLS Loans
General. SLS Loans were limited to graduate or professional students, independent undergraduate students, and dependent
undergraduate students if the students’ parents were unable to obtain a PLUS Loan. Except for dependent undergraduate students,
eligibility for SLS Loans was determined without regard to need. SLS Loans were similar to Stafford Loans with respect to the
involvement of guarantee agencies and the Secretary of Education in providing federal insurance and reinsurance on the loans.
However, SLS Loans differed significantly, particularly from Subsidized Stafford Loans, because federal interest subsidy payments
were not available under the SLS Loan Program and special allowance payments were more restricted.
Interest rates for SLS Loans. The applicable interest rates on SLS Loans made before October 1, 1992, and on SLS Loans originally
made at a fixed interest rate, which have been refinanced for purposes of securing a variable interest rate, are identical to the
applicable interest rates described for PLUS Loans made before October 1, 1992.
For SLS Loans first disbursed on or after October 1, 1992, but before July 1, 1994, the applicable interest rate is as follows:
x

Beginning July 1, 2001, the applicable interest rate is variable and is based on the weekly average one-year constant maturity
Treasury yield for the last calendar week ending on or before June 26 preceding July 1 of each year, plus 3.1%. The variable
interest rate is adjusted annually on July 1. The maximum interest rate is 11%. Prior to July 1, 2001, SLS Loans in this
category had interest rates which were based on the 52-week Treasury bill auctioned at the final auction held prior to the
preceding June 1, plus 3.1%. The annual (July 1) variable interest rate adjustment was applicable prior to July 1, 2001, as
was the maximum interest rate of 11%.

Consolidation Loans
General. The Higher Education Act authorizes a program under which certain borrowers may consolidate their various federallyinsured education loans into a single loan insured and reinsured on a basis similar to Stafford Loans. Consolidation Loans may be
obtained in an amount sufficient to pay outstanding principal, unpaid interest, late charges, and collection costs on federally-insured or
reinsured student loans incurred under the Federal Family Education Loan and Direct Loan Programs, including PLUS Loans made to
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the consolidating borrower, as well as loans made under the Perkins Loan (formally National Direct Student Loan Program), FISL,
Nursing Student Loan (NSL), Health Education Assistance Loan (HEAL), and Health Professions Student Loan (HPSL) Programs.
To be eligible for a FFELP Consolidation Loan, a borrower must:
x

have outstanding indebtedness on student loans made under the Federal Family Education Loan Program and/or certain other
federal student loan programs; and

x

be in repayment status or in a grace period on loans that are to be consolidated.

Borrowers who are in default on loans that are to be consolidated must first make satisfactory arrangements to repay the loans to the
respective holder(s) or must agree to repay the consolidating lender under an income-sensitive repayment arrangement in order to
include the defaulted loans in the Consolidation Loan. For applications received on or after January 1, 1993, borrowers may add
additional loans to a Consolidation Loan during the 180-day period following the origination of the Consolidation Loan.
Consolidation Loans for which the applications were received prior to January 1, 1993, required a minimum student loan indebtedness
of $5,000. For Consolidation Loans disbursed prior to July 1, 1994, the required minimum outstanding student loan indebtedness was
$7,500. As of July 1, 1994, Consolidation Loans are no longer subject to a minimum loan amount.
A married couple who agree to be jointly liable on a Consolidation Loan for which the application is received on or after January 1,
1993, but before July 1, 2006, may be treated as an individual for purposes of obtaining a Consolidation Loan.
Interest rates for Consolidation Loans. For Consolidation Loans disbursed before July 1, 1994, the applicable interest rate is fixed at
the greater of:
x

9%, or

x

The weighted average of the interest rates on the loans being consolidated, rounded to the nearest whole percent.

For Consolidation Loans disbursed on or after July 1, 1994, based on applications received by the lender before November 13, 1997,
the applicable interest rate is fixed and is based on the weighted average of the interest rates on the loans being consolidated, rounded
up to the nearest whole percent.
For Consolidation Loans on which the application is received by the lender between November 13, 1997, and September 30, 1998,
inclusive, the applicable interest rate is variable according to the following:
x

For the portion of the Consolidation Loan which is comprised of FFELP, Direct, FISL, Perkins, HPSL, or NSL loans, the
variable interest rate is based on the bond equivalent rate of the 91-day Treasury bills auctioned at the final auction before the
preceding June 1, plus 3.1%. The variable interest rate for this portion of the Consolidation Loan is adjusted annually on July
1. The maximum interest rate for this portion of the Consolidation Loan is 8.25%. Note lenders that initially calculated a
fixed interest rate for a Consolidation Loan for which the application was received between November 13, 1997, and
September 30, 1998, inclusive, using the weighted average, as prescribed for Consolidation Loans disbursed on or after July
1, 1994, were required, no later than April 1, 1998, to recalculate the loans at the variable rate retroactively to the date the
Consolidation Loan was disbursed, applying any credit to the borrower’s account.

x

For the portion of the Consolidation Loan which is attributable to HEAL Loans (if applicable), the variable interest rate is
based on the average of the bond equivalent rates of the 91-day Treasury bills auctioned for the quarter ending June 30, plus
3.0%. The variable interest rate for this portion of the Consolidation Loan is adjusted annually on July 1. There is no
maximum interest rate for the portion of a Consolidation Loan that is represented by HEAL Loans.

For Consolidation Loans on which the application is received by the lender on or after October 1, 1998, the applicable interest rate is
determined according to the following:
x

For the portion of the Consolidation Loan which is comprised of FFELP, Direct, FISL, Perkins, HPSL, or NSL loans, the
applicable interest rate is fixed and is based on the weighted average of the interest rates on the non-HEAL loans being
consolidated, rounded up to the nearest one-eighth of one percent. The maximum interest rate for this portion of the
Consolidation Loan is 8.25%.

x

For the portion of the Consolidation Loan which is attributable to HEAL Loans (if applicable), the applicable interest rate is
variable and is based on the average of the bond equivalent rates of the 91-day Treasury bills auctioned for the quarter ending
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June 30, plus 3.0%. The variable interest rate for this portion of the Consolidation Loan is adjusted annually on July 1.
There is no maximum interest rate for the portion of the Consolidation Loan that is represented by HEAL Loans.
For a discussion of required payments that reduce the return on Consolidation Loans, see “Fees – Rebate Fees on Consolidation
Loans” in this Appendix.
Maximum loan amounts
Each type of loan is subject to certain limits on the maximum principal amount, with respect to a given academic year and in the
aggregate. Consolidation Loans are currently limited only by the amount of eligible loans to be consolidated. PLUS Loans are
limited to the difference between the cost of attendance and the other aid available to the student. Stafford Loans, subsidized and
unsubsidized, are subject to both annual and aggregate limits according to the provisions of the Higher Education Act.
Loan limits for Subsidized Stafford and Unsubsidized Stafford Loans. For dependent undergraduate students, Subsidized Stafford
and Unsubsidized Stafford Loans are generally treated as one loan type for loan limit purposes. A student who has not successfully
completed the first year of a program of undergraduate education may borrow up to $2,625 in an academic year. Beginning July 1,
2007, a first-year student may borrow up to $3,500 in an academic year. A student who has successfully completed the first year, but
who has not successfully completed the second year, may borrow up to $3,500 per academic year. Beginning July 1, 2007, a secondyear student may borrow up to $4,500 in an academic year. An undergraduate student who has successfully completed the first and
second years, but who has not successfully completed the remainder of a program of undergraduate education, may borrow up to
$5,500 per academic year.
Independent undergraduate students are subject to the same limits as those applicable to dependent students but are also eligible for
additional Unsubsidized Stafford Loan amounts. Such amounts are increased by $4,000 for each of the first two years and by $5,000
for third-, fourth-, and fifth-year students. For students enrolled in programs of less than an academic year in length, the limits are
generally reduced in proportion to the amount by which the programs are less than one year in length. A graduate or professional
student may borrow up to $18,500 in an academic year where no more than $8,500 is representative of Subsidized Stafford Loan
amounts. The maximum additional Unsubsidized Stafford Loan amount for graduate or professional students increases to $12,000 on
July 1, 2007, making the total a graduate or professional student may borrow in an academic year $20,500, of which no more than
$8,500 is representative of Subsidized Stafford Loan amounts.
The maximum aggregate amount of Subsidized Stafford and Unsubsidized Stafford Loans, including that portion of a Consolidation
Loan used to repay such loans, which an undergraduate student may have outstanding is $23,000 ($46,000 for independent
undergraduate students, of which only $23,000 may be Subsidized Stafford Loans). The maximum aggregate amount of Subsidized
Stafford and Unsubsidized Stafford Loans, including the portion of a Consolidation Loan used to repay such loans, for a graduate or
professional student, including loans for undergraduate education, is $138,500, of which only $65,500 may be Subsidized Stafford
Loans. In some instances, schools may certify loan amounts in excess of the limits, such as for certain health professions students.
Loan limits for PLUS Loans. For PLUS Loans made on or after July 1, 1993, the annual amounts of PLUS Loans are limited only by
the student’s unmet need. Prior to that time, PLUS Loans were subject to limits similar to those of SLS Loans applied with respect to
each student on behalf of whom the parent borrowed. There is currently no aggregate limit for PLUS Loans.
Loan limits for SLS Loans. A student who had not successfully completed the first and second years of a program of undergraduate
education could borrow an SLS Loan in an amount of up to $4,000. A student who had successfully completed the first and second
years, but who had not successfully completed the remainder of a program of undergraduate education, could borrow up to $5,000 per
year. Graduate and professional students could borrow up to $10,000 per year. SLS Loans were subject to an aggregate maximum of
$23,000 ($73,000 for graduate or professional students). Prior to the 1992 Amendments, SLS Loans were available in amounts of
$4,000 per academic year with a $20,000 aggregate maximum. Prior to the 1986 Amendments, a graduate or professional student
could borrow $3,000 of SLS Loans per academic year with a $15,000 aggregate maximum. An independent undergraduate student
could borrow $2,500 of SLS Loans per academic year minus the amount of all other Federal Family Education Loan Program Loans
to such student for that academic year, with a maximum amount of all Federal Family Education Loan Program Loans to that student
of $12,500. In 1989, the amount of SLS Loans for students enrolled in programs of less than an academic year in length were limited
in a manner similar to the limits described above under Stafford Loans.
Disbursement requirements
The Higher Education Act requires that Stafford Loans and PLUS Loans be disbursed by eligible lenders in at least two separate
installments. The proceeds of a loan made to any first-year undergraduate student borrowing for the first time under the program must
be delivered to the student no earlier than 30 days after the enrollment period begins, with a few exceptions.
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Effective February 8, 2006, the date of enactment of the Higher Education Reconciliation Act of 2005, schools with a cohort default
rate of less than 10% for the three most recent fiscal years for which data is available (with the exception of foreign schools beginning
July 1, 2006) are permitted to request disbursement in single installments and may be excused from the 30-day delayed delivery
requirement applicable to first-time, first-year borrowers.
Repayment
Repayment periods. Loans made under the Federal Family Education Loan Program, other than Consolidation Loans, must provide
for repayment of principal in periodic installments over a period of not less than five nor more than ten years. A borrower may
request, with concurrence of the lender, to repay the loan in less than five years with the right to subsequently extend the minimum
repayment period to five years. Since the 1998 Amendments, lenders have been required to offer extended repayment schedules to
new borrowers who accumulate outstanding Federal Family Education Loan Program Loans of more than $30,000, in which case the
repayment period may extend up to 25 years, subject to certain minimum repayment amounts. Consolidation Loans must be repaid
within maximum repayment periods which vary depending upon the principal amount of the borrower’s outstanding student loans, but
may not exceed 30 years. For Consolidation Loans for which the application was received prior to January 1, 1993, the repayment
period cannot exceed 25 years. Periods of authorized deferment and forbearance are excluded from the maximum repayment period.
In addition, if the repayment schedule on a loan with a variable interest rate does not provide for adjustments to the amount of the
monthly installment payment, the maximum repayment period may be extended for up to three years.
Repayment of principal on a Stafford Loan does not begin until a student drops below at least a half-time course of study. For
Stafford Loans for which the applicable rate of interest is fixed at 7%, the repayment period begins between nine and twelve months
after the borrower ceases to pursue at least a half-time course of study, as indicated in the promissory note. For other Stafford Loans,
the repayment period begins six months after the borrower ceases to pursue at least a half-time course of study. These periods during
which payments of principal are not due are the “grace periods.”
In the case of SLS, PLUS and Consolidation Loans, the repayment period begins on the date of final disbursement of the loan, except
that the borrower of an SLS Loan who also has a Stafford Loan may postpone repayment of the SLS Loan to coincide with the
commencement of repayment of the Stafford Loan.
During periods in which repayment of principal is required, payments of principal and interest must in general be made at a rate of at
least $600 per year, except that a borrower and lender may agree to a lesser rate at any time before or during the repayment period.
However, at a minimum, the payments must satisfy the interest that accrues during the year. Borrowers may make accelerated
payments at any time without penalty.
Income-sensitive repayment schedules. Since 1993, lenders have been required to offer income-sensitive repayment schedules, in
addition to standard and graduated repayment schedules, for Stafford, SLS, and Consolidation Loans. Beginning in 2000, lenders
have been required to offer income-sensitive repayment schedules to PLUS borrowers as well. Use of income-sensitive repayment
schedules may extend the maximum repayment period for up to five years if the payment amount established from the borrower’s
income will not repay the loan within the maximum applicable repayment period.
Deferment periods. No principal payments need be made during certain periods of deferment prescribed by the Higher Education
Act. For a borrower who first obtained a Stafford or SLS loan which was disbursed before July 1, 1993, deferments are available:
x

during a period not exceeding three years while the borrower is a member of the Armed Forces, an officer in the
Commissioned Corps of the Public Health Service or, with respect to a borrower who first obtained a student loan disbursed
on or after July 1, 1987, or a student loan for a period of enrollment beginning on or after July 1, 1987, an active duty
member of the National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration Corps;

x

during a period not exceeding three years while the borrower is a volunteer under the Peace Corps Act;

x

during a period not exceeding three years while the borrower is a full-time paid volunteer under the Domestic Volunteer Act
of 1973;

x

during a period not exceeding three years while the borrower is a full-time paid volunteer for an organization which is
exempt from taxation under Section 501(c)(3) of the Internal Revenue Code;

x

during a period not exceeding two years while the borrower is serving an internship necessary to receive professional
recognition required to begin professional practice or service, or a qualified internship or residency program;
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x

during a period not exceeding three years while the borrower is temporarily totally disabled, as established by sworn affidavit
of a qualified physician, or while the borrower is unable to secure employment because of caring for a dependent who is so
disabled;

x

during a period not exceeding two years while the borrower is seeking and unable to find full-time employment;

x

during any period that the borrower is pursuing a full-time course of study at an eligible institution (or, with respect to a
borrower who first obtained a student loan disbursed on or after July 1, 1987, or a student loan for a period of enrollment
beginning on or after July 1, 1987, is pursuing at least a half-time course of study);

x

during any period that the borrower is pursuing a course of study in a graduate fellowship program;

x

during any period the borrower is receiving rehabilitation training services for qualified individuals, as defined by the
Secretary of Education;

x

during a period not exceeding six months while the borrower is on parental leave; and

x

only with respect to a borrower who first obtained a student loan disbursed on or after July 1, 1987, or a student loan for a
period of enrollment beginning on or after July 1, 1987, during a period not exceeding three years while the borrower is a
full-time teacher in a public or nonprofit private elementary or secondary school in a “teacher shortage area” (as prescribed
by the Secretary of Education), and during a period not exceeding one year for mothers, with preschool age children, who are
entering or re-entering the work force and who are paid at a rate of no more than $1 per hour more than the federal minimum
wage.

For a borrower who first obtains a loan on or after July 1, 1993, deferments are available:
x

during any period that the borrower is pursuing at least a half-time course of study at an eligible institution;

x

during any period that the borrower is pursuing a course of study in a graduate fellowship program;

x

during any period the borrower is receiving rehabilitation training services for qualified individuals, as defined by the
Secretary of Education;

x

during a period not exceeding three years while the borrower is seeking and unable to find full-time employment; and

x

during a period not exceeding three years for any reason which has caused or will cause the borrower economic hardship.
Economic hardship includes working full time and earning an amount that does not exceed the greater of the federal
minimum wage or the poverty line for a family of two. Additional categories of economic hardship are based on the
relationship between a borrower’s educational debt burden and his or her income, the receipt of payments from a state or
federal public assistance program, or service in the Peace Corps.

Borrowers who obtain loans for which the first disbursement is made on or after July 1, 2001, may obtain deferment during a period
not exceeding three years while serving on active military duty during a war, military operation, or national emergency or while
performing qualifying National Guard duty during a war, military operation, or national emergency.
Prior to the 1992 Amendments, only certain of the deferments described above were available to PLUS and Consolidation Loan
borrowers. Prior to the 1986 Amendments, PLUS Loan borrowers were not entitled to certain deferments.
Forbearance periods. The Higher Education Act also provides for periods of forbearance during which the lender, in case of a
borrower’s temporary financial hardship, may postpone any payments. A borrower is entitled to forbearance for a period not
exceeding three years while the borrower’s debt burden under Title IV of the Higher Education Act (which includes the Federal
Family Education Loan Program) equals or exceeds 20% of the borrower’s gross income. A borrower is also entitled to forbearance
while he or she is serving in a qualifying internship or residency program, a “national service position” under the National and
Community Service Trust Act of 1993, a qualifying position for loan forgiveness under the Teacher Loan Forgiveness Program, or a
position that qualifies him or her for loan repayment under the Student Loan Repayment Program administered by the Department of
Defense. In addition, mandatory administrative forbearances are provided in exceptional circumstances such as a local or national
emergency, a military mobilization, or when the geographical area in which the borrower or endorser resides has been designated a
disaster area by the President of the United States or Mexico, the Prime Minister of Canada, or by the governor of a state.
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Interest payments during grace, deferment and forbearance periods. The Secretary of Education makes interest payments on behalf
of the borrower for certain eligible loans while the borrower is in school and during grace and deferment periods. Interest that accrues
during forbearance periods and, if the loan is not eligible for interest subsidy payments, during in-school, grace and deferment periods,
may be paid monthly or quarterly by the borrower. Any unpaid accrued interest may be capitalized by the lender.
Fees
Guarantee fee and Federal default fee. For loans for which the date of guarantee of principal is before July 1, 2006, a guaranty
agency is authorized to charge a premium, or guarantee fee, of up to 1% of the principal amount of the loan, which must be deducted
proportionately from each disbursement of the proceeds of the loan to the borrower. For loans for which the date of guarantee of
principal is on or after July 1, 2006, a guaranty agency is required to collect and deposit into the Federal Student Loan Reserve Fund a
Federal default fee in an amount equal to 1% of the principal amount of the loan. The fee is to be collected either by deduction from
the proceeds of the loan or by payment from other non-Federal sources. Guarantee fees may not currently be charged to borrowers of
Consolidation Loans. For loans made prior to July 1, 1994, the maximum guarantee fee was 3% of the principal amount of the loan,
but no such guarantee fee was authorized to be charged with respect to Unsubsidized Stafford Loans.
Origination fee. For loans disbursed on or after July 1, 1994, and prior to July 1, 2006, an eligible lender is authorized to charge the
borrower of a Subsidized Stafford Loan and an Unsubsidized Stafford Loan an origination fee in an amount not to exceed 3% of the
principal amount of the loan by deducting the fee amount proportionately from the loan disbursements. A lender may charge a lesser
origination fee to such borrowers as long as the lender does so consistently with respect to all borrowers who reside in or attend school
in a particular state. Regardless of whether the lender passes all or a portion of the origination fee on to the borrower, the lender must
pay the origination fee owed on each loan it makes to the Secretary of Education.
Beginning with loans first disbursed on or after July 1, 2006, the maximum origination fee which may be charged to a Stafford Loan
borrower will decrease according to the following schedule:
x

2% with respect to loans for which the first disbursement is made on or after July 1, 2006, and before July 1, 2007;

x

1.5% with respect to loans for which the first disbursement is made on or after July 1, 2007, and before July 1, 2008;

x

1.0% with respect to loans for which the first disbursement is made on or after July 1, 2008, and before July 1, 2009;

x

0.5% with respect to loans for which the first disbursement is made on or after July 1, 2009, and before July 1, 2010; and

x

0.0% with respect to loans for which the first disbursement is made on or after July 1, 2010.

An eligible lender is required to charge the borrower of a PLUS Loan an origination fee equal to 3% of the principal amount of the
loan. These fees must be deducted proportionately from each disbursement of the PLUS Loan and must be remitted to the Secretary
of Education.
Lender fee. The lender of any loan made under the Federal Family Education Loan Program on or after October 1, 1993, is required
to pay to the Secretary of Education a fee equal to 0.5% of the principal amount of such loan. This fee cannot be charged to the
borrower.
Rebate fee on Consolidation Loans. The holder of any Consolidation Loan made on or after October 1, 1993, is required to pay to
the Secretary of Education a monthly fee equal to 0.0875% (1.05% per annum) of the principal and accrued interest on the
Consolidation Loan. For loans made from applications received on or after October 1, 1998, and on or before January 31, 1999, the
fee is reduced to 0.62%.
Interest subsidy payments
Interest subsidy payments are interest payments paid on the outstanding principal balance of an eligible loan before the time that the
loan enters repayment and during deferment periods. The Secretary of Education and the guaranty agencies enter into interest subsidy
agreements whereby the Secretary of Education agrees to pay interest subsidy payments on a quarterly basis to the holders of eligible
guaranteed loans for the benefit of students meeting certain requirements, subject to the holders’ compliance with all requirements of
the Higher Education Act. Subsidized Stafford Loans are eligible for interest payments. Consolidation Loans for which the
application was received on or after January 1, 1993, are eligible for interest subsidy payments. Consolidation Loans made from
applications received on or after August 10, 1993, are eligible for interest subsidy payments only if all underlying loans consolidated
are Subsidized Stafford Loans. Consolidation Loans for which the application is received by an eligible lender on or after November
13, 1997, are eligible for interest subsidy payments on that portion of the Consolidation Loan that repays subsidized Federal Family
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Education Loan Program Loans or similar subsidized loans made under the Direct Loan Program. The portion of the Consolidation
Loan that repays HEAL Loans is not eligible for interest subsidy, regardless of the date the Consolidation Loan was made.
Special allowance payments
The Higher Education Act provides for special allowance payments (SAP) to be made by the Secretary of Education to eligible
lenders. The rates for special allowance payments are based on formulas that differ according to the type of loan, the date the loan
was originally made or insured, and the type of funds used to finance the loan (taxable or tax-exempt).
The effective formulas for special allowance payment rates for Subsidized Stafford and Unsubsidized Stafford Loans are summarized
in the following chart. The T-Bill Rate mentioned in the chart refers to the average of the bond equivalent yield of the 91-day
Treasury bills auctioned during the preceding quarter.
Date of Loans

Annualized SAP Rate

On or after October 1, 1981

T-Bill Rate less Applicable Interest Rate + 3.5%

On or after November 16, 1986

T-Bill Rate less Applicable Interest Rate + 3.25%

On or after October 1, 1992

T-Bill Rate less Applicable Interest Rate + 3.1%

On or after July 1, 1995

T-Bill Rate less Applicable Interest Rate + 3.1%(1)

On or after July 1, 1998

T-Bill Rate less Applicable Interest Rate + 2.8%(2)

On or after January 1, 2000

3 Month Commercial Paper Rate less Applicable Interest
Rate + 2.34%(3)

(1)

Substitute 2.5% in this formula while such loans are in-school, grace or deferment status

(2)

Substitute 2.2% in this formula while such loans are in-school, grace or deferment status.

(3)

Substitute 1.74% in this formula while such loans are in-school, grace or deferment status.

PLUS, SLS and Consolidation Loans. The formula for special allowance payments on PLUS, SLS and Consolidation Loans are as
follows:
Date of Loans

Annualized SAP Rate

On or after October 1, 1992

T-Bill Rate less Applicable Interest Rate + 3.1%

On or after January 1, 2000

3 Month Commercial Paper Rate less applicable Interest
Rate + 2.64%

For PLUS and SLS Loans made prior to July 1, 1994, and PLUS loans made on or after July 1, 1998, which bear interest at rates
adjusted annually, special allowance payments are made only in quarters during which the interest rate ceiling on such loans operates
to reduce the rate that would otherwise apply based upon the applicable formula. See “Interest Rates for PLUS Loans” and “Interest
Rates for SLS Loans.” Special allowance payments are available on variable rate PLUS Loans and SLS Loans made on or after July
1, 1987, and before July 1, 1994, and on any PLUS Loans made on or after July 1, 1998, and before January 1, 2000, only if the
variable rate, which is reset annually, based on the weekly average one-year constant maturity Treasury yield for loans made before
July 1, 1998, and based on the 91-day or 52-week Treasury bill, as applicable for loans made on or after July 1, 1998, exceeds the
applicable maximum borrower rate. The maximum borrower rate is between 9% and 12% per annum. The portion, if any, of a
Consolidation Loan that repaid a HEAL Loan is ineligible for special allowance payments.
Recapture of excess interest. The Higher Education Reconciliation Act of 2005 provides that, with respect to a loan for which the
first disbursement of principal is made on or after April 1, 2006, if the applicable interest rate for any three-month period exceeds the
special allowance support level applicable to the loan for that period, an adjustment must be made by calculating the excess interest
and crediting such amounts to the Secretary of Education on a quarterly basis. The amount of any adjustment of interest for any
quarter will be equal to:
x

the applicable interest rate minus the special allowance support level for the loan, multiplied by
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x

the average daily principal balance of the loan during the quarter, divided by

x

four

Special allowance payments for loans financed by tax-exempt bonds. The effective formulas for special allowance payment rates for
Stafford Loans and Unsubsidized Stafford Loans differ depending on whether loans to borrowers were acquired or originated with the
proceeds of tax-exempt obligations. The formula for special allowance payments for loans financed with the proceeds of tax-exempt
obligations originally issued prior to October 1, 1993 is:
T-Bill Rate less Applicable Interest Rate + 3.5%
2
provided that the special allowance applicable to the loans may not be less than 9½% less the Applicable Interest Rate. Special rules
apply with respect to special allowance payments made on loans
x

originated or acquired with funds obtained from the refunding of tax-exempt obligations issued prior to October 1, 1993, or

x

originated or acquired with funds obtained from collections on other loans made or purchased with funds obtained from taxexempt obligations initially issued prior to October 1, 1993.

Amounts derived from recoveries of principal on loans eligible to receive a minimum 9½% special allowance payment may only be
used to originate or acquire additional loans by a unit of a state or local government, or non-profit entity not owned or controlled by or
under common ownership of a for-profit entity and held directly or through any subsidiary, affiliate or trustee, which entity has a total
unpaid balance of principal equal to or less than $100,000,000 on loans for which special allowances were paid in the most recent
quarterly payment prior to September 30, 2005. Such entities may originate or acquire additional loans with amounts derived from
recoveries of principal until December 31, 2010. Loans acquired with the proceeds of tax-exempt obligations originally issued after
October 1, 1993, receive special allowance payments made on other loans. Beginning October 1, 2006, in order to receive 9½%
special allowance payments, a lender must undergo an audit arranged by the Secretary of Education attesting to proper billing for
9½% payments on only eligible “first generation” and “second generation” loans. First generation loans include those loans acquired
using funds directly from the issuance of the tax-exempt obligation. Second-generation loans include only those loans acquired using
funds obtained directly from first-generation loans. Furthermore, the lender must certify compliance of its 9½% billing on such loans
with each request for payment.
Adjustments to special allowance payments. Special allowance payments and interest subsidy payments are reduced by the amount
which the lender is authorized or required to charge as an origination fee. In addition, the amount of the lender origination fee is
collected by offset to special allowance payments and interest subsidy payments. The Higher Education Act provides that if special
allowance payments or interest subsidy payments have not been made within 30 days after the Secretary of Education receives an
accurate, timely and complete request, the special allowance payable to the lender must be increased by an amount equal to the daily
interest accruing on the special allowance and interest subsidy payments due the lender.
Direct Loans
The Student Loan Reform Act of 1993 authorized a program of “direct loans” to be originated by schools with funds provided by the
Secretary of Education. Under the Direct Loan Program, the Secretary of Education enters into agreements with schools, or
origination agents in lieu of schools, to disburse loans with funds provided by the Secretary of Education. Participation in the program
by schools is voluntary. The goals set forth in 1993 called for the Direct Loan Program to constitute 5% of the total volume of loans
made under the Federal Family Education Loan Program and the Direct Loan Program for academic year 1994-1995, 40% for
academic year 1995-1996, 50% for academic years 1996-1997 and 1997-1998, and 60% for academic year 1998-1999. No provision
is made for the size of the Direct Loan Program thereafter. The 1998 Amendments removed references to the “phase-in” of the Direct
Loan Program, including restrictions on annual limits for Direct Loan Program volume and the Secretary’s authority to select
additional institutions to achieve balanced school representation. According to the recently released President’s Budget for Fiscal
Year 2008, Direct Loans constituted 21% of total student loan volume in 2006 under both the Federal Family Education Loan
Program and the Direct Loan Program.
The loan terms are generally the same under the Direct Loan Program as under the Federal Family Education Loan Program, though
more flexible repayment provisions are available under the Direct Loan Program. At the discretion of the Secretary of Education,
students attending schools that participate in the Direct Loan Program (and their parents) may still be eligible for participation in the
Federal Family Education Loan Program, though no borrower can obtain loans under both programs for the same period of
enrollment.
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It is difficult to predict the impact of the Direct Loan Program. There is no way to accurately predict the number of schools that will
participate in future years or, if the Secretary authorizes students attending participating schools to continue to be eligible for Federal
Family Education Loan Program Loans, how many students will seek loans under the Direct Loan Program instead of the Federal
Family Education Loan Program. In addition, it is impossible to predict whether future legislation will eliminate, limit, or expand the
Direct Loan Program or the Federal Family Education Loan Program.
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Investor Resources
Stock Exchange Listing
The Class A common stock of Nelnet trades on the New York Stock
Exchange under the symbol NNI.
The table below sets forth the quarterly high and low prices of the
Class A common stock for 2006:
Calendar 2006

High

Low

January 1 – March 31

$ 43.47

$ 39.69

April 1 – June 30

$ 43.70

$ 35.62

July 1 – September 30

$ 40.68

$ 28.28

October 1 – December 31

$ 31.30

$ 25.00

Annual meeting
Nelnet’s annual meeting of shareholders will be held at 8:30 a.m. CT
on May 24, 2007, at the Embassy Suites Hotel, 1040 P Street,
Lincoln, NE.

Transfer agent
Mellon Investor Services LLC
P.O. Box 3315
South Hackensack, NJ 07606
or
480 Washington Blvd.
Jersey City, NJ 07310-1900
888.213.0965
TDD for hearing impaired: 800.231.5469
Foreign shareholders: 201.680.6610
TDD foreign shareholders: 201.680.6578
Web site: www.melloninvestor.com

Investor Relations
Nelnet Investor Relations
8425 Woodfield Crossing Blvd., Suite 101
Indianapolis, IN 46240
317.469.2064
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121 South 13th Street, Suite 201
Lincoln, NE 68508
402.458.2370
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